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THE TRIAL

WILLIAM PALMER.

FIEST DAY

WepsEspAY, May 14th, having been appointed for the trial of
WiLLiax Parumer, for the Rugeley poisonings, the most intense
interest was evinced by the public to hear the proceedings.

So early as seven o’clock, although it was known that the trial
would not commence until ten, many persons were in attendance, and
at nine o’clock, when the doors of the court were opened, there was a
dense crowd of persons, some of them of high rank and station,
waiting for admission. A strong body of the City police, under the
orders of Superintendent Hodgson, were in attendance, and they did
good service in preventing confusion, and in enforcing the orders of
the sheriffs,

The arrangements made for the press were very incomplete, there
being only room in the * reporters’ box” for about eight persons
instead of twenty, who were necessarily in attendance for the several
morning and evening journals. Many of the reporters were in a
position in which it was impossible to hear with any degree of satis-
faction. We beiieve the sheriffs and under-sheriffs did all they could
to afford the necessary accommodation to the press, and that much of
the inconvenience arose from the nature of the court itself.

The following distinguished persons were present at the opening of
the court :—The Earl of Derby, Earl Grey, the Marquis of Anglesea,
Lord Lucan, Lord Denbigh, Prince Edward of Saxe Weimar, Lord
W. Lennox, Lord G. G. Lennox, and Lord H. Lennox. The Lord-
Advocate of Scotland sat by the side of the Attorney-General during
the trial. ~
. At five minutes to ten o'clock the learned judges, Lord Chief
Justice Campbell, Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice Cresswell,
accompanied by the Lord Mayor and the following Aldermen,
Sir G. Carroll, Humphery, Sir R. W. Carden, Finnis, Sir F. G.
Moon, and Sidney, Mr. Sheriff Kennedy, Mr. Sheriff Rose, and
Mr. Under-Sheriff Stone, and Mr. Under-Sheriff Rose, took their
seats on the bench. :
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The prisoner, WirLiay PALMER, was almost immediately placed
in the dock. He was dressed in black, a.4 did not appear to have
suffered in the slightest degree in his bodily health by his confinement.
He did not exhibit the least appearance of trepidation, and walked with
a firm step to the front of the bar. The prisoner is described in the
calendar as being 31 years old, but he appears to be much older.

Mr. Straight, the deputy-clerk of arraigns, then read the indictment
that was intended to be proceeded with, which charged the prisoner
with the wilful murder of John Parsons Cook.

The prisoner pleaded Not Guilty, in a firm voice.

He was then arraigned, upon the coroner’s inquisition, for the like
offence, and to this he also pleaded Not Guilty.

A jury was then em panneled to try the case. There were very few
challenges on the part of the prisoner. One of the jurymen, when he
was about tobe sworn, bezged tobe excused from swearing, onthe cround
that he entertained a feeling of prejudice, as he described it, and he was
allowed to leave the box, and another juryman was called in his stead.

The Attorney-General, Mr. . James, Q.C., Mr. Bodkin, Mr.
Welsby, and Mr. Huddleston appeared for the Crown. Mr. Serjeant
Shee and Mr. Grove, Q.C., who were specially retained, with Mr.
Grey and Mr. Kenealy, were counsel for the prisoner. All the
witnesses, with the exception of the medical men, were out of court.

The Attorney-General then stated the case for the prosecution to
the jury. May it please your Lordships and gentlemen of the jury,—
You are called on to discharge the most solemn duty that man can be
called on to perform. Youare asked to sit in judgment on the prisoner
who stands charged with the highest crime for which a creature can
be arraigned. I am sure I may ask your most anxious and earnest
attention to such a case, while I perform a duty which makes it
incumbent on me to go into it at some length. The peculiar circum-
" stances connected with it, have givenita profound and painful interest
throughout the country. "There is scarcely a man among us who has
not come to some conclusion upon the issue you are called on to decide ;
there is scarcely an individual who has not almost ‘made up his
mind wpon the subject. Standing here as the minister of justice,
with no interest, and no desire—save to see justice administered
faithfully and impartially, I feel it incumbent on me to warn
you not to allow any preconceived opinion 0 influence you
in your decision. Your duty— your bounden duty —is to try
the case according to the evidence which shall come before you.
You must discard from your minds any and everything which you
have either read or heard, or any opinion you may have previously
formed on the subject 3 but if the evidence adduced chall satisfy your
consciences that the prisoner is guilty, you will discharge your duty to
society fearlessly and honestly by pronouncing your verdict accord-
ingly. 1If, on the other hand, it should fail to produce a reasonable
conviction on your mind, God forbid that the scales of justice should
be so inclined against the prisoner, by anything that has or may
oceur, as to prejudice his case, and not give him a fair and impartial
hearing. Gentlemen, it is now my duty to lay before you the facts
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on which the prosecution is founded. I ask your patient hearing
while I do so, because they are of a somewhat complicated character,
and going over a considerable period of time. There are circum-
. stances, not perhaps immediately connected with the case, to which I
shall think it necessary to direct your attention. I shall have to go
back to some which are of a period somewhat antecedent in reference
to the prisoner ; but there is not one fact that has not an immediate
and important bearing upon the subject. The prisoner at the bar is
a member of the medical profession, which he carried on at Rugeley,
in Staffordshire, for several years. In later years he became addicted
to turf pursuits, and gradually gave up his practice as a medical man,
During the last two or three years I am informed that he made over
his business, except some patients connected with himself, to another
person, named Thirlby, who is now carrying it on; and though
Palmer’s name is still ostensibly kept up in connexion with the es-
tablishment, the business has been practically transferred. In the
course of his pursuits with the turf, he became intimate with the man
whose death forms the subject of this investigation—Mr. Parsons
Ceck. He was a young man of decent family, who had been
originally’ intended for the profession of the law, and articled to a
solicitor, but, having inherited some property to the extent of 12,0001,
or 15,0001, he gave up alaborious profession, and betook himselfalso to
the turf. He kept race-horses, and betted considerably, and, in the
course of his pursuits, became connected and familiarly intimate with
the prisoner at the bar. It is for the murder of this Mr. John Parsous
Cook that the prisoner stands indicted. The charge against him is,
that he took away that man’s life by poison. It will be necessary for
me to detail the circumstances in which Palmer stood with relation to
the deceased Mr, Cook, It will be impossible thoroughly to under-
stand this case in all its bearings without these circumstances being
laid before you ; and it will be necessary, therefore, that I should
crave your particular attention. The case which, on the part of the
prosecution, I have to submit against Palmer is this, that, being in
desperate circumstances, with ruin, disgrace, and punishment staring
him in the face, which could only be averted by the obtaining of a
large sum of money, he took advantage when Cook became winner of
a considerable sum to destroy him in order to get it. At the Shrews-
bury races of 1855, Cook was the winner of a considerable sum of
money, and, as I have before said, Palmer at that time was a ruined
man. It was immediately after those races that the transaction into
which you have to inquire is alleged to have taken place. And now,
gentlemen, I shall proceed in the first place, to show you what was
the position of Palmer at the time, because it is out of that position,
and the circumstances in which Palmer was then placed, that sprang
at least the motives which induced him to commit this murder. If I
show by evidence that can leave no reasonable doubt in your minds
that he committed the crime, the motive becomes a matter of secondary
importance. Nevertheless, in an inquiry of this kind, it is natural
and right to endeavour to ascertain what may have been the motives
for which the man committed the crime. If we find strong motives,
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the greater will be the probability that he committed the erime j but
if we find the absence of any motive, the probability lies the other way.
In this case the motive will be a matter of serious consideration, and
as the circumstances which gave rise to that motive came first in the
order of time, I will deal with them before I touch the more iinmediate
matter of our inquiry. It seems to me more convenient to follow the
chronological order of events, It appears, then, that as early as the
year 1853 Palmer had got into accumulated pecuniary difficulties.
He began to raise money upon bills. In the year 1854 his circum-
ctances became worse. At that time he was indebted to different
persons in large sums of money, and he had then recourse to an
expedient to which™it will be necessary for me to advert. But,
here, gentlemen, I am anxious to make a preliminary observation. It
will become necessary for me to detail to you transactions involving
frand, and casting the greatest discredit on the prisoner. 1
am anxious, however, that you should not attribute to the eircums-
stances which will be brought before you more weight than they are
fairly entitled to. You must not allow them to prejudice your minds
with reference to that which is the real matter of inquiry. T canmot
avoid the detailing of these circumstances, and I hope that the bistory
of these transactions will not create any prejudice in your minds
against Palmer. A man might be guilty of fraud or forgery, who
would shrink with horror from the crime of murder. Amongst the
bills by which Paliner obtained money, in the course of the year 1852,
was a bill for £2,000, which was discounted by a person named Pad-
wick, That biil bore on it the acceptance of Palmer’s mother, Sarah
Palmer, who was a woman of considerable wealth, and whose accept-
ance, if believed to be genuine, was a security by which money could
be readily obtained. He forged her name, and that was the first, or,
‘at least, one of the early transactions of that nature in which Palmer
obtained money by means of bills professing to have his mother’s ac-
ceptance. T will show you, by-and-by, when those transactions
reached their climax, that he had recourse to a desperate scheme, with
respect to which you will form your own conclusions, in order to aveid
exposure and to deliver him from his pecuniary difficulties. He
owed in 1854 a very large sum of money. In the September of that
year his wife died. He had insured her life for 15,0004, The pro-
ceeds of that insurance were realised. With the 13,000 he paid off
some of the most pressing of his liabilities. He employed, for the
purpose of enabling him to meet those liabilities, a gentleman named
Pratt, a solicitor in London, who was in the habit of discounting bills
for him, and whose name will be largly mixed up with the subsequent
transactions to which I shall refer. Pratt received 7,000L. or 8,000L.,
part of the 13,000, for the purpose of discharging the various liabili-
ties of Palmer to his elients. Mr. Wright, a solicitor of Birmingham,
who had also advanced money belonging. to his clients to Palmer,
received 53,0007, and thus the 13,0007 was disposed of.  But Pulmer
was still left in great pecuniary difficulties. Amongst various bills
which he had to meet was one for 2,000/, which had been dis-
counted by Mr. Padwick. This brings us to the close of the y&ar 1854.
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In the course of that year he effected another insurance upon the life
of his brother, or rather in his brother’s name, but Palmer was a party
to it. -~ Mr. Pratt having conduected the correspondence connected
with the obtaining of the policy of insurance, the policy was immedi-
ately effected, and assigned to Palmer, but it remained in the hands
of Pratt. The amount insured was 13,0004, ; the first premium was
paid by Pratt, out of a bill which he had discounted for Palmer, at
the rate of 60L per cent. That policy was constantly kept up until the
death of Palmer’s brother, and was regarded as a collateral security
for the repayment of the sums advanced by Pratt. In March, 1855,
two bills for 2,000/, were discounted by Pratt for Palmer, with the
proceeds whereof he purchased two race-horses, named Nettle and
Chicken. One of these bills became due on the 28th of September,
and the other on the 2nd of October. They were renewed and
extended till the 1lst and 5th of January, 1856. In April, 1853, a
bill for 2,000l was discounted for Palmer, and became due on the
22nd of July; it was, however, renewed to the 22nd of October.
On the 23rd of July a bill for 2,000L was discounted at three
months ; and that bill became due on the 25th of October. Un
the 9th of July, a bill for 2,000.., at three months, which was renewed
to the 12th of January, was discounted for Palmer. On the 27th of
September, another bill for 1,0004., at three months, was discounted
for him, which went to pay some of the renewal bills. So that, in the
month of November, 1855, when the Shrewsbury races took place,
the bills discounted for Palmer, in 1855, amounted to 12,500/, DBut
it seems that, in the month of July in that year, he paid off 1,000,
and thus reduced his liabilities on those bills to 11,500/, Now, every
one of those bills, which he had thus got discounted, bore the forged
acceptance of his mother. He thus became liable to pay sums of
money, amounting in the whole to 11,500/, at a time when he was
not able to pay a shilling. And the pecuniary difficulties under which
he then laboured were still further increased by the consciousness that
the fact of these forgeries would become at once manifest to the world,
and bring upon him the severe penalty of the law. Now, in these
transactions, the deceased John Parsons Cook had been only partially
concerned. I should mention before I go any further with this case,
that the prisoner's brother died in the month of August, 1855.
The policy of insurance for 13,000l upon that brother’s life had
been assigned to the prisoner, and he, of course, expected that the
proceeds of that insurance would pay off his heavy pecuniary
liabilities. But, as I shall show you presently, the office in which that
insurance was effected refused to pay; and, consequently, no assist-
ance was to be derived from that source. I was about to’ say that
Cook had been to a certain extent mixed up with the prisoner’s
pecuniary transactions. It seems that in the month of May, 1853,
Palmer proposed to pay a sum of 500.. to a person named Sergeant,
and he asked Mr. Pratt to appropriate a sum of 310/, which was in
his hands, to Palmer’s credit, to the payment of 500/, and to advance
the balance of 190/, Pratt declined to do so, except upon security,
upon which Palmer offered him the acceptance of Cook, representing
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Cook to be a man of substance and good security ; and, accordingly,
the acceptance of Cook for 200/ was signed, upon which Pratt ad-
vanced the money. I believe this was the first transaction with Cook.
I do not kpow that it has any immediate bearing upon the subjeet of
inquiry, but I am anxious, as far I can, to lay before yon all the cir-
cumstances that show the relation which existed between Palmer and
Cook. When that bill for 200/, became due, Palmer failed to pay it,
and Cook himself had to provide the means. In the August of that
ear a transaction took place to which it will be necessary that I
should call your particular attention. In that month Palmer wrote
to Pratt, saying that he must have 1,000/ by the next post. Pratt
declined to advance the 1,000Z without security. Palmer then offered
the security of Cook’s acceptance for 5007, representing him to be a
man of means and wealth, But Pratt still declined to advance the
money without some more tangible security than the mere personal
security of Cook’s acceptance. Now, Palmer represented this as a
transaction in which Cook required the money ; and it may be. that
such was the fact. I have no means of ascertaining whether such
was the case, and I am willing to give credit to the prisoner when he
alleges that Cook was to receive the money, and that he (the prisoner)
was merely concerned as a friend of Cook's in that transaction.
Cook was engaged upon the turf sometimes, and was, therefore, some-
times a winner, and sometimes a loser, and it may be that he re-
quired a loan of 500L if we are to credit the statement of Palmer.
Pratt declined to advance that amount, although requested to do
80 by the prisoner ; upon which Palmer proposed an assignment
by Cook of two race-horses, one Pole Star, and the other Sirius.
An assignment was made and executed by Cook in favour of
Pratt, as collateral security for this 500/ That being so, Cook was
entitled to the money, although the whole of the 500L was not to be
had upon the terms on which Pratt transacted the business. The
agreement was, that Pratt should give 375L. in money, wine warrants
for 651., discount for three months 50/, and expenses 10/.—making,
in the whole, 5007, At all events, Cook was certainly entitled to the
875l in cash, and the wine warrants ; but Palmer ingeniously con-
trived that the cheque and the wine warrants should be sent to him,
and not to Cook. He wrote to Pratt, desiring him to forward them
to him at Doncaster, where he was to see Cook ; but he was not to
see Cook there, for he was not to be there at all. FPalmer thus got
the cheque and the warrants, Pratt sent down the cheque stamped
as required, and as he was justified in doing by a late Act, struck out
the word * bearer,” and wrote “corder,” which necessitated the endorse-
ment of Cook upon the back of the cheque. It was never intended
by Palmer that the proceeds of the cheque should find their way into
Cook’s hands, and therefore he forged the name of Cook, and paid
the cheque into his banker’s at Rugeley, and it went to his credit.
Cook never had the money, which went to the payment of a forged
three months’ bill, which was about coming due, and the forger of
which, if not taken up, would have been detected. He (the Attorney~
General) wished that these were the only transactions in which Cook
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had been mixed up with the prisoner Palmer. There was another
transaction to which it would be necessary for him to refer. In
September, 1855, Palmer's brother having then died, and the money
due on account of the insurance effected on his life not being forth-
coming, he (Palmer) proposed to a person of the name of Bates to
have his life insured. He induced Cook to assist him in this trans-
action by representing Bates as a man of wealth. It seemed that on
the 5th of September, Bates, the prisoner, and Cook, were together
at Rugeley. Bates was a person who had been better off in the
world, and had Iatterly been in the employment of Palmer as the
superintendent of his stables—a sort of hanger-on of Palmer’s. He
was a healthy young man, and Palmer proposed to him to insure his
life, and framed a proposal. Bates said, “No, I don’t want to insure
my life.” Palmer, however, pressed him on the subject, and Cook
told him it would be for his good to have his life insured. Ultimately
Bates consented to have an insurance effected upon his life, and con-
sented, to sign a proposal for 25,000l Cook attested the proposal,
in which the prisoner was referred to as Bates’s medical man, and the
assistant, Thirlby, as a person to whom reference was to be made as
to his habits, This proposal was sent to the Solicitors’ and General
Life Insurance Office. That office was not disposed to entertain the
proposal, and a proposition for 10,000l, was made to the Midland
Office. This office required further information as to the position of
Bates, and the matter dropped.

Lord Campbell wished to know if this matter could be made upon
the charge before the Court, and expressed a hope that the Attorney-
General would exercise great care not to introduce any matter that
did not direetly bear upon the charge against the prisoner.

The Attorney-General.—Your lordship may depend that I wiil not
advance a word that does not bear immediately on the case. I think
it is most important to show that at this time Palmer was in most
desperate straits for money, owing to the insurance on his brother’s
life not having been paid, and that he was adopting every possible
means to raise it. I will now go back to the correspondence which
took place between Pratt and Palmer, in which the former pressed
Palmer for money to meet the bills upon which he got cash for him—
Iwill go, in the first instance, to the letter of the 10th of September.
[The learned gentleman then read. this letter, and one dated the 18th
of the same month, in which Mr. Pratt urged Palmer to be prepared
to meet the payment of bills on which Pratt had raised money for
Palmer. ]

Mr. Sergeant Shee said his hon. and learned friend ought to show
how these letters bore upon the case against the prisoner at the bar.

The Attorney-General.—I mean to show that out of these pressing
demands upon Palmer grew the occurrence which mixed up the pri-
soner with the fate of Cook.

Lord Campbell and Mr. Baron Alderson left it to the discretion of
the Attorney-General to adopt the course he was pursuing.

The Attorney-General proceeded with his address.—On the 24th
of September Pratt wrote again to Palmer, in which he states that



10

as the 13,000/ due on account of the insurance on William Palmer's
Jife was not paid, it would be necessary for Palmer to send up accept-
ances to meet the two bills for 4,0004. drawn upon and accepted by
his mother. On the 2nd of October Pratt again writes to Palmer,
urging him to be prepared to meet the bills, which became due at the
end of the month, and intimating that the Prince of Wales Insurance
Office had been investigating the circumstances connected with the
insurance for 13,000L, and that the matter had been referred to the
solicitor of the company ; that as nothing could be done in the case
till the 24th, Palmer must be prepared to meet the two bills.  On the
6th of October, Pratt again writes to Palmer urging him to be pre-
pared to meet the bills accepted by his mother. I will prove, said the
Attorney-General, that at this time he had the postmaster of Rugeley
so under his control that the letters to Palmer’s mother were inter-
cepted by that person and forwarded to Palmer, which accounted for
her not knowing anything about these acceptances.  On the 10th of
October, Pratt writes again to Palmer on the subject of his mother’s
acceptances, which, he says, must be met on the 29th. On the 18th
of the same month, he says, in a letter, that either Palmer or his
mother must be prepared to meet the 4,0007. bills then coming due,
as he could not grant any further delay, and advised Palmer to keep
his own counsel about the insurance affair. On the 27th Pratt writes
to acknowledge the receipt of 250f. from Palmer, and says, that with
the exception of issuing the writs against Palmer and his mother,
nothing would be done with them until the 10th of November. On
the 6th of November two writs were issued on account of the 4,0004.
bills.  One against Palimer, and the other against his mother ; but on
the same day Pratt writes to say, that although he has sent two writs
to his agent, Crabb, they should not be served uuntil be sent further
directions ; and he strongly urged the prisoner to make immediate
arrangements for the bill of 1,500L that was coming due on the
9th of the month. Palmer then paid 300, and having before
paid two sums of 250L, the entire payments amounted to 800L,
from which 2004, for two months’ discount, having been deducted,
left 6004 to be applied to payment of the first bill for 2,000.,
becoming due ou the 25th October 3 and after payment of that
sum of 600/ there remained due on foot of that bill a sum of
1,400{. On the 13th November, the day on which Polestar (Cook’s
horse) won the Shrewsbury, there was another letter urging the
prisoner to make up the sum of 1,000%, without which it would be
impossible to renew the bill for 1,500, due on the 9th. Gentlemen,
that was the state of things in which the prisoner was placed on the
13th of November. You will find that Pratt held at that time
12,5004, worth of the prisoner’s bills in his hands, minus the 6001,
leaving mearly 11,0004, worth of bills, the whole of which were
the forged acceptances of Palmer’s mother—forged by him, or some
other person by his directions, and for which he was criminally, as
well as pecuniarily, liable. At this time, the Prince of Wales Office
declined to pay the sum for which his brother’s life was insured, and
Pratt, who held the policy as a collateral security, could no longer
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go on renewing the bills, and therefore had issued writs against the
mother, which were forthwith to be served, if Palmer did not find
the means of paying off a portion of the demand made by Pratt on
behalf of his clients, That being the state of things, we now come
to the events connected with the races at Shrewsbury. Cook had a
horse, named Polestar, entered for the Shrewsbury ; she had been
very advantageonsly weighted ; and Cook believed the mare would
win, and betted largely upon the venture. The race was run on the
13th of November, the day on which the letter to which I have just
referred was written, and which would reach the prisoner next day.
The result of the race was, that Cook won, and became entitled in
the first instance to the stakes, amounting to 424/., which, however,
were subject to certain deductions, which reduced the sum payable
to the eredit of Cook to 8817, 19s.  He had also largely betted on the
race, partly for himself and partly by commission, and his betting-
book showed that his winnings, including the stakes, amounted to
2,050{. He had been during the previous week at Worcester races,
and was entitled to receive, besides stakes, between TOOL and 800/,
The races took place on Tuesday, and he was entitled to receive on
the Monday following—including stakes to be received from his
racing agent in London--1,050/, Now, within a week from that
time the man died, and the question is, how he came by his death—
whether by natural causes, or by the hand of man ; and, if by the
hand of man, by whose hand ? I must tell you what was the state
of Cook’s health when he went to Shrewsbury, as it may be a very
important fact in the course of this inquiry. He was a young man
of twenty-eight, when he died, slightly disposed to pulmonary com-

laints, delicate in that respect, but was otherwise a hale, hearty
man. He had been in the habit, from time to time, of consulting a
physician in London, of the name of Dr. Savage. He was anxious
about the state of his throat from a complaint which he suffered ;
he had slight eruptions about the mouth, and came to consult Dr.
Savage. It seems he had been taking mercury for those sores, mis-
taking the character of his complaint ; and Dr. Savage, seeing his
mistake, told him to discontinue the mercury, and put him under a
course of tonics, and saw that an inprovement took place. Appre-
hensive of the consequences that might result from a change of
treatment, Dr. Savage caused him to come to him from time to time.
Within a fortnight of Cook’s death, before he left London, he went to
see Dr. Savage, who examined his throat carefully, and Dr. Savage
will be prepared to tell you that Cook was affected, to a certain de-
gree, with a thickening of the organs of the throat ; but as to the
complaint being incurable, that was out of the question ; because Dr.
Savage made an examination, and says, positively, it was not so.
Dr. Savage took an interest in the young man, and was anxious to get
him off the turf. He told him that nothing was the matter with him,
and strongly advised him to go abroad for a couple of years. Having
seen Dr. Savage, Cook went to Shrewsbury Races and his horse
won, He was excited, as a man might naturally be under the
circumstances, and he asked various persons to dine with him to

b
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celebrate the event. They dined at the Railway Hotel, and there was
no excess on his part of any sort. He was not a man addicted to
excess ; he was abstemious at all times ; he took a glass to celebrate
an event at which he rejoiced, but that was all. He went to bed,

ot up next day, and went on the course in the usnal way. On the
night of Wednesday, the 14th of November, a remarkable incident
Lappened, to which I beg to call your attention. A friend of Cook’s,
a Mr, Fisher, who, with Herring was a sporting man, occupied a
room in the rear of his. Ie wasagent to Cook, and received his bets
from time to time at Tattersall’s, Mr. Fisher, with Herring, was at
the Shrewsbury Races; and Fisher went into a room which was
oceupied by Cook and Palmer ; Cook, having before him a tumbler
full of brandy and water, asked Fisher to take something to drink,
and also asked Palmer would he not have more ; * No,” said Palmer,
“ unless you take your glass.” Cook said, “ That is soon done,” and
tossed it off in one drink, leaving only a teaspoonful. He had hardly
gwallowed it, when he said, * Good God, there is something in it, it
burns my throat.” Palmer took up the glass and drank what was in it.
He said, *There is nothing in it,” pushing the glass to
Fisher ; and to another person that came in he said, * Cook
thinks there 1s something in the brandy and water.” Cook
rose and left the room, but returned in a few minutes. He ecalled
Fisher out, and told him he was taken violently ill, and Fisher
went out with him, He was attacked with a violent vomiting, and
was put to bed, where he vomited again in a violent manner. It was
necessary to send for a medical man, and the vomiting eontinned for
a couple of hours, and he retched with the greatest possible violence.
Medicine was given to him, and after that a pill and a purgative
dose. After a couple of hours he became more tranquil, and about
two or three o'clock fell asleep, and slept until the next morning.
Such were the man’s feelings at the time, that he gave Fisher
the money he had about him, and desired him to take care of
it. Fisher will tell you that the money amounted to 700L or 800Z in
a large number of notes ; and next morning, after the sickness had
ceased, Cook went out on the course, and Fisher gave him back his
notes. On Thursday he went out again, looking very ill, when a
horse of the prisoner’s, named Chicken, and backed by him, lost. I
shall show that he had no money when he went to Shrewsbury, hav-
ing had to borrow 5/., and while there his horse lost, and he lost bets
that he had made upon the race. After that he and Cook left
Shrewsbury and went to Rugeley, where Cook stopped at the Talbot
Arms, exactly opposite his house, There is an incident connected
with this part of the story which 1 must mention. I stated what
happened on the Wednesday, when Cook was taken ill. On that same
night a woman of the name of Mrs. Brook had occasion to see Palmerat
the hotel, at Shrewsbury, the night before his horse was to run ; she
is a remarkable person, being a female connected with the turf. She
has at her disposal an establishment of jockeys, for whom she is regis-
trar, and makes engagements. The prisoner’s horse was to run the
next day, and she came to him to speak about the jockey he was to
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employ to ride his horse. She came up stairs about eleven o’clock,
and turned into the lobby leading to Palmer's room. She saw Pal-
mer holding up a tumbler, and looking at it with the action of a man
who watches to see the condition of it. Having looked at it through
the gaslight, he withdrew to his own room, and returned with the
glass in his hand, and then went into the room where Cook was, and
in which room Cook drank the brandy and water, and where it is to be
inferred his sickness was taken, of which he died. I will show you that
throughout the ensuing days Cook constantly received things from the
prisoner's hands, that during those days his sickness was continued, and
that after his death antimony was found in his body and in his blood.
The charge is that the deceased, having been prepared for the recep-
tion of the poison by antimony, was killed by strychnia. The latter
is obtained from the nux vomieca, and in that nut there resides a subtle
poison, of which the most minute quantity is fatal to human life.
From one-half to three-fourths of a grain will destroy life, and you
may therefore imagine how minute the dose is that will prove fatal.
It acts in a peculiar way immediately on the nerves, and on the
muscles of motion.

Mr. Serjeant Shee, at this part of the proceedings, objected to the.
medical witnesses being allowed to remain in court, and trusted their
lordships would order them to withdraw.

The Attorney-General had no objection whatever. Indeed he
would rather they left the court, and would agree to any course
which his learned friend would point out. He was there simply to
discharge a public duty, and had no wish whatever to take any
course prejudicial to the prisoner.

The medical witnesses were then ordered to withdraw, and

The Attorney-General proceeded, —Gentleman, I was about to
state the manner in which strychnia acts upon the human subject.
In the human constitution the nervous system may be divided into
two main parts—the nerves of sensation, by which the consciousness
of all rational sensation is conveyed to the brain, and the nerves of
motion, which are as it were the intermediate agents between the
intellectual powers of man and the exercise of the physical action
that arises from his organisation. They are distinct from each other,
and the one set of nerves may be affected, while the other nerves are
left undisturbed. You may paralyse the nerves of sensation, and
leave the nerves that act upon the voluotary muscles wholly un-
disturbed, and vice versa. Strychnia affects the nerves that act upon
the voluntary musclesand leaves wholly untonched the nerves upon which
human sensation depends. Some poisons, as you know, overpower the
consciousness of man, and produce a total absence of all sensation ;
but the poison to which I am referring only affects the voluntary action
of the muscles of the body, leaving totally unimpaired the other parts,
'When acting upon the voluntary muscles; it produces intense excite-
ment of all those musecles. It causes violent convulsions and spasms,
which affect the body, and after convulsive throes, ends in rigidity.
The respiratory muscles within the lungs, with a rigid or convulsive
tension of the muscles of the body, are fixed ; the head is thrown
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back 2 ‘and the body assumes the form of a bow, pressing on:the back
of the head and shoulders. Thatis the form in which death arises
from the administration of strychnia. There will, no doubt, be an
effort to confound the different classes of tetanus ; but tetanus from
strychnia came on at once, swhereas tetanus from the effects of a wound,
or from -what might be called natural causes, sometimes did mot
exhibit itself for two or three days, or at least not sooner than twenty
or twenty-four hours ; and certainly, hardly was there a case in
which it occurred before eight or nine days. I am not, however,
dealing with a case such as oneé of these. In this case, the agonies
were immediate, and of the most violent characters. I am reminded
that Palmer was a medical man. He was acquainted with the effects
of strychnia when administered toa person. Lhavea book belonging to
Palmer, now before me, and which is entitled, .4 Manual for Students
Preparing for Examination at Apothecaries’ Hall. - On -one of the
pages of this book was written, in Palmer's own handwriting,
¢ Strychnia kills by causing tetanic fixing of the respiratory muscles.”
I will only use this evidence to show that the nature and uses of this
poison were known to the prisoner, and bad been the subject of his
. particular investigation. Adlter some further observations in reference
to the effects of stryclmia on the human body as econtrasted with
tetanus arising from natural causes, the learned gentleman said—1
will be able to show that tetanus was produced by the administering,
whether accidentally or otherwise, of strychnia to the deceased.
Having said so much on this point, I will now go back to
Thursday, - the 15th: of November, on which day, between
ten and eleven o'clock, Cook returned to Rugeley from Shrews-
bury. He then; in reply to an inquiry made with respect to
his health, said he was quite well. He then took some refreshment
and went to bed. He got up the next morning, had his breakfast,
dined in the afternoon with Palmer, and went 1o bed in good health
and spirits, and there was nothing to lead any one to Suppose that
there was anything unusual about him. The next morning—namely,
Saturday—FPalmer was with Cook at an early hour, and from that
time he seemed to be constantly in attendance upon him. The cham-
bermaid brought him coflee at Palmer’s request.  The coffee was
given to Palmer, and he gave it to Cook. Immediately after there
was a recurrence of the symptoms exhibited by Cook at Shrewsbury,
Palmer sent him from his house toast and water, and other things,
during that day and the next. On the Sunday Palmer desired a
female in his house to purchase some soup for him in the town. = She
did so, and brought it to Palmer’s house. Palmer’s servant put the
soup on the fire to warm; but, while she left the room, Palmer
ponred it into the basin, and desired her to take it fo Cook at the
Talbot, and say it came from Smith, who was a friend of Cook’s.
She did so. The soup was given to Cook, and he ate a spoonful, but
it produced sickness, and he refused to take more. Palmer after-
wards came in, and asked if Cook had eaten the soup. He was told
no, on which he said he must. . It was given to him again, and pro-
duced great suffering. Before Palmer came to the inn the soup bad
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‘been taken down to the hotel kitchen; and one of the servants,
thinking it looked like good soup, took a spoonful or two, which pro-
duced vomiting, which continued five or six hours, and she was
obliged to go to bed. The symptoms were the same as those exhi-
bited by Cook. At the suggestion of Palmer, a medical practitioner,
named Bamford, was called in to see Cook. Palmer told Bamford,
as ndeed he had told other persons, on other occasions, that Cook
was suffering from bilious diarrheea, and that he had drunk freely
the previous night, having dined with him. The medical man
found none of those symptoms in his patient, and on his asking
him if he had taken an excess of champagne the previous day,
Cook ‘said he had not, but had taken only two glasses. The
medical man saw him again that day, and he was still ill He
had eoffee and arrow-root, and barley-water in the course of the day,
and when the deceased took anything when Palmer was present, he
vomited after it.  That might not be a singular coincidence, but so
it was. At the close of Saturday deceased suffered from vomiting.
He had taken medicine prescribed by the medical man, and on the
Sunday morning, Mr. Bamford saw Cook again, who was still suffer
ing from sickness, but not fever; and the skin was- moist, and the
excretions were nataral,  The vomitings were not at all like those of
a person suffering from bile. The medical man then changed the
medicine, and from that time the deceased improved, and on Monday
Palmer was absent from Rugeley, having gone to London.  Deceased
was so much better that he got up comrparatively well, and was visited
by his trainerand two jockeys. I willinterrupt whatwas doing at Ruge-
ley, by following up Palmer’s movements.. On Monday he went to a
house in Beaufort-buildings, where a female resided, whom he
visited. There he met a person named Herring, whowas on the turf.
Herring, on his first seeing Palmer, asked ** how Cook was 7 Palmer
replied he was well enough, ‘his doctor at Rugeley had given him a
dose of calomel, and as it was wet he could not come out. He had
come to settle his account. Palmer was a defanlter, and could not
show at Tattersall’s, and Herring, knowing ' Fisher was Cook’s agent,
was snen=ised he should have to settle Cook’s accounts. = Palmer pro-
duced a paper purporting to'be the account. Herring wished to take
it, but Palmer refused to give it up, and, at his desire, Herring
made out the list, and said it amounted to 1,020% Then
Palmer desired him to pay himself 6L, and likewise to pay
Shelley  30L, telling him at the same time, that if he saw a
man named Fall, to say that Cook would pay him on Thurs-
day or Friday. = Deducting, then, that 36/, he asked Herring
how much he made of the remaining sums ? when he replied, 984..
“Yes,” said Palmer, “that is right. I will give you 16/, and that
will make 1,0007.” In the 450l which he paid Pratt, it showed how
necessary it was to avoid as long as possible the service of writs on
his' mother. Tt was necessary, also, to keep on good terms with
Padwick, because one-half of the 1,000Z. bill which he forged re-
mained still unpaid. He had, therefore, an interest in keeping him
quiet, and therefore paid him ?5&5. That was the state of things as
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regarded the disposition of Cook’s money; and the way he desired that -
money should be got was to send Herring to Tattersall's for it the
next morning, Herring, however, objected, and observed that he
might not get the money, when Palmer replied, ¢ Ob, it’s all right,
that money of Pratt’s must be paid, because he has a bill of sale on
account of the mare.” It was not the mare, however, in which he
had any interest, but Pratt’s money, for which writs had been already
issued, but stopped, because Palmer had promised to pay it the
Saturday before. With the 4501, paid Pratt, he gave him, in addition,
a cheque for 207, and 30/ in notes, making 500L in all, and for which
there was drawn up by Pratt a memorandum fo the following effeet :
% You will place the 50/ now received with the 450L to be got from
Herring, making 500L., and the 200 received on Saturday (paid by
Fisher, Cook’s agent, but which he never got back), making in all,
paid up to that day, a sum of 1,300L” So that the payment of these
various sums stopped the pressure upon him, and stopped the issuing
of the writs against his mother. Having effected these various
arrangements, he went on Sunday afternoon to Rugeley, where he
arrived about nine o’clock, and immediately proceeded to the Talbot
Arms, where Cook was staying. He stopped there uutil ten or eleven
o'clock, and then went to the shop of a chemist named Salt, and asked
his assistant, a man named Newton, for some strychnia, which he
gave him, not deeming it of any importance to inquire what a
medical man, in Palmer's position, might want with it. Some
pills had been sent on the same evening to Cook, at the hotel, by
Dr. Bamford, and left with the housekeeper, by whom they were
taken up-stairs and placed with the medicine which Palmer had
been in the habit of giving the patient. Palmer also came, and
it would be for the jury to say, when they heard the evidence,
whether he did not substitute some of his own concoction, con-
taining strychnia, for those which Dr, Bamford had sent some
time previously. The man had been well and comfortable during the
day, and was evidently getting better and more cheerful. He was
left alone about twelve o'clock, when suddenly the women servants
were alarmed by hearing screams proceeding from his room. They
rushed up-stairs, and one of them going in found him'in a state of the
greatest agony, screaming Murder,” calling on. Christ to save his
coul, and writhing in the most intense pain. He was so convulsed
that he could not keep his hands or arms quiet a moment ; but in the
midst of all his pains he was perfectly conscious. One of the women
ran across to fetch Palmer, who came immediately, but the screams
continued uninterruptedly ; he was rolling violently about, his eyes
starting out of his bead, his legs rigid, his mouth closed, and so
gasping for breath that he could hardly breath. Palmer, finding him
in this condition, ran across for some medicine, and on his return Cook
said, * Doctor, doctor, I shall die.” He then gave him an opiate-
mixture and some pills, and some time after he became more tranquil,
though his arms were quite stiff. The inference to be drawn from
this circumstance tells for itself. The symptoms, however, having
abated, he became quite exhausted, and nature asserting her clgim to
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repose, he began to doze. Palmer stopped some time, and finally left
him. So things remained until Tuesday, the 20th, the day of his
death. On Tuesday morning, though still retaining an intense pres-
sure on his breathing, he was comparatively comfortable ; but about
half-past eleven or twelve o'clock a change came upon him, to which
I beg your attention. About that hour the prisoner went to
the shop of a man named Hawkins, a chemist at Rugeley, with
whom he had not dealt for two years before, inasmuch as he gave a
preference to his former assistant, who had set up in the same
business. On this day, however, he went to Hawkins, as I have
said, and on entering the shop produced a bottle, and asked his
assistant, a man named Roberts, for two drachms of prussic
acid. While it was being put into the bottle, a person named
Newton came in, from whom Palmer had some strychnia on a
previous oceasion. On seeing him come into the shop, the prisoner
at once went over to him and said, “I want to say something to you.”
He took him outside, and commenced to ask when his master’s son
was about to go to a farm he had taken in another part of the eounty.
Having thus got him out, he stopped talking until a man named
Brarriker came up, and finding them engaged Palmer stepped into the
shop and got with the prussic acid six grains of strychnia. He stood
in the door-way while it was getting ready. Newton went away, but
soon after returned, and being struck with the fact of seeing Palmer
attHawkins’s door, inquired what it was he came there for, and on
being informed, was very much surprised, as he had purchased some
from him on the previous day. Gentlemen, I am bound to tell you,
with regard to Newton, that when he was examined, in the first
instance, before the coroner, he stated only that part of his evidence
with reference to Tuesday morning ; it was only late yesterday that
he communicated the fact of the prisoner having got strychnia. I
need hardly say, on the part of the Crown, that no inducement what-
ever was held out to him to induce him to act as he has done ; and
when he is produced, he will no doubt explain the reason of his
silence, and express contrition for keeping it back. It will be for you
to say if you will credit his statement, that the prisoner had strychnia
on Monday night ; but whether you do so or not, if you believe he
purchased it at Hawkins’s—that he administered it the same night, in
pills, to Cook—and that Cook died with all the symptoms of its being so
administered—you will find your verdict accordingly. I will now call
your attention to another remarkable subject. Cook was entitled to re-
ceive certain stakes he had won at Shrewsbury on the Tuesday previous.
Palmer sent to Cheshire, and desired him to bring a receipt-stamp.
Cheshire, to whom he owed money, thought he was about being paid,
and brought it with him. Palmer, on his coming, produced a paper,
and desired him to draw a cheque for 350/, making this curious obser-
vation—¢ Cook is too ill, and the Messrs. Wetherby know my hand-
writing,” Now, what the meaning of that was, I leave it to you to
judge. Cheshire copied a cheque on the paper, directing them to
pay 350L to Palmer. We have made every search for that docu-
ment, but without success, and I shall ask for its production from the
No. 2,
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counsel for the prisoner, when you will be enabled to say if it bear
the signature of Cook or not. There is certainly something sus-
picious in the fact, that Palmer shrank from putting his handwriting
in the body of the cheque, but got Cheshire, the postmaster, to do so
for him. Gentlemen, with respect to Cook the vomiting was re-
newed and eontinued until Tuesday afterncon. In the course of that
afternoon a new person came on the scene. On the Monday Palmer
wrote to a person named Jones, desiring him to come at onee and see
Cook. 'This is a remarkable part of the history of this case. ' Jones
was a medical man, in whose house Cook when at home resided.
The following was the letter :—“ Cook is taken'ill, and called in a
medical man ; since then he has been suffering from a bilious attack
with diarrheea, and I think it advisable you should come and see him as
soon as possible.” Jones was a medical man, a friend of Cook’s, and
being a medical man, it might be the strongest proof of the priconer’s
innoeence, that he wrote a letter to him, burt' whether his visit was to
be connected with other communications which the prisoner had
taken to disarm- suspicion, it would be for the jury to decide. The
statements in the letter were untrue, as Cook was not suffering from
a bilions complaint. On the arrival of Jones, he made an exami-
nation of Cook, in presence of Palmer. On seeing Cook, he rem:rked
that lie apparently was not suffering from the usual effects of ‘a
bilious attack. Mr. Jones did not arrive at Rugeley until Tuesday,
and at three o'clock he and the prisoner examined Cook togethér.
Jones found Cook to he in a position the very opposite
of bilious. He looked at his tongue, and there were no
manifestations of fever then. “ Oh,” said Palmer, *“if you had
only seen it before, you would have come to a different con-
clusion,” In the evening Mr. Bamford eame 'in, when a consulta-
tion took place between Mr. Jones, Mr. Bamford, and the prisoner.
Palmer insisted that pills should be taken, but Cook said ‘that he
would not take any more physic that night. It was arranged that
Cook should have some pills, and Dr. Bamford went home with
Palmer, and made some at his surgery and gave them to Palmer. On
receiving the pills by the desire of Palmer, he wrote a 'direction on
the box to say how they were to be taken, but not ‘without some sur-
prise, as Palmer was a medical man. He (Dr. Bamford) wrote the
directions how the pills were to be taken. Palmer took them away,
did not arrive at the hotel until half an hour after the time he should
have done, and on his arrival there he particularly directed the atten-
tion of Jones to the fact of the handwriting of Dr. Bamford. He re-
marked that the handwriting was particnlarly firm for a person of the
age of Dr. Bamford. The object being to identify the pill-box as
coming from Dr. Bamford. Cook eventually took the pills, and Jones,
as he was a friend of Cook’s, said he would sleep in the same room.
After he had been in bed but a short time, Cook jumped up and said,
“For God’s sake send for the doctor, I am going to be ill.” Palmer
was sent for from the opposite side of the way, and his arrival was so
quick that it was simply impossible for him to have dressed himselfin
the time. On his arrival Cook prayed him to give the same medi-
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cine as had before relieved him, Palmer said he would, and he made
up some pills which he said were composed of ammonia. Cook swal-
lowed the pills, and immediately the stiffening of the body commenced,
and it was impossible to move Cook, although he implored them to
do so. On being told it was impossible, he then asked to be turned
over on his other side; this was done, and shortly after Cook breathed
his last. The whole of this took less time in action than me to state
it. I will producea body of evidence to prove that this exhibition
of tetanus in Cook was caused by strychnia, and not by ordinary
causes. The breath was hardly out of Cook’s body, when Palmer took
steps for the burial. Two women were sent for to lay out the body.
When the women went into the roem they saw Palmer searching
Cook’s pockets, and also turning over the bed. ‘He also took some
papers from Cook, and it was supposed the betting book was amongst
those papers. That book has never been found. 1 shall be able to
prove that the betting boek was in the possession of Cook a day or
two before he died. The boak was certainly there, as one of the ser-
vants took a stamp from it and gave it to Cook. That book has never
been discovered, and it will be for you to say what became of that
book. That ends the day on which Cook died. I will now pass
on to the next day. On the day following Cook’s death a letter was
written by Palmer to Mr. Pratt, stating that Mr. Caok was dead, and
making arrangements about Cook’s horses, but particularly stating
that he (Palmer) must have Pole Star, and directing him fo answer no
money questions about the affairs of Cook. A communication took
place between Palmer and the Messrs. Wetherby, but in consequence
of certain directions, they refused to pay the moneys of Ceck to
Palmer, as Mr. Frail, the clerk of the course, said he had paid the
money already to Cook, This, however, was a mistake, and Frail
afterwards paid the money. There was 75/, with which he intended
to pay the interest on the bills becoming due. Assoonas the Messrs.
Wetherby refused to pay the amount of the cheque, he asked them
to pay 75. to Pratt, and 100L to the same individual, but they re-
fused to do so, alleging that as they could not be parties to the cheque,
they could payno portion of it. When this was communicated,
he wrote to London, to say that he would go up on the 24th, and
he did so, and paid the 100.. These sums of money, it will be
recollected, were paid by a man who had a few days previously
no money at all. ~ He makes a memorandum of the different
sums he had paid, which amount in the aggregate to 1,300/
The next day after this he arrived at Rugeley ; he sent for Cheshire,
and produced a bill, which I cannot say was genuine, and asked him
to attest the signature of Cook, which he said it bore. Cheshire
asked what the paper was, and Palmer replied that it was an acknow-
ledgment by Cook that he owed him (Palmer) bills for 4,0001,, in
which’ he had no share, and for which he received no consideration
whatever. That paper has not been discovered. The man had been
forty-eight hours dead when his signature was thus sought to be at-
tested, and that fact can lead to no other inference but that some fraud
was attempted to be perpetrated, Cheshire, although he bad been
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previously the reckless instrument of this man to a lamentable degree,
declined to comply with the request so made, upon which Palmer ex-
claimed, * Oh, well, never mind, they won’t dispute the signature,
but it would look better if it had been attested.” This took place on
Thursday or Friday, I am not sure which. ~ On Friday, Mr. Stevens,
father-in-law of Cook, having married the widow of Cook’s father,
came to Rugeley, and paturally went in the first instance to see the
corpse, when he was struck with the fulness of the face and body,
which did not present that appearance of emaciation which eenerally
accompanies death, He saw Palmer, whom he understood to have
attended his step-son, inquired about his affairs, and whether he knew
anything of them. To these inquiries Palmer replied that there were
4,000, worth of bills of Cook’s which had his (Palmer’s) name upon
them ; that he held a paper as an acknowledgment of the debt, drawn
up by a lawyer ; that Cook had acknowledged himself liable for the
amount ; and that he should look to his estate for payment. To this
Mr. Stevens replied, that there were not 4,000 shillings to meet the
demand, “Then,” said Palmer, “how am I to get the money ™
when the other answered, *“Go into the Court of Chancery.” A
conversation then ensued as to the burial of ‘the body, and when
Mr. Stevens expressed a wish to have it brought away on the fol-
lowing Monday, Palmer said, “ I will do that right,” and Mr. Stevens
having expressed a wish that it should remain at the hotel for two
or three days, as he was compelled to go to town, Palmer replied
that it made no difference, but that in the meantime the body
should be placed in a coffin. Dr. Bamford was in the room, and
Palmer went away for about half-an-hour.  When he returned,
Mr. Stevens asked him about an undertaker, and Palmer replied,
“QOh, I have already ordered a shell and a strong oak coffin.”
Mr. Stevens was much surprised at this, and having ordered dinner at
the hotel, he asked Dr. Bamford and Palmer to join him. ~ After they
had dined, and when the time was approaching for Mr. Stevens to
leave for London, he turned to Mr. Jones, who was also in the room,
and asked him to go up-stairs and look after the books and papers of
his poor son-in-law. Jones did so, and Palmer immediately followed
him. On his return he said to Mr. Stevens that he was sorry to an-
nounce that neither his betting book nor any other books or papers of
his could be discovered. On hearing this, Mr. Stevens said they
should be found, when Palmer replied that they would be of no use to
him. Mr, Stevens said that it was for him to judge, and repeated
again that they must and should be found. He then desired the
housekeeper to get possession of the papers, to lock the door of the
room, and allow nobody in until his return. Before his departure,
he went up again to look at the body, stooped over it, took the right
hand in his, which was perfectly rigid, took the left in the same
way, with the like effect, and immediately after left for London.
He left London next day for Rugeley, and, to his astonishment,
met Palmer in the same train. Arrived at Wolverhampton, they
went into the refreshment-room, and, in a conversation there, Mr.
Stevens proposed that a post-mortem examination should be held
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on the body. He pressed Palmer to tell him who would be the
fittest. person in Rugeley to do so, told him he intended to employ
a solicitor to look after his affairs, when Palmer said he would
get him one, but declined to name any one to conduct the post-
mortem examination.  When they arrived at Rugeley, they went
to. the hotel, and then to a Mr, Gardiner, and in the meantime,
Palmer observed that he was going to see his trainer, In a subse-
quent partof the evening, when they had another conversation about
the bills, Mr. Stevens said he had heard a different version of the affair
from what had been given him by Palmer, when he replied that he hoped
the matter would be settled pleasantly. Mr., Stevens again referred him
to the, Court of Chancery, upon which Palmer asked who was to con-
duct, the post-mortem. examination, but Mr. Stevens declined to say
who was to be employed. On that same day Palmer paid Pratt two
bills, amounting to 200/., and, in a conversation which he had on the
occasion, he used this remarkable expression :—* Do not tell anybody,
if you are asked, where I got the money ; say it was advanced by my
mother for Cook.” To this observation Pratt replied, ** What was that.
to do with the 500/ ?” and then the conversation ended. It will be °
for you to say what his reason was for not wishing any communica-
tion to be mide on the subject. He repeated that conversation again
on the 28th of November.. On the Istof December he paid Pratt
another 1007, which closed that transaction. Shortly after this he
was arrested by Padwick, who brought an action against the mother.
Everything then became known, and events were thickening around
him. I have now taken you to Sunday, the 25th, and Monday, the
26th of November, and on that Monday, other matters took place, to
which I shall call your attention. = On Sunday, he went to Dr.
Bamford for a certificate, to be sent to the registrar of deaths; and
when he asked that gentleman of what Cook died, he replied, “ Why
should you ask me ; he was your patient ?” when Palmer replied,
« He wasnot. - Let it be that he died of apoplexy.” Dr. Bamford,
gentlemen, is a very old man ; he is eighty-six years of age ; and,
perhaps, it was owing to his infirmity that he consented to do what
was very, wrong. He saw the body immediately after death, and
must. have known. that he did not die of apoplexy ; and the post-
mortem examination shows there was no foundation whatever
for such an_assertion. It being known on the Sunday that the
post-mortem _examination would take place the next day, Palmer
sent for Newton, the assistant of Salt, with whom he had some brandy
and water, and a eonversation on what had previously happened.
He asked him how much strychnia would be given if he wanted to
kill a dog ? and he said, half a grain. He then asked whether it
would be found in the stomach, and when the reply was that it would
not, it seemed to give him evident satisfaction, When the examination
was_about to take place, he said, on leaving Dr. Bamford’s, that it
would be a dirty job, and he should go and have some brandy and
water, for the poor fellow was full of disease. The examination took
place ; the body was carefully examined by Drs. Devonshire, Harland,
Bamford, and Newton, and the external appearances clearly proved
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that strychnia was administered. The muscles were relaxed, the feet
distorted, the hands clenchied, the head thrown back, and every other
symptom of the poison clearly developed. All the important portions
of the body were found to be in a sound state. The abdomen and
liver were perfect’; the langs and kidneys sound, and a slight con-
gestion had taken place in the lungs ; it wasnot enough to disturb the
functional branches of ‘the system,or in the slightest degree to account
for the appearance of the body. They examined the stomach and the
intestines, and they only found a few white spots on the stomach, but
nothing to justify the fact that the deceased had been affected with
disease. They then examined the head ; and Dr. Bamford, possibly
to cover his own conduct in giving the certificate that the deceased died
from apoplexy, said that there seemed to be a slight eongestion of the
brain. The other medical men say that there was nothing in the head
to cause death. In January, the body of the deceased was exhumed,
with the view of ascertaining the state of the spinal cord at the
neck, when they found that the spinal cord and the marrow were
in a most perfect state. I will now go back to the post-mortem
examination. I told you that they found no inflammation in the
stomach. ‘On that occasion Palmer said to Dr. Bamford, * They
will not hang us yet.” The portion of the intestines and the stomach
were deposited in a jar which was covered over with two parchments,
sealed, and given to Dr. Harland. And he put it aside to listen to
some observations that were being made. On turning round quickly
he missed the jar, and exclaimed, * Where is the jar?” Palmer, who
was in another part of the room near the door, made answer, and said,
“I'have it. I thought you would think it better to have it here.”
Dr. Harland immediately replied, *“Bring it here immediately ; it
should not bave been disturbed.” The jar was returned to the care
of Dr. Harland, when two slits were found in the skins, which had
evidently been done with a penknife. When it was decided to take
the jar away, Palmer said to Dr. Bamford, I don’t think we ought to
let them take that jar away, aswe don’t know what they might putin
it. Now as Palmer was not an ignorant man, but was in fact a
medical man, such a hint as this looked exceedingly suspicions. He
must have known the honour of his profession, and that there was no
probability of the contents of the jar being tampered with in the
smallest degree. The prisoner was exceedingly anxious that the jar
should not leave Rugeley, and when he discovered that the medical
man and Mr. Stevens had engaged a fly to take them to the Stafford
station, he sought out the postboy that was to convey them, and said
to him, “ I am told they are going to take away the jar with the con-
tents of Mr, Cook’s stomach.” The postboy replied that “he heard
they were.” «Well,” said Palmer, “ they have no right to do so0.”
Palmer added, “ Don’t you ‘think yon could upset the earriage, and
break the jar'?” The man instantly refused to do anything calculated
to‘effect such an object. Palmer tried to persuade him to cause an
accident to the conveyance, stating that he would ““make it all right
with him,” but the man refused, and that man I propose to eall before
you. Now, gentlemen, I have gone through the painful ‘features of




—

23

this case, but one or two minor features remain to be noticed.
After the post-mortem examination, an inquest was held on the body
of the decesased. The stomach and intestines had been sent to Dr.
Taylor and Dr. Rees of Guy’s Hospital ; and while the inquest was
being held, a letter was addressed to Dr. Harland by Mr. Taylor,
relative to the analysis which had been taken of them. The contents
of that letter was betrayed to Palmer, and he wrote to the coroner to
say that  no poison had been found in the body of Cook.” I only
mention this to show the anxiety of the prisoner in reference to the
contents of the jar forwarded to Dr. Taylor. ' T also told you that,
before Cook’s death, Palmer had no money, and that, after the death
of Cook, e was quite flush of it. T have proved that he paid 4001,
about that time, and Cook was known to have left Shrewsbury after
the races with TOOL or 800L in his pocket. It would be for you to

say whether from the circumstances in which the prisoner was placed,

he was impelled to the act of destroying Cook in order to relieve him-
self from some of the pressing difficultics by which 'he was
surrounded. You have a case before you of a man forging
acceptances to raise money, who, disappointed in the hope of
meeting them from the proeeeds which he expected from the
insurance office—with writs issued against himself and his mother,
whose signature to the bills had been forged—with the fact that
he produced a document to show that the deceased was indebted
to him in the amount of 3,000% or 4,000l,—that document which
he asked Cheshire to attest some days after Cook had died,—you
have this fact before you, to say how far they can lead you to
the conclusion, that they had induced the prisoner fo take away
ihe life of Cook. If you believe that, on the Monday night,
Palmer purchased strychnia, and that the mortal agonies of the
deceased, which terminated in death, were caused by poison
administered by the hands of Palmer, then you will have no
difficulty in giving a verdict in accordance with that belief. You
will be told that no strychnia was found in the body of the deceased
—that was true. But you will be told, by hig h medical authorities,
that, whether found or mot, there were certain tests which placed
beyond doubt the fact of strychnia being administered, whether
the poizon was found in the body or not. The finding of such a
poison iu the body depended upon the circumstances under which it
was administered, I have told you that half a grain of strychnia
would kill the strongest man ; but then it must be administered in
such a form as that the body should absorb it completely and at once,
When the poison was administered in a fluid form, the body took it
up rapidly, for it covered the stomach at once, but when it was given
in the shape of a pill the body would not absorb it so rapidly, and,
consequently, its effects would not be seen so quickly. If taken in
large quantities it kills immediately, but when administered in small
doses it kills by degrees. I have explaiuf:d the effect of a small
quantity of strychnia upon the human frame. You will also have
the tests which had been applied for the discovery of this poison laid
before you, whi¢h would show that when the same quantity of poison
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was administered to animals, those animals had expired with the same

effect as that produced on the human being. It would be lamentable

for it to go forth that poisoning by strychnia could not be di

but Providence had ordained it otherwise. That poison had been

administered to the unfortunate man was evident, and the question:
would be, how did it get there 7 You will have to say, under all the

circumstances, whether this unfortunate man came by his death by the

adwministration of strychnia. From the Wednesday until the ensuing

week, he was in a constant state of excitement. From the

mode in which the body lay since death, they failed to produce evi-

dence of strychnia being administered, but that poison was adminis-

tered there could be no doubt. It was proved by the evidence of
eminent medical men, and thus the question arose, Who administered

it? What was his illness? Did it arise from biliousness or diarrheea 7

No ; but a sickness precisely of the same nature as that produced by

strychnia. There was another circumstance to which they should

turn their attention. Antimony is precisely opposite, in its effects, to

strychoia. The man was sick for a week. Antimony was found

in his body, for what purpose was it administered ? He should pro-

duce the testimony to which he alluded, which would leave no doubt

on the subject. (Gentlemen, I have occupied a great deal of time in

going through this painful statement, but you will feel with me that,

in such an inquiry as the present, time is not to be measured with the
ultimate consequences of the inquiry in which yon are engaged.
Whatever may be the result, I have the satisfaction of knowing
that the prisoner is defended by one of the mest able and
eloquent men. that ever graced the English bar. If the evidence
fails, or will not satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt, in God's
name let not an innocent man, or one not proved guilty, suffer;
but, on the other hand, if it be sustained, the interests of ‘society, and
the duty you owe to it, demand a verdict of guilty. The hon. and
learned gentleman concluded bis address at a quarter past two o'dlock,
having occupied four bours in its delivery. : .

At the conclusion of the speech of the Attorney-General, the Court
was adjourned for a short time, in order to enable the Court and jury
to take some refreshment. . The following evidence was then adduced -
for the prosecution :— 50

Ishmael Fisher examined by Mr, Edwin James.~I am a wine
merchant, and am in the habit of attending races, and betting upon:
them, 1 (knew the deceased, and had dome so for two years. I
was at the Shrewsbury Races, in 1855. . A mare, called Polestar,
won . the Shrewsbury Handicap at those races upon - Tuesday
the 13th November. = This mare belonged to the deceased. I saw
him on the day of the race, and he appeared quite well. On the fol-
lowiag day, in the evening, I was at the Raven Hotel, Shrewsbury.
The prisoner and deceased were staying at the same hotel, and oceu-
pied an adjoining room to mine. About eleven o'clock at night I saw
the prisoner and the deceased, and a gentleman named Myatt, in the
sitling-room ocGupied by the deceased and the prisoner. They were
drinking grog. The deceased had some brandy-and-water before him.
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He asked me to sit down, and I did so. Cook asked the prisoner to
have some more brandy-and-water, and he said he would not have
any more until he had drunk his. Cook then took up his glass, and
drank all the liquor that was in it, and almost within a minute he
exclaimed, “There is something in it—it burns my throat dread-
fully.” Upon his saying this, Palmer took up the glass, and sipped
what remained in the glass, and said there was nothing in it. 'There
was a very small quantity of liquor in the glass when the prisoner took -
it up. At this time a person named Reed, who also attends races,
came into the room, and the prisoner handed the glass to him, and
asked if he thought there was anything in it, and handed it to me
also, and we said there was nothing we could recognise, as the glass
was empty. T said, however, that I thought there was rather a strong
scent upon it, but I could not detect anything but brandy. Coak
went out of the room, and when he returned he called me out.
He was absent about ten minutes. I went with him into my
sitting-room.  He appeared very ill, and he told. me he had been
very sick, and asked me to take his money. He at the same
time said that he thought that Palmer had been dosing him. He gave
me over TOOL It wasall in bank.-notes. He did not say what I
was to do with the money. The deceased was very sick again after
he had given me the money, and left my room, and when he came
back he again told me how he had been suffering from sickness, and
asked me to go with him to his bedroom, and I did so. Another
person named Jones went with us, and the deceased vomited violently”
in his bedroom in our presence. = He was so ill that I advised him to
send for a medical gentleman named Gibson, and he attended upon
the deceased and gave him some medicine, The deceased was so ill
that the doctor was sent for a second time, but about two o'clock in
the morning he appeared to be more composed, and I left. T and
Mr. Jones administered to the deceased the medicine that was sent.
On the following morning I saw the prisoner in my sitting-room. He
told me that Cook had been stating that he had been putting some-
thing in his ‘brandy overnight, and he said that he never played such
tricks with people, and he added that Cook was drunk. I should
say the deceased was certainly not drunk when I saw him, and there
was nothing about him approaching to drunkenness. The deceased
appeared very ill when I saw him next morning, but a cood deal
better than the previous night, and I returned him his money. I
afterwards saw him on the race-course, and he then looked very ill.
I had been in the habit of settling the deceased’s bets for him, and
paying and reeeiving when he did not do so himself, I 'saw his
betting-book in his hand at Shrewsbury. On the 17th of November
I paid Mr. Pratt 2004 at the request of the deceased. In the ordinary
course, the bets upon the races at Shrewsbury would be settled at
Tattersall’s on the Monday following, and I expected to have settled
the deceased’s bets, and I should have deducted the 200/ from the
money I received. I did not settle the account, and consequently my
2001 was not repaid me. I was aware that Cook was a considerable
winner at Shrewsbury.
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Cross-examined.—I was aware the prisoner.and the deceased wer:
intimately connected in racing matters, but I am not aware that the
were partners, or that they owned horses jointly. They were on ver;
intimate terms, and generally stopped at the same hotels. I do no
know whether Palmer won any money at Shrewsbury. I saw Cool
after his mare had won, and he appeared very much elated and

ratified. The race was won very easily. I do not think I dran
any brandy and water myself on the evening in question, Tam a prett)
good judge of brandy, and I stated that I could not detect anything
particular in the smell of the deceased’s glass. There was so little i
it, that it was very difficult to form any positive opinion upon th
subject. I cannot say whether the deceased dined at the Raven o
this day. I had seen the deceased at the Unicorn, another inn i
Shrewsbury, earlier in the same day. I did not see him drink any
thing at this time. The prisoner was with him. I am not awar
that a great many people connected with the races were very ill a
Shrewsbury. On_the day of the races it was very wet under fool
and it was cold and damp two or three days afterwards. I believ:
the prisoner and the deceased breakfasted together on the Thursday
morning. Ireceived aletter from the deceased on the 17th November
It was dated Rugeley, and requested me to pay 200. to make up :
sum of 500L. that he wished to pay to Mr. Pratt, and he would malk:
up the remainder the next day.

Re-examined.—I did not think that the deceased, from what he
*said, had any great respect for the prisoner. The prisoner had a horse
called Chicken, which ran at Shrewsbury and lost. I know that Le
betted upon the race.

Mr, Thomas Jones said—I am a law-stationer, in Carey-street. |
was at the Shrewsbury Races in November, 1855, and lodged at the
Raven. I went there on the Monday night, and Cook and I, and the
last witness, and a person named Herring, supped together at night.
The deceased appeared quite well at this time, and also on the Tuesday
and Wednesday following, until the evening. On Wednesday nigh
the deceased invited me and a person named Reed to go into his room.
and I found Palmer there, and after the party broke up, Fisher told
me something about Cook, and I in consequence went into his bed-
room, and found him very ill, and he complained of a burning in his
throat, and he vomited a great deal. Some pills and a draught were
administered to him, and I afterwards obtained some more medicine
from the doctor’s, and administered a small quantity of it to the
deceased. Between six and seven the following morning I saw
the deceased aguin, and he said he felt better and easier, but he looked
very

‘Mr. George Reed corroborated the evidence given by the: last two
Wwitnesses with regard to what took place at the Raven Inn, at Shrews-
bury, cn 13]13 night in question. He also said that almost immediately
he' went into the room he observed that the deceased was in great
pain, and he heard him say that there was something in the brandy
and water. The prisoner took up the glass and drunk all the liquor
that was in it, and then handed it to witness to taste, and he told him
it was of no use handing him an empty glass for that purpose.
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Cross-examisd.—He ‘considered the deceased was not a strong
man. He gendlly looked pale.

By the Atteney-General.—The deceased never complained. of
illness. He ws present at almost every race that took place,

Mr. S. Gibsa said—TI am assistant to Mr. Heathcote, a surgeon,
at Shrewsbury. I remember being sent for on the 14th November,
to the Raven lotel, at Shrewsbury, and I saw the deceased in his
bed-room. Hecomplained of pain in his stomach and heat in his
throat, and he #id he thought he had been poisoned. I felt his pulse,
and found it ws about ninety. His tongue was perfectly clean. Iis
abdomen was sry much distended. I administered an emetic, and
sent the waitres for some warm water, and the deceased said he
could make himelf sick with the handle of a tooth-brush. He drunk
all the water ad vomited, and the water returned perfectly clean. I
then went hom and sent the deceased two pills and a draught. The
pills were composed of rhubarb and calomel, and the draught
consisted of sena, magnesia, and ammonia.

Baron Aldewn.—A common black draught I suppose you mean ?

Witness.~—Ikactly, my lord.

Examinatiorcontinued.—I also sent an anodyne draught for the
deceased. Il not see him any more.

Cross-examied.— I went to work with the deceased as if he was
poisoned. Thee was nothing peculiar in the matter that he vomited.
Hé appeared dittle excited by drink, but knew perfectly well what
he was about. I consider ‘that his brain was certainly stimulated by
the brandy anowater. I thought that the warm water was likely to
relieve his stomch.

Elizabeth Mls said —I was chambermaid at the Talbot Arms at
Rugeley, in Nvember last. The priconer lived at Rugeley, and was
in the habit ¢ coming to the Talbot Arms, I knew the deceased.
He came toor hotel on the 15th of November, between nine and
ten at night. The prisoner came with him in a fly. He appeared to
be poorly, andie said he had been ill at Shrewsbury. He went to
bed about halhast ten o'clock, and on the following morning he went
out about one’'clock, and he still appeared to be poorly. He re-
turned to the m about ten o’clock at night, and went to bed in balf
an hour or so and he then told me that he had been dining at Mr.

5 Palmer’s, andie said that he felt no worse. . The deceased was quite
i sober, and b asked for an extra piece of candle to read by. The
prisoner live: opposite the Talbot Arms. He came to see the
‘deceased on 1e following morning, and he asked me for a cup of
coffee for hin and I procured one ; and I think I gave it to the de-
ceased, and it the room, I did mot see him drink the coffee ; but
when I went ito the room shortly afterwards, I saw thatit had been
vomited in 1+ utensil by the side of the bed. I did not observe a
jug of toast-weer in'the bed-room ; buta jug that did not belong to the
“inn was sent own from the bed-room at night, for me to make some
fresh toast-ai-water in. The prisoner was in the deceased’s bed-
room four orfive times on this day ; and I heard him tell Mr. Cook
that lie woul send him over some broth. T afterwards saw some

=
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broth in the kitchen, which I knew had not been made}in the Talbot
Arms ; and the waitress took this broth to the deceased’s bed-
room. I saw the prisoner after this, and he asked me if
Mr. Cook had had-his broth ; and the waitress said she had taken ig
to him, but he refused to take it, and said that it would not stay on
his stomach. The prisoner then told me to fetch the broth, as Mr.
Cook must have it, and I did so, and left it in deceased’s bedroom,
and shortly afterwards I saw that it had been vomited, The same
evening some barley water was made for the deceased, and also some
arrowroot, but I cannot say whether they remained on his stomach or
not. Mr. Bamford, the doctor, was called in after this. On the
Sunday after the deceased came to the Talbot Arms, I, saw him in.
his bedroom about vight o’clock in the morning, and he said he had
slept well since twelve o'clock, and he felt pretty comfortable. A
large breakfast cup of broth was brought from the prisoner’s house.
between twelve and one o’clock on the Sunday, and I took it up to the
deceased’s bedroom. I tasted the broth, and very soon afterwards I
was sick. I drunk about two tablespoonfulls. I yomited violently
all the afternoon, and was obliged to go to bed. I was quite well up
to the time of my drinking the broth, I saw the deceased on Sunda
evening, and he seemed in good spirits, and not to be any worse. {
saw the deceased on the Monday morning between seven and eight
o'clock, when I took him a cup of coffee for his breakfast. He did
not vomit the coffee. Palmer bad seen him before this, but he did
not come again until ten o'clock at night. The deceased got up:
about one o’clock, and he shaved and dressed himself, and appeared a
great deal better, but said that he was exceedingly weak. Ashmall,
the jockey, came to see him on the Monday, and also Mr. Saunders,
the trainer. Soon after one o'clock the deceased took some arrow—
root, and it remained on his stomach, The deceased went to bed at
four o'clock, and between nine and ten, the prisoner went into his:
room, and I left him there, Some pills were sent by Dr. Bamford:
for the deceased, about eight o’clock, and I took them into his room,
and placed them on the dressing-table, and they were there when the
prisoner went into the room. I went to bed between ten and eleven,
and I was called up about twelve. I then heard violent screams
from the deceased’s bedroom, and upon  entering it I saw
the deceased sitting up in bed, and he desired me to fetch the
prisoner directly. I told him he had been sent for, and I then walked
to the bed-side and found one of the pillows was upon the floor. I
picked it up and asked Mr. Cook if he would lay his head down.
At this time he was beating the bed clothes apparently in great agony, .
and he told me he could not lie down, and he should be suffocated if
he did, and he then, in a loud tone, asked me again to send for Mr.
Palmer. There was a sort of jumping or jerking about his head and
neck and body all this time, and his breathing was very much affected.
He screamed three or four times while I was in the room, and twice
he called out “ Murder.” He asked me to rub one of his hands, and I
found it quite stiff. Tt was the left hand. The fingers were all
stretched out, and there was no motion in them, and they twitched
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while T was rubbing the hand. Palmer came into the room while
this was going on, and the deceased recognised him, and said, © Oh,
Palmer,” or ¢ Oh, Doctor, I shall die.” The prisoner replied, * Oh,
my lad, you wont ;” and after remaining a minute or two in the room
ke told me to stay there, and went out. He returned in a very few
miinutes, and he then produced some pills, and he gave the deceased a
draught in a wine-glass, after he had given him the pills. Cook said
that the pills stuck in his throat, and the prisoner told me to give him
some toast and water, and I did so in a teaspoon. His head and body
continued jerking, and he seized the spoon fast between his teeth and
seemed to bite it very hard. The deceased shortly after swallowed
the toast and water and the pills, and the prisoner then handed him
the draught. It had a thick heavy appearance. The deceased snapped
at the glass in the same way he did at the spoon, and he appeared
aunable to control himself. As soon as he had swallowed the draught,
he vomited it immediately, and it appeared to me te smell like opium,
The prisoner then made the remark that he hoped the pills had
stayed, and he searched the utensil in which the deceased had
vomited with a quill, and said that he could not find them, and
he ‘told me to take the utensil away and empty it carefully, and I did
so, but'could not see any trace of the pills. After this the de-
ceased seemed alittle more easy. The attack lasted altogether about half
an hour, and during the whole of the time he was quite conscious.
When he was removed he asked the prisoner to feel how his
heart beat, and Palmer went to his bed side and put his hand
either to his heart or the side of his face, and he said it was all
right. I left the deceased about three o'clock in the morning,
and at this time the prisoner was sitting in the easy chair, and I be-
lieve he was asleep. About six o’clock the same morning I saw the
deceased again, and he told me that Mr. Palmer had left him about a
quarter past five o'clock. I asked him how he was, and he replied
that he was no worse; and he then asked me if I had ever seen any
one in such agony as he was the night before, and I told him I never
had. ' He then said he was sure I should never like to see any one in
such agony again, and 1 inquired what he thought was the cause.
Heé replied that it was through some pills that Palmer had given him
about half-past ten, The deceased was quite composed and quiet at
this time, and there was no jerking or convulsion about him, but his
eyes looked very wild. About twelve o'clock the deceased desired me
to send the boots over to Mr. Palmer to know whether he might have
4 cip of eoffee. A message was brought back that he might, and
Mr. Palmer would be over immediately. When I took up the coffee
the prisoner was in the room, and I gave him the coffee, and he tasted
it to see that it was not too strong. Mr. Jones came to the inn about
three o’clock, and I saw him in the deceased’s room, and the prisoner
after this told me that Cook had vomited the®coffee. I saw Cook
several times after this, and he appeared in very good spirits, and
talked about getting up the next morning, and wished the barber to
be sent for to shave him, I did not see the deceased later than half-
past ten o’clock on the Tuesday night, and the prisoner was then in
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his bedroom, and I gave him some toast-and-water for the deceased,
and the prisoner said he did not want anything more. I sat up in
the kitchen on purpose to see how Mr. Cook went on, and 1 heard
the bell of Mr. Cook’s room ring violently about ten minutes before
twelve o'clock, and I went up immediately. ~ Mr. Jones slept on
another bed in the deceased’s room. I found the deceased sitting
up, and Mr. Jones had his arm round his shoulders, apparently sup-
porting him. The deceased, when he saw me, told me to fetch
Mr. Palmer directly, and I went over to his house and rang the
surgery bell, and the prisoner came to the window almost in an
instant, and he opened a small casement, and I told him to come
over to Mr. Cook directly, as he was in much the same state as he
was the night before. The prisoner made some reply, and I went
back to the Talbot Arms; and in a minute or two the prisoner
came #into Mr. Cook’s room, and the first thing he said was that
he did not think he had ever dressed so quickly in his life. At
this time Mr. Jones was still supporting the deceased. I went out
of the bedroom, and vemained upon the landing about a minute or
two, when the prisoner came out, and I observed to him that the
deceased appeared in the same state he was the night before, and
Palmer replied that he was not so ill by a fiftieth part. He then
went to his own house, and returned in a very short time, and went
into the deceased’s bedroom. I then heard the deceased ask to be
turned over on his right side, and very shortly after this [ heard that
he was dead. I saw the prisoner feeling the deceased’s pulse, and he
said to Mr. Jones, “*The pulse is gone.” +Mr. Jones then put his
face to the heart of the deceased, and when he had done so he lifted
up both his hards, but did not speak. The prisoner then told me to
fetch Mr. Bamford, and he arrived very soon afterwards; and when
he came down he told me that Mr. Cook was dead, and that he was
dead when he arrived. Iwas told after this that the prisoner wanted
me, and I went into the deceased’s bedroom. The prisoner was there
alone. I said to him, *“Palmer, it is not possible that Mr. Cook is
dead ?” and he replied, * Yes, he is dead.” He then asked me who
I thought would come to lay him out, and I mentioned some women
whom I thought he knew, and hesaid they were just the women, and
he told me to fetch them. While Mr. Cook was staying at the Talbot
Arms I saw a book, which I suppesed to be his betting book. He
had it with him when he stopped-at the Talbot Arms before, on his
way to Liverpool races. I saw this book in the deceased’s bedroom
. the night before he died. It was on the dressing-table. The prisoner
was in the bedroom the same night, and I never saw the book again.
1 have searched for it, but cannot find it anywhere. About ten
" minutes after the deceased had died, and while Mr. Jones was out of

the room, 1 saw the prisoner in the act of searching the pockets of
Mr. Cook’s coat. 2 also saw him search under the pillow and
bolster. Before Mr. Cook died I saw some letters lying on the
mantlepiece, but I have never seen them since.

At the close of the examination in chief of this witness, it being

half-past six o’clock, the Court rose and the trial was adjourned to
this morning at ten o’clock.
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SECCND- DAY.

Tae adjourned trial of William Palmer for the murder of John
Parsons Cook was resumed this morning. The court was densely
crowded, and there was no abatement of the interest which the pro-
ceedings have from the commencement awakened. Among the dis-
tinguished persons present were the Earl of Derby, Earl Grey, Lord
W. Lennox, Lord G. G. Lennox, Lord H. Lennox, &ec.

The learned judges Lord Chief Justice Campbell and Mr. Baron
Alderson, accompanied by the Recorder, the Sheriffs, the Under-
Sheriffs, and several members of the Court of Aldermen, took their
seats on the bench at 10 o’clock.

The prisoner was then placed at the bar. The expression of his
countenance was sadder and more subdued than on the preceding day.
He maintained his usual tranquillity of demeanour, seldom changing
his position, and gazing steadfastly at the witnesses.

The same counsel were again in attendance :---The Attorney-
General, Mr. E. James, Q.C., Mr. Bodkin, Mr. Welsby, and Mr.
Huddleston, for the Crown ; and Mr. Sergeant Shee, Mr. Grove,
Q.C., Mr. Gray, and Mr. Kenealy, for the prisoncr.

The Jury, who had been all night at the London Coffee-house,
were conducted into court by the officer who had them charge.

Elizabeth Mills, who was under examination the previous evening,
was again placed in the witness-box. She deposed as follows:—I
had been engaged at the Talbot Arms for about three years’ previous
to Cook’s death. Cook first came to that inn in the month of May,
1855, and was off and on for some months. I never heard him com-
plain of any illness during that time except of an affection in his
throat. I heard him complain of a sore throat two or three months
before his death. He said it resulted from cold. He took a gargle
for it. I believe he had. it from Mr. Thirlby. I did not observe any
sores about his mouth. Inever heard him complain of a difficulty in
swallowing. I'haveseenhim with a “loaded” tongue occasionally ; but
I never heard him complain of a sore throat, nor have Iheard of caustic
being applied ‘to his tongue. It was a month if not more, before

- his death that I heard him say he had a sore throat. I never knew

him to take medicine before his last illness. He had a slight cough
through cold, but never to my knowledge a violent one. He had
not been ailing just before he went to Shrewsbury. On his return
from Shrewsbury he eomplained of being poorly. L left my situation
at Christmas, and went to my home in the Potteries. Since then I
have been in another situation, which I left in February. I have
seen Mr. Stevens, Mr. Cook’s father-in-law, since I have been in
London. I eannot say how many times I have seen him, but it is
not more than six or seven times. Sometimes we conversed
together in a private room. He only came to see whether I liked
the place or whether I liked London. We used to converse together
about Mr.Cook’s death. I have talked to him about Mr. Cock’s death
at Rugeley. I cannot remember anything else that we talked about
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except the death. He has never given me farthing of money or
promised to get me a place. 1 saw Mr. Stevens last Tuesday at
Dolly’s Hotel, where I had been in service. Lavinia Barnes was
with us. She was the waitress at the Talbot Arms when Mr. Cook
died. Two other persons were present, Mr. Hatton, the chief officer
of Rugeley, and Mr. Gardiner, an attorney at the same place. Mr.
Cook’s death may have been mentioned at this meeting. Other things
were talked of which I do not wish to mention.

Serjeant Shee.—DBut you must mention them.

Witness.—1 cannot remember what they were. I don’t know
whether we talked about the trial. They did not ask me what I could
prove. My deposition was not read over to me, and Mr. Stevens did
not talk to me about the symptoms that were exhibited by Mr. Cook
before his death, I had seen Mr, Hatton a few times before. I
once saw him at Dolly’s, He merely dined there. 1 can-
not remember whether he spoke to me about Cook’s death.
He might have done so. 1 cannot remember whether
he did or not. I know he asked me how I did. (A laugh.)
1 saw Mr. Gardiner once at Dolly’s, and once in the street, and I swear
these were the only occasions I ever saw him. I never went with him
to a solicitor’s office. At present I am living with my mother at
Rugeley. Before that I had been living among my friends. Iknow
a man named Dutton. He is a friend of mine. 1 have been staying
at his house. His mother lives in the same house. He is a labouring
man. I used to sleep with Dutton’s mother. 1 swear that I slept
with his mother. I have also been staying with a cousin of mine in
the Potteries. 1 left Dolly’s of my own accord, because 1 did not
like the place. I can read, and 1 read the newspapers. I have heard
of the case of a person named Dove, who was supposed to have
murdered his wife at Leeds. 1 merely heard that it was another
strychnine case, but the symptoms of strychnine were not men-
tioned. I will swear that I mentioned « twitching ” to the coroner.
It 1 did mot use the exact word, I suid something to the
same effect, 1 will swear that I have used the word © twitching ”
before I came to London. The words twitching ” and “jerking”
were not first suggested to me. I did not say anything about
the broth having made me sick before the ‘coroner, because
it did net occur to me. I did tell the coroner that I tasted
the broth, and that I did not observe anything particular about it. I
was examined several times, and I was questioned particularly upon
the subject of the broth, and I said on one occasion, that 1 thought
the broth was very good. I did not at the time think it was the broth
that hiad caused the sickness. I was so ill that 1 was obliged to go to
bed ; but I could not at all account for it. 1 only took two table-
gpoonfuls, and the sickness came on in about half an hour. I never
knew of Mr. Cook taking coffee in bed before those occasions. If I
have said that Mr, Palmer ordered coffee for Cook, I have no doubt
that it is correct. 1 cannot remember so well to-day as I did yester-
day. I cannot remember whether I told the coroner that 1 had not
seen Mr. Palmer when I gave the deceased the coffee. 1 dont
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remember whether I said anything before the coroner about seeing a
box of pills in the deceased’s bedroom on the DMonday
night, and that Palmer was in the room at the time.
Perhaps I was not asked the question. I did nothing but
‘answer questions that were put to me. I am sure that
Palmer was in the room on that night. I remember that he brought
a jar of jelly, and I opened it. I swear that the deceased told me
that the pills Palmer had given him had made him ill. I did not say
this before the coroner. I was asked some questions by Dr. Collier
with regard to what I had stated to the coroner, and I said that my
evidence had been altered, as some things bad occurred to me since,
and I had made another statement to a gentleman. I gave this addi-
tional statement to a gentleman at Dolly’s. I don’t know who the
gentleman was. I did not ask him, and he did not tell me. He did
not ask me many questions. He put a few to me and wrote down
my answers. He mentioned Mr, Stevens's name. Mr. Stevens was
there.

Serjeant Shee.—Why did not you tell me that >—Because you did
not ask me. (A laugh.)

Cross-examination continued.—I did not tell the coroner that Mr.
Cook was beating the bed-clothes on the Monday night. T did say
that he sometimes threw his head back, and then would raise himself
up again, and I believe I also said that he could hardly speak for
shortness of breath. I did not say that he called * Murder !” twice,
and I do not remember saying that he ** twitched” while I was rub-
bing his hands. T did not say anything about toast-and-water being
given to Mr. Cook by order of Palmer, in a spoon; or that he snapped
at the spoon and bit it so hard that it was difficult to get it out of his
mouth.

The Lord Chief Justice here interposed and intimated his opinion
that it would be a fairer course ‘to read the witness’s depositions.

The other judges concurred.

The Attorney-General said, he should have interposed, but it was
his intention to adduce evidence to show the manner in which the
case was conducted by the coroner, and that he was expostulated with
upon omitting to put proper questions, and also omitting to take down
the answers that were given,

Cross-examination continued. —I should have answered all those
~questions if they had been put to me. 1 was not purposely recalled to
state the symptoms of the deceased in the presence of Dr. Taylor.
When the prisoner came to the Talbot on the Tuesday night he had
a plaid dressing-gown on, but I cannot say whether he had a cap
or not. I did not observe that the prisoner appeared at all con-
fused at the time he was examining the clothes and the bed of the
deceased,

A model of the prisoner’s house and of the hotel was here pro-
duced. The deposition of the witness was put in and read, for the
purpose of showing that the statements made by her in her examina-
tion on Wednesday were omitted when she was examined by the
coroner.

No. 3.
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The witness was then re-examined by Mr. E. James.—I was
examined on & great many different days by the coroner. I was not
asked to describe all the symptoms I saw. The coroner himself put
the questions to me, and his clerk took down the answers. 1 merely
answered the questions, and I was not told to describe all I saw.
The coroner asked me if the broth had any effect upon me; and I
said, * Not that I was aware of.” I don’t know what brought the
sickness to my mind afterwards, but 1 think that some one else in the
house brought the fact to my memory. 1 certainly did vomit after L
took the broth, and was obliged to go to bed. 1 am quite sure the
deceased told me that it was the pills Palmer had given him that had
made him ill. When Mr. Collier came to me, he said that he was for
the Crown, and he then asked me questions about the ingquest and the
death of Mr. Cook. I answered all the questions he put to me, and
he took them down in writing, and carried the statement away with
him. Two other persons waited outside the house. I am engaged
to be married to one of the Duttons.

Serjeant Shee.—Did not Dr. Collier tell you that he was neither
for the Crown nor for the defence, but for the truth.?

Witness.—No; what he said was, that he was for the Crown; but
what he desired above all things was to know the truth, and that he
asked me to tell him without fear, favour, or affection.

Mr. Gardiner, examined by the Attorney-General.—I am a member
of the firm of Gardiner and Co., of Rugeley. I acted in this matter
for the firm of Cookson and Co., the solicitors of Mr. Stevens, the
father-in-law of Cook. I attended the inquest on the body of Cook,
and occasionally put questions to the witnesses. Mr. Ward, an
attorney, was the coroner. He put questions to the witnesses, and his
clerk took down the answers. The inquestlasted five days, and several -
times upon each day I expostulated with the coroner on account of
his omitting to put questions. :

Mr. Serjeant Shee submitted that what was said by the coroner was
no evidence aginst the prisoner.

The Attorney-General.—It is not intended as evidenee against the

isoner, but to rebut the effect of evidence that you have put in. I
will ask—had you occasion to expostulate with the coroner as o the
omission of his clerk to take down the answers of witnesses ?

. Mr. Serjeant Shee.—1 object to the question being put in that
orm.

The Attorney-General.—Did you observe that the clerk omitted
to take down the answers of Elizabeth Mills ?—Not in refereace to
that particular case.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—Her account of the matter is that the ques-
tions were not put.

The Attorney-General.—Did Dr. Taylor object that gquestions were
not put which ought to have been put 7—I do not recollect it.

Lord Campbell.—It is not suggested, as I understand, that the
coroner refused to correct any mistakes that were made.

The Attorney-General.—I am prepared to show that there was such
misconduct on the part of the coroner as led to expostulation.
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Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Don’t state that unless you are going to
prove it.

The Attorney-General.—It is suggested that a witness has given
evidence here which she did not give before the coroner ; my object
is to show, first, that questions were not put to her which might and
ought to have been put ; secondly, that her answers to other questions
were not taken down.

Lord Campbell held that the evidence was not admissible.

Witness, cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The jury asked a
great many cuestions.

Re-examined.—The jury made very strong observations as to the
necessity of putting questions.

The Attorney-General.—Did they assign any reason for interfering
when they put questions ?

Mr. Sergeant Shee objected to this question, on the ground that it
did not arise out of his cross-examination.

Lord Campbell.—My learned brethren think that evidence upon
this point is not admissible.

Mr. Justice Cresswell said, the depositions which had been put in
did not show that any questions had been put,/by the jurymen. If
they had contained such questions they would have shown the motive
of the jury in putting them. But the Court was left totally in the
dark as to whe*her questions had been put by the coroner or any other
person. For anything that appeared to the contrary, the wjtnesses
might have made a voluntary statement without any questions at all
being put to them. No foundation was laid therefore for the Attor-
ney-General’s question. :

Mr. Baron Alderson concurred.

Mrs. Ann Brook, examined by the Attorney-General.—I live at
Manchester. I am in the habit of attending races. Iwas at Shrews-
bury Races in November, 1855. I saw Palmer there. On the 14th
(Wednesday) about eight o'clock in the evening, I met him in the
street, and asked him whether he thought his horse Chicken would
win 7 He desired me if I heard anything further about a horse be-
longing to Lord Derby, which was also to run, to call and tell him on
the following day. I went to the Raven to see him at half-past ten
o'clock on the Thursday evening. Some friends waited for me in the
road. I went upstairs and asked a servant to tell Palmer that I wished
to speak to him. The servant said he was there. At the top of the
stairs there are two passages, one facing the other to theleft. Iturned
to the left. I saw Palmer standing by a small table in the passage. He
had a tumbler-glass in his hand in which there appeared to be a small
quantity of water. Idid not see him put anything intoit. There wasa
lightbetween him and me, and he held it up to the light. He said to me,
“I will be with you presently.” He saw me the moment I got to the top
of the stairs. He stood at the table a minute or two longer with the
glass in his hand, holding it up to the light once or twice, and now
and then shaking it. 1 made an observation about the fineness of the
weather. The door of a sitting-room, which I supposed was un-
oceupied, was partially open, and he went into it, taking the glass
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with him. In twoor three minutes he came out again with the glass.
What was in the glass was still the colour of water. He then carried
it into his own sitting-room, the door of which was shut. He after-
wards came out and brought me a glass with brandy-and-water in it.
It mgiht have been the same glass. I had some of the brandy-and-
water. It produced no unpleasant consequences. We had some
conversation about the races. In the course of it he said he should
back his own horse, Chicken. I was present at the race, when
Chicken ran and lost,

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I am married. Broak is
the name of my husband. e never goes with me to races. I live
with him. T don’t attend many races in the course of a year, My
husband has a high appointment, and does not sanction my going to
races. A great number of racing men were ill at Shrewsbury on the
Wednesday. ‘There was a wonder as to what had caused their illness,
and something was said about the water being poisoned. People
were affected by sickness and purging. I know some persons who
were so affected. ' The passage in which I saw Palmer holding the
slass led to a good many rooms. I think it was lighted by gas. 1
supposed that he was mixing some cooling drink.

Re-examined.—I was not examined before the coronmer. The
brandy-and-water which Palmer gave me was cold. I had been on
friendly terms with him. T had known him a number of years, as a
racing man.

Lavinia Barnes, examined by Mr. E. James.—In November,
1855,. I was a waitress at the Talbot Arms. I knew Ialmer
and Cook.  Cook called there on the 12th (Monday) as he
was pgoing to the races. He did not complain of illness.
I saw him when he returned on the 15th. On the Friday hLe
came between nine and ten o'clock in the evening, after dining
with Palmer. He spoke to me. He was sober. On the Saturday I
saw him twice. Some broth was sent over and taken up to him by
me.  He eould not take it ; he was too sick. I carried it down, and
put it in the kitchen, T afterwards saw Palmer, and told him Cook
was too sick totakeit. Palmer said he must have it. Elizabeth Mills
afterwards took it up again. She was taken ill with viclent vomiting
on the Sunday, between twelve and one o'clock. She went to bed
and did not come down stairs till four or five o'clock, 1 saw some
broth on that day in the kitchen. It wasin a “sick cup,” with two
handles, not belonging to the house. I did not see it brought. The
cup went back to Palmer’s, On the Monday morning, between seven
and eight o'clock, T saw Palmer. He told Mills he was going to
London. I also saw Cook during the day. Sandars came to see
him, and I took him up some brandy-and-water. I slept that night
in the next room to Cook’s. Palmer came between eight and nine
©o'clock in the evening, and went up-stairs, but I did not see whether
he went into Cook’s room. About twelve o'clock I was in the kit-

hen, when Cook’s bell rang violently. I went up-stairs. Cook was
very ill, and asked me to send for Palmer. He screamed out
‘““Murder!” He exclaimed that he was in violent pain—that he was
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suffocating. His eyes were wild-laoking, standing a great way out of
his head. He was beating the bed with his arms. He cried out,
“Christ, have mercy on my soul !” I never saw a person in such a
state. Having called up Mills, I left to send * Boots” for Palmer,
Palmer came, and I again went into the room. Cook was then more
composed. He said, “OlL, doctor, I shall die.” Palmer replied,
“Don’t be alarmed, my lad.” I saw Cook drink 2 darkish

ixture out of a glass. I don't know who gave it to him. 1 both
saw and heard him snap at the glass. He brought up the draught.
I left him between 12 and 1 o’clock, when he was more composed.
On the Tuesday he seemed a little better. At night, a little before
12 o'clock, the bell rang again. I was in the kitchen. Mills went up
stairs. I followed her, and heard Cook screaming, but did not go
into the room. I stood outside the door and saw Palmer come. ' He
had been fetched. I said, as he passed me, ¢ Mr. Cook is il again.”
He said, “ Oh, is he ?” and went into the room. He was dressed in
his ‘usual manner, and wore a black coat and a cap, 1 remained on
the landing when Palmer came out. As he went down stairs, Mills
asked him how Cook was ? He said to her and to me, “ He is not so
bad by fifty parts as he was last night.” I heard Cook ask to be turned
over before I went in, while Palmer was there. . I went in after
Palmer had left, but I came out before Cook died.. - After he died on
the Tuesday, I went into the room and found Palmer with a coat in
his hand. He was clearing out the pockets of the coat and looking
under the bolster. I said, “ Oh ! Mr, Cook can't be dead !” Palmer
said, “He is ! I knew he would be,” and then left the room. . I saw
him on the Thursday following, He came into the hall of the hotel
and asked for the key of Cook's bedroom, in which the body was lying,
The key was in the bar.  He said he wanted some books and papers
and a paper-knife, for they were to go back to the stationer’s, or else
he would have to pay for them. I went with him into the room. He
then requested me to go to Miss Bond for some books.. ' I went down-
stairs and fetched the books, When I returned he was still in the
room looking for the paper-knife on the top of the chest of drawers
among books, papers, and clothes. He said, *I can’t find the knife
anywhere.” Miss Bond, the housekeeper, afterwards came up, and I
left. On the Friday, between three and four o’clock, I saw. Mr. Jones
with Palmer. Jonessaidhethought Palmer knew where the betting-book
was, Palmer asked me to go and look for it, and said it was sure to
be found, but it was not worth anything to any one but Cock, . Mills
and I went up to look for it, but we could not find it. We searched
everywhere—in the bed, and all round the room, but mot in' the
drawers. We went down and told Palmer and Jones that we could
not find it. Palmer said, “Oh, it will be found somewhere. I will
go with you and look myself.” He did not go with us, but left the
house. I did not see him come out of the room on the Thursday.
There was no reason for our not looking in the drawers. Some people
were in the room at the time, nailing the coffin.

Cross-examined by Mr, Serjeant Shee.—Cook had some coffee on
the Saturday between twelve and one. 1 did not pay any particular
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attention to the time when Palmer went up on the Monday. Iam
not sure it was before half-past nine, but I am sure it was before ten.
T don’t remember whether Cook touched the glass from which he
drank the mixture. I think some one else was holding it. There
was some of Cook’s linen in several of the drawers. There was a
portmantean containing other things besides those in the drawers.
There were dress clothes, an overcoat, and morning clothes. The
door was locked on the night of the death. The women were sent
for to lay out the corpse before it was light. The undertakers went
on the following morning, and the door was locked after they left.
They came again on the T hursday night, had the key, and went up
by themselves. The body was put into the coffin the day Stevens
was there. The women were in the room w ith the three undertakers
when I looked for the book.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—The chambermaid and I
were in and out of the room while the women were laying out the
body, but they were sometimes left alone. 1 saw nothing of the book
at that time. I had seen it before in Cook’s hand, but I don’t re-
member seeing it in the room.

Ann Rowley, examined by Mr. Welsby.—I live at Rugeley, and
have frequently been employed as charwoman by Palmer. On the
Saturday before Cook died Palmer sent me to Mr. Robinson’s, at the
Albion Inn, for a little broth for Cook. T fetched the broth, took it
to Palmer’s house, and put it to the fire in the back kitchen to warm,
After doing so I went about my work in other parts of the house.
When the broth was hot, Palmer brought it to me in the kitchen, and
poured it into a cup. He told me to take it to the Talbot Arms for
Cook, to ask if he would take a little bread or toast with it, and to
say that Smith had sent it.

By Lord Campbell.—He did not say why I was to say that.

Fxamination resumed.—There is a Mr. Jeremiah Smith in Ruge-
ley. He is called “Jerry Smith.” He is a friend of Palmer’s. 1
took the broth to the Talbot Arms, and gave it to Lavinia Barnes,

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Mr. Smith was in the habit
of putting up at the Albion. He was friendly with Cook. Cook
was to have dined with Smith that day, but was not able to go.
Mrs. Robinson, the landlady of the Albion, made the broth, but I do
not know by whose orders.

By Lord Campbell.—The broth was at the fire in Palmer’s kitchen
about five minutes.

Charles Horley, examined by Mr. Bodkin.—I am a gardener living
at Rugeley, and was occasionally employed by the prisoner in his
garden. On the Sunday before Cook died, Palmer asked me to take
some broth to Cook. That was at Palmer’s house, where I was in the
habit of going. It was between twelve and one o'clock. He gave me the
broth in a small cup, with a cover over it, and told me to take it to
the Talbot Arms for Cook. Idid so. I cannot say whether or not

the broth was hot. I gave it to one of the servant girls at the Talbot
Arms, but which I cannot say.

The witness was not cross-examined.
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Sarah Bond, examined by Mr, Huddleston.—In November last
was housekeeper at the Talbot Arms. I knew Cook. He stayed at
the Talbot Arms. I remember his going to Shrewsbury Races on the
12th of November. He returned on the Thursday. I heard him say
that he was very poorly. I did not see him en the Friday or Satur-
day. On Sunday I saw him about eight o’clock in the evening. He was
in bed. e said that he had been very poorly, but was better. Very
soon afterwards I saw Palmer. 1 asked him what he thought of Cook,
and he replicd that he was better. On Saturday night Smith had
slept in the room with Cook. On the Sunday evening I asked Palmer
if Cook would not want somebody with him that night, and Palmer
replied that he was so much better, that it would not be necessary that
any one should be with him. I asked if Daniel Jenkins, the boots,
should sleep in the room ? Palmer said, that Cook was so much
better, he had much rather he did not. On the Monday morning, a
little before seven o'clock, 1 saw Palmer again. He came into the
kitchen to me. I asked him how Cook was. He said he was better, and
requested me to make him a cup of coffee. He did not say
anything about iis strength. He remained in the kitchen, and I made
the coffee and gave it to him. He told me that he was going to London,
and that he had written for Mr. Jones to come and see Cook. On
the Monday night, hearing from the waitress that Cook was ill
I went up to his room between eleven and twelve o’clock. When I
went into the room Cook was alone. He was sitting up in bed,
resting on his elbow. He seemed disappointed, and said that he did
not want to see me, but Palmer. I went out on to the landing, and
soon afterwards Palmer came. = Palmer went into the room. I could
not see what was done in the room. Palmer came out, went awa
for a few minutes, and then returned. After he came back I heard
that Cook had vomited. = Cook said he thought he should die.
Palmer cheered him up, and said that he would do all he could to
prevent it. When Palmer came out of the room again, I asked him
if Cock had any relatives, and he said that he had only a step-father.
I saw Cook again between three and four o'clock on Tuesday. That
was when Mr. Jones came. A little after six o’clock I took some jelly
up to Cook. He seemed very anxious for it, and said that he thought
he should die. I thought he seemed better. I did not see him
again alive. Between eight and nine o’clock on Wednesday morning,
I locked the door of the room in which Cook’s body lay. About
nine o’clock I gave the key to Mr. Tolly the barber, when he came
to shave the corpse. On Thursday I gave it to Lavinia Barnes.
After that I went up to the room and met Palmer coming out of it.
After I came out the door was locked, and I had the key. On Friday,
when Mr, Stevens came, I gave the key to the undertaker.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove.—The passengers by the express
train from London arrived at Rugeley about ten o’clock in the even-
m%? They come by fly from Stafford.

illiam Henry Jones, examined by the Attorney-General.—I am
a surgeon, living at Lutterworth. I have been in practice fifteen
years. I was acquainted with Cook, who from time to time resided

]
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at my house. I had been on terms of intimacy with bhim nearly five
years. He was twenty-eight years of age when he died, and un-
married.  He was originally edieated for the law, but of late years
had devoted himself to agriculture and the turf. The last year or two
he had no farm. He kept racehorses and betted. I had known
Palmer about twelve months. Lately Cook considered my house at
Lutterworth as his home. I have attended him professionally. His
health was generally good, but he was not very robust. He was a
man of active habits. He both hunted and played cricket. In No-
vember last he invited me to go to Shrewsbury to see his horse run,
and I went. I spent Tuesday, the 13th, with him there. That was
the day on which Polestar ran and won. I dined with Cook and
other friends at the Raven Hotel, where he was staying. The horse
having won there was a little extra champagne drunk. We dined
between six and seven o'clock, and the party broke up between eight
and nine. Cook afterwards accompanied me round the town. We
went to Mr. Frail's; who is Clerk of the Course. I saw Cook produce
his betting-book to Whitehouse, the jockey. He calculated his win-
nings on Polestar. There were figures in the book. Cook made a
statement as to his winnings.

Mr. Serjeant Shee objected to this statement being given in evidence,
and the Attorney-General therefore did not ask any questions as to its
purport.

Examination resumed.—I left the Raven Hotel at ten o’clock.
Cook was then at the door. He was not at all the worse for liquor.
He was in his usual health. On the following Monday I received
a letter from Palmer.

This letter, which was put in and read, was as follows:

“ My dear Sir,—Mr. Cook was taken ill at Shrewsbury, and
obliged to call in a medical man. Since then he has been confined to
his bed here with a very severe bilious attack, combined with diarrheea.
T think it desirable for you to come to see him as soon as possible.

“Nov. 18, 1855. “ WiLLiaM PALMER.”

Examination resumed.—On that day (Monday) T was very unwell.
On the next day I went to Rugeley. I arrived at the Talbot Arms
about half-past three o’clock in the afternoon, and immediately went
up to' Cook’s room. He said that he was very comfortable, but he
had been very ill at Shrewsbury. He did not detail the symp-
toms, but sdid that he was obliged to call in a medical man.
Palmer came in. I examined Cook in Palmer’s presence. He had a
natural pulse. I looked at his tongue, which was clean. Isaid it was
hardly the tongue of a bilious diarrheea attack, Palmer replied, “ Yon
should have seen it before.” I did not then prescribe for Cook. In
the course of the afternoon I visited him several times. He changed
fc:r the better. His spirits and pulse both improved. I gave him, at
his request, some toast-and-water and he vomited. There was no
diarrhea. The toast-and-water, was in the room. Mr. Bamford
came in the evening about seven o’clock. Palmer had told me that
Mr. Bamford hud been called in. Mr. Bamford expressed his opinion
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that Cook was going on very satisfactorily. We were talking about
what he was to have, and Cook objected to the pills of the previous
night. Palmer was there all the time. Cook said the pills made him
ill. I do not remember to whom he addressed this observation. We
three (Palmer, Bamford, and myself) went out upen the landing.
Palmer proposed that Mr. Bamford should make up some morphine
pills as before, at the same time requesting me not to mention to Cook
what they contained, as he objected to the morphine so much. M.
Bamford agreed to this, and he went away. I went back to Cook’s
room, and Palmer went with me. During the evening [ was several
times in Cook’s room. He seemed very comfortable all the evening.
There was no more vomiting nor any diarrheea, but there was a natural
motion in the bowels. I observed ne bilious symptoms about Cook.

By Lord Campbell.—Did he appear to have recently suffered from
a bilious attack *—No.

Examination resumed. — Palmer and I went to his house about
eight o'clock. I remained there about half-an-hour, and then re-
turned to Cook. I next saw Palmer in Cook’s room at nearly eleven
o'clock. He had brought with him a box of pills. He opened the paper,
on which the direction was written in my presence. That paper was
round the box. He calledmy attention to the paper saying, ** What an
excellent handwriting for an old man!” I did not read the direction,
but looked at the writing, which was very good. Palmer proposed to
Cook that he should take the pills. Cook protested very much against
it, because they had made him so ill on the previous night. Palmer
repeated the request several times, and at last Cook complied with it,
and took the pills. The moment he took them he vomited into the
utensil. Palmer and myself (at Palmer’s request) searched in it for
the pills, to see whether they were returned. We found nothing but
toast-and-water. I do not know when Cook had drunk the toast-and-
water, but it was standing by the bedside all the evening. The
vomiting could not have been caused by the contents of the pills, nor
by the act of swallowing. After vomiting Cook laid down and
appeared quiet. Before Palmer came Cook had got up and sat in a
chair, = His spirits were very good; he was laughing and joking,
talking of what he should do with himself during the winter. After
he bad taken the pills I went down-stairs to mysupper, and returned
to his room at nearly twelve o’clock. His room was double-bedded,
and it had been arranged that I should sleep in it that night. I
talked to Cook for a few minutes, and then went to bed. When I
last talked to him he was rather sleepy, but quite as well as he had
been during the evening. There was nothing about him to excite
any apprehensions. I had been in bed about ten minutes, and had
not got to sleep, when he suddenly started up in bed, and called out,
¢ Doctor, get up, I am going to be ill! Ring the bell and send for
Palmer.” I rang the bell. The chambermaid came, and Cook called
out to her, « Fetch Mr. Palmer.” Heasked me to give him something.
I declined, and said, “Palmer will be here directly.” Cook was then
sitting up in bed. The room was rather dark, and I did not ob-
serve anything particular in his countenance. He asked me to rub
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the back of hiz neck. I did so. I supported him with my arm,
There was a stiffness about the muscles of his neck., Palmer
came very soon (two or three minutes at the utmost)
after the chambermaid went for him. He said “T never dressed so
quickly in my life.” I did not observe how he was dressed. He gave
Cook two pills, which he told me were ammonia pills, Cook swal-
lowed them. Directly he did so he uttered loud screams, threw
himself back in the bed, and was dreadfully convulsed. That could
not have been the result of the action of the pills last taken. Cook
said, * Raise me up, I shall be suffocated.” That was at the com-
mencement of the convulsions, which lasted five or ten minutes. The
convulsions affected every muscle of the bedy, and were accompanied
by stiffening of the limbs. I endeavoured to raise Cook with the
assistance of Palmer, but found it quite impossible, owing to the
rigidity of the limbs, When Cook found we could not raise him up
he asked me to turn him over. He was then quite sensible. I turned
him on to his side. I listened to the action of his heart. I found that
it gradually weakened, and asked Palmer to fetch some spirits of
ammonia, to be used as a stimulant. Palmer went to his house and
fetched the bottlee. He was away a very short time. When he
returned the pulsations of the heart were gradually ceasing and life
was almost extinet. Cook died very quietly a short time afterwards.
From the time he called to me to that of his deat’, there elapsed about
ten minutes or a quarter of an hour. He died of tetanus, which is a
spasmodic affection of the muscles of the whole body. It causes death
by stopping the action of the heart. The sense of suffocation is
caused by the contraction of the respiratory muscles. The room was
so dark that I could not observe what was the outward appearance of
Cook’s body after death. When he threw himself back in bed he
clinched his hands, and they remained clinched after death.® When I
was rubbing his neck his head and neck were unnaturally bent back
by the spasmodic action of the muscles. After death his body was so
twisted or bowed that if I had placed it upon the back it would have
rested upon the head and the feet. .

By Lord Campbell.—When did you first observe that twisting or
bowing 7 When Cook threw himself back in bed.

Examination resumed.—The jaw was affected by the spasmodic
action. Palmer remained half-an-hour or an hour after Cook’s death.
I suggested that we should have some women to lay Cook out. 1
left the room to speak to the housekeeper about this. Seeing two
maids on the landing I sent them into the room where Palmer was
with Cook’s body. I went downstairs and spoke to the housekeeper,
and then returned to the bedroom. When I went back Palmer had
Cook’s coat in his hand. He said to me, * You, as his nearest {riend,
had better take possession of his effects.” I took Cook’s watch and
his purse, containing five sovereigns and five shillings, which was all
T could find, T saw no betting-book; nor any papers or letters belong-
ing to Cook. 1 found no bank-notes.

Before Palmer left did he say anything to you on the subject of
affairs between himself and Cook ?—He did. Soon after Cook’s death
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he said, “It is a bad thing for me that Mr. Cook is dead, as I am
responsible for 3,0007 or 4,0004; and I hope Mr. Cook’s friends will
not let me lose it. If they do not assist me all my horses will be
seized.” He said nothing about securities or papers. I was present
when Mr. Stevens, Cook’s stepfather, came. Palmer said that if
Mr. Stevens did not bury Cook he should. I do not recollect that
there was any question about burying him. Mr. Stevens, Palmer,
Mr. Bamford, and myself dined together. After dinner, Mr. Stevens,
in Palmer’s presence, asked me to go and look for Cook’s betting-
book. I went to look for it, and Palmer followed me. The night
that Cook died the betting-book was mentioned.

What was said about it 7—Palmer said that it would be of use to
no one.

What led to this 7—DMy taking possession of the effects.

Did you make any observation about the book ¥—1I cannot recollect.

Did you find it ?—No.

Did you make any remark ?—XNo particular remark.

Did Palmer know what you were looking for 7—Yes.

How ?—1 said, “ Where is the betting-book ?” Upon that he said,
« It is of no use to any one.”

You are sure he said that ?—Yes. When T went to look for the
book, at Mr. Stevens’ request, Palmer followed me. I looked for the
book for two or three minutes, but did not find it. I told the maid-
servants that I could not find it. Palmer returned with me to the
dining-room, and I told Mr. Stevens that I could not find the book.

By Lord Campbell—When Palmer, Mr. Bamford, and myself
held the eonsultation on the landing on the Tuesday night, nothing
was said about the spasms of the night before.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I am a regular medical
practitioner, and have for fifteen years practised medicine as a means
of gaining a living. I am a licentiate of the Apothecaries Company,
and have endeavoured, both as a young man and since, to qualify
myself for my profession. When I saw Cook his throat was slightly
uleerated, but ‘he could swallow very well, although with a little
pain. T know that he had applied caustic to his tongue, but he had
ceased to do so for two menths. He did not after that continue to
complain of pain in his throat or tongue. I saw him frequently
during the races, and never heard him express any apprehension
about spots which appeared upon his body, although he did express -
apprehensions of secondary symptoms resulting from syphilis. I am
not aware that at the time he died he was suffering from the venereal
disease, but I know that he had it about a twelvemonth ago. He
had been reduced in circumstances some time before he died, but he
was redeeming them. T .do not know that he was frequently in want
of small sums of money. I believed that he owned a mare in con-
junetion with Palmer named Pyrrhine, which was under the care of
Sandars, the trainer. The race which Polestar won was a matter of
very great importance to the deceased. He was much excited at the
race, and more particularly so after it. Deceased was a very temperate

_man and did not exceed in wine on the evening of the race. The
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next T heard of him was through the letter from Palmer. ' Palmer
knew perfectly well who I was, and that I was in practiee as
a surgeon at Lutterworth,  When 1  gaw  deceased  he ob-'
jected to take morphia pills, because they had made him Sl
the mnight before, He did not say that Dr. Savage had for-
bidden him to take the morphia, but he said that he had Yeen'
direeted not to take mercury or opium. - The effect of morphia would
be to goothe and to cause slight constipation. When I saw him and’
he roused up a little, he gaid, * Palmer, give me the remedy 'you gave
me last night,” T rubbed the deceased’s neck for about five minutes)’
He died very quietly. 1 had seen cases of tetanus before. . T'think 1"
mentioned tetanus at the inquest. I am gure, if yourefer to my depo-
sitions, you will find that | mentioned tetanus and convulsions both,’
(The depositions were referred to, and there was no mention of tetanus!
in them.) Witness continued, however, “I am gure that I mentioned!
tetanus.” L
The Attorney-General,—I must set this right. . I have here the'
original deposition, and I find that the matter stands thus :— There-
were strong symptoms of’—then there is the word * compression”:
struck out; and then there is the word “ tetanns™ also struck out=it’
18 evident that the clerk did not know the meaning of what he was’
writing—and then the words “ violent convulsions” aré added ; so”
that the gentence stands, “ There were strong symptoms of violent’
convulgions.” SO0
By Mr. Serjeant Shee.—1I also said before the coroner that 1 eould”
not tell the cause of death, and that I imagined at the time that it was*
from over-excitement. | r
The Lovd Chief Justice said, that the learned counsel must not read”
detachied portions of the depositions—the whole must be read. (The
depositions were accordingly read by the Clerk of the Arraigns.) @
Cross-examination eontinued.—I do not recollect that I ever said»
that deceased died of epilepsy, Dr. Bamford said that he died in an "
apoplectic fit, and I said that I thought he did not. ' I said that it was *
more like an epileptic than an apoplectie fit, ~ I do' not know Mr/"
Pratt, but 1 took a letter from him to Cook. . Cook did not open ig, !
but said, “ I know the contents of it—let it be till to-morrow morn-+!
ing.” 1 have seen Palmer’s racing establishment at Rugdey. T saw’"
a number of mares in foal, and others in the paddock, and some very' s
« valuable horses, The stables were. good; and’ the establishment aj
peared to be a large and expensive one. - ot 1o baol agw hoznsos
Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—1am not a4 good- judge of
the value of racing horses, but I understand other herses very well.’
I have only seen one case of tetanus, and that case resulted from &
wound, The patient in that case lasted three days before death en-
sued. T am satisfied that the death of Mr. Cook did not arise from
epilepay.  In epilepsy consciousness is lost, but there is no rigidity or
convulsive spasm of the muscles. The symptoms: are quite different.
I am equally certuin that death was not the result of apoplexy.
Lavinia Barnes was recalled at the instance of Mr. ‘Serjeant Shee,
and, in answer to the learned Serjeant, she said,—On Monday morn-
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ing Mr. Cook said to me' that he had been very ill on Sunday night,
just before twelve o'clock, and that he had rung the bell for some one
ocome to him ; but he thought that they had all gone to bed,
{1 Elizabeth Mills recalled by the Attorney-General, and examined on
he same point.—I remember on Monday morning asking Mr. Cook
1ow he was, and he said that he had been disturbed in the night,
adding, I was just mad for two minutes.” T said, “ Why did you
ot ring the bell?” and he replied, “T thought you would be all fast
asleep, and would not hear me. The illness passed away; and T managed
0 get overit without.” He also said that he thought he had been
listurbed by the noise of a quarrel in the street.
- Dr. Henry Savage, physician, of 7, Gloucester-place, examined
oy the Attorney General.—I knew John Parsons Cook. He had
been in the habit of consulting me professionally during the last four
years.  He was a man not of robust constitution; but his gene-
al health was good. He came to me in May, 1855, but I saw
him about November of the year before, and early  in the
spring of 1855, + ' In the spring of 1855 the old affair—indi-
estion—wvas one eause of his visiting me, and he had some spots
upon his body, about which he was uneasy. He had also two shallow
cers on his tongue, which corresponded with two bad teeth. IHe
said that he bad been under a mild mercurial course, and he imagined
that those spots were very syphilitic. T thou aht they were not, and T
ecommended the discontinuance of mercury. I zave him quinine as
a tonic, and an aperient composed of cream of tartar, magnesia, and
sulphur. I never at any time gave him antimony. Under the treat-
ment which I prescribed the sores gradually disappeared, and they
were quite well by the end of May. I saw him, however, frequently
in June, as he still felt some little anxiety about the accuracy of my
opinion, . If'any little spot made its appearance he came to me, and |
ialso was anxious on the subject, as my opinion differed from that of
another medical man in TLondon. Every time he came to me I
xamined him carefully. - There were no indications of a syphilitic
ccharacter about the sores, and there was no ulceration of the throat,
but one of the tonsils was slightly enlareed and tender. I saw him
last alive; and carefully examined him, either on the 3rd or 5th of
November. There wasin my judgment no venereal taint about him
at.the time.
Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—T do not think that the
deceased was fond of taking mercury before T advised him against it ;
mt he was timid on the subject of his throat, and was apt to take the
vice of any one. No ; I'don’t think that he would take quack medi-
cines. I don’t think he was so foolish as that.

Charles Newton, called and examined by Mr. James, Q.C.-—T am
sistant to Mr. Salt, a surgeon at Rugeley. T know the prisoner, W,
almer. I remember Monday, the 19th of November. I saw Palmer

hat evening at Mr. Salt’s surgery, about 9 o'clock. I was alone when he
me there. He asked me for three grains of strychnine, and I weighed
it accurately, and gave it to him enclosed in a piece of paper. He

id nothing further but “ Good night,” and took it away with him.
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I knew him to be a medical man, and gave it him; made no charge
for it. The whole transaction did not occupy more than two or three
minutes. I again saw Palmer on the following day, between eleven
and twelve o'clock. Ile was then at the shop of Mr. Hawkins, a
druggist. He asked me how I was, and put his hand upon my
shoulder, and said he wished to speak with me. Accordingly I went
out into the street with him, and he then asked me when Mr, Edwin

Salt was going to his farm. The farm in question was at a place
about fourteen miles distant from Rugeley. Palmer bad nothing

whatever to do with that farm; but Mr. Salt's going there was a
rumour of the town. While we were talking a Mr. Brassington came
up and spoke to me, and during our conversation Palmer went into
Hawkins’s shop again. Palmer came out of* the shop a second time,
while T was still talking to Brassington. I am not sure whether
Palmer spoke to me at that time ; but he went past me in the direction
of his own house, which is about 200 yards from Hawkins's. 1 then
went into Hawking's shop, where I saw Roberts, Mr. Hawlins’s
apprentice, and 1 had some conversation with him about Palmer. I
knew a man named Thirlby, who had been an assistant and a
partner of Palmer, Palmer usually dealt with Thirlby for his
drugs—in fact, Thirlby dispensed Palmer’s medicine. On Sunday,
the 25th of November, about seven o'clock in the evening, | was
sent for, and went to Palmer's house, 1 found Palmer, when I got
there, in his kitchen. He was sitting by the fire reading. He
asked me how I was, and to have some brandy-and-water. No one
else was present. He asked me what was the dose of strychnine to
give to kill a dog ? I told him a grain. He asked me what would be
the appearance of the stomach after death? I told him that there
would be no inflammation, and that I did not think it could be found.
Upon that he snapped his finger and thumb in a quiet way, and
exclaimed, as if communing with himself, ¢ That’s all right.”

(Sensation.) He made some other remaks of a commonplace character,

which 1 do not recollect. 1 was with him altogether about five
minutes. On the following day—Monday, the 26th of November—

I heard that a post-mortem examination was to take place. I went

to Dr. Bamford’s house, intending to accompany him to the post-mor-
tem, and I found Palmer there in the study. That was about 1C

S

o’clock in the day. Palmer ask me what I wanted ? T told him that

T had come to attend the post-mortem. He asked whether I thought
Mr. Salt was going ; and I replied that he was engaged and could not

go. T took the necessary instruments with me, and went down to the
Talbot Arms. Dr. Harland, and Mr. Frere, a surgeon, practising at '

Rugeley, were both there. They went away, however, for a short
time, and left Palmer and me together in the entrance to the hall at
the Talbot Arms. He spoke to me. He said—¢ It will be a dirty
Job ; T will go and have some brandy.” I went with him to his house,

which was just opposite. He gave me two wine-glasses of neat

brandy, and he took the same quantity himself. He said— You'll|
find this fellow suffering from a diseased throat ; he has had syphilis,

and has taken a great deal of mercury.” Iafterwards went over with |
!

&
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Palmer to the post-mortem, and found the other doctors there.
During the post-mortem Palmer stood near to Dr. Bamford, against
the fire. I was examined before the coroner, and did not state before
that functionary that I had given Palmer three grains of strychnine
on the night of the 19th of November. The first person that I told
of it was Cheshire, the post-master.

Mr. Serjeant Shee objected to anything that this witness had said
to Cheshire being admitted as evidence against the prisoner.

The Court ruled in favour of the objection.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove, (J.C.—It might have been a week
or two or three days after I gave Palmer the strychnine that I first
mentioned the occurrence to any one. I think I may undertake to
say that it was not a fortnight afterwards. Subsequently to the
inquest I was examined for the purpose of giving evidence on the
pari of the Crown. I cannot say how long after the inguest that was.
When I was first examined on behalf of the Crown I did not mention
the three grains of strychnine, but I did mention the conversation
about the poisoning of the dog. That was not the first time that I
had mentioned that conversation ; for I had mentioned it before to
Mr. Salt ; but I cannot tell how long before. 1 was examined twice
for the purpose of the prosecution by the Crown. I did not mention
Cook’s suffering from sore throat at the inguest, but I did mention
the conversation which took place at Hawkins’s shop. At that time
I knew it had been alleged that Palmer had purchased strychnine at
Hawkins’s, and I presumed that my evidence was required with
reference to that point. I first stated on Tuesday last, for the
purposes of this prosecution, the fact of my having given Palmer
threegrains of strychnine. I cannot say whether in that examination
I said that Palmer said, “ You will find this ¢ poor’ fellow suffering
from a diseased throat.” I don’t know whether I said “ poor fellow ”
or “rich fellow.” -

Do you not know that there is a difference in the expression
“fellow” and *“poor fellow ?"—I know that there is a difference
between poor and rich. It is impossible to recollect all that I said
upon every occasion.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—1I did not mention the cir-
cumstance of my having given the strychnine to Palmer, because Mr.
Salt, my employer, and Mr. Palmer, were not friends, and I thought
it would displease Mr. Salt if he knew that I had let Palmer have
anything. I first mentioned it to Boycott, the clerk of Mr. Gardner,
the solicitor, at the Rugeley station, where I and’a number of other
witnesses were assembled for the purpose of coming to London, As
soon as I arrived in London Boyeott took me to Mr. Gardiner’s. I
communicated to him what I had to say; and I was then taken to the
Bolicitor of the Treasury, and I made the same statement to him.

Mr, Serjeant Shee.—Have you not given another reason for not
mentioning the occurrence about the three grains of strychnine before
—that reason being that you were afraid you could be indicted for
perjury?—No, I did not give that as a reason, but I stated to a gen-
tleman that a young man at Wolverhampton had been threatened to
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be indicted for perjury by George Palmer because heludlﬁdatﬁz |
inquest upon Walter Palmer that he had sold the prisoner pr
acid, and he had not entered it in the book and could not pmni:.} |
stated at the same time that George Palmer said he could be tras
ported for it. I did not enter the gift of the three grains of strycs
nine from Mr. Salt’s surgery in a book. The inquest upon Walte
lé::nkur did not take place till five or six weeks after the inquest upa
The Court then adjourned at twenty-five minutes past six o'cloc
until ten o’clock this day, the jury being conducted, as on the previes
Evening, to the London Coffechouse in charge of the officers of t»
ourt.

THIRD DAY.

Tue Court was quite as full at the commencement of the proceedins |
this morning as it had been upon either of the preceding days. Te
Earl of Derby, Earl Grey, and other noble lords were again preset.

The jury tooktheir seats shortly before ten o'clock. The learnd
Judges, Lord Chief Justice Campbell, Mr, Baron Alderson, and M.
Justice Cresswell, soon afterwards entered the Court, accompanied ¥
the Recorder and Sheriffs, and the prisoner was then placed at te
bar. He appeared rather more anxious than on the two previos
days, but was still calm and collected, and paid the greatest attentin
to the evidence.

Counsel for the Crown :—The Attorney-General, Mr. E. Jam:,
QC., Mr. Bodkin, Mr. Welsby, and Mr. Huddleston; for te
prisoner :—Mr. Serjeant Shee, Mr. Grove, Q.C., Mr. Gray, ad
Mr. Kenealy.

The next witness for the prosecution was Charles Joseph Robes
examined by Mr. E. James.—In November last 1 was apprenticeo
Mr. Hawkins, a druggist, at Rugeley. Iknow Palmer. On Tuesds,
November the 2@th, between eleven and twelve o'clock in the dg,
he came into Mr. Hawkins's shop. He first asked for two drach
of prussic acid, for which he had bfought a bottle. I was puttingt-
up when Newton, the assistant of Salt, came in. Palmer told him &
wanted to speak to him, and they went out of the shop together, I
saw Brasington, the cooper, take Newton away from Palmer, and entr
into conversation with him. Palmer then came back into the shp
and asked me for six grains of strychnine and two drachms of Batl
solution of opium (commonly called * Batley's sedative.”) 1 hd
put up the prussic acid, which was lying upon the counter.
stood at the counter when he ordered the things, and whi
while I was preparing them beliind the counter he stood at the sho
door, with his back to me, looking into the street. I was about fis
minutes preparing them. He stood at the door ﬁﬂ they were read,
when I delivered them to him—the prussic acid in the bottle he hd
brought, the strychnine in a paper, and the opium in a bottle. I
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aid me for them and took them away. No one else was in the show
»m the time when Palmer and Newton went out till I delivered th
hings to him. When Palmer had left, Newton came in, and we had
ome conversation. 1 had at that time been six years in Mr.
Jawking's employment. Palmer had not bought any drugs at the
shop for about two years. I know Thirlby, Palmer’s assistant. He
had started a shop about two years before.

By Lord Campbell.—Thirlby was carrying on business as a druggist
a the time.

" Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I did not make entries of
my of these things in the books. '
 Re-examined.— When articles are paid for across the counter I am
pot in the habit of making entries of them in the books.
The Attorney-General stated that Dr. Bamford was seriously ill,
and unable to attend, but his depositions would be read.

Mr. William Stevens, examined by the Attorney General.—I have
been a merchant in the city, but am now out of business. Was step-
father to the deceased Mr. Cook. I married his father’s widow fifteen
(or eighteen) years azo, and have known him intimately ever since.
1 was made executor to his grandfather’s will. I was always on
friendly terms with him, and constantly had the care of him. He had
property worth altogether about 12,000I. He was articled to a golicitor
at Worthing, in Sussex, but he did not foilow the profession. He
had been connected with the turf about three or four years—perhaps
not so much. I did everything in my power to withdraw Lim from
that pursuit.

Lord Campbell.—But you still remained on friendly terms ?

Witness.—On _affectionate terms. The last time I saw him alive
was at the station at Euston-square, about two on the afternoon of
the 5th of November. I think he told me he was going to Rugeley,
but I am not quite sure; he looked better than I had seen him for a
very long time. I was so gratified that I said, “ My boy, you look
yery well, now; you don’t look anything of an inyalid,” " He said he
was quite well, and struck himself on the chest. I think he added
he should be quite right if he was happy. In point of appearance
_he was not a robust man. His complexion was pale. During the
previous winter he had had a sore throat for some months. I first

heard of his death on the evening of Wednesday, November 21.
Ms. Joues, of Lutterworth, called at my house and informed me of
it. The next day I went down to Lutterworth with Mr. Jones for
the purpose of searching for the will and papers. The day after I

went to Rugeley. I arrived between twelve and one. I asked to see
_the body when I got to the inn. I met Palmer in the passage. 'T
had seen him once before, and Mr. Jones introduced me to him. THe
followed us up-stairs to see the body, and removed the sheet from it to
ratber below the waist. I was much struck with its appearance. T
first noticed the tightness of the muscles across the face. There did
not appear to me to be any emaciation or disease. We all went
down stairs to one of the sitting rooms. In a short time I said to
Pain_w};, “1 hear from Mr. Jones that you know something of my
0. 4. ' :
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son’s affairs. Can you tell me anything about them? *  He replied,
¢ Yes ; there are 4,000L worth of bills out of his, and I am sorry to
say my name is to them; but T have got a paper drawn up by.a
lawyer and signed by him to show that I had never any money from
them.” I expressed great surprise at this, and said, “I fear there
won’t be 4,000 shillings to pay you.” “But,” I asked, “had he no
horses, no property?” Palmer replied, © Yes, he has some horses,
but they are mortgaged.” I said, Has he no sporting bets, nor
anything of that sort?” He mentioned one debt of 300L I would
rather not state the name of the person who owed it. It is a relation
of his, not a sporting gentleman. (The witness wrote down the
name and handed it to the counsel on both sides and the Judges.)

Lord Campbell.—The name is immaterial.

Examination continued.—Palmer said he did not know of any other
debt. 1saidTthought hissporting creditors would bave totake hissport-
ing effects, as I should have nothing to do with them. I added, * Well,
whether he has left anything or not, poor fellow, he must be buried.”
Palmer immediately said, “ Oh ! Tl bury him myself, if that’s all I
I said, “1 certainly can’t think of your doing that; I shall do it.”
Cook’s brother-in-law, who had come to meet me, was then present,
and expressed a great wish to be allowed to bury him. I said, “No ;
as his executor, I shall take care of that. T cannot have the funeral
immediately, because I intend to bury him in London, in his mother’s

ve. I shall be sorry to inconvenience the people here at the inn,
but T will get it done as soon as possible.” Palmer said, *“Oh/!
that’s of no consequence, but the body ought to be fastened up ab
once.” He repeated that observation—* So long as the body is
fastened up, it is of no consequence.” While T was talking to Cook’s
brother-in-law, Palmer and Jones left the room. They returned in
about half an hour. T then asked Palmer for the name of some
respectable undertaker at Rugeley, that I might at once order a coffin
and give directions, He said, “I have been and done that. I bave
ordered a shell and strong oak coffin.” I expressed my surprise. I
said, I did not give you any authority to do so, but'l must see the
undertaker to let him have my instructions.” I think he told me the
name of the undertaker. I ordered dinner for myself, my son-in-law,
and Jones, and I asked Palmer to come in. 'We all dined together at
the inn, at about three. I was going back to London that afternoon.
After dinner, Palmer being still present, I desired Mr. Jaones to be so
good as to go upstairs and get me Cook’s betting-book, or pocket-book,
or books or papers that might be there. I had seen him with a
betting-book — a small one with clasps. Mr. Jones then lelt the
room, and Palmer followed him. They were away ten minutes.
Mr. Jones said, on their return, *“I am very sorry to say I can’t
find any betting-book or papers.” I exclaimed, ** No betting-book,
Mr. Jones ?” 'Turning towards Palmer, I said, “ How is this?”
Palmer said, *“Oh! it is of no manner of use if you find it!”
I said, “No use, Sir! I am the best judge of that!”
He ,?gain said, “It is of mno manner of use. I said, “Iam
told it is of use. I understand my som won a great deal of
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- money at Shrewsbury, and I ought to know something about it.” He
replied, “It is of no use, T assure you. When a man dies his bets are
done with. Besides, Cook received the greater part of his money on
the course at Shrewsbury.” T said, * Very well, the book ought to
be found, and must be found.” Palmer then said, in a quieter tone,
¢ It will be found, no doubt.” I again said, * Sir, it shall be found.”
I then went to the door, and, calling to the housekeeper, I desired that
everything in the bedroom should be locked up, and nothing touched
until I returned or sent some one. Before leaving I went up-stairs
to take a last look at the body. Some servants were in the room,
turning over the bed-clothes ; and also the undertaker. I had given
him ivstructions before dinner to place the body in the coffin. He
was standing by the side of the shell. The body was in it, uncovered. I
knelt down by the side of the shell, and, taking the right hand of the
corpse, found it clinched. I looked across the body, and saw that the
left hand was elinched in the same manner, I returned to town and
communicated next morning with my solicitor, who gave me a letter
to Mr. Gardiner, of Rugeley. I returned to Rugeley, where I arrived
at cight o'clock mext evening (Saturday). I started from Euston-
square at two o'clock, and on the platform I met Palmer. He said
he had received a telegraphic message summoning him to London
| after T had left Rugeley. I asked him where Cook’s horses were
kept. He told me at Eddisford, near Rugeley, and said he would
drive me out there if I wished. When I got to Wolverton, where
the train stops, I saw him again in the refreshment-room. I
said, *° Mr. Palmer, this is a very melancholy thing, the death of
my poor son happening so suddenly ; I think for the sake of his
brother and sister, who are somewhat delicate, it might be desira-
ble for his medical friends to know what his complaints were.”
Cook had a sister and half-brother. Palmer replied, * That
can Dbe done very well.” The bell then rang, and we went
to our seats. He travelled in a different carriage till we reached
Rugby, where I saw him again in the refreshment-room, I
said, “Mv. Palmer, as I live at a distance, I think I ought to ask a
solicitor at Rugeley to look after my interest.” He said, ** Oh, yes ;
you might do that. Do you know any solicitor ?” I said, “ No.” I
| then got some refreshment, and went back to my carriage; I found
Palmer sitting there. I had no conversation with him before we
reached Rugeley, but continued talking to a lady and gentleman with
whom T had been conversing since I left town, = After we arrived at
- Rugeley, Palmer said, * Do you know any solicitor here 7 I said,
“No, I don’t, 1 am a perfect stranger.” He said, 1 know them all
intimately, and I can introduce you to one. When I get home I must
have a cup of coffee, and I will then come over and take you all about.”
I thanked him, as I had done once or twice before, and said I wouldn’t
| trouble him. He repeated his offer. Altering my tone and manner
- I said, “Mr. Palmer, if I should call in a solicitor to give me advice,
- I suppose you will have no objection to answer any question he may
: to you.” T altered my tone purposely ; I looked steadily at him,

- but, although the moon was shining, I could not see his features
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distinctly. He said, with a spasmodic convulsion of the throat which
was perfectly apparent, ¢ Oh, no, certainly not.” At Wolverton I had
purposely mentioned my desire that there should be a post-mortem
examination, and I ought to say that he was quite calm when I men-
tioned it. After I asked him that question there was a pause for three
or four minutes. He then again proposed to come over to me after
he had had his coffee, and T again begged he would not trouble him-
self. I went to Mr. Gardiner and then came back to the inn. Palmer
eame tome and began to talk about the bills. He said, “ It is a very
unpleasant affair for me.” T said, “T think it right to tell you that
since T saw you I have had rather a different account of Mr. Cook’s
affairs.” He said, “Oh, indeed ! 1 hope, at any rate, they will be
settled pleasantly.” T said, * His affairs can only be settled in a Court
of Chancery.” He asked me what friends Mr. Cook visited in the neigh-
bourhood of London. Isaid, ¢ Several.” The next day (Sunday) I saw
him again, between five and six in the evening. He said, * You were
talking of going to Iiddisford; it T were you, I would not take a
golicitor with me there.” I said, “ Why not? T shall use my own
judgment.” Later in the evening he came again to my room, holding
a piece of paper as if he wished to give it me. I went on with
" my writing, and said, “Pray, who is Mr. Smith ?” ' He repeated
« Mr. Smith” two or three times; and T said, “ 1 mean a Mr. Smith
who sat up with my son one night.”  Ie said, “He isa solicitor in
the town.” I asked if he was in practice. He replied, “wYes I
said, I ask you the question, because, as his betting-book is lost, I
should wish to know who has been with the young man.” After a
pause I said, < Did you attend my son in a medical capacity?” He
said, * Oh dear, no,” I said, ¢ I ask you, because T am determined
to have his body examined; and if you had atrended him profession-
ally I suppose the gentleman T shall call in would think'it proper that
you should be present.” He asked who was to perform the exa-
mination. T said, I cannot say; I shall not know myself until to-
morrow; I think it right to tell you of it, bat whether you are
- present at it or not is a matter of indifference to me.” ]

On the Friday, when Palmer gave orders for the shell, did you per=-
~ geive any sign of decomposition in the body, or anything which would
render its immediate enclosure necessary?—On the contrary, the

body did not look to me like a dead body. I was surprised at its ap-

pearance.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sergeant Shee.—The last, time Cook
stayed at my house was in January or February last year, for about a.
month. He then had a sore throat. 1 do not remember that it was
continually sore. Ie had not the least difficulty in swallowing. 1
did not notice any uleers about his face. Tn the spring he com-

plained of being an invalid, and said his medical friends told him that

if he was not better in the winter he ought to go to a warm climate.
No communication was made to me about insuring his life. T was
dissatisfied about the loss of the betting book. I desired that every-
thing belonging to the deceased might be locked up. When I re-
turned to Rugeley with Palmer I went to seek for Mr. Gardiner.

||
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I saw him on the following (Sunday) morning. T have once been in
communication with the police-officer Field. That was a fortnight or
three weeks after my son's death. Field called upon me. T never
applied to him.

By Mr. Baron Alderson.—I never called upon Mr. Bamford, but
he dined with me at the Talbot Arms. :

Mary Keeley, examined by Mr. Welsby.—I am a widow, living at
Rugeley. On the morning of Wednesday, the 21st of November last,

I was sent for to lay out Cook’s body. My sister-in-law went with
~me. That was about 1 o'clock in the morning. The body was still

warm, but the hands and arms were cold. The body was lying on the
back. The arms were crossed upon the chest. The head lay a little
turned on one side. The body was very stiff indeed. T have laid out
many corpses. | never saw one so stiff before. We had difficulty in
straightening the arms. We could not keep them straight down to the
body. I passed a piece of tape under the back, and tied it round the
wrists to fasten the arms down. The right foot turned on one side,
outwards. We were obliged to tie both the feet together. The eyes
were open. e werea considerable time before we could close them,
because the eyelids were very stiff. The hands were closed and were
very stitf. Palmer was up-stairs with us. e lichted me while I
took two rings off Cook’s fingers. That was off one hand. The
fingers were very stiff, and I had difficulty in getting off the rings.
I got them off, and when I had done so the hand closed again. 1
did not see anything of a betting-book, nor any small book like a
pocket-book,

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove.—It is not usual to tie the hands of a
corpse. 1 have never before used tape to tie the arms ; T have used
it to tie the ankles together, and also for the toes. I have never seen
it used for the arms. It is usual to lay the arms by the sides. If the
body gets stiff the arms remain as they were at the time of death. If
the eyes are closed at the time of death there is no difficulty in keep-
ing them closed. It is a common thing to put penny pieces upon them
to keep them closed. That is to prevent the eyelid drawing back.
The jaw is generally tied up shortly after death.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General. —I cannot say how many
bodies I have laid out, but I have laid out a great many of all ages.
I never knew of the arms being tied before this instance. It is usual
to lay the arms by the side within a few minutes after death. I was
called up at half-past twelve. It was half-past one when I went up-
stairsto the room where Cook lay. Sometimes the feet of corpses get
twisted out ; it is then that they are tied. That occurs within about
half an hour after death. I have never known the eyelid so stiff as
in this case. I have put penny pieces on the eyes. In those cases
the lids were stiff, but not so stiff as in this instance.

John Thomas Harland, examined by Mr. Bodkin.—I am a phy-
sician residing at Stafford. On the 26th of November last I went
from Stafford to Rugeley to be present at a post-mortem examination.
I arrived at Rugeley at ten o’clock in the morning.” I ealled at the
house of Mr. Bamford, surgeon. As I went there Palmer joined me
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in the street. He came from the back of his own house. T had fre-
quently seen him and had spoken to him before. He said, “ I am
glad that you are come to make a post-mortem examination. Some
one might have been sent whom I did not know.” I said, *“ What is
this case 7 I hear thereisa suspicion of poisoning.” He said, *Oh,
no ; I think not. He had an epileptic fit on Monday and Tuesday
last, and you will find old disease in the heart and in the head.” We
then went together to Mr. Bamford’s. I had brought no instruments
with me, having only been requested to be present at the examination.
Palmer said that he had instruments, and offered to fetch them and
lend them to me. He (Palmer) said there was a very queer old man
who seemed to suspect him of something, but he did not know what
he meant or what he wanted. He also said, “ He seems to suspect
that I have got the betting-book. Cook had no betting-book that
wonld be of use to any-one.” Mr. Bamford and I then went to the
house of Mr. Frere, who is a surgeon at Rugeley. Palmer did not
go with us, Thence we went to the Talbot Arms, where the post-

mortem examination was proceeded with. Mr. Devonshire operated,

and Mr. Newton assisted him. There were in the room, besides,
Mr. Bamford, Palmer, myself, and several other persons. I stood
near Mr. Devonshire. The body was very stiff.

By Lord Campbell.—It was much stiffer than bodies usually are
five or six days after death,

Examination resumed.—The musecles were very highly developed.
By that T mean that they were strongly contracted and thrown out.
I examined the hands. They were stiff and firmly closed. The ab-
dominal viscera were first examined.

At the suggestion of Lord Campbell, the witness read a report
which he had prepared on the day on which this post-mortem exami-
nation took place, November 26, 1855, and transmitted to Mr. Stevens,
the step-father of the deceased. This report deseribed the state of
the various internal organs as being perfectly healthy and natural
The material statements were all repeated in the subsequent examina-
tion of the witness. After reading the report,

The witness continued,—The abdominal viscera were in a perfeetly
healthy state. They were taken out of the body. We examined
the liver. It was healthy. The lungs were healthy, but con-
tained a good deal of blood. Not more than would be accounted
for by gravitation after death. We examined the head. . The
brain was quite healthy. There was nq extravasation of bleod,
and no serum. There was nothing which, in my judgment,

could cause pressure. The heart was contracted, and containeds

no blood. That was the result not of disease, but of spasmodie.
action. At the larger end of the stomach there were numerous
small yellowish-white spots, about the size of mustard seeds.
They wounld not at ‘all account for death. I doubt whether they

would have any effect upon the health. I think they were mucous

follicles. The kidneys were full of blood which had gravitated there.
They had no appearance of disease. The blood was in a fluid state.
That was not usual. It is found so in some cases of sudden death,

M |
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which are of rare occurrence. The lower part of the spinal cord was
not very closely examined. We examined the upper part of that
cord. It presented a perfectly natural appearance. Oh a subsequent
day, I think the 25th of January, it was thought right to exhume the
body, that the spinal cord might be more carefully examined. T was
present at that examinaticn.  The lower part of the spinal cord was
then minutely examined. A report was made of that examination.

This report was put in, and was read by the witness. Tt described
minutely the appearance and condition of the spinal cord and its
envelopes, and concluded with this statement:—* There is nothing in
the condition of the spinal cord or its envelopes to account for death;
nothing but the most normal and healthy state, allowance being made
for the lapse of time since the death of the deceased.”

Examination resumed.—TI am still of opinion that there was nothing
in the appearance of the spine to account for the death of the deceased,
and nothing of an unusual kind which might not be referred to changes
after death. ' When the stomach and intestines were removed from
the body on the oceasion of the first examination they were sepa-
rately emptied into a_jar, aud were afterwards placed in it. Mr,
Devonshire and Mr. Newton removed them from the body.
They were the only two who operated. At the time the prisoner
was standing on the right of Mr. Newton. While Mr. Dévonshire
was opening the stomach a push was given by Palmer, which sent Mr.
Newton against Mr. Devonshire, and shook some of the contents of
the stomach into the body. ‘I thought a joke was passing among them,
and said, * Don’t do that.”

By Lord Campbell.—Might not Palmer have been impelled by some
one ontside him ?—There was no one who could have impelled him.

What did you observe Palmer do ?—I saw Mr. Newton and Mr.
Deévonshire pushed togethier, and Palmer was over them. He was
-smiling at the time,

Examination continued.—After this interraption the opening of
the stomach was pursued.” The stomach contained about three ounces
of a brownish fluid. There was nothing particular in that. Palmer
was looking on, and said, “They won't hang us yet.” He said that
to Mz, Bamford in a Joud whisper. That temark was made upon his
own observation of the stomach. The stomach after being emptied,
was put 1nto the jar. "T'he intestines were then examined, but nothing
particular was found'in them. They were contracted and very small,
‘l‘he viscera, mlth their contents, as taken from the body, were placed
in‘the jar, which was ‘then covered over with two bladders, which
were tied and sealed. I tied and sealed them. After I had done so
I'placed the jar upon the table by the body. Palmer was then moving
about the roomi. In a few minutes T mijssed the jar from where I haﬁ
placed it. During that time mv attention had been withdrawn by the
examination. On missing the jar I called out, “ Where’s the
jar ?".;and Palmer from the other end of the room, said, “It is.
here ;.,:.[. thought it would be more convenient for you to take
away.” There was a door at the end of the room where he was. He
was within a yard or two of that door, and about twenty-four feet from
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the table on which the body was lying. [Before making this last
statement the witniess referred to a plan of the room which was put
in by the Attorney-General.] The door mear which Palmer was
standing was not the one by which he had entered the room. 1
called to Palmer, ¢ Will you bring it here ?”” I went from the table and
met Palmer half way, coming with the jar. The jar had gince I last
saw it been cut through both bladders, The cut was hardly an inch
long. Tt had been done with a sharp instrument. I examined the
cut. The edges were quite clean. No part of the contents of the
jar could have passed throngh it. Finding this cut, I said, * Here 18
a cut; who has done this ?” Palmer and Mr. Devonshire and Mr.
Newton all said that they had not done it, and nothing more was said
about it. When I was about to remove the jar from the room, the
prisoner asked me what I was going to do with it. 1 said I should
take it to Mr, Frere's. He said, I had rather you would take it to
Stafford than take it there.” I made no snswer that T remember. 1
took it to Mr. Frere’s house. After doing so I returned to the Talbot
Arms. I left the jar in Mr. Frere's ball, tied and sealed. Immedi-
ately upon finding the slit in the cover, I cut the strings and altered
the bladders, so that the slits were not over the top of the jar. 1
resealed them. After going to Mr. Frere's, I went to the Talbot
Arms. I went into the yard to order my carriage, and while I was
waiting for it the prisoner came across to me. He asked we what I
had done with the jar. I told him that I had left it at Mr. Frere's.
He inquired what would be done with it, and T said that it would go
either to Birmingham or London that night for examination. I do
not recollect that he made any reply. When I re-covered the jar, I
tied each cover separately, and sealed it with my own seal. = During
the first post-mortem examination there were several Rugeley persons
present, hut I believe no one on behalf of the prisoner. At the
second examination there was some one there on behalf of Palmer.
Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—In the conrse of the post-
mortem examination Palmer said, ¢ They won't hang us yet.” 1 am
not sure whether that observation was addressed to Dr. Bamford, or
whether he prefaced it by the word * Doctor.” I think that he first
aaid it to Dr. Bamford in aloud whisper, and afterwards repeated it
to several persons. I had said to him that T had heard that there was
a suspicion of poisoning. T made notes in peneil at the time of the
post-mortem, and I wrote a more formal report from those notes as
soon as I got home. The original pencil notes are destroyed. I sent
the fair copy to Mr. Stevens, Cook’s father-in-law, the same evening.
They were not produced before the coronmer. At the base of the
tongue of the deceased T observed some enlarged mucous follicles ;
they were not pustules containing matter, but enlarged mucous
follicles of long standing. There were a good many of them, but I
do not suppose that they would occasion much inconvenience. They
might cause some degree of pain, but I think that it would be slight.
I do not believe that they were enlarzed glands. I should not say
that deceased’s lungs were diseased, although they were not in their
normal state. The lungs were fall of blood and the heart empty.
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had no lens at the post-mortem, but I made an examination which
was satisfactory to me without one. The brain was carefully taken
out ; the membranes and external parts were first examined, and thin
slices of about a quarter of an inch in thickness were taken off and
subjected to separate examination. I think that by that means we
should have discovered disease if any had existed; and it there had
been any indication of disease I should have examined it more care-
fully. I examined the spinal cord as far down as possible, and if
there had been any appearance of disease I should have opened the
canal. There was no appearance of disease, however. We opened
down to the first vertebra. If we had found a softening of the
spinal cord I do not think that it would have been sufficient
to have caused Mr. Cook’s death ; certainly not. A softening
of the spinal cord would not produce tetanus — it might produce
paralysis. I do not think, as a medical man investigating the cause
of death, that it was necessary carefully to examine the spinal cord.
I do not know who suggested that there should be an examination of
the spinal cord two months after death. There were some appearances
of decomposition when we examined the spinal cord, but I do not
think that there was sufficient to interfere with our examination. I
examined the body to ascertain if there was any trace of venereal
disease, I did find certain indications of that description, and the
marks of an old excoriation, which was cicatriced over.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—There were no indications
of wounds or sores such as could by possibility produce tetanus. There
was no disease of the lungs to account for death. The heart was
healthy, and its emptiness I attribute to spaswmodic action. The heart
being empty, of course death ensued. The convulsive spasmodic
action of the muscles of the body, which was deposed to yesterday by
Mr. Jones, would, in my judgment, occasion the emptiness of the
heart. There was nothing whatever in the brain to indicate the
presence of any disease of any sort ; but if there had been, I never
heard or read of any disease of the brain ever producing tetanus.
There was no relaxation of the spinal cord which would account for
the symptoms accompanying Mr. Cook’s death as they have been de-
seribed. In fact, there was no relaxation of the spinal cord at all, and
there is no disease of the spinal cord with which I am acquainted
which would proeduce tetanus.

Mr. Charles James Devonshire, undergraduate of the University of
London, and late assistant to Dr. Monckton, examined by Mr.
Huddleston.—I made the first post-mortem examination on the body
of Mr. Cook in November last. The body was pale and stiff ; the
hands were clinched, and the mouth was contorted. 1 opened the body.
The liver was very healthy. The heart also seemed healthy,
but it was perfectly empty. The lungs contained a considerable
quantity of dark fluid blood. The blood was perfectly fluid. The
brain was healthy throughout. I examined the medulla oblongata and
about a quarter or half an inch of the spinal cord. It was perfectly
sound. I took out the stomach and opened it with a pair of scissors.
I put the contents in a jar, which was taken to Mr. Frere's, the
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surgeon. I obtained the jar from Mr. Frere's on Monday in the same
state as it was before, and I gave it Mr. Boycott, clerk to Mr.
Gardiner the attorney. I examined the body again on the 29th, and
took out the liver, kidneys, spleen, and some blood. . I put them in a
stone jar; which I covered with wash-leather and brown paper, and
sealed up. I delivered that jar also to Boycott. Palmer said at the
examination that we should find syphilis upon the deceased. I there-
fore examined the parts carefully, and found no indications of the sort.
T also took out the throat. The papille were slightly enlarged, but
they were natural, and one of the tonsils was shrunk.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove, Q.C.—Tetanic convulsions are
conzidered to proceed from derangements of the spine and from com-
plaints that affeet the spine. These derangements are not  always
capable of being detected by examination. In examining the body of
a person supposed to have died from tetanus the spinal cord would be:
the first organ looked to. About half an inch of the spinal cord,
exterior to the aperture of the cranium, was examined on the first
oceasion. I was not present when the granules were discovered on
the second examination. The learned counsel was proceeding to
cross-examine this witness upon some minute points of a scientific
nature when :

Baron Alderson, interposing, said,—When you have all the medical
men in London here, you' had better not examine an undergraduate
of the University of London upon such peints, I should think,

Dr. Monckton examined by the Attorney-General,—I am a physi-
cian in practice, and reside at Rugeley. On the 28th of January I
made a post-mortem examination of the spinal cord and marrow of
the deeeased, J. P. Cook. 1 found the muscles of the trunk in a state
of laxity, which I should attribute to the decay of the body which had
set in; but that laxity would not be at all inconsistent, in my
opinion, with' a great rigidity of those muscles at the time of death.
The muscles of the arms and legs were in a state of rigidity, but they:
were not more rigid than usual in dead bodies. The muscles of the
.arms had partially flexed the fingers of the hand. The feet were
turned inwards to a much greater extent than wsual. [ carefully ex-
amined the spinal cord. The body was then in such a condition as to
enable me to make a satisfactory examination of it ; and if prior to
death there had been any disease of a normal character on the spinal
cord and marrow, I should have had no difficulty in detecting it.
There was no disease. 1 discovered certain granules upon it. It is
difficult to account for their origin, but they are frequently found in
persons of an advanced age. I never knew them to occasion sudden
death. 1 agree entirely in the evidence which has heen given by Dr.
Harland.

This witneéss was not cross-examined. '

Mr. Jobn Boyzott examined by Mr. Welsby.—I am a clerk to
M‘essrs_- Landor, Gardiner, and Landor, attorneys at Rugeley. On the
26th of last November I received a jar from Mr. Devonshire, covered
with leather’ and brown paper, and sealed up. I took it to London,.
and delivered it on the next day to Dr. Taylor at Guy’s Hospital, On
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a subsequent day I received another jar, similarly secured, from Mr.
Devonshire, and T also brought that to London and delivered it to Dr.
Taylor. I was not present at the inquest on Cook’s body, and did
net fetch Newton to be examined there. On Tuesday last, when at
the Rugeley station, previous to my departure fer London, Newton
came and made o communication to me. He knew that Mr. Gardiner
was not there ; and when we reached London I took him to Mr.
Gardiner, and I heard him make the same communication to Mr.
Gardiner which he had made before to me.

This witness was not cross-examined.

James Myatt examined by Mr. James.—In November last I was
postboy at the Talbot Arms, Rugeley. I know Palmer, the
prisoner, and I remember Monday, the 26th of November last. I
was ord red on that night, a little after five o'clock, to take Mr.
Stevens to the Stafford station in a fly. Before I started I went
home to get my tea, and on returning from my tea to the Talbot
Arms T met the prisoner. He asked me if T was going to drive Mr.
Stevens to Stafford. I told him I was. :

What did he say to you then ?—He asked me if T would upset them.

 Them ?” Had anything been said about a jar ?—He said he sup-
posed T was going to take the jar.

What did you say then ?—I said I believed I was,

‘What did he say after that —He said—¢ Do you think you could
upset them?”

What answer did you make ?—T told him ‘ No.”

Did he say anything more ?7—He said—** If you could, there’s a 107,
note for you.” (Sensation.)

What did you say to that 7—1I told him I could not. I then said,
«Imust go, the horses are in the fly ready for us to start.” T do not
recollect that he said anything more about the jar. I said, that if T
didn’t go somebody else would go. He told me not to be in a hurry,
for if anybody else went he would pay me. 1 saw him again next
morning, when I was going to breakfast. He asked me then who
went with the fly. I told him Mr. Stevens, and, 1 believed, one of
Mr. Gardiner’s clerks.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Were not the words that
Palmer used— I wouldn't mind giving 10/ to break Steven's neck.”
I don’t recollect the words “break his neck.”

Well, “upset him.” Did he say, “I wouldn’t mind giving 107 to
upset him #”—Yes ; T believe those were the words. 1 do not know
that Palmer appeared to have been drinking. 1 don’t recollect that
he had. T can’t say that he used any epithet, applied to Stevens—he
said it was a humbugging concern altogether—or something of that.
I don't recollect that he said Stevens was a troublesome fellow, and
very inquisitive. I don't remember anything more than I have said.
I do not know whether there was more than one jar.

Samuel Cheshire, formerly postmaster at Rugeley, who has been
sentenced to two years’ imprisonment for tampering with letters in
connexion with this affuir, was brought up in eustody and examined
by Mr. James. He is an extremely respectable-looking man, above
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the middle age, and was dressed in black. He deposed as follows :—
T was for upwards of eight years postmaster at Rugeley. I come now
from Newgate, where 1 am under sentence for having ‘*“ read” a letter,
[The question was * opened” a letter]. I* confessed” to having done
so. [The question was, Did you plead guilty to that charge g e -
knew the prisoner William Palmer very well —we were schoolfellows
together, and T have been three or four times in my life at races with
him. I never made a bet but once in my life ; but T was very intl-
mate with Palmer. I accompanied him to Shrewsbury Races in
November, 1855, I returned to Rugeley on Tuesday, the 13th, the
same day on which Polestar won the handicap. On Saturday the 17th,
I went to see Mr. Cook, who was in bed at the Talbot Arms Hotel at
Rugeley. 1 lived at the post-office, which was 300 or 400 yards from
Palmer's honse. On Tuesday evening the 20th, I received a mes:age
from Palmer, asking me to come over to him, and to take a receipt
stamp with me. In consequence of that message I went to Palmer’s
house and took a receipt stamp, as requested. When I reached
Palmer’s house I found him in his sitting-room. He said that he
wanted to write me out a check, and he produced a copy from which
he said I was to write, I copied the document which he produced.
He said that it related to money which Mr. Cook owed him ; and he
asked me to write it because, he said, Cook was too ill to do it, and
Weatherby would know his (Palmer’s) handwriting. Te said that
when I had written it, he would take it over to Mr. Cook to sign. 1
then wrote as he requested me, and left the paper with Palmer.

Mr. Weatherby was here called in order to trace this document. In
answer to Mr. James, he said,—I am secretary to the Jockey Club,
and my establishment is in Birmingham. I keep a sort of banking
account, and receives stakes for gentlemen who own racers and bet.
I knew the deceased John Parsoris Cook, who had an account of that
nature with me. I knew Palmer slightly ; he had no such account
with me. On the 21st of November I received a check or order upon
our house for 350/. It came by post. I sent it back two days after-
wards—on Friday, the 23rd. I sent it back by post to Palmer, the
prisoner, at Rugeley.

Boycott was recalled, and proved that he had served notices upon
the prisoner and upon Mr. Smith, his attorney, to produce the
“check or order” referred to ; and that it had not been produced in
pursuance of those notices.

Prisoner’s counsel did not now produce it.

Examination of Samuel Cheshire continued. — As far as I can
remember, what I wrote was, “Pay to Mr. William Palmer the sum
of 3507., and place it to my account.” I do not remember whether I
put any date to it. I left it with Palmer, and went away. That was
on Tuesday. On the Thursday or Friday following, Palmer sent
again for me. T do not remember what day it was, but it was after I
had heard of the death of Mr. Cook at the Talbot Arms. I went to
Palmer in the evening, between six and seven o’'clock, 1n consequence
of his having sent for me. When I arrived I found him in the
kitchen, and he immediately went out, and shortly after returned with
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& quarto sheet of paper in his hand. He gave me a pen, and asked me

to sign something [ asked what it was, and he replied, * You know that
Cook and I have had dealings together ; and this is a document which
Le gave me some days ago, and T want you to witness it.” = I said,
& What is it about ?”  He said, “ Some business that 1 have joined
him in, and which was all for Mr, Clook’s benefit ; and this is the docu-
ment stating so,” I just cast my eye over the paper. It was quarto
post paper of a yellow description. [ looked at the writing, and 1 be-
lieved that it was Mr. Palmer’s. When he asked me to sign it I told him
that I could not, as T might perhaps be calied upon to give evidence on
the mattar at some future day. I told him that I had not seen Mr. Cook
sign it, and I also sard that I thought the Post-office authorities would
not approve my mixing myself’ up in a matter which might occasion
my absence from my duties to give evidence. In fact, I did not give
any exact reasons for refusing to sign it. Palmer said it did not
much matter, as he dared say they would not ebject to Mr. Cook’s
signature. I left the paper with Palmer, and went away. I believe
that there was a stamp upon it. I did not read it all, but I cast my
eye down it. [Notices had also been served upon the prisoner and
his attorney to produce this document, but it had not been praduced. ]
Witness continued.—I remember the effect of it—it was that certain
bills—the dates and amounts of which were quoted, although I
cannot recollect them now—were all for Mr. Cook’s benefit and not
for Mr. Palmer's. Those were not the exact words, but that was
the purport of them. I know that the amounts were large, although
I do not remember them all. I remember however, that one was
for 1,0004, and another for 500L There was a signature to that
document. It was either “I P.” or ¢J. P. Cook.” 1 don't think
the word  Parsons” was written ; but either “I. P.” or “dJ.P.
Cook” Palmer was in the habit of calling at the post-ofiice for
letters addressed to his mother, who resided at Rugeley. I eannot
remember that during the months of October and November, 1553,
1 gave him any letters addressed to his mother ; nor can I say
whether in those months I have given him letters addressed to Mr.
Cook; but Cook has taken Palmer’s letters and Palmer has taken
Cook's letters. I remember the inquest upon Cook. I saw Palmer
frequently while, that inquest was going on. He came down to me
on the Sunday evening previous to the 5th of December— the date to
which the inquest was adjourned —and asked me if I saw or heard of
anything fresh to let him know. I guessed what he wanted, and
thought that he wanted to tempi me to open i letter. I therefore
told him that I could not open a letter. He said that he did not
want me to do anything to injure myself. I believe that was all that
passed upon that occasion. The letter for reading which 1 am now
under sentence of punishment was from Dr. Alfred Taylor, of
London, to Mr. Gardiner, the solicitor of Rugeley. I read part of
the letter, and told Palmer as much as I remembered of it. This
took place on the morning of the 5th of December. I told Palmer
that the letter mentioned that no traces of strychnine were to be
found. I can’t call to mind what else I told him. He said he knew
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there would be no traces of poison, for he was perfectly innocent,
The letter T hold in my hand, signed “W. P.” and addressed to
“W. W. Ward, BEsq., Coroner,” 1 believe to be in the prisoner's
handwriting.

Captain Hatton, examined by Mr. James.—I am chief constable of
Stafford. The letter now produced I obtained from the coroner,

The Clerk of Arraigns read the letter in question. It bore no date,

=
and was to the foHuwing effect :—

“ My dear Sir,—I am sorry to tell you that T am still confined to
my bed. I don’t think it was mentioned at the inquest yesterday
that Cook was taken ill on Sunday and Monday night, in the same
Wway as he was on the Tuesday, when he died. The chambermaid at
the Crown Hotel (Masters’s) can prove this. 1 also believe that a
man by the name of Fisher is coming down to prove he received some
money at Shrewsbury. Now, here he eould only pay Smith 101, out
of 41/ he owed him.” Had you not better call Swith to prove this?
And, again, whatever Professor Taylor may say to-morrow, he wrote
from London Jast Tuesday night to Gardiner to say, * We (and Dr.
Rees) have this day finished our analysis, and find no traces of ¢ither
strychnia, prussic acid, or opium.”  What can beat this from a man
like Taylor, if he says what he has already said, and DrHar and s
evidence ? Mind you, I know and saw it in black and white what
Taylor said to Gardiner 3 but this is strictly private and confidential,
but it is true. As regards his betting book, 1 know nothing of it, and
it is of no good to any one. 1 hope the verdict to-morrow will be
that he died of natural causes, and thus end it.

* Ever yours, B

»

The witness Cheshire was then cross-examined by Mr, Serjeant
Shee.—I knew Cook very well. T did not know his handwriting,
I have seen it, but am not sufficiently familiar with it to be able to
identify it. I have seen him write.  When I refused to sign the
document which Palmer presented to me for signature he observed,
“Oh, it is no matter, T dare say they will not call in question Mxr,
Cook’s signature.” What Palmen asked me was, “whether I had
Seen or heard anything 7 T said that I had seen something, but that
it would be wrongz for me to tell him what, He then inquired what
I had seen. T think the phrase he used in speaking of his own
innocence was that he was *“as innocent as a baby.” T remember
having been told by Palmer, the Saturday before Cook died, that the
latter was very ill. ~ On that day I saw Cook. He was ill and in'bed.
I saw Palmer about midday on Wednesday, the second day of the
Shrewsbury Races, T saw bim at Rugeley on that day.

To Mr. James.—The duration of the journey from Stafford to
Shrewsbury is upwards of an hour,

Ellis Crisp, examined by Mr. James.—1 am inspector of police at
Rugeley. On the 17w December 1 assisted in searching the prison-
er’s house. There was a sale of his furniture, &ec., on the 5th of
January. The book now produced I found in his house, and took it
away. Tt was being sold, anq I took it away. (A laugh.)
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Cross-examined by Mr, Serjeant Shee.—It was brou ght out at the
+sale with a lot of other books. There were several medieal books in
the house. There was mo attempt to conceal the volume I seized.

The Clerk of Arraigns read from the book referred to this sentence,
proved by the witness Boycott to be in Palmer's writing—¢ Strychnia
kills by causing tetanic fixing of the respiratory muscles.”

J. Burdon, examined by Mr. J ames,—This manuseript book I
found in the prisoner’s house on the 16th or 17th of December, I
am an inspector of police in Staffordshire,

The Attorney-General read an extract from the book in question.
It related to strychnine, and alluded to the mode of its operation.

Lord Campbell.—T hat may be merely a passage extracted from
an article on * Strychnine” in some encyclopmdia,

The Attorney General.—No doubt it may. I put it in for what it
18 worth.

Elizabeth  Hawkes, examined by Mr. Huddlestone.—I keep a
boarding-house at 7, Beaufort-buildings, Strand. T know Palmer.
He was at my house on the Ist of December last. He asked my
porter to buy some game and fish for him. I purchased some fowls
for him on the 1st of December. They consisted of a turkey and a
brace of pheasants. The porter purchased the fish. I packed these
things up in a hamper. I had no conversation with Palmer about
these things. | I bought them by Palmer’s order, conveyed through
the porter, I isent them somewhere, I directed them myself, and
gave them to the porter, who carried them to the railway station, I
have never been paid for them. Palmer came to my house on the
evening of that day, but I did not see him. The direction on the
hamper.was «“ W, W, Ward, Esq., Stoke-upon-Trent, Staffordshire.”

George Herring examined by Mr. Welsby.—1I live near New Cross,
and am independent. I knew Cook, and met him at the Shrewsbury
Races last November, I put up at the Raven. He appeared in his
usual health. I saw him between six and seven on Wednesday, the
second day of the races. I had a private room, with Mr, Fisher, Mr.
Reed, and Mr. T. Jones. Tt was next the room occupied by Cook
and Palmer, QOn Thursday (the day following) I saw Cook. I do
not know that at that time he had any money with him, but I saw
him with Bank of England and provincial bank-notes on Wednesday.
He unfolded them on his knee in {wos and threes. There was a .con-
siderable number.of notes. He showed me at Shrewsbury his betting-
book. It contained entries of bets made on the Shrewsbury Races,
On Monday, the 19th of November, I received a letter from Palmer.
I have it here.

The Clerk of  Arraigns read the letter, of which the following is
8 COPY

“ Dear Sir,—I shall feel much obliged if you will give me a call at

i Baaufhrt*‘buildings, Strand, on Monday, about half-past two.
- - %I am, dear Sir, very truly yours,
S WiLLiam PALMER ™

Ei.aminaﬁnn continued.—=I received this letter on Monday, and
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called at Beaufort-buildings that same day at half-past two exactly.
I found Palmer there. He asked me what T would take ? I declined
to take anything. I then asked him how Mr. Cook was ? He said,
He's all right ; his physician gave him a dose of calomel, and
advised him not to come out, it being a damp day. 1 don’t know
which term he used, ‘damp” or “wet.” He then went on
to say, in the same sentence, * What I want to see you about
is settling his account.” While he was speaking he took out
half a sheet of note paper from his pocket, and it was fopen
when he had finished the sentence. Heheld it up-and said, * This is
it.” 1 rose to take it. He said, “ You had better take its contents
down ; this will be a check against you.” At the same time he
pointed to some paper lying on the table. I wrote on that paper
from his dictation. I bave here the paper which I so wrote. [The
witness read the document in guestion which contained instructions
as to certain payments he should make out of moneys to be received
by him at Tattersall’s on account of the Shrewsbury races.] FPalmer
then said that I had better write out a cheque for Pratt and Padwick
—for the former 4501, and for the latter 3501., and send them at
once. 1 told him I had only one form of cheque in my pocket. He
said I could easily fill up a draught on half a shest of paper. 1 refused
to comply with his request, as I had not as yet received the money.
He replied that it would be all right, for that Cook would not deceive
me. He wished me particularly to pay Mr. Pratt the 450.. His words,
as nearly as T can remember them were, You must pay Pratt, as it
s for a bill of sale on the mare.” I don’t know whether he said “a
pill of sale,” or “a joint bill of sale.” He told me he was going to
see both Pratt and Padwick, to tell them that T would send on the
money. Previous to his saying this, I told him that if he would give
me the address of Pratt and Padwick T would call on them, afier I
had got the money from Tattersall’s, and give it to them. He then
asked me what was between vs? There were only a few pounds
between us, and after we had bhad some conversation on the point he
took out of his pocket a 50L. Bank of England note. He required
291 out of the note, and I was not able to give it; but he said that if
I gave him a check it would answer as well. 1 gave him a check
for 20 and nine sovereigns. When I was going away I do not re-
member that he said anything about my paying the money 10 Pratt and
Padwick., He said on parting, “ When you have settled this account
write down word to either me or Cook.,” I torned round and said,
« T shall certainly write to Mr. Cook.” I said so because I thought
h | was settling Mr. Cook’s account. He said, “It don’t much matter
which you write to.” Isaid, ¢“If I address Mr. Cook, Rugeley,
Stafford, it will be correct, will it not #" He said, * Yes,” After
leaving Beaufort-buildings I went to Tattersall's. I then received
all the money I expected, except 110L from Mr. Morris, who paid
me 90Z instead of 200/, I sent from Tattersall’s a cheque for 4500
to Mr. Pratt. I posted a letter to Cook from Tattersall’s, and directed
it to 'Rugeley. On Tuesday the 20th, next day, I received a tele-
graphic message. 1 have not got it here. I gave it to Captai
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Hatton at the coromer's inquest at Rugeley. In consequence of receiving
that message I wrote again to Cook that day. I addressed my letter as
before, but I believe the letter was not posted till the Wednesday. I have
three bills of exchange with me. I know Palmer's handwriting, but never
saw him write. I cannot prove his writing; but I knew Cook’s writing, and
I believe the drawing of two and the accepting of the three bills to be in
his writing. I got them from Fisher and gave him cash for them. [The
witness Boyeott was recalled and identified the signatures on the bills as
those of Palmer and Cook.] Examination continued.—The bills are each
for 200/. One of them was payable in a month, and when it fell due on
October 18, Cook paid the 100l on account. He paid me the remaining
1007. at Shrewsbury, but I cannot tell with certainty on what day. I did
not pay the 350l to Padwick. I hold another bill for 500/. [Thomas
Strawbridge, manager of the bank at Rugeley, identified the drawing and
endorsing as in the handwriting of Palmer. The aceeptance, purporting to
be in the writing of Mrs, Sarah Palmer, he did not believe to have been
written by I:Lr.-r.:l Examination continued.—I am sure that the endorsement
on the 500L bill is in Cook’s writing. I got the bill from Mr. Fisher. I
paid 200L on account of it to Palmer, and 2751, to Mr. Fisher. The balance
was discount. It was not paid at maturity. I have taken proceedings
against Palmer to recover the amount.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove.—Several people were ill at Shrewsbur
on the second day of the races. They suffered from a kind of diarrhcea. {
was one of those so affected. I had my meals at the Raven, where I put
up, as also had my companions. They were not ill, but a gentleman who
dined with us one day at the inn was, Palmer did not dine with me any
day at the Raven, I saw Cook several times on the racecourse. The
ground was wet. I remonstrated with him on Thursday for standing
on it. That was after he had been taken ill on Wednesday. I was with
Palmer for about an hour at Beaufort-buildings.

Frederick Slack, examined by Mr. Huddleston.—I am the porter at Mrs,
Hawke's boarding-house at Beaufort-buildings. On the 1st of December I
saw Palmer there, and he gave me the dirvection to put on a hamper con-
taining me. It was “ W. W. Ward, Esq., Stoke-upon-Trent, Stafford-
shire. e told me to buy a turkey, a brace of pheasants, a codfish, and a
barrel of oysters ; and to buy them wily:erever I pleased. Ie =aid he did not
wish the gentleman for whom they were intended to know from whom they
came. I saw him write the direction in the coffee-room. I got the hamper
and ;I:{ut all the things in it. I sewed it up and took it to the railway. Mrs.
Hawkes bought the fowl, and I the other articles. '

It being now within five minutes of six o'clock the Court intimated its
intention not to proceed further with the case that evening.

Lord Campbell suggested that some facility of breathing fresh air should
be afforded to the jury before the sitting of the Court on the following
morning. Were it not that he made it a practice to take a walk early in the
morning in Ii&umn.%tun-gardena, he should himself find it impossible to
endure the fatigue of so arduous a trial. An omnibus, or a couple of them,
ought to be engaged for the accommodation of the jury, that they, too, might
enjoy similar recreation.

r. Baron Alderson.—Why should they not take a walk in the Temple-
gardens? There could be no more tranquil spot. (A laugh.)

The Sheriffs intimated that they would attend to the recommendations of
the learned judges. i B
. The l‘:‘.}uurt then adjourned at six o'clock until ten o'clock this day, the
{Iur:,r bpm%l conducted, as on the previous evening, to the London Coffee-

ouse in charge of the Sheriffs’ officers.

No. 5.
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FOURTH DAY.

Tre adjourned trial of William Palmer for the murder of John Parsons
Cook was resumed this morning, The court was denselyjcrowded, and there
was no abatement of the interest which has from the commencement been
excited by these proceedings. Among the distinguished persons present were
Earl Grey and Mr. Dallas, the American Minister.

The jury, who, in accordance with the suggestions made by the learned
judges on the previous day, had during the morning been conducted to the
‘?M.iddle Temple-gardens by the officer who had them in charge, and allowed
to walk there for some time, entered the court about ten o'clock, and almost
immediately afterwards the learned judges—Lord Chief Justice Campbell,
Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice Cresswell, accompanied by the Recorder,
the Common Serjeant, the Sheriffs, and Under-Shcrifps,.auﬂ several members
of the Court of Aldermen, took their seats upon the beneh. The prisoner
was then placed at the bar. There was no change in the expression of his
countenance, and during the day he ma’:ntaineg his usnal tranquillity of
demeanour.

The same counsel were again in attendance :—The Attorney-General, Mr.
E. James, Q.C., Mr. Bodkin, Mr. Welsby, and Mr. Huddleston for the
Crown; Mr, Serjeant Shee, Mr. Grove, Q.C., Mr. Gray, and Mr. Kenealy
for the prisoner.

George Bates, examined by Mr, James.—I was brought up a farmer, but
am now out of business. I have known Palmer eight or nine years. In
September, October, and November last I looked after his stud, and saw that
the boys who had the care of the horses did their duty. I had no fixed
salary, but used to receive money occasionally ; some weeks I received two
sovereigns, and some only one, % lodged in Rugeley. The rent I paid was
6s. 6d. per week. I am a single man. I knew the deceased Cook. I have
no doubt that I saw him at Palmer's house in September. I cannot fix the
date. I dised with him at Palmer's.

By Lord Campbell.—I sat at table with them.

Examination continued.— A fter dinner something was said of an insurance
of my life. Either Cook or Palmer, which I cannot say, commenced the
conversation. '

Mz, Serjeant Shee objected to the reception of any evidence with regard
to the proposal of the insurance of the witness's life.

The Attorney General said, that his object was to show the position of
Cook’s affairs at this time.

Lord Campbell, after consultation with the other judges, said, I doubted
whether this would be relevant and proper evidence to receive upon this
trial, and upon consultation the other judges agree with me that it is too
remote. \

The examination of the witness with regard to the insurance was there-
fore not pursued. :

Witness.—1I remember the death of Cook, and the inquest. I know Mr.
William Webb Ward, the coroner. On the morning of the 8th of December,
while the inquest was being held, I saw Palmer. e gave me this letter,
and told me to go to Stafford and give it to Mr. Ward. (The letter referred
to was that addressed to Mr. Ward, which was on the previous day put in
and read.) That was between nine and ten o’clock. PI:IE&].EO ave me a
letter to a man named France, a depler in game at Stafford. TPalmer said
that there would be a package of gaihe from France, which I was to direct
and send to Mr. Ward. T got a basket of game from France upon the order
which the prisoner had given me. I directed it “ Webb Ward, coroner (or

solicitor), Staflord,” and sent it to Mr, Ward. I directed it myself. I gave
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III a man 3d. to take the game, but I delivered the note to Mr, Ward
| myself. I found him at the Dolphin Inn, Stafford.  He was in the smoking-
. room. I told him I wanted to speak to him. He called me out into the
yard or passage, and there I gave him the note. There were other
people in the smoking-room. I had had no directions froni the prisoner,
as to how I was to deliver the note. When I returned to Rugeley
that night I saw the prisoner. I told him that I had delivered the letters
which I took to Staflord, and had sent a boy with the game. I remember
Thuarsday, the 13th of December. On that day I was sent for to the pri-
soner’s house early in the morning: About midday I went to Palmer's
house. I found him in bed, Ie said that he wanted e to go to Stafford to
take Webb Ward a letter, and to take care that no one saw me give it to
him. On the Saturday previously I had taken Palmer some money. On
the Thursday Palmer told me to g¢ to Ben and tell him he wanted a 57,
note. I understood Ben to be Mr. Thirlby, his assistant. Palmer added,
“Tell him that I have no small change.” I helieve he asked me to look in
a drawer under the dressing glass, and said, “Tell me the amount of that
bill.” T looked in the drawer and found there a 50. Bank of England bill,
I left the bill there. This was before he gave me the letter for Ward.
After seeing the bill I went to Thirlby's for the 5. I got from Thirlby a
sl=note of a local bank, and took it to Palmer. I then went downstairs,
leaving Palmer in bed, with the writing materials on the bottom of it. I
remained downstairs, in the yard or kitchen, about half an-hour. When I
went upstairs Palmer again asked me the amount of the bill which was in
the drawer. I just looked at it, and thought it was the same bill I had left
there. Ie then gave me the letter, which was sealed, and I took it to
Stafford. I followed Mr. Ward through the room at the railway station,
and gave it to him in the road. Mr. Ward did not open or read the letter,
but erumpled it up in his hand and put it into his pocket. I believe I told
him from whom I had broughtit. Having delivered the letter I returned
to Rugeley. I saw the prisoner, and told him that I had given Ward the
letter. He said nothing.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Palmer had four brood mares,
and four yearlings and a three-year-old. I can’t tell their value. I heard
that one of these horses sold for 800 guineas. I can't say whether the mares
were in foal in November, but I suppose some were. I’yalmer's stables were
at the back of his house, and the paddocks which were near them covered
about twenty acres of ground, and were fenced with a hawthorn-hedge.
I remember a mare called the Duchess of Kent being there. We supposed
she slipped her foal, but we could not find it. I am not aware that Gold-
finder’s dam slipped her foal. I once saw the turf cut up with horses’ feet,
and attributed it to the mares galloping about. [ never saw any dogs “ run”
them. I have seen a gun at the paddocks. I cannot say whether it belonged
to Palmer. I never examined it. I do not know Inspector Field by sight.
I have seen a person whom I was told was Field. He came to me at the
latter end of September, or beginning of October or November. I cannot
say whether he saw Palmer. He was a stranger to me. I do not know
that he put up anywhere. (A laugh.) I did not see him more than once.
I do not know Field. On Thursday, December 13, I saw Gillott, who is a
sherifl’s officer, in Palmer's yard.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—It was after the hay harvest
that I saw the turf in the paddock cut up. I should say that it was in
t;lhn l;.ttcr end of September. I cannot say how long it was-before Cook's

eath. e

Thomas Blizard Curling, examined by the Attorney-General.—I am a
member of the College of Surgeons, and Surgeon to the London Hospital.
I have particularly turned my attention to the subject of tetanus, and
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bhave published a work upon that subject. Tetanus means a spasmodic
:ﬂ'erﬁfn of the volun mmmka. Of true tetanus there are only
two descriptions — idiopathic and trsumatic. There are other diseases
in which we see contraetions of the muscles but we should not call them
tetanns. Idiopathic tetanus & apparently self-generated; tranmatic pro-
ceeds from a wound or sore. Idiopathic tetanus arises from exposure
to damp or cold. or from the irmtation of worms in the alimentary
¢anal. ]}t is not a disesse of frequent occcurrence. I have never seen a case
of idiopathic tetanus, although I have been surgeon to the London Hospital
for twenty-two years. Cases of traumatic tetanus are much more frequent.
Spesking quite within compass, [ have seen fifty such cases. I believe one
hundred would be nesrer the mark. The disease first manifests itself by
stifness about the jaws and back of the neck. Rigidity of the muscles of the
abdomen afterwards sets in. A dragging pain at the pit of the stomach is an
almost constant attendant.  In many instances the mmscles of the back are ex-
tensively affected. These symptoms, though continuous, are liable to aggrava-
tions into paroxysms.  As the disease goes on, these paroxysms become more
frequent and more severe.  When they oceur the body is drawn backwards ; in
someinstances, thouzh lessfrequently. itisbent forward. A difficultyinswallow-
ing is a very common symptom, and alco a diffienlty of breathing during the
paroxysms. The disesse may, if fatal, end in two ways. The patient may
die somewhat suddenly fiom suffocation, owing to the closure of the opening
of the windpipe: or be may be worn out by the severe and painful spasms,
the muscles may relax, and the patient gradually sink and die. “The disease
is generally fatal.  The locking of the jaw is an almost constant s{mptnm
atténding trsumatic tetanus—I may say a constant symptom. It is not
always strongly marked, but generaily so. It is an early symptom. Another
symptom is a peculisr expression of the countenance.

By Lord Campbell.—1 believe this is not peculiar to trawmatic tetanus,
but my observation is taken from such cases.

Examination resumed.— There is a contraction of the evelids, a raising of the
angles of the mouth, and contraction of the brow. In traumatic tetanus the
lower extremities are sometimes affected, and sometimes, but somewhat rarely,
the upper ones.  When the museles of the extremities are affected the time
at which that oceurs varies. If there is no wound in the arms or leas the
extremeties are generally not affected until lste in the prégress of the disease,
I never knew or read of traumatic tetanus being produced by a sore throat
ot by a chancre. In my opinion s syphilitic sore would not produce tetanus.
I krow of no instance in which a syphilitie sore has led to tetanus. 1 think
it a very unlikely cause. The time in which traumatic tetanus cavses death
varies from twenty-four hours to three or four days or longer. The shortest
period that ever came to my knowledge was eight to ten hours. The disease,
when once commenced, i= continuons.

Did you ever know of a case in which a man was attacked one day, had
twenty-four hours’ respite, and was then attacked the next day P—Never. I
should say that such a case could not occur.

You have heard the account given by Mr. Jones of the death of the de-
ceased :—were the symptoms Lﬂre consistent with any forms of traumatic
tetanus that has ever come under yvour observation P—No.

What distinguishes it from such cases ?—The sudden onset of the disease. In
all cases that have come under my notice the disease was preceded by the milder
symptoms of tetanus, graduvally proceeding to the complete development.

Were the symptoms described by the woman Mills as being presented on
the Monday night those of tetanus ?— No ; not of the tetanus of disease.

tetanus 1o be synonymous with convulsive or spasmodic action
of the mu was there in that sense tetanus on the Monday night ?—No
doubt there was spasmodic action of the muscles.

S
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'i:luu was not, ia your opinion. either idiopathic or tranma:ic tetanus?®
—N0.

Why are you of that opinion #—The sudden onset of the spasms and their
rapid subsidence are consistent with neither of the two forms of tetanus.

Is there not what is called hysteric tetanus *—Yes. It is rather hvsteria
combined with spasms, but it is s:ometimes ealled bysteric tetanus. T have
kunown no instance of its proving fatal, or of it occurring to 2 man. Some
poisons will produce tetanus. Nux vomica, acting through its poisoms
strychnia and bruchsia, poisons of a cognate character, produces that effeet.
Inever saw a case of either haman or animal life destroved by strychnine.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Irritation of the spinal cord or of
the nerves proceeding to it might produce tetanus,

Do you agree with the opinion of Dr. Webster, in his lecturss on the Prin-
ciples and practies of physic, that in four cases ous of five the disease begins
with lockjaw F—1I do. 3

Do you agree with Dr. Wat=on that all the symptoms of tetanic convulsions
may arise from causes so slight as these :—the sticking of 2 fish-bone in the
fances, the air caused by a musket shot, the stroke of a whip-lash under the
eve, leaving the skin unbroken, the cutting of a corn, the biting of the finger
by a favourite sparrow, the blow of a stick on the neck, the insertion of a
seton, the extraction of a tooth, the injection of a hydrocele, and the opera-
tion of cutting >——Exeepting the percussion of the air from a musket ball I
think all these causes may produce the symptoms referred to.

Do yon remember reading of 2 case which oceurred at Edinbargh, in which
a megro servant lacerated his thumb by the fracture of a china dish, and was
instantly, while the guests were at dinmer, seized with tetanus ?

The Attorney-General, interposing before the witaess replied,—I have
taken some pains to ascertain what that case is, and where it is got from.

Cross-examination continued.—Could traumatic tetanus oceur within so
short a time as a quarter of an hour after the reception of aa injury *—I
know of no well authenticated instance of the kind.

Did you inguire into this case which is mentiored in your own treatise,
“ A negro having scratehed his thumb with a piece of broken china was seized
with tetanus, and in a quarter of an hour after this he was dead ? "—1 referred
to authority as far as(i could, but I did not find any reference to it except
in Cyclop=dias. When I wrote that book I was a young man, twenty-two
yearsof age. I have maturer juﬁment and ter experience now.
ETﬂn say that no case of idiopathic tetanus has come under your notice.—

m. F .

I dare say you will tell us that such ecases are not so likely to come to the
hospital as those of 2 wound ending in traumatic tetanus, bacause they would
be more likely in the first instance to come under the notice of a physician
than that of a surgeon *—Certainly. .

By Lord Campbell.—I have read of casesof idiopathic tetanus in this
country,

Mr. Serjeant Shee.— We shall be able to show that there have been

-such cases.

Cross-examination continued.—Do you not know that very lately there
was in the London Hospital a case in which tetanus came on so rapidly and
so unaccountably that it was referred to strychnine, and it was thought
necessary to examine the stomach of the patient 7—I know that such an
opinion was entertained before the history of the case was inv ted. I

‘have heard that no strychine was found. In that case old syphilitic sores

By Lord Campbell.—1I did not see the patient, who was under the care of
thehnuzesurgeuns,whoaremwinmm B AR i
Cross-examination continued.—Might not the irritation of a syphilitic
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sore, by wet, cold, drink, mercury, and mental excitement lead to tetanic
symptoms ¥ I do not think that that is very likely. The irritation whm]'_l is
}tillnr:l:.r to produce tetanus is the sore being exposed to friction, to w_h!r:h
syphilitic sores in the throat are not exposed. I should class tetanus arising

rom the irritation of asore as “traumatic.” Cases very rarely oceur which it is
difficult to class as either “ traumatic” or idiopathic.” 1 should elass tetanus
arising from irritation of the intestines as “idiopathic.” The character of
the spasms of epilepsy is not tetanic.

Not of the spasms; but are not the contractions of epilepsy sometimes con-
tinuous, so that the body may be twisted into various forms, and remain
rigidly in them ?  Not eontinuously.

For five or ten minutes together ? I think not.

Does it not frequently happen that general convulsions, no cause or trace
of which in the form of disease or lesion is to he found in the body after
death, occur in the most violent and spastic way so as to exhibit appearances
of tetanic convulsions ?—No instance of the kind has come under my
observation.

Do you agree with this opinion of Dr. Copeland, expressed in his
Dictionary of Practical Medicine, under the head of * General Convulsions,”
“The abnormal contraction of the museles is in some cases of the most
violent and spastic nature, and frequently of some continnance, the relaxa-
tions being of brief duration or searcely observable, and in others nearly or
altogether approaching to tetanic?” T would rather speak from my own
observation. I have not observed anything of the kind.

Does it not happen that a patient dies of convulsions, spastic in the sense
of their being tumultuous and alternating, and ehronic in the sense of exhi-
biting continuous rigidity, yet after death no disease is found —It does not
often happen to adults,

Does it sometimes ?—I do not know, nor have I read of such a ease. I have
no hesitation in saying that people may die from tetanus and other diseases
without the appearance of morbid symptoms after death.

Are not convulsions, not, strictly speaking, tetanic, constantly preserved by
retehing, distention of the stomach, flatulence of the stomach and bowels, and
other dyspeptic symptoms *—Such cases do not come under my observation
as a hospital surgeon. I think it is very probable that general convulsions
are accompanied by yelling. I don’t know that they frequently terminate
fatally, and that the proximate cause of death is spasm of the respiratory
muscles, inducing asphyxia.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—These convulsions are easily
distinguished from tetanus, because in them there is an entire loss of con-
sciousness.

Is it one of the characteristic features of tetanus that the conscionsness is
not affected ? —1It is.

Dr. Todd, examined by the Attorney-General.—I am physician at EinFs
College Hospital, and have held that office about twenty-years. [ have also
lectured on’ physiology and anatomy, on tetanus, and the diseases of the
nervous system, and have published my lectures. 1 agree with the last wit-
nessin his distinction between idiopathic and traumatie tetanus, I have seen
two cases of what appeared to me to be idiopathic tetanus, but such cases are
rare in this country.

By Lord Campbell.—1 define idiopathie tetanus to be that form of the
disease which is produced without any external wound, apparently from
internal causes—from a constitutional cause. :

Examination resumed.—In my opinion the term tetanus ought not to be
applied to disease produced by poisons, but I should call the symptoms
tetanic in order to distinguish’ the character of the convulsions. I have
observed cases of traumatic tetanus, Except that in all such cases there is
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some lesion the symptoms are precisely the same as those of idiopathic
tetanus. The disease begins with stiffness about the jaw. The symptoms
gradually develope themselves and extend to the muscles of the trunk,

When the disease has begun is there any intermission 7 —There are remis-
sions, but they are not complete; only diminutions of the severity of the
symptoms, not a total subsidence. he patient does not express himself
as completely well, quite comfortable. I speak from my own experience.

What is the usual period that elapses between the commencement and the
termination of the disease P—The cases may be divided into two classes.
Acute cases will terminate in three or four days, chronic cases will go on as
long as from nineteen to twenty-two or twenty-three days, and perhaps
longer. I do not think that I have known a case in which death occurred
within four days. Cases are reported in which it occurred in a shorter
period. In tetanus the extremities are affected, but not so much as the
trunk. Their affection is a late symptom. The locking of the jaw is an
early one. Sometimes the convulsions of epilepsy assume somewhat of a
tetanic character, but they are essentially distinet from tetanus. In epilepsy
the patient always loses consciousness. Apoplexy never produces tetanic
convulsions. Perhaps I may be allowed to say that when there is an effusion
of blood upon the brain, and a portion of the brain is involved, the muscles
may be thrown into short tetanic convulsions. In such case the conscious-
ness would be destroyed. Having heard described the symptoms attending
the death of the deceased, and the post-mortem examination, I am of opinion
that in this case there was neither apoplexy nor epilepsy.

The Attorney-General said that, as Dr. Bamford was so unwell that it was
doubtful whether he would be able to appear as a witness, he proposed to
put in his deposition, in order to found upon it a question to the witness now
under examination.

Dr. Todd and Dr. Tweedie deposed that they had seen Dr. Bamford on
the previous day, and that he was then suffering from a severe attack of
English cholera. He was too unwell to be able toattend and give evidence.

he Court ruled that the depositions taken before the coroner might be
read : and they were read accordingly by the Clerk of the Arraigns. They
were to the following effect:—

7T attended the late Mr. Cook at the request of Mr. William Palmer. T
first saw him about three o'clock on Saturday, the 17th of November, when
he was suffering from violent vomiting, the stomach being in that irritable
state that it would not contain a teaspoonful of milk, There was perfect
moisture of the skin, and he was quite sensible. T prescribed medicine for
him, and My, Palmer went up to my house and waited until I had made it
up, and then took it away. I prescribed a saline medicing, to be taken in an
effervescing state. Between seven and eight o’clock in the evening Mr.
Palmer again requested me to visit Mr. Cook. The sickness still continued.
everything being ejected which he took into his stomacl | rave him two

sadenillL

small pills as a slight opiate. Mr, Pammer took the pills from my house. I
did not accompany him, nor do I know what became of the pills. On the
following morning (Sunday) Mr. Palmer again called, and asked me to
accompany him. Mr. Cook’s sickness still continued. I remained about
ten minutes. Everything he took that morning was ejected from his
stomach. Everything he threw up was as clear as water, except some
coffee which he had taken. Mr. Palmer had administered some pills before
I saw Mr. Cook on Saturday, which had purged him several times. Be-
tween six and seven o'clock ‘in the evening I again visited the deceased,
accompanied by Mr. Palmer. The sickness still continued. I went on
Monday morning, between eu?ht.-:md- nine o'clock, and changed his medicine.
I.sent him a draught which relieved him from the sickness, and gave him ease.

I did not see him again until Tuesday night, when Mr. Palmer called for me
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I examined Mr. Cook in the presence of Mr. Jones and Mr. Palmer, and I
observed achange in him. He was irritable and troubled in his mind. His pulse
was firm, but tremulous, and between eizhty and ninety. He threw himself
down on the bed and turned his face away. He said he would have no more
pills nor take any more medicine. After they had left the room Mr. Palmer
asked me to make two more pills similar to those on the previous night,
which T did, and he then asked me to write the directionson a slip of paper ;
and I gave the pills to Mr, Palmer. The efferveseing mixture contained
twenty grains of carbonate of potash, two drachms of compound tincture of
cardamine, and two drachms of simple syrup, together with fifteen grains of
tartaric acid for each powder. I never gave Mr. Cook a grain of antimony.
I did not see the preparations after they were taken away by Mr, Palmer.
Mr. Cook did not say he had taken the pills which he had prepared, but he
expressed a wish on the Sunday and Monday nights to have the pills. His
skin was moist, and there was not the least fever about him. W en I saw
the deceased on Monday he did not say that he had been ill on the Sunday
night, but Mr. Palmer told me he had been ill. T considered death to have
been the result of congestion of the brain when the post-mortem examination
was, made, and I do not gee any reason to alter that opinion. I have at-
tended other patients for Mr, Palmer. T attended Mrys, Palmer some days
before her decease ; also two children, and a gentleman {rom London, who
was on a visit at Mr. Palmer's house, and who ?li{] not live many hours after
I was called in. The whole of those patients died. Mr. Palmer first made
an application to me for a certificate of Mr. Cook's death on the following
Sunday morning, when I objeeted, saying, “IHe is your patient.” 1 eannot
remember his reply ; but he wished me to fill up the certificate, and I did
0. We had no conversation at that time as to the cause of death—nothing
more than the opinion I have expressed. Mr. Palmer said he was of the
same opinion as myself with respect to the death of the deceased. I never
knew apoplexy produce rigidity of the limbs. Drowsiness is a prelude to
apoplexy. 1 attributed the sickness on the first two days to a disordered
stomach.  Mr. Cook never sent for me himself.

The examination of Dr. Todd by the Attorney-General was then pro-
ceeded with as follows : —Having heard the deposition of Dr. Bamford read,
I do not belicve that the deceased died from apoplexy or from epilepsy. I
never knew tetanus arise either from syphilitic sores or from sore throat.
There are poisons which will produce tetanic convulsions. The principal of
these poisons are nux vomica and those which contain as their active ingre-
dients strychnine and brucchia. Thave never seen human life destroyed by
strychnine, but I have seen animals destroyed by it frequently, The poison
is usnally given in a largish dose in those cases, s0 as to put an end to the
safferings and destroy life as soon as possible. T should not like to
give a Buman subject a quarter of a grain, I think that it is not unlikely
that half a grain might destroy life; and I believe that a grain certainly
would. T think that half a grain would kill a eat. The symptoms which
would ensue upon the administration of strychnine when given in solution—
and I believe that poisons of that nature act more rapidly in a state of solu-
tion than in any other form—would develo themselves in ten minutes after
it was taken, if the dose was a large one ; if not so large, they might be half
an hour or an hour before they appeared, Those symptoms would be tetanic
convulsions of the museles—more especially those of the spine and neck ; the
head and back would be bent back, and the trunk would be bowed in a
marked manner ; the extremities also would be stiffened and jerked out. The
stiffness, once set in, would never entirely disappear; but fresh paroxysms
would set in, and the jerking ri idity would reaapper, and death would
probably ensue ina quarter of an hour or so. The difference between tetanus
produced by strychnine and other tetanus is very marked. Inthe former case
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the duration of the symptoms is very short, and, instead of being continuous
in their development, they will subside if the dose has not been strong
enough to produce death, and will be renewed in fresh paroxysms; whereas
in other descriptions of tetanus the symptoms commence in a mild
form, and become stronger and more violent as the disease progresses. The
difficulty experienced in breathing is common alike to tetanus properly so
called, and to tetanic convulsions occasioned by strychnine, arising from the
pressure upon the respiratory muscles. I think it is remarkable that the
deceased was able to swallow, and that there was no fixing of the jaw, which
would have been the case with tetanus proper, resulting either from a wound
or from disease. From all the evidence I have heard, I think that the
symptoms which presented themselves in the case of Mr. Cook arose from
tetanus produced by strychnine.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove, Q.C.—There are cases sloping into each
other, as it were, of every grade and degree, from mild convulsions to violent
tetanie spasms. I have published some lectures upon diseases of the brain,
and I adhere to the opinion there expressed that the state of a person
suffering from tetanus is identical with that which strychnine is capable of
producing. In a pathological point of view, an examination of the spinal
cord shortly after death, in investigating snpposed deaths from strychnine, is
important. The signs of decomposition, however, could be easily distinguished
from the evidences of disease which existed previously to death; but it would
be difficult to distinguish in such a ease whether mere softening resulted
from decomposition or from pre-existing disease. There is nothing in the
post-mortem examination which leads me to think that deceased died from
tetanus proper. I think that granules upon the spinal cord, such as I have
heard described, would not be likely to cause tetanus. I have not heard of
cases treated by Mr. Travers. In animals to which strychnine has been
administered I cannot say that I have observed what you call an intolerance
of touch; but by touching them the spasms are apt to be excited. That
sensibility to touch continues as long H.FistI;'IE operation of the poison continues,
I have examined the interior of animals that have been killed by strychnine;
but I have not observed in such cases that the right side of the heart was
usually full of blood. It is some years since I made such an examination :
but T am able, nevertheless, to speak positively as to the state of the heart.
It was usually empty on hoth sides. I do not agree with Dr. Taylor, or
other authorities, in the opinion that in ecases of tetanus animals died
asphyxiated. If they did, we should invariably have the right side of the
heart full of blood, which is not the case. T think that the term asphyxiated, or
suffocated, is often very loosely used. I know from my reading that morphia
sometimes produces convulsions; but I believe that they wounld be of an
epileptic character. I think that the symptoms from morphia would be
longer deferred in making their appearance than from strychnine; but I
cannot speak positively on the point. Morphia, like strychnine, is a vegetable
poison. T have not observed in animals the jaw fixed after the administration
of strychnine.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General—Whatever may be the true
theory as to the emptiness of the heart after strychnine, I should say that
the heart is more ordinarily empty than filled after tetanus. I think that the
heart would be more contracted after strychnine than in ordinary tetanus.
I do not believe that a medical practitioner would have any diffieulty in
distinguishing between ordinary convulsions and tetanic convulsions. I have
heard the evidence of the géntlemen who made the post-mortem examination,
and I apprehend that there was nothing to prevent the discovery of disease
in the spinal cord had any existed previously to death.

Sir Benjamin Brodie, examined by Mr. James, Q.C.—I have been for
many years senior surgeon to St. George’s Hospital, and have had consider-
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able experience as a surgeon. In the course of my practice I have had under
my care many cases of death from tetanus. Death from ldm;:tf.l:hm tetanus
is, according to my experience, very rare in this country. The ordinary
tetanus in this country is traumatic tetanus. I have heard the symptoms
which accompanied the death of Mr. Cook, and I am of opinion that so far
as there was a general contraction of the muscles they resembled those of
traumatic tetanus ; but, as to the course those symptoms took, they were
entirely different. I have attended to the detailed description of the attack
suffered by Mr. Cook on the Monday night, its ceasing on Tuesday, and its
renewal on the Tuesday night. The symptoms of trammatic tetanus always
begin, so far as I have scen, very gradually, the stiffness of the lower jaw
being, I believe, invariably, the symptom first complained of—at least, so it
has been in my experience. The contraction of the muscles of the back is
always a later symptom—generally much later. The muscles of the extre-
mities are affected in a much less degree than those of the neck and trunk,
except in some cases where the injury has been in a limb, and an early
symptom has been spasmodic-contraction of the museles of that limb. I do
not myself recollect a case of ordinary tetanus in which occurred that con-
traction in the muscles of the hand which I understand was stated to have
taken place in this instance. Again, ordinary tetanus. rarely runs its course
in less than two or three days, and often is protracted to a much longer
pericd. I knew one case only in which the disease was said to have termi-
nated in so short a time as twelve hours ; but probably in that case the early
symptoms had been overlooked. Again, I never knew the symptoms of
ordinary tetanus to last for a few minutes, then subside, and then come on
again after twenty-four hours. I think that these are the principal points of
difference which I perceived between the symptoms of ordinary tetanus and
those which I have heard described in this case. I have net witnessed tetanic
convulsions from strvchnine on animal life. I do not believe that death in
the case of Mr. Cook arose from what we ordinarily call tetanus—either idio-
pathic or traumatic. I never knew tetanus result {from sore throat, or from a
chancre, or from any other form of syphilitic disease. The symptoms were
not the result either of apoplexy or of epilepsy. Perhaps I had better say at
once that I never saw a case in which the symptoms that I have heard de-
scribed here rose from any disease. (Sensation.) When I say that, of course
I refer not to particular symptoms, but to the general course which the
symptoms took.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I believe I remember one case in
the physician's ward of St. George’s Hospital, which was shown to me as a
case of idiopathic tetanus, but I doubted whether it was tetanus at all. It
was a slight case, and I do not remember the particulars,

Considering how rare cases of tetanus are, do you think that the deserip-
tion given by a chambermaid and a provineial medical man, who had never
seen but one case; is sufficient to enable you to form an opinion as to
the nature of the case >—I must say I thought that the description was very
clearly given. :

Supposing that they differed in their description, which would you rely
upon—the medical man or the chambermaid ?

Baron Alderson.—That is hardly a question to put to a medical witness,
although it may be a very proper observation for you to make.

ross-examination continued.—I never knew syphilitic peison produce
ttiteatllli:ﬁanuvulsmna, except in cases where there was disease of the bones of

(Sir Benjamin Brodie gave his evidence with great clearness—slowly,
audibly, and distinetly—matters in which other medical witnesses would 1{0
well to emulate so distingunished an example, )

Dr. Daniell, examined by the Attorney-General.—I was for many years
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Surgeon to the British Hospital, but have been out of practice for some
time. In the course of a long practice I thould think that I have seen at
least thirty cases of tetanus. Two of those were certainly cases of idiopathie
tetanus; one of them terminated fatally, the other did not. T quite agree
with the other medical witnesses that idiopathic tetanusis of a very rare oe-
currence in this country. The only difference in the symptoms between
idiopathic and trawmatic tetanus that I perceived was, that the former were
more modified—not so severe—in their character. I was not able to trace
these two cases of idiopathic tetanus to any particular cause. I have heard
the description given of the symptoms which accompanied the attack upon
Mr. Cook before bis death, and it appears to me that the eircumstances of
that attack are assuredly distinguishable from those which came under my
experience in dealing with cases of tetanus. The evidence of Sir B. Brodie
quite expresses my opinion with respect to the difference of the symptoms
between ordinary tetanus and tetanic convulsions produced by strychmine.
Tetanus beginswith uneasiness in the lower jaw, followed by spasms of the
muscles of the trunk, and most frequently extending to the muscles of the
limbs. Lock-jaw is almost invariably a symptom of those cases of tetanus—
of traumatic tetanus especially. I do not recollect that clinching of the
hands is a usual symptom of ordinary tetanus, nor do I remember any twist-
ing of the foot. I do not believe that any of the cases which came under
my experience endured for a shorter time than from thirty to forty hours. I
never-knew a case of syphilitic sore producing tetanus. The symptoms as they
have been described eertainly cannot be referable toapoplexy orepilepsy. Inever
Ireard of such a thing, In all the cases of tetanus which came under m]y
observation conscionsness has been retained to the last, thronghout the whole
~disease.  The symptoms have never set in in their full power from the
commenc¢ement, but have invariably commenced in a milder form and have
then gone on increasing, being continuous in their character and without
intermission. In my judgment the symptoms in the case of Mr. Cook eould
not be referred either to idiopathic or traumatic tetanus.

Cross-examined by Mr. Cffuve, Q.C.—I have not read Dr. Curling's or
Dr. Copeland’s books on the subject of tetanus; nor have I of late studied
much the reported cases. 1 am not aware that excitement or irritation from
vomiting has ever been given as the canse of tetanus. The main symptoms
of tetanus are, in my opinion, always very similar, although the inferior
symptoms may vary simply. I cannot undertake to say that the convulsions
of tetanus arise from the spine, I do not like the term * asphyxia,” but I
think that death from tetanic convulsions may probably arise from suffoeation.
It is many years since I saw a post-mortem upon a case of tetanus. I cannot
say whether in the case of death from suffocation the heart would be full of
blood or the reverse. An examination of the spinal cord or marrow never,
so far as I know, afforded evidence of the cause to which the tetanus was to
be attributed. ,

Mr. Samuel Solly, surgeon of St. Thomas's Hospital, examined by Mr,
Welshy.—I have been eonnected with St. Thomas's Hospital as lecturer and
surgeon for twenty-eight years, and during that time I have seen many cases
of tetanus. I have Ead six or seven under my own care, and I may have
seen ten or fifteen more. Of those cases it was doubtful in one whether the
disease was idiopathic or traumatic—the wound was so slight and the
symptoms so obscure that it was difficult to decide which it was. The others
were all decidedly traumatic cases. The shortest period that I recollect
during which the disease lasted before it terminated in death was 30 hours.
The disease was always progressive in its character. I have heard the de-
seription given by the witnesses of Mr. Cook’s attacks, and they differ essen-
tially from those cases which I have seen. In my experience of tetanus there
has always been a marked expression of countenance as the first symptom.
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Tt is a sort of grin, and is so pecaliar that havin? once seen it you ean never
mistake it. In the symptoms that I heard detailed with regard to Mr. Cook
there were violent convulsions on Monday night, and on the Tuesday the
individual was entirely free from any discomfort about the face or jaw;
whereas in the cases under my notice the disease was always continuous, and
the fixedness of the jaw was the last symptom to disappear. In my judg-
ment the symptoms detaiied in Mr. Cook's case are referable neither to apo-
plexy, epilepsy, nor to any disease that I have ever witnessed.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The sort of grin which I have
deseribed is known as risus sardonicus. It is not common to all convulsions.
Epilepsy is a disease of a convulsive character. I heard the account given
by Mr. Jones of the last few minutes of Mr. Cook’s death—that he uttered a
piercing shrick, and died after five or six minutes quietly. That last shriek
and the paroxysm which accompanied it bear in some respeets a resemblance
to epilepsy. All convulsions which may be designated as of an epileptic
character are not attended with an utter want of consciousness. Death from
tetanns accompanied with convulsions seldom leaves any trace behind it ;
but death from convulsions arising from epilepsy does leave its trace in
the shape of a slight effusion of blond on the brain, and a congestion of
the vessels. "

Re-examined by the Attorney-General. —The convulsions of epilepsy are
accompanied by a variety of symptoms. When a patient dies of epilepsy he
dies perfectly unconscions of comatose. I never saw any case of convulsive
disease at all like this. There are cases of convulsive disease which are
similar to tetanus in their onset, but not in their progress. For example,
laceration of the brain, a sudden injury to the spinal cord, and the irritation
from teething in infants will produce convulsions resulting in death; but
there would be wanting the marked expression of the face which I have
deseribed, and which T have never missed in cases of tetanus.

Mr. Henry Lee, surgeon to King's College, and to the Lock Hospital,
examined by Mr. Bodkin.—The Lock Hospital is exclusively devoted to
cases of a syphilitic character, and at present I see probably as many as
three thousand of those cases in the course of a year. I have never known
an instance of that disease terminating in tetanus.

By the Court.—I have never seen or read of a case either of primary or
secondary symptoms resulting in tetanus.

This witness was not eross-examined.

Dr. Henry Corbett, physician, of Glasgow, examined by Mr. James, Q.C.—
In September, 18435, I was medical ¢lerk at the Glasgow Infirmary, and
remember a patient, named Agnes Sennett, alics Agnes French, who died
there on the 27th of September, 1845. It was stated that she had taken
strychnine pills which had been prepared for another patient in the ward, and
the symptoms which accompanied her death were those of strychnine. ' The
pills were for a paralytic patient. I saw her when she was under the influ-
ence of the poison, and 1 had seen her the day before that perfectly well.
She had been admitted for askin disease of the head.  When I saw her after
she had taken the poison she was in bed. The symptoms were these :—There
was a strong retraction of the mouth ; the face was much suffused and red ; the
pupils of the eye were dilated ; the head was bent back ; the spine was curved ;
and the museles were rigid and hard like a board ; the arms were stretched
out ; the hands were clinched ; and there were severe paroxysms recurring
every few seconds,  She died in about an hour and a-quarter after taking the
pills.  When T was called first the paroxysms did not last so long; but they
increased in severity. According to the preseription there should have been
a quarter of a grain of strychnine in each pill, and this woman had taken
three.  The paralytic patient was to have taken a pill each night, or oneeach
night and morning, I forget which.
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Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The retraction of the mouth was
continuous, but it was worseat times. I do not think that I observed it after
death. The hands were not clinched after death—they were * semi-bent.”
She died an hour and a-quarter after taking the medicine. The symptoms
appeared about twenty minutes after. I tried to make her vomit with a
feather, but failed. She only vomited partially after I had given her an
emetic.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General. —There was spasmodic action and
erinding of the teeth. She could open her mouth and swallow. There was
no lock-jaw or ordinary tetanus,

By Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I do not recollect that touching her sent her into
paroxysms.

Dr. Watson, examined by the Attorney-General.—I am a surgeon at the
Glasgow Infirmary. I remember the case of Agnes Sennett. T was called in
about a quarter of an hour after she was taken ill. She was in violent con-
vulsions, and her arms were stretched out and rigid. The muscles of the
body were also rigid ; they were kept quiet by rigidity. She did not breathe,
the muscles being kept still by tetanie rigidity. That paroxysm subsided, and
fresh paroxysms eame on after a short interval. She died in about half an
hour. She seemed perfeetly conscious. I don't recollect the state of her
hands. Her body was opened. The heart was found distended and stiff.
The cavities of the heart were empty. My father published an account of the
case.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove. The spinal cord was quite healthy.

Dr. J. Patterson, examined by Mr. W'{:}Jshy.—ln 1845 I was engaged in the
laboratory of the Infirmary at Glasgow. 1 dispensed the prescriptions. I
made up a prescription for a paralytic patient named M'Intyre. It consisted
of pills which contained strychnine. There were four pills and one grain of
strychnine in the four.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—Was any noise made about their being taken by a
wrong person ?—Yes.

Mary IKelly, examined by Mr. Bodkin.—In September, 1845, T was a
patient in the Glasgow Infirmary ; a paralytic patient was in the same ward
and I attended to her. There was also a patient named French or Sennett
who was suffering from a sore head. She died. I was turning a wheel near
the paralytic patient on the afterncon of the day Sennett died, for the pur-
pose of applymg something to her skin. There were some pills which she
was to take near her. The paralytic woman took one and swallowed it,
according to the orders that had been given, and then handed the box to the
girl with the sore head. The girl swallowed two of the pills, and then went
and sat by the ward fire. She was taken ill in about three-quarters of an
hour. She fell back on the floor, and 1 went for the nurse. We took her
to bed and sent for the doctor. We were obliged to cut her clothes off be-
cause she never moved. She was like a poker. I was by her side when she
died. She never spoke after she fell down.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—It was three quarters of an hour
from the time she took the pills till she was taken to the bed.

Caroline Hickson examined by Mr. E. James.—In October, 1848, 1 was
nurse and lady’s-maid in the family of Mr. Sarjantson Smyth. The family
were then residing about two miles from Romsey. On the 30th of October
Mrs. Smyth was unwell. We dealt with Mr. Jones, a druggist in Romsey.
A prescription had been sent to him to be made up for Mrs, Smyth. The
medicine was brought back about six in the afternoon. It was a mix-
ture in a bottle. My mistress took about half a wine glass of it the following
morning at five or ten minutes past seven. I left the roon when I had
given it her. Five or ten minutes afterwards I was alarmed by the ringing
of her bell. I went into her room, and found her out of bed leaning upon
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a chair in her night-dress. - Ithought she had fainted. "She appeared to suffer -
from what I thought were spasms. I ran and sent the coachman for Mr.
Taylor the surgeon, and returned to her. Some of the other sérvants were there
assisting her.  She was lying on the floor. She screamed loudly, and her
teeth were clinched. ' She asked to have her arms and legs held straight. I
took hold of her arms and legs, which were very much drawn up. She still
screamed, and was in great agony. She requested that water should be
thrown over her, and I threw some. Her feet were turned inwards. 1 put
a bottle of hot water to her feet, but that did not relax them. Shortly before
she died she said she felt easier. The last words she uttered were—* Turn
me over.” We did turn her over on the floor. She. died a very few minutes
after she had spoken those words. She died very quietly. She was quite
conscious, and knew me during the whole time, About an hour and a
quarter elapsed from the time I gave her the medicine till she died.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove.—She could not sit up from the time I
went up to her till she died. It was whea she was in a paroxysm that I
endeavoured to straighten her limbs. The eftect of cold water was to throw
her into a paroxysm. It was a continually recurring attack, lasting about
an hour or an hour and a quarter. Her teeth were clinched during the
whole time.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—The fit came on five or ten
minutes after I gave her the medicine. She was stiff all the time till within
a few minutes after her death. She was conscious all the while.

Mr. Francis Taylor, examined by Mr. Mr. Welshy.—I am a surgeon and
apothecary at Romsey. I attended Mrs. Sarjantson Smyth in 1848. I was
summoned to her house one morning soon after eight, and when I arrived I
found her dead. The body was on the floor, near the bed. The hands were
very much bent. The feet were contracted and turned inwards, The soles
of the feet were hollowed up and the toes contracted, apparently from recent
spasmodic action. The inner edge of each foot was turned up, There was
a remarkable rigidity about the limbs.

By Lord Campbell.—The body was warm.

Examination continued.—The eyelids were almost adherent to the eye-
balls. The druggist who made up the prescription was named Jones. I
made a post-mortem examination three days after the death. The contraction
of the feet continued, but it had gone off somewhat from the rest of the body.
I found no trace of disease in the body. The heart was contracted and per-
fectly empty, as were all the large arteries leading from it. T analysed the
medicine she had taken with another medical man. It contained o large
quantity of strychnine. It originally contained nine grains, and she had
taken one-third—three grains. I made a very casual examination of the
stomach and bowels, as we had plenty of proof that poison had been taken
without making use of tests.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—In cases of death from ordinary

causes the body is much distorted. It does not generally, I should thinlk,
remain in the same position after death. ‘
If the body is not laid out immediately, is it not stiffened by the rigor
mortis —Probably it is. The ankles were tied by a bandage to keep them
together. I commenced to open the body at the thorax and abdomen. - The
head was also opened.

Charles Blocksome, examined by Mr. Huddleston.—I was apprentice to
Mr. J ones, the chymist, at Romsey, in 1848. My master made a mistake in
preparing a prescription for Mrs, Smyth. The mistake was the substitution
of strychnine for salacite (bark of willow). He destroyed himself
afterwards. : it

Jane Witham examined by Mr. E. James.—In March last T wasin attend-
ance upon a lady who died.  (The learned counsel told the witness that she
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had better not mention the lady’s name.) She took some medicine, After
she took it she became 11l. She complained first of her back. Her head was
thrown back, her body stretched out, and I observed twitchings. Her eyes
were drawn aside and staring. [ put my hands npon her limbs, which did
not at all relax. She first complained of being ill in that way on Monday,
the 25th of February, and died on Saturday, the 1st of March. She had
attacks on the Monday, on the Wednesday, on the Thursday, on the Friday
(a very slight one), and at a-quarter past eight on the Saturday morning.
She died about twenty minutes to cleven that night. Between the attacks she
was composed. She principally complained of prickings in the lers and
twitchings in the muscles and in the hands, which she said she could compare
to nothing else than a galvanic shock. She wished her husband to rub her
legs and arms. She was dead when Dr. Morley came.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—On the Saturday night she could
not bear to have her legs touched when the spasms were strong upon her. Her
limbs were rigidly extended when she asked to be rubbed. That was in the
intervals between the spasms. Touching her then brought on the spasms.
Her body was stiff immediately after death, but 1 did not stay long in the
house. On the Saturday she was sensible from half-an-hour to an hour,
from a quarter past eight till after nine. I suppose she was insensible the
remainder of the time. She did not speak.

Re-examined by Mr. E. James.—On the Saturday before she died the
symptoms were the same as on the other days—not more violent.

Mr. Morley, examined by Mr. Welsby.—I am a surgeon. 1 attended on
the lady to whom the last witness has alluded for about two months hefore
her death. On the Monday before she died she was in her bed apparently
comfortable, when I observed (as I stood by her side) several slight con-
vulsive twitchings of her arms. I sapposed they arose from hysteria, and
ordered medicine in consequence. The same symptoms were repeated on the
following Wednesday or Thursday. I saw %er on Saturday, the day she
died. Eﬁle was apparently better, and quite composed in the middle of the
day. She complained of an attack she had had in the night. She spoke of
pain and spasms in the back and neck, and of shocks. I andanothermedical
man were sent for hastily on the Saturday night. We were met by the
announcement that the lady was dead. On the Monday I accompanied
another medical gentleman to the post-mortem examination. We found no
disease in any part of the body which would account for death. There was
no emaciation, wound, or sore. There was a peculiar expression of anxiety
about the countenance. The hands were bent and the fingers curved. The
feet were strongly arched. We carefully examined the stomach and its con-
tents to see if we could find poison. We applied several tests—nitric acid,
chloride of sulphuric acid, bi-chloride of potash in a liguid and also in a
solid state. They are the best tests to detect the presence of strychnine. In
each case we found appearances characteristic of strychnine. We adminis-
tered the strychnine tn]icen from the stomach to animals by inoculation. We
gave it to a few mice, a few rabbits, and a gninea pig, having first separated it
by chemical analysis. We observed in each of the animals more or less of
tge effects produced by strychnine—namely, general uneasiness, difficult
breathing, convulsions of a tetanic 4«ind, muscular rigidity, arching back-
wards of the head and neck, violent stretching out of the legs. These
symptoms appeared in some of the animals in four or five minutes, in others
in less than an hour, The guinea pig suffered but slightly at first, and was
left, and found dead the next day. The symptoms were strongly marked in
the rabbits. After death there was an mterval of flaceidity, after which
rigidity commenced, more than if it had been occasioned by the usual rigor
mortis. I afterwards made numerous experiments on animals with exactly
similar results, the poison being administered in a fluid form.,
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Cross-examined by Mr, Grove.—I did not see the patient during a severe
attack. I have observed in animals that spasms are brought on by touch.
That is a very marked symptom. The spasm is like a l_]jalvnnic shock. The
patient was not at all insensible during the time I saw her, and she was able
to swallow, but I did not see her during a severe attack. After death we
found the lungs very much congested. There was a small quantity of bloody
serum in the pericardium. The muscles of the whole body were dark and
soft. There was a decided quantity of effusion in the brain. There was also
a quantity of serum tinged with blood in the membranes of the spinal cord. The
membranes of the spinal marrow were congested to a considerable extent. We
opened the head first, and there was a good deal of blood flowing out. Part
uF the blood may have flowed from the heart. That might partially empty
the heart, and would make it uncertain whether the heart was full or empty
at the time of death. I have often examined the bearts of animals poisoned
by strychnine. The right side of the heart is generally full. In some cases
I think that the symptoms did not appear for an hour after the administra-
tion of the poison. I have made the experiments in conjunction with Mr.
Nunneley. We have made experiments upon frogs, but they are different in
many respects from warm-blooded animals. T have in almost all cases found
the strychnine where it was known to have been administered. 1In one case
it was doubtful. We were sure the strychnine had been administered in that
case, but we doubted whether it had reached the stomach. There were ap-
pearances which might lead one to infer the presence of strychnine, but they
were not satisfactory. 1 have detected strychnine in the stomach nearly two
months after death, when decomposition has proceeded to a considerable
extent.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—From half a grain to a grain has
been administered to cats, rabbits, and dogs. From one to two grains is quite
sufficient to kill a dog,.

How does the strychnine act? Is it taken up by the absorbents and car-
ried into the system ?—1I think it acts upon the nerves, but a part may be
taken into the blood and act through the blood. We generally examine the
stomach of the animals when the poison had been administered internally.
Sometimes we examined the skin. The poison found in the stomach would
be in excess of that absorbed into the system.

Are you then of opinion that, a portion of the poison being taken into the
system and a portion being left in the stomach, the portion taken into the
system would produce tetanic symptoms and death ?

Mr. Sergeant Shee objected to a question which suggested a theory.

The Attorney-General.— What would be the operation of that portion of
the poison which is taken into the system ?—It would destroy life.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—And yet leave an excess in the stomach ?—That is
my opinion,

The Attorncy-General.—Would the excess remaining in the stomach
produce no effect ?—1 am not sure that strychnine could %ie in the stomach
without acting prejudicially.

Suppose that a minimum quantity is administered, which, being absorbed
into the system, destroys life, should you expeet to find any in the stomach ?
—1 should expect sometimes to fail in discovering it.

If death resulted from a series of minimum doses spread over several days,
would the appearance of the body be different from that of one whose death
had been caused by one dose #— lyshould connect the appearance of the body
with the final struggle of the last day.

Would you expect a different set of phenomena in cases where death had
taken place after a brief struggle, and in eases ‘where the struggle had been
protracted ?—Certainly. At the post-mortem examination of which I have
spoken we found fluid blood in the veins.
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Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Is it your theory that in the action of poisoning the
poison becomes absorbed and ceases to exist as poison?—I have thought
much upon that question, and have not formed a decided opinion, but I am
inclined to think that it is so. A part may be absorbed and a part remain in
the stomach unchanged.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—What chymical reason can you give for your opinion
that strychnine. after having effected the operation of poisoning, ceases to be
strychnineg in the blood ?—DMy opinion rests upgn the general principle that,
in acting upon living bodies, organie substances—such as food and medicine—
ar%fenemlly changed in their com position.

r. Serjeant Shee.—What are the component parts of strychnine ?

Mr. Baron Alderson.—You will findthat in any eyclopedia, brother Shee.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Have you any reason to hufireve that strychnine can
be decomposed by any sort of putrefying or fermenting process ?

Witness.—1I doubt whether it can.

Mr. Edward D. Moore examined by Mr. Huddleston.—About fifteen years
ago I was in practice as a surgeon, and I attended, with Dr. Chambers, a
gentleman named Clutterbuck, who was suffering from paralysis. We had
been giving him small doses of strychnine when he went to Brighton. On
his return he told us that he had been taking larger doses of strychnine, and
we, in consequence, gave hima stronger dose. I made up three draughts,
confaining a quarter of a grain each, He took one in iy presence. I re-
mained with him a little time, and left him as he said he felt quite comfort-
able. About three-quarters of an hour afterwards I was summoned to him.
I found him stiffened in every limb, and the head drawn back. He was de-
sirous that we should move and turn him and rub him. We tried to give
him ammonia in a spoon, and he snapped at the spoon. He was suffering, I
should say, more than three hours. Sedatives were given him. He sur-
vived the attack, He was conscious all the time,

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The spasms ceased in about three
hours, but the rigidity of the muscles remained till the next day. Iis hands
and feet at first were drawn back, and he was much easier when we clinched
them forwards. His paralysis was better after the attack.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—Strychnine stimulates the nerves,
which act upon the voluntary museles, and, therefore, acts beneficially in
cases of paralysis.

The Attorney-General intimated that the next witness to be called was
Dr. Taylor, and, as it was a quarter after five, the trial was adjourned until
Monday (this day) at ten u‘::(iuck.

Lord Campbell, before the jury left the box, exhorted them not to form
any opinion upon the case until they had heard both sides. They should
even abstain from conversing about it among themselves.

Mr. Serjeant Shee said that medical witnesses would be called for the
defence.

His Lordship also expressed a hope that, if the jury were taken out upon
the following day (Sunday), they would not be allowed to go to any place of
public resort, and mentioned an instance in which a jury, under similar cir-
cumstances, had been conducted to Epping Forest.

e The Court then rose, and the jury were conveyed to the London Coffee-
ouse,

No. 6.
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FIFTH DAY.

Tue eourt was again crowded long hefore the commencement of the pro-
ceedings this morning.  The Earl of Denbigh and Lord Lyttelton were
among the gentlemen who ocetpied seats npon Fhe bench. St

The jury ecame into court shortly before ten o’clock, and were soon
followed by Lord Camphell and Mr, .J;ust'icﬂ Cresswell, accompanied by the
Recorder, the Sheriffs and Under-Sheriffs, &e. Mr. Baron Alderson did not
take his seat until about two o'clock.

The prisoner was immediately placed at the bar. There was no altération
pereeptible in his countenance or demeanour, and he took notes of several
parts of Dr. Taylor's evidence.

The Attorney-General, Mr. E. James, Q.C., Mr. Welsby, Mr. Bodkin,
and Mr. Huddleston appeared for the Crown; Mr. Serjeant Shee, Mr. Grove,
Q.C., Mr. Gray, and Mr. Kenealy for the prisoner. ;

Dr. Alfred Swaine Taylor, examined by the Attorney-Genéral.—I am a
fellow of the College of Physicians, lecturer on medical jurisprudence at
Guy's Hospital, and the author of the well-known treatise on poisons and
on medical jurisprudence. I have made the poison called strychnia the
subject of my attention. It is the produece of the nux vomica, which
also contains brucchia, a poison ef an analogous charactér. Bruechia is
variously estimated at from onesixth to one-twelfth the strength
of stryehmia. Most varieties of impure strychnia that are “sold
contain more or less brucchia, Unless, therefore, you are certain as to the
purity of the article you may be miisled as'to its strength. I have performed
a variety of experiments with strychnia ‘on animal life. T have never wit-
nessed 1ts action on a human subject. T'have tried its effects upon animal
life—upon rabbits—in 10 or 12 instances. The symptoms are, on the whole,
very uniform, The quantity I have given has varied from half a grain to
two grains. Half a grain ‘is sufficient to destroy a rabbit. I have given it
both in a solid and liquid state. When given in a fluid state it produces its
effects in a very few minutes; when in a solid state, as a sort of pill or bolus,
in about six to eleven minutes. The time varies according to the strength of
the dose, and also to the strength of the animal. :

In what way does it operate, in your opinion ?—TIt is first absorbed into the
blood, then circulated through the body, and especially acts on the spinal
cord, from which proceed the nerves acting on the voluntary muscles.

Supposing the poison has been absorbed, what time would you give for the
circulating process?—The circulation of the blood through the whole system
is considered to take place about once in four minutes. The circulation in
animals is quicker. The absorption of the poison by rabbits is therefore
quicker. The time would also depend on the state of the stomach,—whether
it contained much food or not, whether the poison came into immediate con-
tact with the inner surface of the stomach.

In your opinion, does the poison act immediately on the nervous system,
or must it first be absorbed P—1It must first be absorbed.

The symptoms, you say, are uniform. Will you deseribe them.—The
animal for about five or six minutes does not appear to suffer, but moves
about gently ; when the poison begins to act it suddenly falls on its side ;
there is a trembling, a quivering motion of the whole of the muscles of the
body, arising from the poison producing violent and involuntary contraction.
There is then a sudden paroxysm or fit, the fore legsand the hind legs are
stretehed out, the head and the tail are drawn back in the form of a bow,
the jaws are spasmodically closed, the eyes are prominent ; after a short time
there is a slight remission of the symptoms, and the animal appears to lie
quiet, but the slightest noise or tcuch reproduces another convulsive
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paroxysm ; sometimes there is a scream, or a sort of shriek, as if the animal
suffered from pain; the heart heats violently during the fit, and after a
succession of these fits the animal dies quietly. Sometimes, however, the
animal dies during a spasm, and I only know that death has oceurred from
holding my hand over the heart. The appearances after death differ. In
some instances the rigidity continues. In one case the muscles were so
strongly contracted for a week afterwards, that it was possible to hold the
body by its hind legs stretched out horizontally. Tn an animal killed the
other day the body was flaccid at the time of death, but became rigid about
five minutes afterwards. I have opened the bodies of animals thus
destroyed.

Could you detect any injury in the stomach ?— No. I have found in some
cases congestion of the membranes of the spinal cord to a greater extent than
would be accounted for by the gravitation of the blocd. In other cases I
have found no departure from the ordinary state of the spinal cord and the
brain. I ascribe congestion to the succession of fits before death. In a
majority of instances, three out of five, I found no change in the abnormal
condition of the spine. In all cases the heart has been congested, especially
the right side. I saw a case of ordinary tetanus in the human subject years

0, but I have not had much experience of such cases. I saw one case last

ursday week at St. Bartholomew's Hospital. The patient recovered.

You have heard the deseription given by the witnesses of the symptoms
and appearances which accompanied Cook’s attacks ?—1I have.

Were those symptoms and appearances the same as those you have ob-
served in the animals to which you administered strychnine ?—They were.
Death has taken place in the animals more rapidly when the poison has been
administered in a fluid than in a solid form. They have dicd at various
Feriﬂds after the administration of the poison. The experiments I bave per-
ormed lately have been entirely in reference to solid strychunine. In'the first
case the symptoms began in seven minutes, and the animal died (including
those seven) in thirteen minutes. In the second case the symptoms appeared
in nine minutes, and the animal died in seventeen. In the third case the
symptoms appeared in ten minutes, and the animal died in eighteen. In the
fourth case the symptoms appeared in five minutes, and death took place
in twenty-two. In the fifth case the symptoms appeared in twelve minutes,
and death occurred in twcnt{-thren. If the poison were taken by the human
subject in pills it would take a longer time to act, because the structure
of the pill must be broken up in order to bring the poison in contact with
the _l;;umus membrane of the stomach. I have administered it to rabbits
in pills.

Would poison given in pills take a longer period to operate on a human
subject than on a rabbit #—I do not think we can draw any inference from a
comparison of the rapidity of death in a human subject and in a rabbit.
The circulation and absorption are different in the two cases. There is
also a difference between one human subject and another. The strength
of the dose, too, would make a difference, as a large dose would pro-
duce a more rapid effect than a small one. T have experimented uFm
the intestines of animals, in order to reproduce the strychnia. The
process consists in putting the stomach and its contents in alcohol,
with a small quantity of acid, which dissolves the strychnia, and

produces sulphate of strychnia in the stomach. The liquid is then

ltered, gently evaporated, and an alkali added—ecarbonate of potash, which,
mixed with 2 small quantity of sulphuric acid, precipitates the strychnia.
Tests are applied to the strychnia, or supposed strychnia, when extracted.
Strychnia has a peculiar strongly bitter taste. Tt is not soluble in water,
but it is in acids and in alcohol. The colouring tests are apgliﬂﬂ to the dry

: ; & :
residue after evaporation. Change of colour iz produced by a mixture of
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sulphuric acid and bi-chromate of potash. It produces a blue colour,
changing to violet and purple, and passing to red; but colouring tests are
very fallacious, with this exception—when we have strychnine separated in
its crystallised state we can recognise the erystals by their form and their
chymical properties, and, above all, by the production of tetanic symptoms
and death when administered through a wound in the skin of animals.

Are there other vegetable substances from which, if these colouring tests
~ were applied, similar colours would be obtained ?—There are a variety of
mixtures which produce similar colours. One of them has also a bitter
taste like strvehnia. Vegetable poisons are more difficult of detection by
chymical process than mineral poisons; the tests are far more fallacious. I
have endeayoured to-discovzr the presence of strychnine in animals I have
poisoned in four cases, assisted by Dr. Rees. I have applied the process
which I first described. I have then applied the tests of colouring and of
taste.

Were you able to satisfy yourself of the presence of strychnia?—In one
ease I discovered some by the eolour test. In a second case there was a bitter
taste, but no other indication of strychnia. In the other two cases there were
10 indications at all of strychnia. In the case where it was discovered by
a colour test, two grains had been administered; and in the second case,
where there was a bitter taste, one grain. In one of the cases where we
failed to deteet it one grain, and in the other, half a erain had been given.

How do you account for the absence of any indication of strychnia
in cases where you know it was administered P—"It is absorbed into the
blood, and is no longer in the stomach. Tt is in a great part changed in
the blood.

How do you account for its presence when administered in large doses ?
— There is a retension of some in excess of what is required for the de-
struction of life.

Supposing a minimum dose, which will destroy life, has been given, could
you find any ?—No. Tt is taken up by absorption and is no longer discover-
“ble in the stomach. The smallest quantity by which I have destroyed the
life of an animal is half a grain. There is no process with which 1 am ae-
quainted by which it can be discovered in the tissue. As far as I know, a
small quantity cannot be discovered.

Suppose half a grain to be absorbed into the blood, what proportion does it
bear to the total quantity of blood circulated in the system ?— Assuming the
system to contain the lowest quantity of blood, 25 1b., it would be 1-50th of a
grain to a pound of blood. A physician once died from a dose of half a grain
in twenty minutes. [ believe it undergoes some partial change in the
hlood, which increases the difficulty of discovering it. I never heard of its
heing separated from the tissues in a crystallised state. The erystals
are peculiar in form, but there are other organic erystallised substances like
them, so that a chymist will not rely on the form only. Adfter the post-
mortem examination of Cook a portion of the stomach was sent to me. It
was delivered to me by Mr. Boycott in a_brown stone jar, covered with
bladder, tied and sealed. The jar contained the stomach and the intestines.
I have experimented upon them with a view to ascertain if there was any
poison present.

What poisons did you seek for in the first instance ?— Various,— prussic
acid, oxalic acid, morphia, strychnia, veratria, tobacco poison, hemlock,
arsenic, antimony, mereury, and other mineral poisons.

Did you find any of them >—We only found small traces of antimony.

- Were the parts upon which you had to operate in your search for strychnia
in a favourable condition *—The most un avourable that could possibly be.
The stomach had been completely eut from end to end, all the contents were
gone, and the fine mucous surface, on which any poison, if present, woulc.
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have been found, was Iying in contact with the outside of the intestines—all
thrown together. The inside of the stomach was lying in the mass of intestinal
feculent matter.

That was the fault or misfortune of the person who dissected ?—1I presume
it was ; but it seemed to have been shaken about in every possible way in the
Journey to London. The contents of the intestines were there, but not the
contents of the stomach, in which and on the mucous membrane I should
have expected to find poison By my own request other portions of the body
were sent up to me,—namely, the spleen, the two kidneys, and a small bottle
of blood. They were delivered to me by Mr. Boycott. We had no idea whenee
the blood had been taken. We analysed all. We searched in the liver and one
of the kidneys for mineral poison. Bach part of the liver, one kidney, and the
*sEI-aen all yielded antimony. The quantity was less in proportion in the spleen
thanin the other parts. It was reproduced, or Lrought out, by boiling the animal
substance in_a mixture of hydrochloric acid and water. Gall and copper
water were also introduced, and the antimony was found deposited on the
copper. We applied various tests to it—those of Professor Brandt, of Dr.
Rees, and others. I detected some antimony in the blood. 1t is impossible
to say with precision how recently it had been administered; but I should
say within some days. The lm:%ﬂ:st period at which antimony can be found
in the blood after death is eight days; the earliest period at which it has
been found after death, within my own knowledge, is eighteen hours. A boy
died within eighteen hours after taking it; and it was found in the liver.,
Antimony is vsually given in the form of tartar emetic ; it acts as an irritant,
and pmcﬁ:ms vomiting.  If given in repeated doses a portion would find its
way into the blood and the system beyond what was ejected. If it continued
to be given after it had produced certain symptoms it would destroy life. 1t
may, however, be given with impunity.” I heard the account given by the
female servants of the frequent vomiting of Mr. Cook, both at Rugelev and
at Shrewsbury, and also the evidence of Mr. Gibson and Mr. Jones as to the
predominant symptoms in his case. Vomitings produced by antimony would
cause those symptoms. If given in small quantities sufficient to cause
vomiting it would not affect the colour of the liguid in which it was mixed,
whether brandy, wine, broth, or water. It is impossible to form an exact
judgment as to the time when the antimony was administered, but it must
'}Jaw: been within two or three weeksat the outside before death. There was
no evidence that any had been given within some hours of death. It might
leave a sensation in the throat—a choking sensation—if a large quantity was
takenat once. I found no trace of mercury during the analysis. Ifa few grains
had been taken recently before death I should have expected to find some trace.
If a man had taken mercury for a syphilitic affection within two or three weeks
I should have expected to find it. Itis yery slow in passing out of the body. As
small a quantity as three or four grains might leave some trace. I recolleet
a case in which three grains of calomel were given three or four hours
before death, and traces of mercury were found. Half a arain three or four
days before death, if fayourably given, and not vomited, would, I should
expeet, leave a trace. Oue gram would certainly do so. 1 heard the
evidence as to the death of Mrs. Smyth, Agnes French and the other lady
mentioned, and also as to the attack of Clutterbuck.

From your own experience in reference to strychnine do you coincide in
opinion with the other witnesses, that the deaths in those cases were caused
by strychnine ?—Yes.

Did the symptoms in Cook’s case appear to be of a similar character to the
symptoms in those cases ?—They did.

As a professor of medical seience, do you know any cause in the range of
human disease except strychnine to which the symptoms in Cook's case can
be referred ?—I do not.
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Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I mean by the word “ trace o
very small quantity, which can hardly be estimated by wei_ght. I do mot
apply it in the sense of an imponderable quantity. In chymical language it
is frequently used in that sense. An infinitesimal quantity would be ca led
«g trace.” The quantity of antimony that we discovered in all parts of the
body would make up about bhalf a grain. We did not ascertain that there
was that quantity, but I will undertake to say that we extracted as much as
half a grain. That quantity would not be sufficient to cause death. Only
apsenic or antimony could have been deposited, under the circumstances, on
the copper, and no sublimate of arsenic was obtained. [The witness, in reply
to a further question, detailed the elaborate test which he had applied to the
deposit, in order to ascertain that it consisted of antimony. ]

];Vuulda mistake in any one of the processes you have deseribed, or a
defect in any of the materials you have used, defeat the object of the test P—
It would, but all the materials I used were pure. Such an accident could
not have happened without my having some intimation of it in the course of
the process. I should think antimony would operate more quick]}y upon
animals than upon men. I am acquainted with the works of Orfila. He
stood in the highest rank of analytical chymists.

Did not Orfila find antimony in a dog four months after injection ?—Yes;
but the animal had taken about forty-five grains.

Mr. Serjeant Shee called the attention of the witness to a passage in
Orfila’s work in reference to that case, to the effect that the antimony was
found accumulating in the bones, the liver contained a great deal, and the
tissnes a very little.

Witness.— Yes; when antimony has been long in the body it passes into
the bones; but I think you will find that these are not Orfila’s experiments.
Orfila is quoting the experiments of another person.

But is not that the case with nearly all the experiments referred to in your
own book ?—No: I cannot say that.

Mr. Serjeant Shee again referred o a case in Orfila in which forty-five
grains were given to a dog, and three and a_half months after death a
quantity was found in the fat, and some in the liver, bones, and tissues.

Witness.—That shows that antimony gets into the bones and flesh, but I
never knew a case in which forty-five grains had been given, and I have
given no opinior upon such a case.

A pretty good dose is required to poison a person, I suppose #—That'de-
pends on the mode in which it is given A dog has been poisoned with six
grains. The dog died in the case you mentioned. When antimony is ad-
ministered as it was in that case the fiver becomes fatty and gristled. ~Cook’s
liver presented no appearance of the sort. I should infer that the aniimony
we found in Cook’s body was given much more recently than in the experi-
ments you have deseribed. We canmot say positively how long it takes to
oet out of the body, but I have known three grains cleared out in 24 hours
I was first applied to in this case on Thursday, the 27th of November, by
Mr. Stevens, who was introduced to me by Mr. Warrington, professor of
chymistry. Either then or subsequently he mentioned Mr. Gardiner. I had
not known Mr. Gardiner before. 1 haj’ never before been concerned in cases
of this kind at Rugeley. !

Mz, Serjeant Shee read the letter written by Dr. Taylor to Mr. Gardiner:—

“ Chymical Laboratory, Guy's Hospital, Dec. 4, 1835.
Re J. P. Cook, Esq., deceased.
“ Dear Sir,—Dr. Rees and 1 have completed the analysis to-day. We
have sketched a report, which will be ready to-morrow or next day.
¢ As I am going to Durham Assizes on the part of the Crown, in the case
of Reg. v. Wooler, the report will be in the hands of Dr. Rees, No. 26,
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Albemarle-strect. It will be most desirable that Mr. Stevens should eall on
Dr. Rees, read the report with him, and put such questions as may occur.

“In reply to your letter received here this morning I beg to say that we
wish a statement of all the medicines prescribed for deceased (until his death)
to be drawn up and sent to Dr. Rees.

“We do not find strychnine, prussic acid, or any trace of opium. From
the contents having been drained away it is now impossible to say whether
any strychnine had or had not been given just before death, but it is quite

ible for tartar emetic to destroy life if given in repeated doses; and, so
tar as we can at present forim an opinion, in the absence of any natural cause
of death; the deceased may have died from the effects of antimony in this or
some other form,
i “We are, dear Sir, yours faithfully,

“Avrren S. Tavrop.
#(F. Owen Regs.”

Was that your opinion at the time P—It was. We could infer nothing
else.

Have you not said that the quantity of antimony you found was not
sufficient to account for death P—Certainly. If a man takes antimony he
first vomits, and then a part of the antimony goés out of the body ; some
may escape from the bowels. A great deal passes at once into the blood by
absorption, and is carried ont by the urine.

you say upon your oath that from the traces in Cook’s body you were
justified in stating your opinion that death was caused by antimony ?—Yes ;
perfectly and distinctly, That which is found in a dead body 1s not the
slightest criterion as to what the man took when alive.

When you gave your opinion that Cook died from the effects of antimony,
had you any reason to think that an undue quantity had been administered ¥
—1I could not tell. People may dic from large or small quantities; the
quantity found in the body was no criterion as to how much he had taken.

May not the injudicious use of a quack medicine containing antimony, the
injudicions use of James's powders, account for the antimony you found in
the body #—Yes; the injudicious use of any antimonial medicine would ac-
count for it. !

Or even their judicious use >—It might.

With that knowledge, upon being consulted with regard to Cook, you gave
it as your opinion that he died from the poison of antimony ?—You pervert
my meaning entirely. 1 said that antimony in the form of tartar emetic
might occasion vomiting and other symptoms of irritation, and that in large
doses it would cause death, preceded by convulsions. (The witness was pro-
ceeding to read his report upon the case, but was stopped by the Court.) I
was told that the deceased was in good health seven or cizht days before his
death, and that he had been taken very sick and ill, and Tiad died in convul-
sions. No further particulars being given us we were left to suppose that he
had not died a natural death. There was no natural cause to account for
death, and finding antimony existing throughont the body we thought it
might have been caused by antimony.  An analysis cannot be made effectually
without information. :

You think it necessary before you can rely upon an analysis to have
reﬁt;igad a long statement of the symptoms before death ?—A short statement
will do.

You allow your juﬂiment to be influenced by the statement of a person
who knows nothing of his own knowledge ?—1I do not allow my judgment to
be influenced in any way ; I judge by the result.

‘Do you mean to say that what Mr. Stevens told you did not assist you in
arriving at the conclusion you state in writing ?—I stated # asa pussib{c case,
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—not as a certainty. If we had found a very large quantity of tartar emetic
in the stomach we should have come to the conclusion that the man had died
from it. As we found only a small quantity, we said he might have died
from it. I attended the coroner’s inquest on the body of Mr. Cook. I think
I first attended on the 14th of December. Some of the evidence was read
over to me. I think that Dr. Harland was the first witness I heard examined.
I heard Mr. Bamford examined, and also Lavinia Barnes. I cannotsay asto
Newton. I heard Jones. 1 had experimented some years ago on five of the
rabbits | have mentioned; that is about twenty-three vears ago. That is
the only knowledge of my own that I had of the effect of strychnia upon
animal life. I have a great objection to the sacrifice of life. No toxicolo-
aist will sacrifice the lives of a hundred rabbits to establish facts which he
knows to be already well established. I experimented upon the last rabbits
since the inquest.

Do not you think that is a very slight experiment ?—You must add to
experiment the study of poison and cases.

Do not you think that a rabbit is a very unfair animal to select P—No.

Would not a dog be much better ? Dogs are very dangerous to handle.
(A laugh.)

Do you mean to give that answer ?—Dogs and cats bear a greater analogy
to man because they vomit, while rabbits do not ; but rabbits are much more
manageable,

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—1I will take your answer that you are afraid of dogs.

Witness.—After the experiments I have tried with dogs and cats I have no
inclination to go on.

Do you admit that as to the action of the respiratory organs they would
be better than rabbits 7—1I do not.

As to the effect of the poison would they not ?—I think a rabbit is quite
as good as any animal. ?’l‘he poison is retained, and its operation is shown.
At the inquest I saw Mr. Gardiner. 1 suggested questions to the coroner.
Some of them he put to the witnesses, nngguthers they answered upon my
suggestion of them. Ten days before the inquest Mr. Gardiner informed me,
in his letter, that strychnia, Batley's solution, and prussic acid had been

urchased on the Tuesday ; that was why I used the expressions to which you
ave referred. We did not allow that information to have any influence
upon our report.

At the request of Mr. Serjeant Shee, the deposition of this witness taken
at the coroner’s inquest was read by the clerk of arraigns.

Cross-examination continued.—Having given my evidence I returned to
town, and soon afterwards heard that the prisoner bad been committed on a
charge of wilful murder.

And that His life depended in a great degree upon you?—No; I simpl)ll
gave an opinion as to t{w poison, not as to the prisoner’s case ; I knew that
should probably be examined as a witness upon his trial.

Do you think it your duty to abstain from all public discussion of the
question which might influence the public mind —Yes.

Did you write a letter to the Lancet #—Yes, to contradict several mis-
statements of my evidence which had been made.

This letter, which appeared in the Lancet of February 2, 1856, was put in
b{)j Mr. Serjeant Shee and read by the clerk of arraigns. The principal part
of the letter referred to the case of Mrs. Ann Palmer; the coneluding para-
graph, for which Mr. Serjeant Shee stated that he desired it should be read,
was as follows : —

“ During the quarter of a eentury which I have now specially devoted to
toxicologieal inquiries T have never met with any cases like these sus-
pected cases of poisoning at Rugeley. The mode in which they will affect the
person accused is of minor importance compared with their probable influence
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on society. I have no hesitation in saying that the future security of life in
this country will mainly depend on the judge, the jury, and the counsel who
may have to dispose of the charges of murder which have arisen out of these
investigations.”

Cross-examination continued.—That is my opinion now. It had been
stated that if strychnia caused death it could always be found, which I deny.
It had also been ecirculated in every newspaper that a person could not be
killed by tartar emetic, which 1 denIy, and which might have led to the
destruction of hundreds of lives. entertained no prejudice against the
prisoner. What I meant was that if these statements which I had seen in
medical and other periodicals were to have their way there was not a life in
the country which was safe.

Do you adhere to your opinion that * the mode in which they will affect
the person accused,” that is, lead him to the scaffold, * is of minor importance,
compared with their probable influence on society ?"—I have never sug-
chl;cd that they should lead him to the scaffold. I hope that, if innocent,
1e will be acquitted.

What do you mean by the mode in which they will affect the person
accused being of minor importance ?—The lives of 16,000,000 of people are,
in my opinion, of greater importance that that of one man.

That is your opinion ?—Yes. As you appear to put that as an objection
to my evidence, allow me to state that in two dead bodies I find antimony.
- In one case death occurred suddenly, and in the other the body was saturated
with antimony, which I never found before in the examination of 300 bodies.
I say these were circumstances which demanded explanation.

'5‘.}::-1.1 adhere to the opinion that, as a medical man and a member of an
honourable profession, you were right in publishing this letter before the trial
of the person accused ?—1I think Ihad a right to state that opinion in answer
to the comments which had been made upon my evidence.

Had any comments been made by the prisoner 7—No.

Or by any of his family P—Mr. Smith, the solicitor for the defence,
circulated in “every paper statements of “Dr. Taylor's inaccuracy.” I had
no wish or motive to charge the prisoner with this erime. My duty concerns
the lives of all. j

Do you know Mr. Augustus Mayhew, the editor of the Ilustrated Times e
—1I have seen him once or twice.

Did you allow pictures of yourself and Dr. Rees to be taken for publica-
tion P—Be so good as to call them caricatures. No; I did not.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—There may be a difference of opinion as to that. I
think it is very like. ]

Did you receive Mr. Mayhew at_your house?—He came to me with a
letter of introduction from Professor Faraday. I never received him in my
laboratory. ]

Did you know that he called in order that you might afford him informa-
tion for an article in the INustrated Times ?—1 swear solemnly I did not.
The publication of that article was the most disgraceful thing I ever knew.
I had never seen him before, nor did I know that he was the editor of the
Tllustrated Times.

On your oath P—On my oath. It was the greatest deception that was ever
practised on a scientific man. It was disgraceful. He called on me in com-
pany with another gentleman, with a letter from Professor Faraday.
I received him as I should Professor Faraday, and entered into con-
versation with him about these cases, He répresented, as I under-
stood, that he was connected with an insurance compauy, and wished
for information about a mnumber of cases poisoning which had occurred
during many years. After we had eonversed about an hour he asked if there
was any objection to the publication of these details. = Still believing him to
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be connected with an insurance office, 1 replied that,o far as the cor
of error was concerned, I should have no objections anything a
On that evening he went away without telling me tit he was Lo
the Jllustrated Times, or connected with any other pap. I did notk w th
until he ealléd upon me on Thursday morning, and sswed me the ar iele in
print. I remonstrated verbally with him. He ont showed me i . -
slip. I told him I ohjected to its publication, and swck out all t I saw
regarding these cases. He afterwards put the article o the shape in
it appeared. I eould not prevent his publishing theesults of oure vel
sation on points not connected with these cases. : gt
You did permit him to publish part of the slip: Nothing connected:
with the Rugeley cases. i 3 ‘Q
Did he show you the slip of “ Our interview with &. A. Taylor ¥"—Xido
not. remember seeing that. I will swear that, to thbest of my judgment
and belief, he did not. He showed me a slip containingart of what appear ﬁ
in that article. I struck out all which referred to 1o Rugeley cases. ]
thought I had been deceived. A person came with 4 etter of introduetic -
from a scientific man and extraeted information from 1. 'S
Why did you not tell your servant to show him the oor *—Until we had
had the conversation I did not know anything about te deception. It was
not until the Thursday morning that I knew he was conected with a paper.
He told me that it was an illustrated paper. ' dS
Did you correct what he showed you #—I struck onseme portions, [
And allowed the rest to be puhliagbﬂ P—1I said I badiothing to do with- ity
but I objected to its puieation, : ! !
Peremptorily >—No; “I said T do not like this nde of putting the
matter. T ‘cannot, however, interfere with what ou put into your
I..i":]'.llr,l.‘all'll B 8 s
Did you not protest as a gentleman, a man of heour, and a medical
man that it was wrong and objectionable to do it *-I told him that Ea
ohjected to the parts which referred to the Rugeleyases. It was most
dishonourable. ; 19
Did you not know that in the month of February asinterview with Dy,
Taylor, on the subject of poison much be taken to app’ to those cases <
did not think an thing abont it. T thought it wasa grit cheat to extract

from me that information, Mr. Mayhew was with me aout twentv minut

or half an hour on the Thursday morning. T remonstratd with him, 1 23

not angry with him in the sense of quarrelling. et

Did you allow him to publish this :—% Dr. Taylor lre requests ‘to state

that, although the practice of secret poisoning appeart to be on ‘theins

erease, it should always be remembered that by anil{ljya.f the chemist could
}."l i

ya g S

always detect the presence of poison in the b

~—I did not :
quest him to state anything of the kind. I do not remaber whether ﬁ& =
was on the slip. Had I seen it I should have struck ‘out. T remember
seeing on the B'-Ii]_.'l-_. * And that when analysis fails, as incases where small
doses of strychnia had been administered, physioloy and pathology
mm 1n1raf-i3}:113 suﬂ%]mekm iniatablish lthe cause of death T did not strike
at out. 1d not think of it circulating among the chs of versons from.
whomn jurors would be selected. I-thsil:kg : - g that
chymical analyses are not the only tests on which the an rely, Fdon't
remember the passage—* Murder by poison could be de readily as
murder in any other form, while the difficulty of detectiz and convicting
the murderer was felt in other cases as well as in those here poison was
employed.” The article has been very much altered. Ttyasa wgnee%
thing. T have not seen Mr. Mayhew since. Seeing n thie Times | 4
tﬂgﬁﬂlﬂ&m Etan;:;g th:s this iufu:{mztihn had ‘been giviby me, T- %
anding its withdrawal, and that s comlied with, That
was on the Thursgday or Frid;?}’ el ol
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Did yu say to a gentleman named Cook Evans, that you would give them
strychn enough before they had done, or words to that effect ?—No; I do
not kno the person.

Or tany one ¥—No. Tnever used any expression so vulgar and improper.

You hae been greatly misinstructed,
- Or, e will have strychnia enough before T have done with him ?"—Tt
is uttey false. The person who suggested that gquestion to you, Mr.
Johnse, bas been guilty of other falsehoods. In the letter to Sir George
Grey al'on other occasions he has misrepresented my statements and
evident. ;

Whe did you do with the medical report to which yon referred *—Tt was
g prive letter from Dr. Harland to Mr. Stevens,

r. ustice Cresswell,—It was memoranda made by Dr. Harland at the
time.

Cro-examination continued.—Cook’s symptoms were quite in accordance
with a ordinary case of poisoning by strychnia.

Canou tell me of any case in which a patient, after being seized with
tetanisymptoms, sat up in bed and talked P—Tt was after he sat up that
Cook as seized with' those symptoms,

Cavou refer to a case in which a person who had taken strychnia beat the
bed wh his or her arms P—It is exactly what I should expect to arise from
a sen: of suffocation.

Do ou know any case in which the symptoms of poisoning hy strychnia
commneed with this beating of the bed-clothes ?—There have been only
aboutfifteen cases, and in none of those was the patient seized in bed.
Beatiz of the bed-clothes is a symptom which may be exhibited by a
perse suffering from a sense of suffocation, whether caused by strychnia or
otherauses. A ecase has been communicated to me by a friend, in which
the pient shook as though he had the ague.

}FSerjeant Shee objected to this last answer, but as the learned serjeant
had !en questioning the witness as to the results of his reading, '

T} Court ruled that the evidence was admissible.

Cs-examination continned.—I have known of no case of poisoning by
stryenia in which the patient screamed before he was seized. That is
compn in ordinary convulsions, In cases of poisoning by strychnia the
patict sereams when the spasms set in; the pain is very severe. I cannot
referto a case in which the patient has spoken freely after the paroxysms
had smmenced. : :

Cs you refer me to any case in an authentic publication in which the
acee of the strychnia paroxysm has been delayed so long after the in-

stn of the poison as in the case of Cook on the Tuesday night ?—

eslonger. In my book on medical jurisprudence, page 185 of the fifth
editn, it is stated that in a case communicated to the Lancet, August 31,
185 by Mr. Bennett, a grain and a half of strychnia taken IH mistalce
desbiyed the life of a healthy young female in an hour and a half. None
of 1e symptoms appeared for an hour. There is a case m which the
perd which elapsed ‘was two hours and a-half. It was not a fatal case, but
thadoes not a the question. A grain and a-half is a full, but not a
ver considerable dose. In my book on poisons there 1s no casc which
the aroxysm commenced more than half-an-hour after the ingestion of the
%‘ilm. "That hook is eight years old, and since 1848 cases have occurred,
rer;; a mention of one in which three hours elapsed before the paroxysms
oecrred.”’ ' HETEER 3 .

*v. Serjéant Shee then referred to this case, and called attention to the
facthat’ flé‘ only statement as to time was that in three hours the patient
los his speech and at length was seized with violent tetanic conyulsions.

{oss-examination continued.—I know of no other fatal case in which the
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interval was so long. In that case there was disease of the brain. Referring
to the Lancet, I find that in the case to which I referred, as communieated by
Dr. Bennett, the strychnia was dissolved in cinnamon water. Being dis-
solved, one would have expected it to have a more speedy action. The time
in which a patient would recover would depend entirely upon the dose of
strychnia which had been taken. I do not remember any case in which a

tient recovered in three or four hours, but such cases must have occurred.
lﬁmre is one mentioned in my book on medical jurisprudence. The patient
had taken nux vomica, but its powers depend upon sl;ri'r_hnia. In that case
the violenece of the paroxysms gradually subsided, and the next day, although
feeble and exhausted, the patient was able to walk home. The time of the
recovery is a point which is not usually stated by medical men. 1 cannot
mention any ease in which there was a repetition of the paroxysms after so
long an interval as that from Monday to Tuesday night, which occurred in
Cook’s case. Ido not think that the attack on Tuesday night was the result
of anything which had been administered to him on the Monday night. In
the cases of four out of five rabbits the spasms were continued at the time of
death and after death. In the other the animal was flaccid at the time of
death.

Are you acquainted with this opinion of Dr. Christison, that in these cases
rigidity does not come on at the time of death, but comes on shortly after-
wards P—Dr. Christison speaks frem his experience, and I from mine.

Did you hear that Dr. Bamford said that when he arrived he found the
body of Cook quite straight in bed P—Yes.

Can that have been a case of ophisthotonos ?—It may have been.

Are not the colour tests of strychnia so uncertain and fallacious that they
cannot be depended upon?—Yes, unless you first get the strychnia in a
visible and tangible form.

Is it not impossible to get it so from the stomach ?—It is notimpossible ; it
depends upon the quantity which remains there.

You do not agree that the fiftieth part of a grain might be discovered P—I
think not.

Nor even half a grain ?—That might be. I would depend upon the quantity
of food in the stomach with which it was mixed.

Re-examined by the Attorney-General.—In cases of death from strychnia
the heart is_sometimes found empty after death. That is the case of human
subjects. There are three such cases on record. I think that emptiness
results from spasmodic affection of the heart. I know of no reason why that
should rather occur in the case of man than in that of a small animal like a
rabbit. The heart is generally more filled when the paroxysms are frequent.
When the paroxysm isshort and violent, and causes deathin a few moments, I
should'expect to find the heart empty. The rigidity after death always affects
the same muscles; those of the limbs and back. Inthe case of the rabbit, in
which the rigidity was relaxed at the time of death, it returned while the
body was warm. [In ordinary death it only appears when the body is cold,
or nearly s0. Tnever knew a case of tetanus in which the rigidity lasted two
months after death; but such a fact would give me the impression that there
were very violent spasms. It would indicate great violence of the s s
from which the person died. The time which elapses between the taking of
strychnia and the commencement of the paroxysms depends on the constitu-
tion and strength of the individual. A feeling of suffocation is one of the
earliest symptoms of poisoning by strychnia, and that would lead the patient
to beat the bed-clothes. 1 have no doubt that the substances I used for the
g;x of analysis were pure. I had tested them. The fact that three

stinct processes each gave the same result was strong confirmation of each.
1 have no doubt that what we found was antimony. The quantity found
does not enable me to say how much was taken. It might be the residue of



93

large or small doses. Sickness would throw off some portion of the
-antimony which bad been administered. We did not analyse the bones and

Why did you suggest questions to the coromer ?—He did nct put questions
b{:immmmqininm—lthinkﬂammmherfrm
of know than from intention. There was an omision to
down the answers. I made no observation wupon that sub-
- At the time I wrote to Mr. Gardiner I bhad not learnt the
. oms which atfended the, attack and death of Cook. I had
only the information that htwmweﬂmdniahefme he died, and had
jed in eonvolsions. I had no mformation whie could lead me to suppose
that strychnia had been the cause of death, exeept that Palmer had pur-
chased strychnia. Failing to find opium, prussic acid, or strychnia, I referred
£ antimony as the only substance found m the body. Before writing to the
Lancet 1 had been made the subject of a great many attacks. What T said
a3 to the possibility or impossibility of diseoveri strychniz after death had
been misr ted. In varions newspapers itngadheenmprmmi that I
had said ¢t ﬁ:‘hnhmnldnﬁer be detected,—that it was destroyed by
putrefaction. I s2id was that when absorbed into the blood it could
- not be separated as strychnia. T wrote the letter for my own vindication.

Dr. G. O. Rees, examined by Mr. E. James, Q.C., said,—1I am lectarer on
materia medica at Guy's Hospital, and [ assisted Dr. Taylor in making the
post-mortem examination to by that gentleman; and be has most
correctly stated the result. I was present during the whole time, and at the
discovery of the antimony. I am of opinion that it may have been adminis-
tered within 2 few days, or a few bours, of Mr. Cook's death. All the
tests we employed failed to discover the presence of strychnia. The stomach
was in a most unfavourable state for examination; it was cut open, and
turned inside out; its mucous surface was lying upon the intestines, and
the contents of the stomach, if there had been any, must have been
thrown among the intestines, and mixed with them. These cireum-
stances were very unfavourable to the hope of discovering strychnia. I

with Dr. ‘l‘a;lm‘ as to the manner in which strychnia acts upon the
human frame, am of opinion that it may be taken either by accident
or design sufficient to destroy life and no trace of it be found after death.
I was present at the experiments made by Dr. Taylor upon the animals, and
at the endeavour to detect it in the stomachs afterwards. We failed to do so
in three cases out of four. The symptoms accompanying the deaths of the
animals were similar to those described in the case of Mr. Cook. I have
heard the cases have been mentioned in this court, and the symptoms in
every one of them are analogous to those in the case of Mr. Cook.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove, .C.—I did not see either of the animals
Teject any portion of the poison; but I heard that in one case the animal did
ri?:taponim.-lhﬂemfam to state upon which I formed the opinion
that the poison acts by absorption.

Professor Bi-mtie,b,mminaﬁ by Mr. Welsby.—1I am Professor of -
mistry at the Royal Institution. I was not present at the analysis of the
lhﬂﬂ@m,&hdﬁﬁm&:muf Dr. Taylor and Dr.
Rees was sent to me for my inspection I was present at one of
the analyses. We examined in the first place the action of copper upon 2
Wwﬂmhﬁndmmnm}hemmmmmhl
the solution was slightly acidified by muriatic acid and heated. The
antimony was then deposited, and I am enabled to state positively that that

it was
Etb;ﬁtjm% .—The experiment I refer to was made for the

- purpose of festiy tilemm:ynfthe test that had already bee applied, and
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Professor Christison said,—I am a fellow of the Royal College of Physicians
and Professor of Materia Medica to the University of Edinburgh; I am
also the author of a work on the subject of poisons, and I have directed
a good deal of attention to strychnia. In my opinion it acts by absorption
into the blood, and through that upon the nervous system. I have seen its
effects upon a human subject, but not I fatal case. I have seen it tried upon
pigs, rabbits, cats, and one wild boar. (A laugh.) I firet directed my at-
tention to this poison in 1820, in Paris. It had been discovered two years
before in Paris. In most of my experiments upon animals I gave very small
doses—a sixth of a grain ; but I once administered a grain. I cannot say how
small a dose would cause the death of an animal by administration into the
stomach. I generally applied it by injection through an incision in the cayity
of the chest. A sixth part of a grain so administered killed a dog in two niinutes.
1 once administered to a rabbit, through the stomach, a dose of a grain. ksaw
Dr. Taylor administer three-quarters of a grain to a rabbit, and it
was all swallowed except a very small quantity. The symptoms are nearly
the same in rabbits, cats, and dogs.  The first is a slight tremor and
unwillingness to move; then frequently the animal jerks its head back
slightly ; scon after that all the symptoms of tetanus come on which have
been so often deseribed by the previous witnesses. When the poison is
administered by the stomach death generally takes places between a period
o! five minutes and five-and-twenty minutes after the symptoms fizst make
their appearance. I have frequently opened the bodies of animals thus
killed, and have never been able to trace any effect of the poison upon the
stomach or intestines, or upon the spinal cord or brain, that I could attribute
satisfactorily to the poison. The heart of the animal generally contained
blood in all the cases in which I have been concerned. In the case of the
wild boar the peison was injected into the chest. A third of a grain was all
that was used, and in ten minutes the symptoms began to show themselves.
If strychnia was administered in the form of a pill it might be mixed
with other ingredients that would protract the period of its operation.
This would be the case if it were mixed with resinous materials, or
any materials that were difficult of digestion, and such materials would
be within the knowledge of any medical men, and they are frequently
used for the purpose of making ordinary pills. Absorption in  such
a case would not commence until the pill was broken down by the process of
digestion. In the present state of our knowledge of the subject 1 do not
think it is possible to fix the precise time when the operation of the poison
commences on a human subject. In the case of an animal we take care that
it is fasting, and we mix the poisun with ingredients that are readily soluble,
and in every circumstance favourable for the development of the poison.
have seen many cases of tetanus avising from wounds and other causes.
The general symptoms of the disorder very nearly resemble each other, and in
all the natural forms of tetanus the symptoms begin and advance much more
slowly, and they prove fatal much more slowly, and there is no
intermission in certain forms of natural tetanus. In tetanus from
strychnia there are short intermissions. I have heard the evidence
of what took place at the Talbot Arms on the Monday and Tuesday,
and the result of my experience induces me to come to the conclusion that
the symptoms exhibited by the deceased were only attributable to strychnia,
or.the four poisons containing it. (The witness gave the tcchnical names
of the poisons he referred to.) There is no natural discase of any
description that I am acquainted with to whieh I could refer these
symptoms. In cases of tetanus consciousness remains to the very last
moment. When death takes place in a human subject by spasm it tends, to
empty the heart of blood. When death is the consequence of the adminis-
tration of strychnia, if the quantity is small, I should not expect to find any
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trace in the body after death. If there was an excess of quantity more than
Wwas required to'cause the death by absorption, I should expeet to find that
excess in. the stomach. = The colour tests for the detection of the presence
of strychnia are uncertain. Vegetable poisons are more difficult of deteetion
than mineral ones, and there is one poison with which I am acquainted for
which no known test hias been discoveréd. The stomach of the deceased was
sent in a very unsatisfactory state for examination, and there must have been
a eonsiderable quantity of strychnia in the stomach to have enabled any one
to deteet its presence under such circumstanees,

Cross-examined.—The experiments I refer to were made many years ago.
In‘one instance I tricd one of the colour tests in the case of 2 man who
was. poisoned by strychnia, but I failed to discover the presence of the poison
in the stomach. T tried the test for the development of the violet colour b;,[r
means: of sulphuric acid and oxide of lead. Frem my own observation
should say that animals destroyed by strychnia die of asphyxia, but in my
work, which has been referred to, it will be seen that I have left the question
open.

?Seme further questions were put to the witness hy the learned counsel for
the prisoner in reference to opinions expressed by him in his work, and he
explained that this'work was written twelve years ago, and that the ex-
perience he had since obtained had modified some of the opinions he then
entertained.

Cross-examination continued.—I have not noticed that in cases where a
patient is suffering from strychnia the slightest touch appears to bring on
the paroxysm. It is too remarkably in the case of animals, unless you touch
them very gently indeed. Strychnia has a most intensely bitter taste. It
is said on the authority of a French chymist that a grain will give a taste
to more than a gallon of water. If resinous substances were used in the
formation of a pill it does not follow that they would necessarily be found in
the stomach ; they might be passed off.

By the Attorney-General—One of the cases referred to in the work that

%;een referred to was that of a gamekeeper, who was found dead ; his head
was thrown back, his hands were clenched, and his limbs were rigid. A paper
containing strychnia was foundin his pocket, and upon a post-mortem exami-
nation, there were indications which, under the circumstances, satisfied him of
the existence of strychnia. There was a substance in the body of an intense
bitter, which was tested by the colour test, and it succeeded in one instance,
but failed in auother. I have no doubt that colour tests are not to be
relied on.

The trial was then again adjourned at six o'clock, until to-morrow (Tues-
day) morning, at ten o'clock. The jury were taken, as on the former ocea-
sions, to the London Coffee-house in the charge of the officers of the court. |

SIXTH DAY.

Tae'trial was resumed this morning shortly after ten o'clock.

The Lord Chief Justice, Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice Cresswell
_tgﬁk their seats upon the bench, and the prisoner was immediately placed at
the bar.

~The Attorney-General, Mr. Edwin James, Q.C., Mr. Welsby, Mr. Bodkin,
and Mr. Huddleston appeared for the Crown. Mr. Serjeant Shee, Mr. Grove,
Q.C., Mr. Gray, and Mr. Kenealy appeared for the prisoner.

The evidence for the prosecution was then resumed. 3 .

Dr. Jackson examined by Mr. James.—I have been practising in India for
twenty-five years, and have had a good deal of experience in cases of trau-
matic and idiopathic tetanus. The latter disease, although it appears very
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rarein this country, is much more frequent in India, and T have attended a
least forty cases of that disease. Idiopathic tetanus is equally fatal, accord-
ing to my experience, as traumatic. It is frequentlylfound in children, in India.
both natives and Europeans, and generally fakes place the third dayafter birth
It will also be occasioned by cold in that climate. In infants there
is 2 more marked symptom of lock-jaw in idiopathic tetanus. In adults
there is no difference in the symptoms from traumatic. I have always seen
the idiopathic form of the disease preceded by premonitory symptoms, such
as peculiar expression of the countenance, stiffness of the muscles of the
throat, and of the jaw. The usual period from the attack to death in infants
is generally about forty-eight hours; in adults, when arising from cold, it is
of longer duration, and may continue many days going through the same
grades as the traumatic forms.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The patient always appears to be
very uncomfortable shortly before the attack of idiopathic tetanus. His
appetite would not be affected, but he would chiefly complain of the muscles
of the neck. He might entertain a desire for food, and take it as usual up to
within twelve hours of the attack. Within that period I should say the
patient’s attention would be more directed to the stiffness of his mouth and
the stiffness of the neck. I never heard a patient complain of want of appe-
tite. I have known cases of idiopathic tetanic tetanus, where the first
paroxysm was in bed. Difficulty of swallowing is another premonitory
symptom.

Re-examined.—In the case of a child not more than six hours would
elapse between the premonitory symptoms and the tetanic convulsions; and
in an adult the period would not be greater than twenty-four hours. The
duration of the disease generally varies from three days to ten days, but it
has occurred as early as two days. The traumatic and idiopath’c cases are
both alike in these respects. Both forms of the disorder are much more
common in India than they are in this country. The symptoms are not
more severe ‘n India thanin this country. In all my experience 1 never saw
a case where the disease ran its course and the patient was dead in twenty
minutes.

The Attorney-General said that this closed the medical testimony.

Mr. D. Burgen, chief superintendent of police at Stafford said—1I was pre-
sent at the coroner’s inguest on the body of Cook. After the verdict Il":ftil.
been returned I searched the prisoner’s house. It was on the 15th of December
that T made the search. I found a great many papers in the surgery, and I
took them into the drawing-room., I found a few more papers in other

ts of the house, and I put them all together into the drawing-room, and
ocked them up in that room. On the following day I examined them in the
gresence of Mr. G. Palmer, the Lrother of the prisoner. He is an attorney
at Rugeley. I did not give him notice of what [ was about to do.
Inspector Crisp and a superintendent named Wilson were present af
the search among the papers. Eventually I gave up the idea of a
selection, and tied up the whole of the papers, and conveyed them to .
Stafford, where I delivered them to Mr. Hatton, the chief constable.
The bag containing the papers was opened again on the 24th of
December, and the papers were all examined in the presence of a solicitor
named Deane, who was acting for the prosecution, and he copied a portion of
them, and they were put again into the bag and left at the chief constable’s
office. There was not among the papers any cheque bearing the signature
of Mr. Cook upon Messrs, Weatherby, neither was there any paper referring
to any bills of exchange which purported to bear the signature of the pri-
soner. There was no such document as this among the papers. Mr, Deane
subsequently selected a number of letters and other papers of a private cha-
racter, and instructions were given that they should be delivered up to
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Mr. George Palmer, The prisoner was taken into custody on the night of the
15th of December. I remember Roberts, the apprentice, being examined,
and Newton also. T do not know who fetched Newton,

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The inquest oceupicd several days,
and a fortnight or more elapsed before it was brought to a conclusion. The
prisoner was arrested upon a civil process two or three days béfore the
verdict was delivered. I believe that the prisoner remained at his own house
at Rugeley all the time the inquest was going an. He was not present at
the inquest en any occasion, nor did any one act professionally for him. I
heard that Inspector Field has been down to Rugeley some time before. e
is not a policeman now. Ido not know Elizabeth Mill's mother.

Mr. H. A. Dean said—I am a solicitor of Gray's-Inn. I attended the
coroner’s inquest upon Aune Palmer, on behalf of the insurance company.
The first time I saw the prisoner’s papers was at Stafford. T sorted and
selected them. T carefully examined the whole of the papers, and returned
a considerable quantity to Mr. G. Palmer. I am certain there was no cheque
for 350, drawn apparently by the deceased, upon Messrs. Weatherby, nor any
paper representing that certain bills of exchange had been accepted for the
benefit of Mr. Cook. I found nosuch paper as that which Cheshire says Palmer
had requested him to attest. I found no document signed by Coolk, and ac-
knowledging that Palmer had accepted bLills for 40001 on his behalf. I saw
George Palmer after the papers which I had selected were returned to him.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I know Inspector Field, and saw
him some time previous to the inquest. Our firm were solicitors to the
Prince of Wales Insurance-office. Inspector Field went down to Rugeley in
my employment, and remained there only part of one day, but he was at
Stafford three or four days. He did not see the prisoner Paimer
during his stay. He had been preceded by another officer, named
Simpson. I cannot tell you how long Simpson was at Rugeley, but 1 saw
him the day Field was there. He went from Stafford to Rugeley in company
with myself and Mr. Field. He told me he had scen Palmer. Simpson
first went to Stafford on my retainer at the beginning of October.

Re-examined. —Mr. Field was sent down to make inquiries as to the habits
of life of Mr. Walter Palmer, of whose death the uﬂgjlf:e had shortly before
received notice, and also to inquire into the circumstances of a person named
Bates, with reference to a proposal for an insuranece of 55,0000 on his life.

Mr. Espin called and examined by Mr. E. James, Q.C.—I am a solicitor*
and act for Mr. Padwick. I produce a bill for 2,000/, placed in my hands
by Mr. Padwick to enforce payment against the prisoner. [The drawing and
endorsing of the bill were here identified by a Mr. Strawbridge, manager of
a local bank, to be in the handwriting of the Frimnﬁr* The acceptance was
certainly not in the handwriting of Sarah Palmer. The bill was then read.
It purported to be drawn by the prisoner and accepted by Sarah Palmer. It
bore the simple endorsement, * \‘FnL Palmer.”] This bill would be due Oc-
tober 5, 1854 ; 1,000L, had been paid off the bill. On the 20th of No-
vember, 1855, [ was pressing the prisoner for payment of the balance. Tt
was placed in my hands to enforce payment, I should say about
the 12th of December, because I signed judgment on that day, and
it must have been a day or two previous. It could hardly have been so
early as the 20th of November. Execution was issued on the 12th of
December. T have two letters in the handwriting of the prisoner (hand-
writing identified by Strawbridge). [The letters wereread. One, dated the
12th ﬁmen1her, 18535, enclosed a cheque for 1,0007., but it requested that the
cheque should not be presented till the 28th, which date it bore.] The
cheque was not paid when it was presented. A former cheque had been
sent, for 6007, but that was not paid. This cheque was dated the 3th De-
ember, and must have been received the day afterwards, Both cheques

No. 7.
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purported to be drawn by the prisoner in favour of Mr, Padwick, The
1,000/. still remains due. The prisoner was arrested upon it, but the ca. sa.
realised nothing, An action was brought against the mother upon the bill,
which was defended. ;

The Attorney-General said he now proposed to call Mr. Bamford, the
venerable surgeon who attended Cook during his illness at Rugeley.

Mr. Bamford was then put into the witness-box. He was examined by the
Attorney-General —My name 1s William Bamford. I am_ surgeon and
apothecary of Rugeley. 1L first saw John Parsons Cook on Saturday, the
17th of November. Palmer, the prisoner, asked me to visit him. Palmer
eaid that Cook had heen dining with him the day before, and had taken too
much champagne. 1 went with Palmer to see Cook. I asked Cook if he
had taken too much wine the day before, and he assured me that he took
but two glasses. L found no appearance of bile about Coolk, but there was
constant vemiting. L prescribed for him a saline effervescing draught and a
six ounce mixture. I never saw Cook take any of the pills which I had
preseribed.  After 1 had prepared the pills on the Moncay evening 1 took
them to the Talbot Arms and gave them to a servant maid, who took them
up-stairs,  On the Saturday, Sunday, and Monday I prepared the same pills.
1 saw Palmer on the Tuesday mormng. 1 was going to see Cook when he
et me. I asked him if he had seen Cook the night before. He said that
he saw. him between nine and ten o’clock, and was with him for half-an-hour.
He requested that I would not disturb Cook, and I went home without see-
ing him. Detween twelve and one Palmer met me again. 1 was going to see
(Jook, and Palmer begged I would not go, because he was still and quiet, and
he did not wish him to be disturbed. At seven o'clock in the evening Pal-
mer came to my house, and requested me to go and see Cook again. 1 went
and saw him. Having seen Cook, I left the room with Jones and Palmer.
Palmer said he rather wished Cook to have his pills again, and that he would
walk up with me for them. He l!ld so, and stood by while I Prepared them
in my surgery. 1 had strychnia in_a cupboard in my own private room. I
put the pills in a box, and addressed it, ¢ Night pills. John Parsons Cook,
Esq 1 wrote that direction on all the four nights.  On the Tuesday might
Palmer requested that 1 would put on a direction. - After that I did not again
soe Cook alive. Palmer took away the pills between seven and eight o'clock.
I had wrapped the box up in paper, and had sealed'it. There was no im-
pression of a seal upen it. The direction was upon a separate pa}Eer. which 1
placed under the box, and between 1t and the outside paper. Nothing was
written on the box or on the outside paper. It was as near as could be
twenty minutes past twelve, at midnight, when I saw Cook dead, I under-
stood he was alive when they came to me, and I could not have been, imore
than five or ten minutes in going up. I found the body stretched out, resting
on the heels and the back of the head, as ‘straight as possible, and stiff. The
arms were cxtended down each side of the budy, and the hands were
linched. I filled up the certificate, and gave it as my opinion that he died
from apoplexy. Palmer asked me to fill up the certificate. I had forms of
certificates in my possession. When Palmer asked me to fill up the certifi-
cate I told him that, as Cook was his patient, it was his place to fill up the
certificate. He said he had much rather I did it, and I did so. I was present
at'the posi-mortem examination. After it was over Palmer said, “ We ought
ot to have let that jarge.” That was all he said. ; :

' Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—My house igabout 200 yards from
that of the prisoner. ; ; ;

Thomas FPratt, examined by Mr, James.—I am a solicitor, and practise in
Queen-street, Mayfuic. 1 know the prisoner Palmer. My acquaintance with
him commenced at the end of November, 1853, I obtained for him a loan
of 1,000/ That was repaid. In October, 1854, I was employed by him to
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make a claim for two policies upon the life of Ann Palmer, I received upon
the prisoner's account 5,000/, from the Sun office, and 3,000 from the
Norwich Union. The money was.applied in payment of, T think, three
bills, amounting to 3,500/ or 4,000.., which were due, and of loans obtained
after I had made the claims upon the policies. There was 1,5007 not so
applied. That was paid to Palmer, or applied to other purposes under his
direction. In April, 1855, Palmer applied to me for a loan of 2,000, He
did not state the purpose for which he required the loan. I obtained it npon
a bill for 2,000l drawn by himself, and purporting to be accepted by Sarah
Palmer. On the 28th ﬂnyﬂ'.’E.‘thI' of that year there were eizht bills held
by clients of mine or hly myself. [These bills were produced and read ; the
total amount for which they were drawn was 12,500L.] Two bills, dated
July 22 and July 24, for 2,000, each, were the only bills which were over-
due in November, 1855. Two bills, for 500. and 1,000, were held over
irom month to month, [These were bills dated June 5 and Auzust 2, 1854.]
The intercst was paid montkly. With two exeeptions, these bills were ‘dis-
counted at the rate of 60 per cent. On the 9th of November the interest
for holding over the two ills, dated in 1854, was due. 1 remember the
death of Walter Palmer. That occurred in August, 1855. 1 was instructed
by William Palmer to claim from the Prince of Wales insurance-office
13,000l. due upon a policy upon his life. The Sarah Palmer by whomn these
bills purport to be accepted is the mother of the prisoner. While holding
these bills I from time to time addressed letters to her. T wrote to Palmer
as follows :—

“If you are quite settled on your return from Doncaster, do pray think
about your three bills, so shortly coming due. IfI do not get a positive
appointment from the office to ;?y, which I do not expeet, you must be pre-
pared to meet them as agreed.  You told me your mother was coming up this
month, and would settle them."”

About a week afterwards I wrote to him [This letter had no date, but
bore a postmark, Sept. 24]:—

“ You are aware there are three bills, of 2,0001. each, accepted by your
mother, Mrs, Sarah Palmer, falling due in a diy or two. Now, as the
13,000{. cannot be received from the Prince of Wales Insurance office for
three months, it will lie necessary that those bills should be renewed ; 1 will
therefore thank you to send me up three new acceptances to meet these
coming due; and which, when they fall due, T presume the money will be
ready to meet, which will amount to 1,500/, more than your mother i';:ls given
acceptance for.”

On the 2nd of October I wrote :—

“This, you will ohserve, quite alters arrangements, and I therefure must
request that you make preparations for meeting the two bills due at the end
of this month. . . . . In any event, bear in miud you must be pre-
pared to cover your mother’s aceeptances for the 4,000f, due at the end of
the month.”

On the 6th of October I wrote to him another letter, containing this
passage :—

“I have your note acknowledging receipt by your mother of the 2,900/
acceptance, due the 2nd of October. Why not let her acknowledeg it
herself? You must really not fail to come up at once, if it be for the purpose
of armngingi for the payment of the two bills at the end of the month.
Remember I can make no terms for their renewal, and they must be paid.”
I had received from Palmer a letter, dated October 5, acknowledging, on the
part of his mother, the receipt of a bill of exchange for 2,000, On the 10th
I wrote to Palmer a letter, from which the following is an extract :—
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“ However, not to repeat what I said in my I‘ast, but with the view qf
pressing on you the remembrance that the two bills due at the end of this
month, the 26th and 27th, must be met, I say no more. The 2,000/, accept-
ance of your mother, due the 29th of September, 1 sent her yesterday, Tt
was rencwed by the second of the three sent me up.”

On the 18th of October I wrote to Palmer as follows :—

I send eopies of two letters I have received. As regards the first, it shows
how important it is that you or your mother should prepare for payment of
the 4,000 due in a few days. I cannot now obtain delay on the same ground
I did the others, for then I could have no ground for supposing the claim
would not be admitted.”

«On the 27th of October Palmer called and paid me 250/ That was on ac-
count of the bills due on the 25th and 27th of that month. ' He said he would
remit another sum of an equal amount before the following Wednesday, and
svould pay the remainder of the principal by instalments as shortly as
possible. " In reply to a letter of mine of the 27th of October, I received the
«tollowing letter from him, dated 28th of October :—

“ I will send you the 250/ from Worcester on Tuesday, as arranged.  For
goodness’ sake do not think of writs; only let me know that such steps are
woing to be taken, and I will get you the money even if I pay 1,000/, for it ;
only give me a fair chance, and you shall be paid the whole of the money.”

On the 31st of October 1 wrote to Palmer : —

*The 2501, in registered letter only received to-day. With it I have been

- enabled to obtain consent to the following :—That, with the exception of
issuing the writs against your mother, no proceeding as to service shall be
made until the morning of Saturday, the 10th, when you are to send up the
1,000/, or 1,500, You will be deluted with a month’s interest on the whole
of 4,000/ out of the money sent up. I impress upon you the necessity of

vour being punctual as to the bills. You will not forget also the 1,5001. due
on the 9th of November.”

On the 6th of November I issued writs against Palmer and his mother for
4,000L. I sent them to Mr. Crabbe, a solicitor at Rugeley. On the 10th of
November Palmer ealled npon me. 1 had received a letter from him on the
“9th of November :—
“I will be with you on Saturday next, at half-past one.”

ITe did call on me, and paid me 3001, which, with the two sums I had
“before received, made up 8004 200/ was deducted for interest, leaving G0OL.
He was to endeavour to let me have a further remittance, but nothing
positive was said. Tt is possible that writs were mentioned, but I have no
recollection of it.  No doubt he knew of them. [A letter of November 13
from Pratt to Palmer was then read, in which, after giving some explanations
with respect to the *Prince of Wales” policy, Pratt said :—* I count most
positively on seeing you on Saturday ; do, forjboth our sakes, try and make up
the amount to 1,000, for without it T shall be unable to renew the 1,500/,
tlue on the 9th.”]

On the 16th of November Palmer wrote to me :—

* I am oblized to come to Tattersall’s on Monday to the settling, so that
I shall not call and see you before Monday, but a friend of mine will call and
leave you 2004, to-morrow, and I will give you the remainder on Monday."

On the Saturday (November 17) some one came from Palmer, and gave

me a check of a Mr, Fisher for 200/, On the 15th Mr. Palimer wrote
1o me—

- All being well, T shall be with you to-morrow (Monday), but cannot say
what time now. Fisher left the 2004 for me.”
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On Monday, the 19th, which was the settling day at Tattersall's, Palmer
called on me after three o’clock. This paper (produced) was then drawn up,
and he signed it :— -

“ You will place the 504 which I have just paid you and the 4507 vou will
receive by Mr. Herring—together 500Z.—and the 2001 you received on
Saturday towards payment of my mother's aceeptance for 2,000L due the 25th
of October, making paid to this day the sum of 1,300."

He paid me 501. at the time, and said T should receive the 4501 through
the post, from Mr. Herring. I afterwards received a check from him for
that amount, which was paid through my bankers. On the 21st of November
Palmer wrote to me— :

** over since I saw you T have been fully engaged with Cook and not able
to leave home. ' T am sorry to say, after all, he died this day. So you had
better write to Saunders; but, mind you, I must have Polestar, il it can be
arranged; and, should any one call upon you to know what HONEY, 0T INOueys
Cook ever liad from you, don't answer the question till I have scen you.

“I will send you the 75L to-morrow, and as soon as I have been to Man-
chester you shall bear about other moneys. I sat up two full nirhts with
Cook, and am very much tired out.”

On the 22nd of November I wrote to Palmer :—

* ['have your note and am greatly disappointed at the non-receipt ‘of the
mongcy as promised, and at the vague assurances as to any money. I ean
understand, 'tis true, that your being detained by the illness of your friend
has been the cause of not sending up the larger amount, but the smaller
sum you ought to have sent. If anything unpleasant oceurs you must thank
yourself. ;

“The death of Mr. Cook will now compel you to look about as to the
payment of the bill for 5000 on the 2nd of December.

*“I have written Saunders, informing him of my claim, and requesting to

know by return what claim he has for keep and training. I send down
copy of bill of sale to Crubble, to see it enforced.”
On the 23rd of November I received a note from Palmer, saying that Messrs.
Weatherby, of 6, Old Burlington-street, would forward a check for 754 in
the morning. On the 24th I received another note, saying that he would
come up either that day or Monday. I saw him on the 24th, when Le
signed the following paper :—

“1I have lmidJ.NyOu this day 1001 751 you will pay for rénewal of 1,5001.,
due the 9th of November, for one ‘month, and 251, on account of the 2,0001.
due the 25th of October, making 1,325/, paid on that account.” {
I had'‘received a check for 75L on Messts. Weatherby, but they. refused  to
pay it.  On the 26th of November Palmer wrote to me :—

" (Strietly private and confidential.) ;

“ My dear Sir,—Should any of Cook’s friends call upon you to know what
money Cook ever had from you, pray don’t answer that question or any other
about money matters until I have seen you.

* And oblige yours faithfully,
“WirLiam Paruer.”

Therc was a bill of sale on Polestar and another horse of Cook’s, called Sirius,
I did not know Cook. I never saw him. The bill of sale was executed at
the beginning of September. The prisoner had transacted the loan. [The
bill of sale was read.] On the 26th of August Palmer wrote to me on the
subject :— .

“ Now, I want, and must have it from somewhere, 1,000/ clear by next
Saturday without fail, and you can raise it on the policy (viz., the policy for
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13,0001 on the life of W. Palmer) if you like, and it must be had ata much
Jess rate of interest than I have hitherto had, because the security is so very
good, and if you eannot manage it you must let me have the policy, because
vou have plenty of security for your money."

On the 30th of August he again wrote:—

«] have findertaken to get the enclosed bill cashed for Mr. Cook. You
had the 2001, bill of his. e isa very good and responsible man. Will you
doit? [ will put my name to the bill.”

In this letter was enclosed Cook’s acceptance for 500L On the 6th of

September Palmer wrote :—

- w1 yeceived the check for the 300/, and will thank you to let me have the
3151, by return of post, if possible; if not, send it me (certain) bi": Monday
night's post, to the Post-office, Doncaster. I now return you Cook's papers
signed, &c., and he wants the money on Saturday, if he éan have it, but I
have not promised it for Saturday. T told him he should have it on Tues-
day morning at Doncaster ; so please enclose it with mine, in cash, in a
registered letter, andghe must pay for it being registered. Do not let it be
later than Monday night’s post to Doncaster.”

On the 9th of September he wrote :—

« Y ou must send me for Mr. Cook, by Monday night's post (to the Post-
office, Doncaster), 385/. instead of 3751, and the wine warrant, so that I can
hand it to him with the 3750, and that will be allowing you 504 for the dis-
count, &e. I shall then get 107, and T expeet I shall have to take to the
wrine, and give him the money ; but I shall not do so if yon do not send
3851, and be good enough to enclose my 3151 with it,in cash, in a registered
letter, and direct it to me to the Post-office, Doncaster.”

T accordingly wrote to Palmer, at the Post-office, Doneaster, enclosing 300/,
in notes, and a cheque for 375L I struck out the words * or bearer,” so that
it was payable to order. In the letter I said:—

“ You know by this time that if T do what I can to accommodate you
there is a limit to my means to do so, and more particularly as in this
instance you have been the means of shutting up a supply I mlliﬂ cenerally

to. 1 think also vou had little reason to allude to the 10l difference
after the trouble, correspondence, &e., I had with respect to a second insu-
rance you know of, which, although it did not come off, arose not from any
lack of industry on my part. I bave no reply as yet from the Prince of
Wales. When shall I see you about the three 20001. bills coming due at
the end of this month ? I speak in time, in order that you may be prepared
in case anything untoward happens with the Prince of Wales. I am obliged
to send & cheque for Cook, as I have not received the money, which I shall
do, no doubt, to-morrow.

The check for 8751 and the wine warrant was the consideration for Cook'’s
bill of sale for 500 The other 300Z had nothing to do with Cook’s trans-
actions. [A letter from Palmer was then read, acknowledging the receipt of
the previous letter, with the enclosures.] I had one other transaction with
Cook before this. It related to an acceptance of Cook for 2001, which was
paid. 1 had no other pecuniary transactions whatever with him. The date
of that first transaction was the end of April or the beginning of May, 1855.
The bill was drawn by Palmer on Cook, and was paid by Cook.

Mr. Stevens was here recalled, and, having examined the endorsement on
the check for 3751. said,—This endorsement is not in the handwriting of Cook.
T never saw him write his name otherwise than *J. Parsons Cook," whereas
this is written “J. P. Cook.”

N

M. Strawbridge was shown some acceptances purporting to be by Mrs. ki
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Sarah Palmer, and eaid that none of them were in Mrs. Palmer's hand-
writing.

William Cheshire, who had been & clerk in the bank at Rugeley in
September last, proved that Palmer had an account there, and that the
-chegk already in evidence had been received by him and carried to' Palmer’s
credit. .

Cross-examined.—i did not know Cook; he never had any transactions
with me.

Mr. Prat: was then cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Previous to
May, 1855, I knew nothing at all about Cook. T then held a sum of 3101,
due to Palmer, and he wished me to add 1904 to it, and to pay 500L to a
Mr. Sargent. I declined to do that without further security. e then pro-
posed the security of Cook’s acceptances, and represented Cook to be a gentle-
man of respectability and substance. On his representation I agreed to accept
a bill drawn by him on, Cook for 2001, and to make the advance. He thus
ot the 500/. I wrote to Cook about the first transaction. T also wrote to him
Before his death, on the 13th of November, reminding him that 5001, was due
on December 2nd. I sent the letter to him at Lutterworth.

Re.examined.—The first 2001 bill was due on the 29th of June, but was
not then paid. T wrote about it, and Cook came up on the 2nd of July, and
paid it. I did not see him.

John Armshaw, examined by Mr. Welsby.—I am an attorney, practising
at Rugeley. About the 13th of November I was employed to apply to
Palmer for payment of a debt of about 604, due to some mercers and drapers
at Rugeley. On the 19th of November I sent up to London instructions for
a writ. On the next morning (the 20th) I went to Palmer's house. He
gave me two 50 notes, and said he hoped he should not be put to the cost
of the writ. One was a Bank of England, the other a lnca?nute. I took
them to my employer to get the receipt and change, and to settle about the

costs.

John Walbank, examined by Mr. Welsby.—I am a butcher at Rugeley.
On the Monday, in Shrewsbury race weck, Palmer’s man came to me and
fetched me to Palmer’s house. Palmer said, © I want you to lend me 250"
1 said, * Doctor, I'm very short of money, but T'll try if I can get it.” He
~ said, * Do, that’s a good fellow ; 'l give it you again on Saturday morn-
ing, as I shall then have reccived some money at Shrewsbury.” . On the
Saturday I met him in the street, went to his house with him, and he paid me
the money.

Cross-¢xamined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—~Palmer had lent me money some-
times when I had asked him., His mother lived in the town, in a large house
near the church. He was in the habit of going there.

John S;iillhur}-, exaimined by Mr. Bodkin—I am a farmer, near Stafford,

and have had dealings with Palmer. In November last he owed me 464, 2s.
On the 22nd of Noveniber (Thursday) I called on him, and he paid me that
amount. He gave me a Bank of England note for 500 1 called casually.
T had not applied to him for the money. That was the first transaction 1
had with him.
" Mr. Strawbridge, examined by the Attorney-General, said,—On_the 19th
of November Palmer had an account at the bank, and there was a balance of
9. 6s. in his favour. Nothing was paid to his account after that. The 10th
of October was the last date on which anything was paid to the account.
The amount then paid was 501

Herbert Wright, examined by Mr. E. James.—I am a solicitor, in partner-
ship with my brother, at Birmingham. I have known Palmer since July,
1851. In November, 1855, he owed my brother 10,400.. We had a bill of
sale upon his property. [It was produced and read. It recited that Palmer
was indebted to Edwin Wright in the sum of 6,500/, on account of bills of
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exchange accepted by Sarah Palmer and endorsed by Palmer to Wright, and
as security for that amount, and a further sum of 2,300/, which had been
advanced to him, a power of sale, subject to redemption, was given by
Palmer over the whole of his property, including his horses.] All the
- advances were made upon bills, together with other collateral security.
All the bills are here. [The bills purporting®to be accepted by Palmer’s
mother were produced; also an acceptance of Palmer’s for 1,600L] In
the early part of November I was pressing Palmer for payment. Many of
the bills were overdue, Palmer always said the money would be paid after
the Cambridgeshire races at Newmarket. I put the bill of sale in foree in
December, after the verdict of the coroner’s jury was returned. I was
present when the property was taken. T found no papers in the house.

Cross-examined by Mi. Serjeant Shee.—A sheriff’s officer effected the
seizure, and an auctioneer followed him. :

Should you have objected to give Palmer more time for payment if you
had been asked ?—1I bardly know ; probably I should not. I was not hostile
to him. I never accommodated Cook. thad offered to do so, but the
transaction never assumed completion. (A laugh.)

Re-examined by, the Attorney-General.— 'hese bills were discounted at
60 per cent. per annum, and would have been renewed probably at the same
rate of interest. :

Mr. Strawbridge proved that the aceeptances produced by the last witness
were not in the handwriting of Mrs, Palmer.

Cross-examined.—They are a bad imitation of her hand.

The Attorney-General said that Mr, Weatherby was the only remaining
witusss for the prosecution, and, as he was not now in court, he hoped their
Lord4tips would allow him to be examined in the morning, before his learned
friend opened the defence.

Mr. Serjeant Shee asked the court to permit the witness Mills to be re-
called, in order that he might examine her as to where she was now residing.

The Attorney-General.—She was cross-examined upon that point.

s Lord Campbell. —We are of opinion that there is no ground for recalling

er.
Mz. Serjeant Shee asked permission to put seme further questions to Dr.
Devonshire with regard to his having been pushed by Palmer during the -
post-mortem examination.

Lord Campbell.—By all means. '

My, Justice Cresswell observed that he did not think it was a circumstance
to which much importance conld be attached; he had not taken a note of it.

Mr. Baron Alderson expressed a similar opinion. There was nothing
extraordinary in a person who was interested in the examination being
anxious to see all that was going on.

Mr. Serjeant Shee, after that intimation of their Lordships’ opinion, would
not press his request. '

Lord Campbell hoped that the jury would have an opportunity given them:
of breathing the fresh air that fine evening.

Thp court anjourned at half-past three until ten’o’clock to-morrow (this)
morning.
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SEVENTH DAY.

Tue court was even more crowded this morning than it has been since the
commencement of the trial. By nine o'clock every available seat was occu-
pied, and a great number of persons waited in the passages leading to the
various entrances during the whole day without being able to obtain admis-
sion. Among the distinguished persons who were present we noticed the
Lord Chief ﬁaﬂm, the Farl of Denbigh, Lord G. Eennﬂx, Mr. Monckton
Milnes, Mr. L. Gower, Mr. G. O. Higgins, Mr. Forster, and several other
members of the House of Commons

The learned Judges, Lord Campbell, Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice

Cresswell, entered the court at about ten o’clock, accompanied by the Sheriffs,
Sir R. W. Carden, and other Aldermen.
- 'The prisoner was immediately placed at the bar. He listened with great
attention to the address of his ]Ilearned counsel, and maintained the same
calmuess and self-possession that he has exhibited since the first day of the
proceedings. ; :

Counsel for the Crown—the Attorney-General, Mr. E. James, Q.C., Mr.
Welshy, Mr. Bodkin, and Mr. Huddleston ; for the prisoner—Mr. Serjeant

- Shee, Mr. Grove, Q.C., Mr. Gray, and Mr. Kenealy.

Charles Weatherby, examined by Mr. Welshy, said,— On the 21st of No-
vember I received a letter from Palmer, enclosing a cheque for 350L I
produce that letter :—

* Rugeley, Nov. 20, 1855.

“ Gentlemen,—T will thank vou to send me a cheque for the amount of
the enclosed order. Mr. Cook has been confined here to his bed for the last
three days with a bilious attack, which has prevented him from being in
town. “ Yours respectfully,

“Wa, Parmgr.”

On the morning of the 23rd I received another letter from him, which I also
produce. [In this letter Palmer requested Messrs. Weatherby to send a
cheque for 751, to Mr. Pratt, and a cheque for 100L to Mr. Earwakers and
deduct the same from Cook’s draught,] On the 23rd 1 sent a letter te
Palmer, of which I produce a copy :— -
“ Nov.| 23, '18565.
~ 4 Sir,—We return Mr. Cook’s cheque, not having funds enongh to meet it
When Mr. Frail called to-day to settle the Shrewsbury Stake account, he
informed us that he had paid Mr. Cook his winnings there. We could not
comply with your request as to paying part of the money even if we had had
sufficient in hand to pay the sums you mention, which we have not. Be so
good as to acknowledge the receipt of the cheque.”
On the 24th, the following notice, signed by Palmer, was left at my office :—
X Nov. 24, 1855.

“ Gentlemen,—1I hereby request you will not part with any moneys in your
hands, or which may come into your hands, on account of John Parsons Coolk,
to any person until payment by you to me or my order of the cheque or
draught in my favour given by the said John Parsons Cook for the sum of
3501, sent to you by me, and acknowledged in your letter received by me at
Eugeley on Wednesday morning, the 20th of this month of November.

“ Yours, &c., “ Wwn. Paruer.”

“ Messrs, Weatherby, 6, Old Burlington-street.”

On the 23rd I had sent a letter to Cook at Rugeley, which was subsequently
returned to me through the dead-letter office.

Cross-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—The cheque for 350/, was, as faras
I recollect, signed by Cook.
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The Attorney-General.—Was it signed J. I. Cook, or J. Parsons Cook ?—
1 did not observe.

By Lord Campbell.—Iobserve that the body of the check was not in Cook's
handwriting, but that the signature was.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—When that check of Cook's was presented, you had
not funds in hand to meet it *—No.

Were funds afterwards sent up by Mr. Frail, the clerk of the course at
Shrewsbury ?—They were to have been, but were not eventually.

In the ordinary course of things ought they to have been in your hands on
the day you received the eheck P—I can't positively say. Clerks of the course
pay at different times. But Cook might reasonably have supposed that they
would: be in hand, as it was then a week after he had won the race.
informed Palmer when I did not pay his check of my reason for not doing so.

Mr. F. Butler, examined by the Attorney-General—I attend races, and
bet. I was at Shrewsbury races, and had an account to settle with Palmer.
T had to receive T00L odd from him in respect of bets made at the Liverpoo!
races. 1 had no money to Teceive in respect of the Shrewsbury races.
endeavoured to get my money at Shrewsbury, and T got 40l I asked him
for money several times, and he zaid he had none, but had some to receive.
He did not say how much. IHe gave me a check for 2507 upon the Rugeley
bank, which was not paid. I knew Cook's horse Polestar. After she had
won the race at Shrewsbury she was worth about 700L She was worth
more after than before she won.

Cross-examined by Mr. Grove.—I won 210L on Polestar for Palmer, and
kept it on account.

Mr. Stevens proved that Polestar was sold at Tattersall’s on the 10th of
March by auction, and fetched 720 guineas. '

The Attorney-General.—That is the case for the prosecution.

THE DEFENCE.

Mr. Serazaxt SHEE then rose to open the defence. He said,—In rising to
perform the task which it now becomes my duty to discharge, I feel, gentle-
men of the jury, an almost overwhelming sense of responsibility. Once only.
has it before fallen to my lot to defend a fellow-creature charged with a
capital offence. You can well understand that, to take a leading part in a
trial of this kind, is sufficient to disturb the calmest temper and try the clearest
judgment, even 1f the eftort only last for one day. But how much more
trying is it to stand for six long days under the shade, as it were, of the scaf-
fold, eonscious that the least error in judgment may consign my elient to an
ignominious death and public indignation!  Itis useless for me to conceal
shat which all your endeavours to keep you minds free from prejudice cannot
wholly efface from your recollection. Xou perfectly well know that for six
long months, under the sanction and upon the authority of scienee, an opinion
has almost universally prevailed that the blood of John Parsons Cook has
risen from the eround to bear witness against the prisoner ; you know that a
convietion of the guilt of the prisoner has impressed itself upon the whole
]ﬁnpulmiun, and that by the whole population has been raised, in a delirium of
orror and indignation, the cry of blood fer blood! You cannot have entered
upon thedischargeof yourduty—which, asI havewell observed, you have most
conscientiously endeavoured to perform—without, to a great extent, sharing
in that conviction. Before you knew that you would have to sit in that box
to pass judgment between the prisoner and the Crown you might with per-
fect propriety, after reading the evidence taken before the coroner's jury,
have formed an opinion with regard to the guilt or innocence of the prisoner.
The very circumstances under which we meet in this place are of a m
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to excite in me mingled feelings of encouragement and alarm. Those whose
duty it is to wateh over the safety of the Queen’s subjects felt so much ap-
preliension lest the eourse of justice should be disturbed by the popular pre-
judice whieh had been excited against the prisoner—they were so much
alarmed that an unjust verdict might, in the midst of that prejudice, be
passed against him, that an extraordinary measure of precaution was taken,
not only by her Majesty’s Government, but also by the Legislature. An
Act of Parliament, which originated in that branch of the Legislature to
which the noble and learned lord who presides here belongs, and was sanc-
tioned by him, was passed to prevent the possibility of an injustice being
done through adherence to the ordinary forms of law in the case of William
Palmer. The Crown, also, under the advice of its responsible Ministers, re-
solved that this prosceution should not be left in private hands, but that its
own law officer, my learned friend, the Attorney-General, should take upon
himself the respousibility of condueting it. And my learncd friend, when
that duty was intrusted to him, did what I must say will for ever redonnd to
his honour—he resolved that in a case in which so much prejudice had been
excited all the evidence which it was intended to press against the prisoner
should, as soon as he received it, be communicated to the prisoner's counsel.
I must therefore tell my unhappy client that everything which the consti-
tuted authorities of the land—everything which the Legislature and the law
officers of the Crown could do to secure a fair and impartial trial has been
done, and that if unhappily an injustice should on cither side be committed
the whole responsibility will rest upon my lords and upon the jury. A most
able man was selected by the prisoner as his counsel not many weeks ago,
but, unfortunately, was prevented by illness from discharging that office. I
have endeavoured to the best of my ability to supply his place; but I cannot
deny that I labour under a deep feeling of responsibility, although the
national effort, so to speak, which has been made to insure a fair trial
is a great cause of encouragement to me. 1 am moved by the task
that is beforc me, but I am not dismayed. I have this further cause
for mnot being altogether overcome in discussing the mass of evi-
dence which has been laid before you. When the papers in the
case came into my hands I had formed no opinion as to the guilt or innocence
of the prisoner. My mind was perfectly free to form what I trust will
prove to be right judgment upon the case, and—I say it in all sincerity—
having read these papers, Leommenced his defence with an entire cunviction
of his innocence: 1 believe that truer words were never pronounced than
the words he uttered when he said *Not Guilty” to this charge, and if I
fail in establishing his innocence to your satisfaction I shall have very great
misgivings that my failure is attributable only to my own inability to do
Justice to his case, and not to an{ weakness in the case itself. I will prove
to you the sincerity with which I declare my conviction of the prisoner’s
innocence by meeting the case for the prosecution foot to foot, and grappling
with every difficulty which has been sugzested by my learned friend. You
will see that I shall avoid no point which has been raised. T will deal fairly
with you, and I know that I shall have your patient attention to an address
which must, I fear, unavoidably be a long one, but in which no cbservation
will be introduced which does not necessarily and properly belong to the
case. The proposition which my learned friend undertakes to establish
entirely by circumstantial evidence may be shortly stated. It is that the
prisoner, having in the second week in November made up his mind that
it was his interest to get rid of John Parsons Cook, deliberately prepared
his body for the reception of a deadly poison by the slower poison of anti-
mony, and that he afterwards dispatched him by the deadly poison of

chnine. Now, no jury will conviet a man of the crime thus charged
unless it be made clear, in the first place, that he had some motive for its
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commission,—some strong rcason for desiring the death of the deceased; in
the second place, that the symptoms hefore death and the appearances of the
body after death are consistent with the theory that he died by poison : and,
in the third place, that they are inconsistent with the theory that death pro-
ceeded from patural causes. Under these three heads T shall discuss the
vast mass of evidence which has been laid before you, and T must by
adhering to that order, exhaust the whele subject, and leave myself no chance
of evading any difficulty without immediate detection. Before, however, I
proceed to grapple in these close quarters with the case for the Crown, allow me
to restore to its proper place in the diseussion a fact which, althongh it was
by no means concealed by my learned friend in that address by which he ‘at
once seized upon your judgments; appeared to me to be thrown too much
into the shade—the fact, I mean, that strychnine was not found in the body
of the unfortunate deceased. If he died of the poison of strychnine——if he
dicd within a few hours or within a quarter of an hour or twenty minutes of
the administration of a strong dose—if the post-mortem examination took
place within six days of the death, there is not the least reason’ to snppose
that between the time of the injection of the poison and the paroxysms of
death there was any dilution of it, or any ejection of it by vomiting. Never,
therefore, unless chymical analysis is altogether a failure in the detection of
strychnine, were eireunmstances more favourable for its discovery. But,
beyond all question, strychnine was not found.  Whatever we may think of
the judgment and experienee of Dr. Taylor, we have no réason to doubt that
he isa very skilful chymist; we have no reason to believe—in fact, we know
to the contrary—that he and Dr. Rees did not do all that the science of chy-
micallanalysis could enable men to do to detect the poison. They had a distinct
intimation from the executor and near relative of the deceased that he, for
some cause or another, had reason to suspect that poison had been adminis-
tered. They undertook an analysis of the stomach, which (without now
going into details upon that point) was not on the whole in an unfavourable
eondition, with a firm expectation that if it was there it would be found, and
1-i;ithnut any doubt as to the efficiency of their tests. Then, i1 December,
they say— -

* We do not find strychnine, prussic acid, or any trace of opium. From
the contents having been drained away” (not drained out of the jar, you
know) it is now impossible to say whether any stryehnine had or had not
been given just before -death, but it is quite possible for tartar emetic to
destroy life i’ given in repeated doses; and, go far as we ean at present form
an opinion, in the absence of any natural cause of death, the decensed may
have died from the effeets of antimony in this or gome other form.”

But they afterwards attended the inquest, and having heard the evidence of
Mills; of Mr. Jones of Lutterworth, and of Roberts (who spoke to the pur-
chase of stryehnine on the morning of the death), they came to the conclusion
that the pills administered to Cook on the Monday and the Tuesday night con-
tained strychnine. - Dr. Taylor came to that conélusion, notwithstanding his
written opinion that Cook' might have been poisoned by antimony, and not-
withstanding the fact that no trace of strychnine was found in the body. I
call your attention now to this cirenmstance in order to ¢laim for it its proper
place in the discussion. The gentlemen who have come to the conclusion

that strychnine may have been in the body, although it was not found,

have arrived at that-conclusion from experiments of a very partial kind in-
deed: they contend that when strychnine has once done its fatal work and
become absorbed into the system it ceases to be the thing it was when taken
into the system ; it becomes decomposed, its elements are separated from each
other, and therefore are no longer capabie of responding to the tests which
would certainly detect its presence if undecomposed. That is their case.
They account for its not being found, and for their belief that it destroyed

#
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Cook, by that hypothesis. Now, it is only an hypothesis. No anthority for
it can be drawn from experiments, and it is supported by the opinion of no
eminent toxicologist but themselves. It is only fair to them, and to Dvr.
Taylor in particular, to say that Dr. Taylor does propound that theory in
his book. 1t is, however, only a theory of his own; he does not support it
by the anthority of any distinguished toxicologist, and when we recollect that
his knowledge of the matter—good, bumane man!—consists in having
poisoned five rabbits twenty-five years ago,and five others since this question
was raised, it cannot bave much weight.  But I will eall before you a
number of gentlemen of high eminence in their profession as analytical
chymists, who will state their utter renunciation of that theory. | awill
call, Dr, Nunneley, a fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons and a
professor; of chymistry, who attended the case at Leeds, which ™ has been
described to you, and Dr. Willinins, professor of materia medica at the
Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, for eighteen years surgeon to
the City of Dublin Hospital. Dr. Letheby, one of the ablest and most
distinguished men of science in this ?l‘&ﬂt city, Professor of Chymistry and
Toxicology in the Medical College of the London Hospital, and medical officer
of the city of London, will tell you that he rejects the theory as a heresy un-
worthy the beliel’ of scientific men. Dr. Nicholas Parker, of the College of
Physicians of London, and Professor of Medicine, Dr. Robinson, of the Col-
lege of Physicians, and Mr. Rogers, Professor of Chymistry, concur with Dr.
Lethehy.  Lastly, I will call Mr. William Herepath, of Bristol, probably the
most, eminent chymical analyst in this country, who also utterly rejects the
theory. All of those gentlemen contend that if not only half-a grain of
strychnine, but even 1-50th part or less has once entered into the human
frame, it can and must be discovered by the tests known to chymists, They
will tell you this, not as the result of a few experiments, for ever regretted,
upon five rabbits, but from a large experience as to the operation of the poison
upon the inferior animals, created, as you know, for the benefit of mankind,
and many of them from their experience as to its effects upon the human
system, I will satisfy you from their evidence, that if you admit the correct-
ness of the tests which were used, the only sale conclusion at which you can
arrive is that, strychnine not having been found in the body, it could never
have been there. They all agree, too, that no degree of putrefaction or fer-
mentation in the human system could so decompeose stryclinine that it should
no longer possess those qualities which cause it, in its undecomposed state, to
respond to chymical tests. I will now apply myself to a question which,
in my judgment, is of equal, if not of greater, importance—the question
whether in the second week of Nowember, 1855, the prisoner had a mo-
tive for the commission of this murder—a strong reason for desiring
that Cook should die, ' I never will believe that, unless it were made
clear that it was his interest to destroy Cook, you would come to
the conclusion that he had committed such a erime. It seems to
me abundantly clear upon the evidence that not only was it net
the interest of Palmer that Cook should die, but that the death of Cook
was the very worst calamity that could befal him, and that he could net
possibly be ignorant that it would be followed by bis own ruin. . That it was
tollowed by his immediate ruin we know. We know that at the time when
it is said he commenced to plot Cook’s death he was in a condition of the
oreatest embarrassment—an embarrassment which in its extreme intensity
1adl come upon him but recently—an embarrassment, too, in some degree
mitigated by the circumstance that the acceptances he is said to have forged
were those of his mother—a lady of large fortune living in the town. My
learned friend’s hypothesis is, that not until he wasin a state of the greatest
embarrassment did he wish to destroy.Cook. My learned friend stated to
© your % That, being in desperate ecircumstances, with ruin, disgrace, and
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punishment staring him in the face, which could only be averted hy means
of money, he took advantage of his intimacy with Cook, when Cook had be-
come the winner of a considerable sum, to destroy him, in order to obtain
possession of his money.” Let us test thistheory. Let us relieve our minds
for a moment. from the anxiety we must always feel when the life of a
fellow-creature is at stake, and, looking at it as a mere matter of’ husiness,
let us ask ourselves whether in the second week in November Palmer had
any motive to commit this crime. When a long correspondence is read
to a jury, who are without the same means of testing its importance
as the Judge or the counsel, they frequently do not attach that weight to it
which it deserves. But I watched the correspondence which was read to you
yesterday with an anxiety which no words can express, because I firmly
believed that in it the innocence of the prisoner lay concealed ; that it proved
not only that the prisoner bad no motive to kill Cook, but that Cook’s death
was ruin to him. Allow me to call your attention to the relation in which
these men stood to each other. They had been intimate as racing friends
for two or three years; they had had many transactions together; they were
jointly interested in at least one racehorse, Pyrrhine; they generally stayed
at the same hotels ; they were seen together upon almost all the racccourses
in the kingdom ; they were known to_ be connected in adventures upon the
same horses at the same races ; and although, Cook being dead, the mouth of
the prisoner being sealed, and transactions of this kind not being recorded in
regular books, it is impossible to give you positive evidence as to their
relations to one another, it is abundantly clear that they were very closely
connected. In August, 1855, money was wanted either by Cook or Palmer,
and Palmer applied to Pratt for it. Te seems to have wanted 2004, 10 make
up a larger sum, having already 190L in Pratt's hands; and he offered as
security for the advance his friend Mr. Cook, whom he described as a gentle-
man of respectability and substance. We do not know the exact state of
Cook’s affairs at that time. Such a fortune as he had might have been
thrown down ip a week with the life he was leading ; but a young man who
is reckless as to the mode in which he employs his money, and has onl
13,000L, may for a year or two pass before the world for a man of considerable
means. It is not every one who will goto Doctors' Commons to ascertain the
recise amount of the ?rﬂpert_-,r he has inherited. Mr. Cook, of Lutterworth,
ept his racehorses, lived® expensively, was known to have inherited a
fortune, and was altogether a person whose friendship was of con-
siderable importance to a man like Palmer. Recollect that I am not now
defending Palmer against the crime of forgery, noram I defending him against
the imputation of reckless improvidence in obtaining money at an enormous
discount. But as early as May, 1855, Palmer and Cook were thus circum-
stanced. What was their position in November ? The evidence of Pratt,
and the correspondence which he proved, can leave no doubt on our mmnds
upon that sutject. Among a mass of bills, amounting altegether to 11,500L,
there were two, of 2,000 cach, due the last week in October, two others,
amounting to 1,500, having become due some time before, but being held
over from month to month upon payment by Palmer, who was liable for
them, of what was called interest at the rate of 60 per cent. These three
sums—2,000L., 2,000, and 1,500/.—were the embarrassments which were
pressing upon him in the second weck in November, and, be it observed,
they were pressed upon him by a man who, although he would, doubtless,
have been glad to f;ﬂ his prineipal, would al-o, upon anythin like security,
have been very well pleased to continue to receive interest. Ifuw can capital,
if well secured, be better employed than in returning 40 or 60 per cent. ? In
this state of things Palmer, in answering to an urgent demand for money,
came up to town on the 27th of October. Pratt then insisted that if Palmer

could not pay one of the 2,0001. bills which had just become due he should

e
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pay instalments, in addition to the enormous interest charged npon if, and it
was agreed that 2501, should be paid down, 250L. upon the 31st of October,
and a further sum of 3004 as socon afterwards as possible, making a total
payment on account of that bill of 8001, to “ quiet” Pratt or his client, and

to induce him to let the bill stand over. On the 9th of November the
300l. was paid, and then a letter was written, to which I bez your par-
ticular attention. On the 13th of November, the day that Polestar
won the race, Pratt wrote to Palmer that the case (* Palmer v. Prince
of Wales Insurance Company”) had been laid before Sir F. Kelly,
that in the opinion of several secretaries of insurance offices the
company had nota leg to stand upon, and that the mere fact of the enormous
premium would go a great way to get a verdict. The letter concluded, —*1

count most positively on secing you on Saturday. Do, for both our sakes,
try and make up the amount to 1,000/, for, without it, I shall be unable to
renew the 1,500L due on the 9th.” Pratt had threatened to issue a writ
against Palmer’s mother. Palmer had almost gone upon his knees to beg him
not to do so, and this letter really meant, * Unless you give me 200/ more
and make up 1,000/., a writ shall be served upon your mother.” That letter is
written on the 13th of November. Palmer gets it at Rugelev, whither he
had gone from the race-course on the day that Polestar won. What does he
do? He instantly returns to Shrewsbury, gets there on Wednesday, sees
Cook. They say he doses him. We will see how probable that is presently.
Cook goes to bed in a state I will not deseribe, gets up next morning much
more sensible than he went to bed, goes upon the race-course, returns with
Palmer to Rugeley on the Thursday, goes to bed, gets up next morning still
uncomfortable, but able to go and dine with Palmer on that day (Friday).
On that day, the 16th of November, Palmer writes to Pratt—

«T am obliged to come to Tattersall's on Monday to the settling, so that T

shall not call and see you before Monday, but a friend of mine will call
and leave you 200 to-morrow, and I will give you the remainder on
Monday.”
The person who ordinarily settled Cook's accounts was a person named
Fisher, a wine merchant in Shoe-lane, who was called first in this case;
and on that very day (the day on which Cook dined with Palmer) Cook
writes to him :—

It is of great importance, both to Mr. Palmer and myself, that a sum of
5001 should be paid to a Mr. Pratt, of 5, Queen-street, May-fair, to-morrow,
without fail. 300Z has been sent up to-night, and, if you will be kind enough
to pay the other 200/ to-morrow on the receipt of this, yon will greatly
oblige me, and I will give it to you on Monday at Tattersall's,

"There is a postseript, which T will read, but upon which T will at present
make no observation—*1 am much hetter.” What is the fair inference
from these letters?. I submit that the inference is, that at that date Cook
was making himself very useful to Palmer. Prats was pressing for an ad-
ditional sum of 200L. TPalmer communicated . his diﬂ":cuft}r to Gook, who at
once wrote to his agent to pay the 200l More thaun this,—the 300/. referred
to in the letter as having been paid “ to night” [The Attorney-General.—
“ the other day "] means one of these things —it either means the 300/ which
had been sent up on the 9th of Noyember (and if it did, then Cook knew all
about it—probably had an intcrest in Palmer’s transactions with ' Pratt); or
it was a false representation, put forward merely for the purpose of putting
a good face upon the matter to Fisher; or it means that on that day 300.
had somehow or other come to their hands, and had been by Cook made
applicable to the convenience of Palmer. Whichever way you take it it
proves to demonstration that Palmer and Cook were playing in cach other’s
hands with respect to that heavy encumbrance upon Palmer, and that Palmer
could rely upon Cook as bis fast friend in any such difficulties. Although,
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when we take the sum total of 11,5007, his difficulties sound large, yet the
difficulty of the day was nothing like that, because, in the reckless spend-
thrift way in which they were living, putting on bills from month to month,
and paying an enormous interest {]EI‘ annum, the actual outlay upon the day
of putting on was mot considerable. I submit that this letter shows that on
the day on which it is said that Palmer was poisoning Cook, the 16th of
November, Cook was acting towards him in a most friendly manner, was
acauainted with his eircumstances, and willing to relieve his embarassments,
and actually did devote a portion of his earnings to Palmer's purposes. I
will, however, make this plainer, Part of the case of my learned friend is
that Palmer, leaving Cook ill in bed at Rugeley, ran up to town on the Mon-
day, and -intending to despatch Cook that night obtained ]i::-ssessinn of his
Shrewsbury winmngs by telling Herring, who was not Cook’s usual agent,
that he was authorised by Cook to settle his Shrewsbury transactions at
Tattersall's. On the Monday, as on the Tuesday, Cook, although generally
indisposed, was during the greater part of the day quite well. Ile got up and
SAW II:I is trainer and two jockeys., The theory of the case for the prosecution
is that he was quite well, becanse Palmer was not there to dose him. You
will sec how grossly and contemptibly absurd that is presently. Being well
on Monday and Tuesday, do not you think that, had not Cook known that
Palmer did not intend to go to his regular agent, Fisher, he would have been
very much surprised that he on Tuesday morning received no letter from that

entleman, informing him of the settlement of his transactions? And could
%ahm:r, as a man clalfg business, have relied upon an absence of such surprise
and alarm on the part of Cook ? We have the evidence of Fisher, that he,
at Cook’s request, contained in the letter of the 17th November, advanced the
200/, which he would, had he settled Cook's affairs, have been entitled to
deduct from the money he would have received at Tattersall’s on the Monday.
He did not settle those affairs, and the money has never been paid. That
explains the whole transaction. Cook and Palmer understood each other per-
fectly well. I¢ was] the interest of both of them that Palmer should be re-
lieved from the pressure of Pratt. Accordingly, Cook said, “ This settlement
shall not go through Fisher’s hands, 'We have got him to pay the 200/ fo
Pratt, but it shall not be repaid to him on Mnnrlg. I will let Palmer go to
London, and settle the whole thing through Herring.” That was done,
and accordingly Fisher has never been paid. There isa letter to which T will
particularly call your attention. It is one sent by Palmer to Pratt on the
19th of November, 1855 :—* You will place the 50/ which I have just paid
you, and the 450L you will receive by Mr. Herring—together 500/.—and
the 200(. you received on Saturday.” [That is the 200/, which Fisher paid to
Pratt at the express request of Cook.] *towards payment of my mother’s
aceeptance for 2,0007. due on the 25th of October, making paid to this day the
sum of 1,3000" Taking that letter with the one which Cook wrote to Fisher
on Friday, the 16th, can you doubt that on that day Cook was a most conve-
nient friend to Palmer, who could not by possibility do without him? It
does not end there. Cook died at one o'c ﬂl‘ﬂ‘. on the morning of Wednesday,
the 21st of November. If we want to know what influence that death had
upon Palmer, we must take it from the letters. On the 22nd of November
—and I am sure you will make some allowance for a day having elapsed
from the death of Cook—Palmer writes to Pratt, “Ever since I saw you I
have been fully engaged with Cook and not able to leave home.” Unless he
murdered Cook, that is the truest sentence that ever was penned. He watched
the bedside of his friend. He was with him night and day. He attended
him as a brother. He called his friends around him. He did all that the
maost aflectionate solicitude could do for a friend, unless he was plotting his
death.

“ Ever since I saw you I have been fully engaged with Cook, and not able
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to leave home. I am sorry to say, after all, he died this day. So you had
better write to Saunders; but mind you I must have IMolestar, if it can be so
arranged ; and, should any one call upon you to know what money or moneys
Cook ever had from you, don't answer the question till T have seen you. 141

“I will send you the 75/. to-morrow, and as soon as I have been to Manches-
ter you shall hear about other moneys. I sat up two full nizhts with Cook,
and am very much tired out.” .

And did he not ? Was it not true? It may not be true that he sat up the
whole of the nights, but he was ready (o be called if Cook should be'ill.
Elizabeth Mills says that after the first serious paroxysm on the Monday night
she left Palmer in the armchair sleeping by the side of the man whom the
prosecution say he had attempted to murder. No; murderers do not sleep by
their victims. What was Pratt’s answer to Palmer's letter ? I will read it that
you may see what quick ruin Cook’s death brought upon Palmer.  That answer,
dated November 22nd, is as follows : — ~

“I have your note, and am greatly disappointed at the non-reeceipt of the
money as promised, and at the vague assurances as to any money. T can under-

stand, "tis true, that your being detained by the illness of your friend has been
the cause of not sending up the larger amount, but the smaller sum you ought to
have sent. If anything unpleasant occurs you must thank yourself.

“The death of Mr. Cook will now compel you to look about as to the pay-
ment of the bill for 500{. on the 2nd of December.

“T have written to Saunders, informing him of my eclaim, and requesting to

know by return what claim he has for keep and training. 1 send down copy of
bill of sale to Crubble to see it enforced.”
So that the first effect of Cook's death was, in the opinion of Pratt, who
knew ‘all about it, to saddle Palmer with the sum of 500, Now, I will under-
take to satisfy you that the transactions out of which that bill for 5007 arose
were transactions for Cook's benefit, and in which Palmer lent his name to
accommodate Cook, upon whose death he became primarily and alone responsi-
ble for the bill. Let me state the view which my learned friend (the Attorney-
Greneral) takes of that transaction, because T intend to meet his case foot by
foot, and I shall, T hope, convince him that, if he had had the option, he would
never have taken up this case—the Crown would never have appeared in it.
The universal feeling in the country was, however, such asto render it impossible
that the case should not be tried, after the verdict of wilful murder had been
obtained upon the evidenee of Dr. Taylor ; and the Crown felt that it would be
neglecting its solemn duty to protect every one of the Queen’s subjects, if it did
not take care that a man, against whom there was so much prejudice—a man
leading the life which Palmer has led, disgraced, as it is said, by forgeries to a
large amount, and a gambler by profession, should have a fair trial. There was
no way of securing that, as my learned friend at once saw, no possibility of the
prisoner’s being saved, except by giving to the counsel who defended him all the
information which my learned friend himself possessed. The view which my
learned friend takes of the 3004 transaction, the theory on which he thinks it
probable that Palmer plotted the death of Cook is this :—

“ Pratt still declining to advance the money Palmer proposed an assignment
by Cook of two racchorses, one called Polestar, which won the Shrewsbury
| Races, and another called Sirius., That assignment was afterwards executed by

LCook in favour of Pratt, and Cook, therefore, was clearly entitled to the money
which was raised upon that security, which realised 3731 in cash, and a wine
warrant for 65. Elmer contrived, however, that the money and, the wine
warrant should be sent to him, and not to Cook. Mr. Pratt sent down his
cheque to Palmer in the couutry on a stamp, as the act of Parliament required,
and he availed himself of the opportunity now afforded by law of striking cut

_the word * bearer’ and writing * order,’ the effect of which was to necessitate the
endorsement of Cook on the back of the cheque. It was not intended by
" Palmer that those fpruceeds should fall into Cook's hands, and accordingly he
forged the name of John Parsons Cook on the back of that cheque. Cook never

No. 8,
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received the money, and you will see that, within ten days from that period
when he came to his end, the bill in respect of that transaction, which was at three
months, would have' fallen due, when it must haye become apparent that

Palmer received the money, and that, in order to obtain it, he had forged th
Eadorsnmett P TOOEM i ; rged the

That is the view whieh the prosecution take of the ease, and I think I shall be
able to satisfv vou that it cannot possibly be the correct one. We know from
Pratt exactly what took place. Patiner wrote to him saying:—

« T have undertaken to get the enclosed biil cashed for Mr. Cook. You had
the 200¢. bill of his. He is a very good and respousible man. . Will you doit?
T will put my name to the bill.”
So that it was represented to Pratt as a transaction for the agcommodation of
Cook. Pratt's answer to this is:—

«Tf Mr. Cook chooses to give me security, I have no objection ; but he must
execute a bill of sale on his two horses, Polestar and Sirius ; more, he must ex-
ccute a power of attorney, and his signature to both must be witnessed by some
solicitor in the country, so that I may be quite sure that it is a really valid secu-

rity. If Cook will do that T will give him 375/ in money, and a wine -

warrant for G50, ; which, charging 10/ for expenses, and 50/. for discount, will
make 500L."

There can be no doubt that Cook attached preat value to Sirius and Polestar,
which mare was, probably, then booked for l%lﬁ engagements in which she won
go much money at Shrewsbury ; and it is to the last degree improbable that he
would have executed this bill' of sale, with a power ol attorney to enable the
mortgagee or assignee to enforce it at once effectually, and yet have received no
money. Would he, if such had been the case, have remained quiet to the day
of his death, and never have written to Pratt to say that although he had sent
him the required documents he had never received the money ¥  Cook was as
much 1 want of money as Palmer was: and would he thus have thrown away
his money ? Is it credible that if Palmer had miaappruﬂriated the cheque he
could for three months have kept Cook in ignorance of the transaction? Ts it

not probable ihat Cook’s mame was written on the cheque with his full know- -

ledge and consent? It is not suggested that there was any attempt 10 imitate
his_bandwriting. Is it not more probable that Cook, who I will prove to you
from the letter wanted ready money, and who would probably be put to incon-
venience by receiving only a cheque, which he would not get cashed for a day or
two, took the ready money—3154, which Pratt sent at the same time to Palmer

—_and that Palmer took the cheque? On the 6th of September Palmer wrote to

Pratt :—

« ] received the cheque for the 1007, and will thank you to let me have the

3151. by return of post, if possible; if not, send it me (certain) by Monday
night's post, to the Post-office, Doncaster, - I now return, you Cook's gagn
signed, &¢., and he wants the money on Saturday, if he can have it ; but ve
not promised it for Saturday. I told him he ghould have it on Tuesda morning
at Doncaster ; ‘so please enclose it with mine, in eash, in a registered letter, and

he must pay for it being registered. Do not let it be later than Monday night's |

post to Doncaster.”

Qo that Palmer asked that it should be sent like his own, Cook, according to
the letter, wanting it in cash. Pratt replied to Palmer, acknowledging the
receipt of the documents, and promising that he would send him his money to
Doncaster on the Monday, and would endeavour to let Cook have his at the |
same time. On the 9th of September Palmer wrote to Pratt :— :

«You must send me, for Mr. Cook, by Monday night's post (to the Post-
office, Doneaster), 385l. instead of 875l., and the wine warrant, so that I can
hand it to him with the 375/, and that will be allowing you 50L for the dis-
count, &c. I shall then get 104, and I expect I shall have to take to the wine,
and give him the money ; but I shall not do so if you do not send 3857, and be
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enough to enclose my 3131, with it, in cash, in a registered letter, and direet
it to me at the Post-office, Doncaster.”

In these letters there is an intimation that Cook wanted the money on the
Saturday. He was inconvenienced by only getting a cheque upon London,
which he could not immediately change; and, therefore, Palmer gave him
the moneyiand took the cheque. It is remarkable that, when we look to
the banking account of Palmer at Rugeley, we find that the 3757 is paid
in by somebody to his account, but that the 315l is not paid in to his
account at all. The bill was accepted for Cook’s accommodation, Cook
%:W security for it, and he never, during the three months. which elapsed

fore his death, complained to Pratt that he had not veceived the money for it.
I submit that the fair version of the transaction is that which is given in a
letter from Palmer—that Palmer let Cook have the cash, and himself took the
cheque, having Cook’s authority to put his name at the back of it. How else can
you aecount for the silence of UWE, and for the fact that the 3750 is paid into
the Rugeley Bank, but there is no trace of the 31507 This being so, the result
of Cook’s death was to make Palmer liable for the 5001, bill, on the back of which
he had put his name. Therefore, I submit to you, that on the second motive
suggested by my learned friend (the Attorney-General), the case has entirely
fatled. In addition to this, however, we find from these letters the difficulties
which the death of Cook brought upon Palmer. We find the disappointment of
Pratt that he could send no more money, the bill for 5001, the danger of losing
Polestar, whieh Palmer very much wanted to have, and which Pratt would.
unless paid the 5004, bring to the hummer in order to realise his seeurity ; and
we find that inquiries were at once apprehended from Cook’s friends as to the
moneys which Pratt had paid to Cook, and the probable value which the latter
had received for the endorsements and acceptances which he had given. There
is. another, although not so strong a reason, why it is improbable that Palmer
should have desired the death of Cook. Mr. Weatherby has told us to-day that,
although it frequently happens that the moneys won at a race are sent up by the
clerk of the comrse in a week after the race, yet that does not always happen. On
Tuesday, November the 20th, on the night of which day he died, Cook, who was
then perfectly sensible, perfectly comfortable and happy, and enjoying the society
of his friend Mr. Jones, gaveto Palmer a cheque for 3501, upon Weatherby's, If
Palmer killed Cook, and it happened that Fraill had not sent up the money so
as to be there by Wednesday morning, Weatherby’s would not pay the cheque,
nor would they have cashed it if they had reecived information that Cook had
died during the night. It actually happened that the cheque when presented was
not paid, because Fraill did not send up the money. Was it probable that
Palmer, baving got from Cook a cheque for 380L, would have run the risk ef
Josing his money by destroying him the same night? It is suggested that he
obtained this cheque {raudulently, and then, lest Cook should detect the fraud,
destroyed him, ‘That was not likely to enswer his purpose.  IHe might be
 certain that directly the breath was out of Cook’s body Jenes would go to Mr.
‘Stevens; that Stevens and Bradford, Cook’s brother-in-law, would go down to
Rugeley ; that the death being sudden there would most likely be a post-inortem
examination ; and that, instead of settling for the 500L bill and the 3501, cheque -
with Cook, he would have to settle with hard men of business, men who cared
nothing for him, who would probably look upon him as a “leg” upon the turf,
and would regard neither his feelings nor his interests, but would let him go to
‘Tuin any way he might, not stirring a finger to save him. Is it probable that a
shrewd intelligent man of business wonld make such a choice as that ? More than
this, we know that at that very time Herring held one bill for 5001, and three
for 2004 each, to which there were the names of both Palmer and Cook, and for
all of which, cither the whole or in part, Cook must, unless he rushed to his own
ruin, provide. If Palmer put Cook to death, he immediately became solely liable,
not only for these bills, but for that, as security, for which the bill of sale was
-executed on Sirigs and Polestar, which would not be so easily renewed
-as those for the large sums on which the enormous usury was paid. That bill
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would very likely soon find its way to his mother, and t.l:lat_it should do so

would not” suit Palmer, for his mother is a respectable and serious person, who,

although she loved her son, did not like, and gave no encouragement to, his
sambling; nor did that excellent and most honourable man who stands by him
Z_ hi¢ brother, who was estranged from him for a length of time until this

calamity came upon him, simply because he disapproved the gambling by which
e lived.  Cook being dead there was, therefore, no one to save Palmer from
ruin, for in all this voluminous evidence there is not the smallest trace that there
was any one else in the world who would lend Palmer his name or would assist
him to obtain money. If it be, as it is stated, a fact that he forged the name of
his mother, is not that conclusive evidence that he had no other resource but the
good nature—the easiness, ]'lmrhaps the folly, of Cook ? " Isit then credible that
under such cirenmstances he would have desired to bring upon himself not
merely the creditors and exccutors of Cook, but their solicitors—men who in the
discharge of their duty to their clients can have no sympathy for any one and
with whom no arrangement is })Uﬁﬁihlﬂ? 1 have, therefore, 1 hope, shown you
that Palmer had an interest in the life of Cook. But more than that, was it safe
for him that Cook should die? Palmer was a man who had ashrewd knowledge
of the world and a knowledge of his profession, and, among other things; of
chymistry. My learned friends have put in a book which was found in his
house, and among other notes one i which there is this, “ Strychnia kills by
causing tetanic fixing of the respiratory muscles.” In the same book there are
many other notes.

Lord Campbell.—The Attorney- General stated that he did not place much
reliance npon that note.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—My learned friend did not press this note, but he thought
it was evidence which ought to be before you (the jury). Iuse it to satisty you
that Pakner had studied his profession sufficiently to know, and knew perfectly
well, that if strychnine were administered it would in all probability kill the
victim in horrible convulsions, in a very short time, and in a way so striking as
to be the talk of a small neighbourhood like Rugeley for a month or more—time
enough to alarm everybody and provoke inquiry into the cireumstances of the
death, which must certainly, in all probability, end in the detection of guilt, If that
is so, was he at that time so circumstanced as to render it safe {or him to run
the visk of such suspicions? Ilis brother, Walter Palmer, had died n the
month of August; and, unless ‘his mother forgave him, or recognised the
acceptance, his only hope of extraction from his difficulties lay in ttqu from
the Prince of Wales office the money due to him as assignee of the policy on-
his brother's life. That his chance of getting that money was good is shown
by the fact that he refused the effer of the office to return the premium, and
that it was upon it that Pratt had obtained the discounts, and had resolved,
under the direction of Palmer, to put itiin suit. It was really the only
unpledged property which he bad, and how he was situated with regard to it
appears from the letters and from the evidence, The insurance company, '
aunoyed at being called upon to pay o large a sum, were determined to do zall
they could to resist it. They accordingly sent Inspector Ficld and his man tﬂi
Stafford to make inquiries.  They ‘conld mot do this without talking, and this -
had been going on for some time. [To show that this had been the case the

—
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learned Serjeant read the deposition of the witness Deane, who was examined
yesterday.]~ So that just before the death of Cook, Palmer knew himself to be !
the subject of what he appeared from his actions toconsider a most unfounded
. and unwarrantable suspicion. He put the policy into the hands of an attorney
to enforce payment of the sum due upon it. The office met the claim by
insinuations and inguiries which were n?‘ a nature to destroy his character and.
to bring upon his head: the suspicion of a murder. The pressure by Pratk
upon Palmer to meet the 2,0001. bills did not commence until the office isputed
the payment of that policy. ~All went as smooth as possible as long a.s%ratt_
held what he believed to be a good security, but when they began to dispute

that Pratt writes to Palmer and tells him that the state of things is changed.



117

After saying that nothing can be done towards compelling the office to pay until
the 24th, he says in his letter of the 2nd of October :—

“ This, you wjll observe, quite alters arrangements, and I therefore must
request that you make pre Jarations for meeting the two bills due at the end
of this monthis '« .. . Jn any event, bear in mind that you must be pre-
pared to cover your mother's acecptances for the 4,000L, due at the end of the
month.’

There was the pinch. The office would not pay, and bills for 4,000L were
coming due. If anything oceurred to increase the suspicions of the office—
which was very unwilling to pay—all chance of the 13,000l was lost. That
18,0001, is sure to be paid unless that man (pointing to the prisoner) is conviected
of murder.  As sure as he is saved, and saved I believe he will be, that 13,000.
will be paid.. There is no defence—no pretence of a defence.  The premium
taken was ‘an enorimous one, and that 13,0001 is good for him and will pay all his
ereditors. T'his correspondence, of which my learned friend must have taken
a view different from any which I can take, but which T am sure he would have
put in, whatever had been his view of it—this correspondence saves the prisoner
1€ there is common sense in man. ere is another letter from Pratt to Palmer,
dated October the 6th :—

T have your note, acknowledging receipt by your mother of the 2,0001.
acceptance, due the 2nd October. Why not let her acknowledge ‘it herself ?
You must really not fail to come up at once, if it be for'the purpese of
arranging for the payment of the two Bills at the end of the month. Remember
T can make fio terms for théir renewal, and they must Le paid. T will, of course,
hold the policy for so much as it is worth, but in the present position of the
affuir, no.one, except your mother who is liable upon the bills, ean look upon it
as a secarity. '[That was because Simpson and Field were down there making
inquiries.] ~ Do not neglect attending to this, fur under a recent act bills of
exchange are now recovered in a few days. You know and can appreciate my
conduct in avoiding all trouble and annoyance to your mother ; but to that there
is ' limit, I'eannot by any representation be a party to indueing anybody to
believe that sceurity exists where there is doubt upon the point. P.5. T cast no
doubt upon the capability of the office to pay, but in the natare of things, with
s0 large an amount in guestion, it is not to be surprised at, ify they think they
have grounds of objection, they should temporize by delay.”

Doos not this show that on the 6th of October suspicions were hanging over
Palmer's head, which would come down with irresistible momentum, and erush
him if there were a suspicion of another violent and sudden death ? Do you
think that a man who had written in his manual what were the effeets of
strychnine would risk such a scene as that poison would develope in the presence
of the dearest and best friend of Cook—a man whom he could not influence—
and a medical man, who loved Cook so well as to sleep in the same room with
him, that he might be ready to attend him in case he needed assistance? Is
that common sense? Are you going to enforce such a theory as that which Dr.
A. Taylor propounded, as to the effects which strychnine produces upon rabbits ?
Tmpossible—perfectly impossible ! I will prove the position in which Palmer
islﬁuorl still more elearly. ~On the 10th of October Pratt, in a letter addressed to
1m, says :—

1 may add that T hear they (the insurance eompany) have been making
inquiries'in every direction.”
To be sure, they had.  Field, the detective officer, had been at Stafford, where
he could make inquiries as well as at Rugeley.
« But on what they ground their dissatisfaction is as yet a mystery. In any
event no step can be taken to compel payment until after the 4th of December.”
It is plain that suspicions were then rife, or that attempts were made to excite
suspicions against him with regard to the death of \'}«'ulter Palmer.  On the
18th of October Pratt enclosed to Palmer a letter from the solicitor of the
company, stating that the directors had determined upon declining to pay the



118

amount claimed ; but that, although the facts disclosed in the course of their

inquiries would have warranted their retention of the premiums which had been

paid, they were prepared to refund them to any one who might be shown to be
legally entitled to them. Palmer determined that the money should be paid ;
and a case was laid before Sir Fitzroy Kelly. If anything happened to Cook
by foul play he had no more chance of receiving this 13,0001, than of ﬂ‘htaining
130,000L, From all this I infer, not only that Palmer had no interest in Cook’s
death, but that he had a direct pecuniary interest in his living. 1 think it is
impossible ‘that I should be so much mistaken as that a considerable portion
of what I have advanced should not be’worthy of your attention, and T
therefore submit to yom, to the court, and to my learned friend, that the
case, as to this supposed motive for the crime, has failed. We now pro-
ceed to the facts of the case, and in considering them it will be necessary
to group them without entire reference to dates. I will first inquire
whether the symptoms with which Cook was attacked, and the appearances
presentedd by his body after death, were consistent with the theory of
his having died by strychnia poison, and inconsistent with that of his
having died from some other natural cause. It is under this head that I shall
discuss, I hope not unduly, the medical evidence in this case, and present to you
such observations as oceur to me on the witnesses who have been called to
support the view which the Crown takes of the effect of that medieal testimony.
Cook died at one o'clock in the morning of ‘Wednesday, November 21, in the
presence of Jones, It was no sooner light than Jones posted to town and saw
his stepfather, Mr. Stevens. Mr, Stevens went down to Rugeley and was in-
troduced to Palmer. Palmer went with him to the Talbot Arme, and uncovered
the corpse—a bold thing to do if he had murdered him. The body was so
little emaciated or affeeted by disease that Stevens wondered he conld be dead ;
but he observed some little rigidity about the muscles. Stevens's suspicions
were roused ; he asked Palmer to dinner, questioned him about the betting
book. got angry that it was met produced, dissembled with Palmer, cross-
examined him,; went up to town, met him at Euston-square, again at Wolver-
hampton, at Rugby, and at Rugeley. At last he gave him to understand that
he suspected him, and intended to probe the whole matter to the bottom. He
resolved to have a post-mortem examination, and that examination took place.
The appearances presented by the body after death were such as might have
been anticipated by those who were acquainted with his counrse of life, his
#eneral health, his pursuits, and, not to say anything hard of him, his vices, and
the drinking, racing company which he kept. His father had died at thirty
years of age, his mother about the same age, a few years after her second
marriage ; his sister was dead; and he himself was affected with a pulmonary
disorder. Cook bad been suffering for a long time from a sore throat, and bore
about him all the signs and indications of having led a licentious life. Indeed,

he appears to have been about as dissipated a young man as ean be well imagined. '

I do not mean to say that he was utterly depraved, or that he was lost to all
sense of honour and propriety ; but it does not admit of doabt that his manner
.of living was wild, riotous, and extravagant. His complaints indicated his ex-
cesses, and he was avowedly addicted to pursuits the reverse of commendable.
When his body was opened there were évidences of a soreness of the tongue. ' I
do not go the length of saying that there was anything to lead to the inference
that there was an actual sore at the time of death, but there were follicles and
s?rmptoms, if not of a recent, certainly of a not very remote uleer. The inside of
the mouth had been ulcerated, and the skin taken off on both sides. There is
abundant evidence to show that Cook was himself of opinion that these symp-
toms were syphilitic. He could scarcely be persuaded to obey the instruections
of Dr. Savage, the respectable and very competent physician whom he consulted,
and, though it is admitted that he was not “ fool enongh to go to quack doctors,”
it 1s very certain that he was weak enouih to follow the eounsels of ever medi-
cal man who would venture to give him advice, when eoincided with his own
opinion, that mercury was the best thing for his eomplaint. The spots which are

N
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‘the fatal characteristics of his dreadful malady, had already made their appear-
anceon his body, and he was haunted by the apprehension that some day, as he
was running abount the race-course, his face would besuddenly covered over with
‘copper blotehes, which would leave no doubt on the minds of those who saw
them as to the true nature of his disease:. Many a man similarly affected has
retrieved his position, redeemed his character, and become a virtuous member
of society.  Far be it from me, then, to say one word that would press with
undue severity on the memory of the dead ; but no false delicacy shall deter meé
from,the discharge of my duty ; and I make these remarks not in an unkind or
censorious spirit, but for the sake of truth, and because the state of Cook’s health
is a most important element in this inquiry. Itis certain that it washis own
opinion that he was suffering from virulent syphilis, and in this opinion the
medical men who originally attended him did not hesitate to concur. That he
did not correct his habits is evident from the fact that within a recent period of
his death he had again become diseased. When his holy was opened on the
second examination, there were found between the delieate membrane which the
spinal marrow covers and is called the arachnoeid, and embedded to some extent
in the next covering, not so delicate, termed the dura mafer, granules about one
inch in extent; and I will satisfy you, upon the evidence of witnesses whose
authority will not be questioned, that if' the body had been opened in the dead-
house of any hospital in this metropdlis those granules would have been regarded
as symptoms affording conclusive explanation of the cause of death. Such, then,
was the condition of Cook’s bealth—a condition but partially and imperfectly
revealed by the first post-mortem examination. That examination was not
conducted with the same minuteness and precision that ecircumstances
rendered necessary on. a subsequent occasion, and the syphilitic disease was
neither ascertained nor suspected. The stomach was taken out, and youn have
heard the suggestion, which, were it not that' the court has ruled it to be of no
significance, 1 should have been prepared to disprove, that Palmer attempted to
interfere with the operation by shoving against the medieal man engaged in it.
The inference sought to be deduced was, that some of the stomach escaped from
the jar ; but we have the evidence of Dr. Devonshire himself that such was not
the fact. None of it did escape, and it-was sent up in its entirety to London,
there to be analysed by Dr. Taylor and Dr. Eees. Tlose gentlemen examined
it with the knowledge that, ﬂwin%l to the report of Palmer having parchased a
fatal drug from Mr. Roberts on the day of the death, there was a suspicion of
foul  play. Mr. Stevens talked of the fact to Dr. Taylor, and, with the con-
sciousness of 1t on his mind, that gentleman wrote a letter attributing the death
to antimony.  [Dr. Taylor intimated dissent.] Well, if the letter is not to' be
so understood, it is at all events susceptible of thisinterpretation—that the death
may have been caused by antimony. - Dr. Taylor attends the coroner’s inquest,
which, in all probability, is held in conscquence of his own letter. He hears the
evidence of Jones, Roberts, and Mills, and it is but natural to presume that
these are the witnesses whose testimony has the greatest influence on his opinion,
He forms his judgment on the evidence of chambermaids, waitresses, and house-
keepers, and contrary to the opinion of the medieal man who attended Cook in
his last illness (for be it remembered he had no encouragement from Mr. Jones,
the surgeon, of Lutterworth, a man of age and character to form a sound deci-

sion on the case) ; he comes boldly and at once to the conclusion that his original
notion about antimony having been the cause of death was a mistake, and then
he has the incredible imprudence—an imprudence which has ‘necessitated this
trial—or at all events rendered it necessary that it should take placein this form
and place—to declare upon his oath to the coroner’s jury that he believes that
the Eills given to Cook on Monday and Tuesday contained strychnine, and that
Cook was consequently poisoned. That evidence of his is carried on the wings
of the press into. every house in the United Kingdom. It becomes known
throughout the, length and breadth of the land that Dr. Taylor, a man
who has devoied his life to science, a man of the highest personal character,
and who stands well with his medical friends, has declared—not as a conjec-
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w37 mark vou, mor as a reserved opinion delivered in a private
i:;ﬁ :En:u}::" e vﬂmste diseretion might be relied on—but, that in the
public room of a public inn, in a little village where everything that oceurs
is known, he has declared upon his solemn oath that it is his belief that
Cook died because pills containing strychnine were administered to him on
the nights of Monday and Tuesday. He had himself failed to discover the
faintest traces of strychnine, yet. at the coroner’s inquest he had the hardihood
to declare his conviction that the pills contained stl:}rchnme, and that Cook died
of them. His evidence is neither consistent with itself nor with the opinion of
Mr. Jones. He takes upon him to pronounce positively, in the face of the wm:ld.,,
that Cook's disease was nothing else than tetanus, and tetanus, too, of the kind
that can be produced by poison only, ar!d that poison E.t.rj.r(ihn_me. Such was DF.
Taylor's testimony ; and on such testimony F.l]e coroner’s jury n:‘:turned their
verdict. But, merciful Heaven! in what position are we placed for the safety
of our own lives and those of owr families 1f, on evidence such as this, men are
to be put upon their trial for foul murder as often as a sudden death oceurs in
any household! If science is to be allowed to come and dogmatize in our
courts—and not science that issuceessful in its operations or exaet in its nature,
but science that is baffled by its own tests, and bears upon its forehead the
motto, * A little learning is a dangerous thing"—if| I say, seience su}:h a:athls 18
to be suffered to dogmatize in our courts, ahd to utter judgments which its own
rocesses fail to vindicate, life is no longer secure, and there is thrown upon
judges and jurymen a weight of responsibility too grievous for human nature
to endure. If Dr. Taylor had detected poison ‘by his own tests he, with his
long experience in toxicological studies, would have been an excellent wit-
ness for the Crown; but he has not found the poison, and not having
seen the patient, and knowing nothing of his death-bed symptoms be-
yond what he gathered from the evidence of an ignorant servant girl
and of Mr. Jones, whose testimony does not show that he agrees with him
in opinion. Dr. Taylor thinks himself justified in declaring upon his oath in
a public court that the pills contained strychnine, and that Cook was pmsunE[.L
1f verdicts are to bie moulded on testimony such as this, what medical practi-
tioner is safe ¥ On what ground does Dr. Taylor vindicate l'!is opinion He
does not appear to have ever seen one solitary case of strychmine in the human
subject, yet, with the full knowledge that the mnsequencea.of his assertion
might be disastrous to the prisoner at the bar, he has the audacity to assert that
the pills, which for anything that he knows to the contrary were the same that
Dr, baurford prepared, contained strychnine, and that Cook was poisoned by it.
I have quoted the sentiment “a little learning is a dangerous thing,” and
assuredly to no science is that maxim so applicable as to the medical. Of all
God’s works there iz no other which so eloqﬁtently attests our entire dependence
on Him and our own utter nothingness as that mortal coil in which we live, and
breathe, and have our being. We are struck with amazement as we contem-
plate it. We feel, we see, we hear; yet the instant that we attempt to give a
reason for these sensations our path is crossed by the mystery of creation, and
all we know is that God created man—that He is our Omnipotent Maker and we
the work of His hands. Yet we fancy that we can penetrate all mysteries, and
there are no bounds to onr arrogance. There has been much talk in thisinquiry
of the two kinds of tetanus—idiopathic and traumatie. Dr. Todd, urged by
the Court to explain the former, deseribed it as * constitutional.” Perhaps
“self-generating” would have done as well, but let that pass. DBut how is our
knowledge advanced by translating ““idiopathic” as constitutional? It is easy
to give an English translation of that Greek compound, but the thing is to
explain what the translation means. ' What is the meaning of the phrase *con-
stitutional tetanus #”
Lord Campbell.—Tetanus not oecasioned by external injury.
i 3 A . 4
Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Just so, my Lord, or in other words tetanus not referable
to any known cause. But, in truth, idiopathic means in a general sense *un-
accountable.”  Not that constitutional tétanus is always and invariably so, but




i21

that cases of tetanus do continually occur of which you can only suspect the
cause and attribute it by hypothesis to a “cold,” or some other vague accident.
Tn such cases you say that the disease is idiopathic, not traumatic. The Crown
will have it that Cook’s was the tetanus of poison, but it is almost an
assumption to say that it was tetanus at all. That he died of convulsions,
or - immediately ‘after them, is certain, and that they were convulsions
similar to those from which he suffered on the preceding night is beyond
all doubt. But what pretence is there for positively asserting that they
were tetanus at all? The evidence of Mr. Jones, fairly interpreted cannot be
construed otherwise than as intimating an impression that they were convulsions
that partook of the tetanic character. That might be, and yet the malady might
fiot be tetanus. It is bad reasoning—most defective logic—to argue without
positive proof of the fact that the disease was tetanus, and no other tetanus in the
world than that produced by poison. Following the trail dragged for them by
the toxicologists, the Crown have thought proper to impute the death of this
man to the poison of strychnine. Tt is for them to prove the fact. We contest
it, but it by no means follows that we should be bound to explain the death on
other grounds. If we can satisfy you that this man was assailed by any one of
the numerous kinds of eonvulsions to which humanity is liable, and that be was
Hsphgxiated or deprived of life when writhing in some sudden spasm or paroxysm,
we shall have done all that can in fairness be demanded of us, unless, indeed, the
Crown shall be prepared to prove that Cook's symptoms were irreconcileable
with any other doctrine than that of death by strychnine. This they have not
done and cannot do. I propose to call your attention to the statements of the
witnesses Mills, and Jones, with respect to the symptoms observed in Cook on
the evenings of Monday and Tuesday, and, having Ennc so, I will submit to your
candid judgment whether those symptoms may not be more naturally accounted
for by attributing them to convulsions which are not tetanic at all, and most
assuredly not tetanic in the distinetive character of strychnine, but which may
rather be classed under those ordinary convulsions by means of which it con-
stantly pleases Providence to strike men down without leaving upon their bodies
the faintest indieations from which the cause of death may be inferred. You
have it on the anthority of medical men of the highest distinetion that it some-
timies oceurs that men in the prime of life and in the full vigour of health are
smitten to death by convulsions that leave no trace upon the body of the suffcrer.
The statements of Mills and Jones are such as to render it entirely unnecessary
to resort to the hypothesis of any kind of tetanus, much less to that of stryeh-
nine, in accounting for the death of Cook. Regard being bad to the delicate
state of his health; and to the continually recurring derangements of his consti-
tution, it is far safer to conclude that he died of ordinary convulsions than of any
description of tetanus, whether traumatic, idiopathic, or that produced by poison.
Nor must we omit to inquire into the state of his mind. IHe went to Shrewsbury
races in the imminent peril of returning from them a ruined man. His father-
in-law, Mr. Stevens, assured Palmer that there would not be four thousand
shillings for those who had claims on his estate. From the necessity he was
under of raising money at an enormous discount, we may easily infer that he was
in desperate difficulties, and that, unless some sudden success on the turf should
retrieve his fortunes, his case was hopeless. His health shattered, his mind dis-
tracted, he had long been cherishing the hope that * Polestar” would win, and
so put him in possession of a sum amounting in stakes and winnings to some-
thing like a thousand guineas. The mare, it is true, was hardly his own, for
she had been nmrtga.%g,u and if she should lose she would become the property
of another person. Pieture to yourselves what must have been the condition,
mental and bodily of that young man when he rose from his bed on the
morning of the races. It is scarcely possible that as he went down to breakfast
this thought must not have crossed his mind, “ My fate is trembling in the
balance; this is the crisis of my destiny ; unless my horse shall win and give me
one chance more of recovering myself; to-night I am a beggar.” With these
feelings he repairs to the race-course. Another race is run before Polestar is
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brought out.; kis impatience is extreme. He looks on in a state of agonising
excitement., Will the minutes never fly 2 At last arrives the decisive moment.
The. time has come for his race. The flag is dropped; the horses start; his
mare wins easily, and he, her master, has won a thousand guineas! For three
minutes he is not able to speak, so intense is his emotion. Slowly he recovers
his utterance, and then how rapturous is his joy! He is saved, he is
saved !  Another. chance to retrieve his position.—one chance more to
recover his character !  As yet, ‘at all events, he will not be a dis

to his family and his friends. Conceive him to be, with all his faults,an honour-
able young man, and you may ecasily imagine what his ecstacy must have been.
He loves the memory of his dead mother—he still reverences the name of his
father—he is jealous of his sister's honour, and it may be that he cherishes
silently in his “heart the thought of some other being dearer still than all to
whom the story of his ruin would bring bitter anguish. But he is not ruined ;
he will meet his engagements like an honourable man. There is now no danpf]er
of his being an outcast, an adventurer, a black-leg. He will live to redeem his
position, and to give joy to those who love him. With such thoughts in his
heart, he returns to his inn in a state of indescribable elation, and with a revul-
sion from despair that must have convulsed—though not in the sense of illness—
every fibre of his frame. His first idea is to entertain his friends, and he does so.
The evidence does not prove that he drank to excess, but he gave a champagne
dinner, and we all know that is a luxurious entertainment, at which there is no
stint and not much self-respect. That evening he did not spend in the society
of Palmer ; indeed, it is not clear in whose company he spent it. But we find
him on on the evening of Wednesday at the * Unicorn” with Saunders, his
trainer, and a lady. On Thursday he walks upon the course, and Herring
remonstrates with him for doing so, as the day is damp and misty, and the
ground wet. That night he is seized with illness, and he continues ailing antil
bis death at Rugeley. Arrived at Rugeley, it is but natural to suppose that a
reaction of feeling may have set in. Then the dark side of the picture may
have presented itself to his imagination. The chilling thought may bave come
upon him that his winnings were already forestalled and would searcely suffice
to save him from destruction. It is when suffering from a weakened body, and
an irritated and excited mind, that he is attacked by a sickness whichelings to
his sysiem, leaves him without any rest, incapacitates him from i
food, distracts his nerves, and places him in imminent danger of falling a
vietim to any sudden attack of convulsions to which he may have a predis-
position. He relished no society so much as that of Palmer, whose residence
was immediately opposite the Talbot Arms Inn, where he was lyin
on his sick bed. For two days he had been taking opiate pills preseri

by Dr. Bamford, On Sunday night, at twelve o'clock, Ee started as from a
dream in a state of the utmost excitement and alarm. He admitted afterwards
that for two minutes he was mad, but he could not aseribe it to anything unless
to his having been awakened by a squabble in the street. But do no such
things happen to people of sound constitutions and regular habits? Do no such
people awaken iu agony and delirium because there is a noise under their
windows ? Noj these are the afflictions of the dissipated and anxious, whose
bodies are shattered and whose minds are distracted. Next day, Monday, he
was pretty well, but not so well as to mount his horse or to take a walk in the
fields. He could converse with his trainer and jockey, but he could take no
substantial food, and drank not a drop of brandy-and-water. - You will bear in
mind that Palmer was not with him that day, In the middle of the night he
was seized with an attack similar in character to that of the night preceding, but
manifestly much milder, for he retained his consciousness thronghout it, and was
not mad for a moment. The evidence of Elizabeth Mills is conclusive on the
point. [The learned serjeant read some passages from the deposition of the
witness in question.] At three o'clock on the following day (Tuesday) Mr
Jones, the surgeon of Lutterworth, arrived, and spent a considerable time—pro-
bably from three to seven o'clock—in his company. They had abundant
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opportunity for conversing confidentially, and' they were likely to have 'done
so, for they were very intimate, and Jones appears to have heen on more fami=
liar terms with Cook than was any other person, not even excepting Mr,
Stevens. Nothing occurred in the entire and unbounded confidence which
- must have existed between Mr. Cook and Mr. Jones, to raise any suspicions
in the mind of Mr. Jones; and at the consultation, which took place
between seven and eight o'clock on Tuesday evening between Jones, Palmer,
and Bamford, as to what the medicine for that evening should be, the fit
of the Monday night was not mentioned. That is a remarkable fact. The
Crown may say that it is remarkable, masmuch as Palmer knew it, and said not
a word about it ; but I think that it shows that the fit was so little serious in the
opinion of Cook that he did not think it worth mentioning to his intimate friend
Jones. If' Cook had not given to Elizabeth Mills a rather exaggerated descrip-
tion of what had ocenrred would he not have said to Mr. Jones when he came
from Lutterworth to see him, * You can't judge of my condition from my appear-
ance now for I was in a state of perfect madness over night, and in fact I thought
that T was going to die " Evidently he would have said something of that sort,
and if he had Mr. Jones would have mentioned it at the eonsultation. My in-
ference, then, is that the first statement which was made by Elizabeth Mills was
the correct statement of what oeccurred. Palmer, in the presence of J ones,
-administered two pills to Mr. Cook, which it is supposed poisoned him—which
contained a substance which sometimes does its deadly work in a quarter of an
hour—which has done it in less, and which rarely exceeds half an hour; and we
are asked to believe that, in spite of Cook’s objecting in the presence of his
friend to take the pills, Palmer positively foreed them down his throat at the
imminent peril of the man falling down in a few minutes in convulsions evidently
tetanie. As in the course of the examination of Mr. Jones the word * tetanus”
was used, it is right that I should say a word upon that subject. The word
“ tetanus” is not in his deposition; but [ tell you what isin it, and it is one of the
most remarkable featuresin this case, because it shows how people, whenthey zeta
theory into their heads, will fag that theory, how they will stretch it to the ver
utmost, and make it fit into the exact place in which they wish to put it. Wz
have it now in the evidence of Dr. Ta}ffur that at the inquest he ‘sat next to
Mr. Deane, the attorney’s clerk, and suggested the questions which it was
necessary in his judgment to put in order to elicit the truth as to the ‘mptoms
of Mr. Cook’s disease. Now, fancy Dr Taylor, who had had a letter te ling him
that there was a suspicion of strychnine, and who had all but made up his
mind at that time to state positively upon oath his opinion that the pills given
on Monday and Tuesday nights contained strychnine; fancy

The Attorney-General.—I am sorry that my learned fricnd shonld be misled
upon a matter of fact; but I am told that Dr. Taylor was not present when Mr.
Jones was examined. :

Mr. Shee continued.—Then the observation which I was about to make does
not apply ; and all I can say is, that Mr. Jones had probably in his mind’s eye,
when he gave that evidence, a recollection of what he had seen on the Tuesda
night, Ile could not have seen very accurately, however, for he said that there
was only one candle in the room, and that he had not light enough to see the
patient’s face, and that he could not tell whether there was much change in the
countenance of the deceased—a very important fact when the doctors all say
that Cook’s disease cannot have been traumatic tetanus, because there is always
a peculiar expression of the countenance in those eases, which was not observable
in Cook. However, Mr. Jones, who is a competent professional man, gave his
evidence, and it is quite clear that the notion of tetanus must have entered into his
mind, because I find in the depesitions that the coroner’s elerk first put down
“ tetinus ;" and the probability, I think, is that that disease did oceur to Mr. Jones
at the time, and that he used the word because the clerk mever could have
invented it. ‘Then * tetanus” isstruck out ; then the word * convulsions” is
written, and also struck out ; and, as the sentence stands, it ig, “*There were stron
symptoms of violent convulsions.” What is the fair inference from that ? Why,
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that the man who saw Cook in the paroxysm did not think himself justified in
saying that it was a tetanic conyulsion at all, though it was very like tetanus.
ow, I will just eall attention to the features of general convulsions as described
in cross-examination by the medical witnesses, in order to show that the convul-
sions of which Coolk died were not tetanic, properly speaking, but were of that
strong and irregular kind which cannot be classed under the head of tetanus,
either traumatic or idiopathie, but under the head of general convulsions, I
Erc- ose_upon this part of the case to read an extract from the work of Dr.
Jopland, which will enable you to judge whether Cook’s complaint bears a
greater resemblance to zeneral convulsions than to traumatic tetanus or strych-
hine tetanus. Before doing so, however, L would observe that the only persons
who ean be supposed to know anything of tetanus not traumatic are physicians, and
¢hat not one of that most honourable class of men (who see the attack of patientsin
their beds, and not in the hospital) has been called by the Crown, with the exception
of Dr. Todd, who is a'most respectable man, and who gave his evidence in such a
way as to command the respect of every one; but even his practice appears to
be not so much that of a physician as of a surgeon. I am instructed that I
shall be able to show by the most eminent men in the profession that the
deseription which T am about to read from Dr. Copland’s book, the Dictionary
of Practical Medicine, is the true deseription of general convulsions. In that
book I find the following, under the head of * Convulsions:” —

« Definition,— Violent and involuntary contractions of a part or of the whole
of the body, sometimes with rigidity and tention (tonic convulsions), but more
frequently with tumultuous agitations, consisting of alternating shocks (clonie
convulsions) that come on suddenly, either in reeurring or indistant paroxysms,
and after irregular and uncertain intervals.”

The article then goes on :— :

“If we take the character of the spasm in respect of permanency, rigidity,
relaxation, and recurrence, as a basis of arrangement of all the diseases attended
by abnormal action of voluntary museles, we shall have every grade, passing
impereeptibly from the most acute form of tetanus through cramp, epilepsy,
eclampsia, convulsions, &c., down to the most atonic states of chorea and
tremor,”

As to the premonitory symptoms, it says:

“The premonitory signs of general convulsions are, (infer alia), vertigo and
dizziness, irritability of temper, flushings, or alternate flushing and paleness of
the face, nausea, retching or vomiting, or pain_and distension of stomach and
left hypochondrium, unusual flatulence of the stomach and bowels, or other
dyspeptic symptoms.”

In further deseribing these convulsions the article says :—

% Tn many instances the general sensibility and consciousness are but very
slightly impaired, particularly in the more simple cases, and when the proximate
cause is not seated in the encephalon ; but in: proportion as this part 1s affected

rimarily or consecutively, and the neck and face tumid and livid, the cerebral
functions are obscured, and the convulsions attended by stupor, delirium, &e., or
rapidly pass into, or are followed by these states.”

Then, it adds :—

“ The paroxysm may ccase in a few moments or minutes, or continue for some
or even many hours. It generally subsides rapidly, the patient experiencing at
its termination, fatigue, headache, or stupor; but he is usually restored in a short
time to the same state as before the seizure, which is liable to recur in a person
once affected, but at uncertain intervals. After repeated attacks the fit some-
times becomes periodic (the convulsio recurrens of authors).”

And in detailing the origin of these convulsions it says:—

“The most common causes are (infer alia) all emotions of the mind which
excite the nervous power and determine the blood to the head, as joy, anger,
religious enthusiasm, excessive desire, &c., or those which greatly depress the
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nervons influence, as well as diminish and derange the actions of the heart, as
fear, terror, anxiety, sadness; distressing intelligence, frightful dreams, & ¢c.—the
syphilitic poison and repulsion of gout or rheumatism,”

Do you believe, it Dr. Taylor had read that before the inquest, that he would
have dared to say that the man died from strychnine ? = [s there one single
symptom in the statement made in the depositions by Elizabeth Mills and Mr.
Jones which may not be ¢classed unde:one of the varieties of convulsions which
Dr. Coplaud deseribes? * It is mot for me to sugeest a theory; but the gentle-
men whom T shall eall before you—men of the highest eminence in their pro-
fossion, and not mere hospital surgeons, who have seen nothing of this nature
but traumatic tetanus—will tell you that Mr. Cook’s symptoms were those of
general convulsions, and not of tetanus. My belief is—and I hope you will
confirm it by your verdict—that Mr. Cook’s complaint was not tetanus at
all, although it may well have been—according to the descriptions to which I
shall call your attention—some form of traumatic or idiopathic tetanus, there
being no broad, general distinction ov eertain confine between idiopathie, or self-
generating tetanus, and many forms of convulsions. | The tetanic. form of
Zonvulsions 'is pretty much  the same thing as idiopathic tetanus; and
when we are told by medical witnesses that they mever saw a case of idio=
pathic tetanus, my answer to that is that they must have had a very limited
experience. Itis not a disease of very frequent occurrence, it is true ; but there
are gentlemen here who have seen cases of idiopathic tetanus, and they are by
1o means of that rare oecurrence which has been represented to you by the wite
nesses for the prosecution. There is one gentleman here, of very large practice
at Leeds, whom Tshall call before you, who attended at the bedside of Mrs.
Dove, who has himself seen four cascs of idiopathic tetanus. Traumatic
tetanus very frequently oceurs in hospitals—in fact, it often supervencs upon the
operations of the surgeon ; but the persons to give you correct informationupon
idiopathic tetanus are the general practitioners who enjoy the confidence of
families, and who have the opportunity of visiting at their dwellings, both
rich and poor, when they are attacked by any of those convulsive diseases
or fits which heads of families and brothers and sisters are so careful not
to disclose to the world at large. Dr. Watson is a general practitioner, and he
says in his Lectures on the Principles and Practice of Physic, that most cases of
tetanus may be traced to one of two causes —which are exposure to the cold or
sudden alternations of temperature, and bodily injury. *Tt has been known to
arise,” he says, * from causes so slight as these,—the sticking of a fishbone in
the fauces, the air caused by a musket shot, the stroke of a whip lash under the
eye, leaving the skin unbroken, the cutting of a corn, the biting of the finger by
a tame sparrow, the blow of a stick on the neck, the insertion of a senton, the
extraction of a tooth, the injection of a hydrocele, and the operation of eupping.”
He goes on to say that when the disease arises from exposure to the cold, or
damp it comes on earlier than on ather oceasions—often in a few hours, so
that if the exposure takes place in the night, the complaint may begin to mani-
fest itself next morning: « He also says that, although tetanus may be occasioned
by a wound, independently of exposure to cold, or by exposure to cold withont
bodily imjury, there is good reason for thinking that in many instances one of
the causes would fail to produce it where both together would call it forth. Dr.
Watson adds that, although the pathology of tetanus is cbscure, we may fairly
come to the conclusion that the symptoms are the result of some pecuhar con-
dition of the spinal cord, produced and kept up by irritation of the substance,
and that the brain is not involved in the discase; the modern French writers
upon the disease hold that it is an inflammable complaint, and that it consists
essentially of inflammation of the spinal marrow. Now, who shall say that
those symptoms which were spoken to on the day of the inquest by
Elizabeth Mills and Mr. Jomes, may not be ranged under one of  those
forms of tetanus? Idiopathic tetanus is so like general convulsions that
in many cases it cannot be distinguished ~ from: them; and to such
an extent is this so, that Dr. Copland states: that convulsions frequently
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assume a'tetanic appearance. Tt is true that traumatic tetanus begins in four
eases out of five by a seizure of the lower jaw; but then in the fifth ease it does
not so commence ; and Sir B. Brodie mentions two instances in which it bezan
in the limb which was wounded. Now, having gone so far, and having endea-
voured to satisfy you that the symptoms which were spoken to by those two
witnesses in their depositions may be, as 1 am told and instructed they are,
rather referable to a violent deseription of general convulsions than to any form
of tetanus, let us proceed to inquire whether or not the symptoms are consistent
with what we know of tetanus prodaced by strychnine ; because, if you shall be
satisfied, upon full investigation, that they are not consistent with the symptoms
which are the unquestionable result of strychnia tetanus, then the hypothesis of
the Crown entirely fails, and John Parsons Cook ean't have died of strychnine
poison. Whether that be so or not will depend in a great degree, as it strikes
me—although, of course, that will be for you to der.:ixie—upuu what vou think
of the evidence of Elizabeth Mills ; but, before I go to that evidence, I will call
your attention to the description of strychnia tetanus as given by two very
eminent gentlemen, Dr. Taylor and Dr. Christison, who were called for the
Crown the other day; and, if you find from their description that strychmnia
tetanus is a different thing from the picture first given of the attack and
paroxysms hy Elizabeth Mills and Mr. Jones, you will, I think, have great
difficulty in determining that Mr. Cook died from strychnine. Let us first
take Dr. Taylor’s deseription of strychnia tetanus. I am not sure whether
he stated that he had ever seen a case of strychnia tetanns in a human
subject ; but we must be just to Dr. Taylor. .He has had larce and
extensive reading on the subject on which he writes, and it is not
to be supposed that he has set down in his book what be has not
found established upon respectable authority. Therefore, although we have it
second-hand in the book, we must suppose that Dr. Taylor knows something of
the subject. In his work upon strychnia poisoning, Dr. Taylor says, © That in
from five to twenty minutes after the poison has been swallowed the patient is
suddenly seized with tetanic symptoms affecting the whole of the muscular s

tem, the body becoming rigid, the limbs stretched out, and the jaws so fixed that
considerable difficulty is experienced in introducing anything into the mouth.”
But according to the statement of the witnesses, Mr. Cook was sitting up in bed,
beating the bed-clothes, talking, and frequently telling the people about him to
go for Palmer, asking for the ¥ remedy,” and ready to swallow whatever was
given him. There was'no “considerable difficulty in introducing anything inte
the mouth,” and the paroxysm, instead of beginning within * from five to twenty
minutes after the poison was supposed to have been swallowed” did not begin
for an hour and a-half afterwards. Dr. Taylor further on states, * Afier several
such attacks, increasing in severity, the patient dies asphyxiated.” Now I sub-
mit, although there are some of these symptoms in this case, as there will be in
every case of violent convulsions, that this is not a description of the case of
John Parsons Cook. The other medical anthority to whom I said I should
refer is Dr. Christison. _He says that the symptoms produced by strychnine are
very uncommon and striking—the animal begins to tremble, and is seized with
stiffness and starting of the imbs. Those symptoms increase, ill at length the
animal is attacked by general spasms. The fit is then succeeded by an interval
of calm, during which the senses are impaired or are unnaturally acute; but
another paroxysm soon sets in, and then another and another, until at lasta
fit occurs more violent than any that had preceded it, and the animal
perishes suffocated. Now, who can say that that description at all tallies with
the account of Mr. Cook’s symptoms? I know Exuutlljr what Dr. Chiristison
means by this description, because I have had the advantage of having had
several experiments performed in my presence by Dr. Letheby, which enable
me to understand it.  One of those experiments was this:—A dog had a grain
of strychnine put into his mouth, and for about twenty or twenty-five minutes
he remained perfectly well.  Suddenly he fell down upon his side, and his legs
were stretched out ina most violent way.  He was as stiff as it was possible to
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be. In that state the dog remained, with an oceasional jerk, for twoor three
minutes. In a short time he recovered and got up, but he appeared to be dizzy

and uncomfortable, and was afraid to mave. If you touched Eim he shrunk and
twitched, and after another minute down he went again. He got np again and

fell down again, and at last he had a tremendous strugele, and then he died.
That 'is what Dr, Christison means by his deseription. If the dose had not
been sufficient to kill the dog it would have been longer in producing an effect ;
the paroxysms would have occurred at more distant intervals, and they would
have been less and less severe until the animal recovered. But if the dose ‘be
strong enough to kill, the interval between the paroxysms is short, and at
last one occurs which is strong enough to kill. Just before the animal dies
the limbs become as supple and frec as it is possible to coneeive the

limbs of an danimal to be. Which ever way you put the limbs of the animal

after it is quite dead, the rigo» mortis comes on after a time, and they remain in
any position In which they are placed. T saw an experiment performed also
upon’ two rabbits. The symptoms were substantially the same; the limbs of
both of them were quite flaceid immediately upon death ; and during the inter-
vals between the 1?31':11;@1115 the animals shuddered, and were extremely * touchy.”
Now, rentlemen, I will give you my reasons for saying that, according to their
own principles, as adduced in evidence by the Crown, Mr. Cook’s death caunot
have resnlted from strychnia poison. I object to the theory of it having

resulted from strychnia poison—first, on the ground 'that no'ease can be
found in the book in which, while the paroxysms lasted , the patient had so much
command over the muscles of animal liFe and voluntary motion as Mr. Cock had
upon Monday and Tuesday night. The evidence is that he was sitting up in
his bed beating his bedelothes, calling out, and that, so far from being atraid of
people touching him, he actually asked to have his neck rubbed; and it was
rubbed. "I now come to the next reason why we say that death in this case did
not result from strychnia poison; and I assert that there is no authentic case
of tetanus from strychnine in which the paroxysm was delayed so long after the
ingestion of the poison as it was in Mr. Cook’s case. Dr. Taylorsaysin page 74 of
the hook, that in from five to twenty minutes after the poison has been swallowed

the tetanic symptoms commence; and then, in support of this statement, he
proceeds to cite a number of cases. One young lady was “instantly deprived
of the power of walking, and fell down.” In the next case, which was that of
a girl, “tetanic symptoms came on in half an hour,” The next is a German
case, taken from the Lancet, and there a young man, aged seventeen, was
“ attacked in about a quarter of an hour." Thea there is the ease of Dr.
Warner, who took half a grain of sulphate of strychnine, and died in fifteen
minutes. Then there is the case of a young woman who took two or three
drachms of nuz vomice, and died in between thirty and forty minutes. Another
¢ase is given by Dr. Watson in his book, which he himself observed in the
Middlesex Hospital, where strychnine pills, intended for paralytic patients, were
taken by mistake. One-twelfth of a grain was intended to be administerad every
six hours; but unluckily a whole grain was given at one time, about seven
o'clock in the evening, and in half an hour it began to exhibit its effects. Dr.
Watson says, that “any attempt at movement—even touching the patient by
another person—brought on a recurrence of the symptoms.” It is elear, then,
from all these cases, that the interval which elapsed between the supposed
ingestion, of the poison and the commencement of the Eamx;.-sm wag much too
long—three times too long to warrant the supposition that strychnia poison had
been taken in this case. Thirdly, I submit—and I shall prove—that there is no
case in which the recovery from a Iﬁf.mxj'sm of' strychnine poison has been so
rapid as it was in Cook's case upon Monday night, or in which a patient has
endured so long an interval of repose or exemption from its symptoms after-

wards, In thia case of Mr, Cook, according to the theory of the Crown, the
paroxysms would not have been repeated at all ifa second dose had not been given.

There was an end of it when Elizabeth Mills left Palmer sleeping by the side of
his friend in an armehair; how easy would it have been then, if he had been so dis-
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posed, to administer'another dose, and to have hurried into Elizabeth Mills's room
and called out that Cook was inanother fit? Dr. Taylor says in his book, that the
patient is suddenly seized with spasms affecting the whole system, and that after
several such attacks, increasing in severity, the patient dies asphyxiated. - Dr.
Christison holds precisely the same language; but I submit that here there is a
broad distinction between the case of Cook and that which these gentlemen state
to be the distinguishing feature of the disease. I now come to the post-mortem
examination. Dr. Letheby was good enough to dig up from his garden, in order
that 1 might see it, an animal which had been killed by strychnine with a view
to this inquiry a month before, and to examine the heart before me. The heart
of that animal was quite full. The heart also of the dog that was killed in m;
resence wasquite full,and so were the hearts of both the rabbitsthat I saw kille
ow, I am told by a gentleman, whom I shall call before you, who is not afraid
of .dogs—and remember that this is rather a matter for experiment than of
theory—I am told that the result of an enormously large proportion of such
examinations—and, indeed, of all of them if they be properly conducted—is,
that the heart is invariably full. At the same time, [ am told that if the
examiners do the thing clumsily they may contrive to get an empty heart. If
there be any doubt in your minds, however, as to the heart being full in these
cases, 1 hope that some morning you will desire that a reasonable number of
animals should be brought into one of the yards here, and that you will see them
die by strychuine and examine their hearts, and form an opinion for yourselves. I
have now discussed what may be said to be the theory of these matters; but I have
not yet met the strong point which was made by the Crown of the evidence
of Elizabeth Mills. 1, upon all occasions, am most reluctant to attack a witness
who is examined upon his or her oath, and particularly if he be in a humble
position of life. I am very reluctant to impute perjury to such a person; and
1 think that a man who has been as long in the profession as I have been must,
in most cases, be put alittle to his wit's end when he rushes upon the assumption
that a person whose statements have, after a considerable lapse of time, materially
varied, is, therefore, necessarily, deliberately perjured. The truth is, we know
perfectly well that if a considerable interval of time occurs between the first
story and the second story, and if the intelligent and respectable persons who are
anxious to investigate the truth, but who still have a strong moral conviction—
upon imperfect information—of the guilt of an accused person, will talk to wit-
nesses and say, * Was there anything of this kind?" or anything  of that
kind? " the witnesses at last catch hold of the phrase or term which has been
so often used to them, and, having in that way adopted it, they faney that they
may tell it in court. This might have been the case with Elizabeth Mills;
and let me point out to you what occurs to me to be the right opinion that
you should form of that witness. I submit to you that in this case of life
and death—or, indeed, in any case involving a uestion of real importance to
liberty or to property—that young womans evidence would not be relied on.
In the ordinary administration of justice in the civil courts, if a person has
upon material points told two different stories, juries are rarely willing to
believe that person; and in criminal cases the learned judges, without alto-
gether rejecting the evidence, point out to the jury the discrepancies which
have taken place, and submit whether, under all the circumstances, it
would be safe to rely upon the testimony last given, differing from the
statement which was made when the impression was fresh upon the wit-
nesss mind. It cannot be said in this case that Elizabeth Mills was
not fully and fairly examined. I submit that my learned friend the
Attorney-General really made a false point—the most unfortunate in
the course of the prosecution—in attacking, upon this ground, the coroner, M.
Ward. Just place yourselves, gentlemen, for a moment ‘in_the position of the
coroner; and, to enable you the better to do so, just recollect what has
in the course of this trial’in this court ; recolleet, 1f you can, how many ques-
tions have been put by my learned friends and by me on account of which it has

been neessary for counsel to interpose and to ask the learned judges whether
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the question was a proper one.  Our rules of examination are strict, but they ard
most beneficial, because they exclude from the minds of the jury that loose and
general sort of information which, in country towns especially, is the subject of
pot-house stories and market gossip, aad substitute for it the evidence of actnal
facts which have been seen and are deposed to by the witnesses. Imagine the
coroner in a large room at a tavern, just under the bed-room where poor Cook
died—a crowd of excited villagers in the room, all full of suspicion produced by
the inquiries of the Prince of Wales Insurance Office about Walter Palmer—and
Inspector Field there, and Inspector Simpson—and all impressed with the belief
that whatever the London doctors said must be true, and that if Dr. Alfred
Swayne Taylor had made up his mind that it was poison, poison it was. The
whole town was in a state of uproar and excitement. Every question
that ocecurred to everybody must be put before the coroner—* Didn’t yom,
hear so and so ?” “ Didn't somebody tell you that some one had said s¢
and so " and so on. How is it possible under such circumstances to
conduct an inquiry with the dignity and decorum that are observed
in the superior Courts ? There was a celebrated trial some years
azo in France, in which T remember to have taken great interest,
of the ministers of King Charles X. Upon that occasion one witness
actually proved that he had read all the pamphlets that had been published on
the subject, and he came forward to state what, upon the whole, was the result
which those pamphlets had made upon his mind. It 13 true that that was i
revolutionary times, but it shows to what extent the introduction of a loase
system of questioning may go. I don't say that Dr. Taylor suggested any but
proper questions; but you must eonsider the ditficultics under which the coroner
had to labour, and I am told that he is an exceedingly good lawyer, and a most
able man. Dr. Taylor said that the coroner’s omission to ask questions
arose, in his opinion, rather from want of knowledgze than from intention. Of
course the coroner would not be likely to know the proper questions to_put in
such a ease, but when he did know them he seeins to have put them. He was
right in refusing to put irrelevant questions to gratifi'y the inquisitive juryman
we are ourselves constantly being rebuked by the learned judges, and told to
adhere to the rules and not to put questions which are irrelevant. I have now
pointed out such diserepancies in the evidence given by Mills before the coroner
and before you, as will, T think, make it clear to you that you cannot rely upon
her testimony. Since she first gave her cvidence she has had the means of
knowing what is the case on the patt of the Crown. 1 do not mean to say that
she has been tutored by the Crown ; I believe that my learned friend would not
have ealled her if' he thought she had: but she has had an opportunity of dis-
covering by interviews with several different people that the case for the pro-
secution i, that Palmer, having first prepaved the body of Cook for deadly
poison by the poison of antimony, afterwards dispatched him with the deadly
poison of’ strychnine.  Their case is, that there was an administration of some-
thing which had the effect of produeing retching, nausea, and irritation of the
stomach.  Those symptoms are therefore attributed to the persevering intention
«f the prisoner to reduce Cook to such a state of weakness tha?, Wwhen once
ingrestion of the deadly poison occurred, he was sure to be carried ofi. I her |
evidence before the coroner she was asked whether she had tasted the breth ®
Stip said she had, and she thought it very goud. She did not then sayv a wo:ﬁi’
abont any ill effeets the broth had produced; but she has sinee Iearnt that it is
part of the case of those out of whose hands the Crown has taken the prose-
cution, and that it is the theory of Dir. Taylor that all this retchine and vomit-
ing was the result of' a constant dosing with antimonial poisen. She Tms probably
heen frequently asked whether she was not siek after drinking the broth;
erhaps she may have been sick on some Sunday or another, and she lias per-
suaded hersel—for I do not wish to impute perjury to her—that she was made
gick by the twe table epoonsful of broth which she drank, Is it not to the last
degree incredibie that a shrewd, intelligent man like Palmer should have
exposed himself te such a chance of detection ss sending broth which he had
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poisoned from his house, to stand by the kitchen fire of the Talbot Arms, when,
sure as fate, the cook would taste it? Did you ever know a cook who would
not taste broth sent by another person and said to be particularly good? Tt
is not in the nature of things. A cook is a taster, she tastes eve::yt!mlg, and
Palmer must have known that as sure as ever he sent into the kitchen _hr-::th
containing antimony the cook would take it and be ill. Her statement is not
credible, and cannot be relied on. Then she said in her evidence before the
coroner that on Saturday Cook had coflee and vomited directly he swallowed it,
and that up to the time she gave him the coffee she had not seen Palmer. She
was not then aware that the theory of the gradual preparation of the body by
antimony was to fit into the theory of death from strychnine, but by the time she
came here she had become acquainted with that part of the case. My learned
{riend stated that * Palmer ordered him coffee on Saturday morning ; it was
brought in by the c!mmberma@d, El_izalfeth Mills, a.l:iﬂ g_hrun to the priw}ner,‘whn
had an opportunity of tampering with it before giving it to Cook.” There is all
the difference between thisstate of my learned friend and that first made by Mills
before the coroner. But the young woman did not go quite so far as that.
She went however to this extent :—* Palmer came over at eight o'clock, and
ordered a cup of coffee for Cook. Igave it to him. [ believe Palmer was in the
bedroom at the time. T did not seem him drink it. I observed afterwards that
the coffec had been vomited.” Her statement was not so strong as that of my
learned friend, but a great deal stronger than the one she made before the coroner.
The two statements are essentially ditferent, and the difference between them con-
sists in this—the one supports the them?' suggested by the prosecution, the otheris
totally inconsistent with 1t. Can you rely on a woman whomakes such alterations
in her testimony ? That is not all. The case suggested for the Crown now is, that
" Cook expressed reluctance to take the pills ordered for him, and that his reluet-
ance was overruled by Palmer. Mill's first statement was that Cook said the

ills made him ill. Here she said that the pills which Palmer gave him made
gim ill. Before the coroner, too, she did not say that Palmer was in the bed-
room between nine and ten on Monday night, as she has stated here. She makes
him more about the bedside of the man, she gives him a greater opportunity
of administering pills and medicine, she shows an animus, the result, according
to the most charitable construction that can be put upon it, of a persuasion that
Palmer must be guilty, but still an enimus which shows that she is not to be
relicd on, How easily may persons in her condition make mistakes without
intending to deccive! Tt is the just punishment of all falsehood that when a lie
has once been told it cannot be retracted without humiliation, and when once
this young woman had been induced to vary her statement in a material

particular she had not the moral courage to set herself ri%ht. But the particu-

lars T have mentioned are nothing to those to which I will now call your atten-
tion. I impeach her testimony on the ground that she here gesticulated and
gave her evidence in such a manner that if it had been natural and she had
adopted it at the inquest it must have attracted the attention of Dr. Taylor.
The remarkable contortions into which she put her hands, her month, and her
neck would, if they had been observed at the inquest, have been reduced to
verbal expression, and recorded in the depositions. I am told by Dr. Nunneley,
Dr. Robinson, and other gentlemen, that the symptoms she deseribed are incon-
sistent with any known disease. There was an extraordinary grouping of
symptoms, some of them quite consistent with tetanus produced by strychnine
administered under peculiar circumstances, others quite inconsistent with it.
Now, in the last week in February a frightful case of strychnine occurred in
Leeds. A person having the means of access to the bedside of a patient was
supposed to have administered small doses, day by day, and after keeping ber
for some time in a state of irritation, to have at last killed her. The person who
attended the patient spoke of her symptoms for about a week before her death,
aud said she had * twitchings” in the legs, that she was alarmed at being

touched in the intervals between the spasms. I will now call your attention to -
the evidence of Mills. She states,—
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¢ Cook said, ¢ I can’t lie down; I shall be suffocated if I lie down. Oh, feteh
Mr. Palmer !’ The last words he said very loud. I did not observe his legs,
but there was a sort of jumping or jerking about his head and neck and his had ¥
Sometimes he would throw back his head upon the pillow, and then raise it up
again. He had much difficulty in breathing. The balls of his eyes projected
very much. IHe screamed again three or four times while I was in the room.
He was moving and knocking about all the time. He asked me to rub his
hands. [ did rub them, and he thanked me. I noticed him ‘twitch.' T zave
him toast-and-water. His body was still jerking and jumping. VWhen 1 put
the spoon to his mouth he snapped at it and got it fast between his tecth, and
seemed to bite it very hard. In snapping at the spoon he threw forward his
head and neclt. He swallowed the toast-and-water, and with it the pills, Palmer
then handed him a draught in a wineglass, Cook drank this. He snapped at
the glass as he had done at the spoon. He seemed as though he could not
exactly control himself.”

The expressions she used, particularly the word * twitching,” are remarkable.
It may well be that when this case became public she may have had her atten-
tion called to it, and then had questions put to her with regard to the symptoms
of Cook which induced her to alter the evidence she had before given, 1 cannot
otherwise account for the remarkable variance in her evidence. From the time
she left the Talbot Arms till she came here she seems to have been a person of
remarkable importance. She went to Dolly's, where Stevens visited her five or
six times. What for? Stevens was unquestionably—and within proper limits
he is not to be blamed for it—indignant at the circumstances of 1::-1:&1‘:’3 death.
He is not in the same condition of life as Mills. Why did he call on her? Why
did he converse with her in a private room? He came, she said, to inquire after
her health and see how she liked London. Mr, Gardiner also saw her in the
street, but he only asked her how she was, and talked of other things. 1 do not
say that these gentlemen went to her with the deliberate intention of inducing
her to say what was false; but they did go with the deliberate intention of
stimulating ber memory upon points as to which theE,' thought it required
stimulating. Mr. Hatton, the police officer at Rugeley, also saw her a few times.
They conld have gone to her for no purpose but that of taking her evidence. I
may menticn a circumstance which shows how differently minor matters may be
stated by witnesses who do not wish to assert what is false. When Palmer went
into the bedroom, after being called up, he remarked, “I do not think I ever
dressed so quickly in my life,” and it is suggested that he never went to bed, but
waited up for the commencement of the paroxysm. Mills answered the question
I put to her upon that point pretty fairly ; she said, “ He eame in his dressing-
gown, and I do not recollect that there was anything like a day-shirt about his
neck.” On the other hand, Lavinia Barnes, who gave her evidence in a most
respectable manner, said that he was quite dressed; that he wore his usual dress.
People get talking about what they have witnessed, the real image of what
oceurred becomes confused or altogether obliterated from their minds, and they
at last unconsciously tell a story which is very different from the truth.
Mills was examined three times before the corcner, and if that officer acted
improperly on those occasions it was quite competent for the Crown to bring
him here 2nd give him an opportunity of vindicating himself, but he ought
not to be blamed upon the evidenee of a witness like her. In the course
of her examination, however, there came out a fact which is worthy of remark.
Is there not something extraordinary in the periodicity of the attacks she
described in their reeurrence on three nights nearly at the same hour? There
are numerous cases in the books in which attacks of this kind occurred at the
same distance of time after the patient had gone to bed. Without going into
unnecessary details, I will now state what 1 intend to prove upon this part of
the case. %shnil call a great number of most respectable medical practitioners
and surgeons in general practice, with a large experience in great cities, who will
support the theory that these fits of Cook’s were probably not tetanus at all,
but violent convulsions, the result of a weak hagit of body, increased by a
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careless mode of life—Dy at least a sufficient amount of disease to render violent
mineral poisons, in their opinion, desirable, and by habits which led to a chronic
aleeration of the tonsils and difficulty in swallowing. They will prove that
men with constitutions weakened by indulgence have often, under the influence
of strong mental excitement and violent emotion of any kind, been suddenly
thrown into such a state of convulsion that symptoms have been exhibited in
the voluntary muscles of violent disease, and that persons suffering from those
symptoms have constantly died asphyxiated or of exhaustion, leaving no trace
whatever as to the cause of death. ~In addition, I will call several gentlemen
who will speak fo experiments they have made upon animals, and who will be
ready to show you those experiments in any yard belonging to this hui]ding}; if
my Lords should think fit. They will tell you, on the authority of' Orfila, that
no degree of putrescence will decompose strychnine, and that if it is in the body
they would be sure to find it even now.

Tord Camphell said that the Court could not see the experiments made, but
witnesses might be called to prove them.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—1I have now done with that branch of the case, and will
proceed to the last matter to which I propose to direct your attention. I
propose to discuss whether the circumstantial evidence is mexplicable on the
supposition of the prisoner’s inmocence ; and, if I show you that in all its broad
and salient features it is not <o, I am sure that you will be only too happy to acquit
him, recollecting that you represent the country, which is uninformed upon the
case, which has no opportunity of hearing the witnesses on either side.

Lord Campbell.—In the language of the law * which country you are.”

Mr. Sergeant Shee.—Which country you are. You are responsible not to
render this kingdom liable to the charge of having, in a paroxysm of prejudice,
~ proprgated by a professional man with no knowledge of his own upon the

matter, condemned an innocent person. In discussing the circumstantial evi-
dence, I will avoid no point that scems at all difficult; but, not to waste time, I
will not, after the intimation which I have received from the beneh, trouble you
with such matters, as the pushing against Dr. Devonshire during the post-mortem
examination or the cutting of a slit in the cover of the jar, which mght be done
accidentally with any of the sharp instruments which were being used, or the
putting it at the further end of the room.

Lord Campbell.—What was said referred only to the pushing.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I take leave to suggest thatin an examination in thetown
of Rugeley, where Palmer was perfectly well known, the facts of there having
heen a little apparant shoving, which may for the moment have disturbed the
operator, is not to be allowed to have weight against the prisoner, especially as
Mr, Devonshire said nothing was lost. The matter is one in which all présent
took considerable-interest, and a little leaning over might easily have produced
the effect which was spoken to. Then, as to the removal of the jar. It was not
taken out of the room. It could not have been taken away without its removal
being observed, and it would have been to the last degree foolish for any guilty
person to attempt to remove it. That a man who knew himself to be innocent
should be very unwilling that the jar should be removed out of the hands of
persons upen whom he could rely for honest dealing is very probable. Palmer
knew that there were some persons who did net want to pay him 13,0004, and
who had for a long time been doing all they could to undermine his character,
and to impute to him most wicked conduct with regard to the death of a relation
—suspicions in which none of his relatives had joined. It is clear from his obser-
vation, * Well, doctor, they won't hang us yet,” that he knew that it was intended
to gronnd a suspicion or a complaint uponthe post-mortem examination, and ti was
exceedingly nutural that he should like to have the jar kept in safe custody, even
in the crowded room. All his conduct is consistent with this explanation. To
Dr. Harland, with whom he does not appear to have been particularly intimate,
he says, ©* I am very glad you are come, because there is no knowing who might
have done it.” That is the conduct of a respectable man, who knew that his con--
duct would bear investigation if it were properly conducted. I dare say there
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arve in Rugeley many excellent and very serious people to whom the prisoner’s
‘habits of life, his running about to races and so on, would not much recommend
him, and who he had reason to know entertained prejudices agagnst him. As to
his objection to the jar being taken to Mr. Frere's, there had, I believe, been
some slizht difference, arising out of Thirlby (Palmer’s assistant) having come
#0 him from Mr. Frere. I do not do Mr. Frere the injustice to think that this
slight dispute would have led him to put anything into the jar, but it may
account for Palmer's caution. ILet us now come to those more promi-
nent features of Palmer’s conduet upon which, in accordance with his instruc-
tions, my learned friend principally relied. I will first call your attention to
the evidence of Myatt, the postboy at the Talbot Arms. Mr, Stevens had come
down from London, and had acted towards Palmer in such-a way as would havein-
duced some men to kick him. Assuming Palmer to be innocent, Stevens’ con-
duct was most provoking. He dissembled with Palmer, cross-questioned him,
pretended to take his advice, scolded him in a harsh tone of voice, almost in-
sulted him, threatened a post-mortem examination, and acted throughout under
the impression that some one had been guilty of foul play towards Cook, which
ought to be brought to light and punished. Stevens had been there during the
whole of the post-mortem examination—a gloomy, miserable day it must have
been, poring over the remains of that poor dead man; the jar was ready, and
the fly was at the door to take himself and Boyeott to Stafiord, in order that
this jar might be sent to London, out of Palmer's ken and notice; so that if
there was anyhody base enough to do it cither in support of a theory or to
maintain a reputation—God forbid that I should suggest that to the prejudice
of Dr. Taylor; I do not mean to do so—but if there was anybody capable of
acting so great a wickedness, it might be done; and it was but a reasonable
concern that Palmer should be anxious that it should stop at Dr. Harlands.
He did not like its going with Stevens to London. Stevens had been particularly
troublesome; he had been vexatious and annoying to the last degree.” The fly
was ready, when Palmer met Myatt, the postboy, and learned that he was going
to drive Mr. Stevens to Stafford. According to Myatt’s evidence, Palmer then
asked him if he would upset “them.” That word was first used in this court
to designate the jars; but as there was at that time but one jar, it must have
been intended to apply to Mr. Stevens and his companion. Palmer’s conduct
to Stevens had been most exemplary, and he must have been irritated to the
last degree to find that he was suspected of stealing a paltry betting-book, which
was of no use to any one, and of having played foully and fulsely with the life
of his friend, the deccased. That he was much annoyed was proved by his ob-
servation to Dr. Harland in the morning—* There has been a queer old fellow
down here making inquiries, who seems to suspect that everything is wrong.
He thinks I have stolen a betting-book, which every one who “knows anything
knows can be of no use to any one now that poor Cook is dead.” This shows
that Palmer’s mind was impressed with a sense that Stevens had illtreated him.
He, no doubt, said to himself, “ He (Stevens) has encouraged and bronght back
suspicions which have well nigh destroyed me already, and which, i’ he proceeds
in this course of bringing another charge against me, will probably render it
impossible to get the sum which would be sufficiént to release me from my
embarrassments.”  In this state of mind Palmer met the postboy who was ready
to drive Mr. Stevens to Stafford. 'What occurred then was thus described by
Myatt :—

X He said he supposed I was going to take the jars.—What did you say then,
or what did he say *—1 said I believed I was.—After you said you believed you
were, what did he say ?—He says, ‘Do you think you could upset them '
—What answer did you make? —1I told him ¢ No.—Did he say anything
more >— He said, if I could, there was a 10/, note for me.— W hat did vou say to
that 2—1I told him I should not.—Did he say any more to you ?—1 told him that
I must go, for the horse was in the fly waiting for me to start.”

In cross-examination he was asked : —

¢ Were not these the words Palmer used,—* I should nct mind giving 10/. to
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break Mr. Stevens's neck #'—1I do not recolleet him saying * to break his neck.”
—Were they not words to that effect, *©I should not mind gil'ing 101. to break
his neck 2'—I dp not recollect that.—Then ¢10L to upset him #’—Yes.—Those
were the words, were they ?—Those were the words, to the best of my recollee-
tion.—Did he appear to have been drinking at the time?—I cannot say.—
When he said *to upset him,’ did he use any epithet ; diil hﬂ_ "-1"3_5'31‘1]}'3 him in
any way, such as *upset the fellow ?’—He did not describe him in any way.—
Did he say anything about him at the time ?—He did say something about it ;
“it.was a humbugging concern,’ or something to that effect.—That he was a
humbugging concern, was that it >—No.—That *it was a humbugging concern,’
or someth ng to that effect.?—Yes.” '

I submit to you that, after this evidence, you can only regard this expression
about “upsetting them” in its milder and more innocent sense, as a strong
expression used by a man vexed and irritated by the suspicious and inquisitive
manner which Stevens had from the first exhibited. . That this is the cerrect
view of the matter is confirmed by the fact that at the time of the inquest
nothing was known of this, and .Myatt was not called. Myatt was engaged at
the Talbot Arms, and must frequently have conversed about the death of Cook
and the post-mortem examination with servants and other persons about that
inp. Had any serious weight been attached to this offer of Palmer, it would
have excited attention, and would have been given in evidence before the
coroner.  Onthe other hand, it is to the last degree improbable that a medical
man, knowing that he had given a large dose of strychnine, with the violent
properties of which he was well acquainted, should have supposed that by the
accidental spilling of a jar—the liver, spleen, and some of the tissues remaining
behind—he could possibly escape detection. I will next call your attention to
the evidence of Charles Newton, who swore that he saw Palmer at Mr. Salt's
surgery at nine o’clock on Monday night, when he gave him three grains of
strychnine in a piece of paper. He did not bring this to the knowledge of the
Crown until the night before this trial commenced. He was examined before
the coromer, but although then called to corroborate the statement of
Roberts as to the presence of Palmer at Hawkins's shop, where he was
said to have purchased strychnine, he then said mnothing about the
purchase on the Monday night. A man who so conducts himself,
who when first sworn omits a considerable portion of what he tells three
weeks afterwards, and again comes forward at the last moment and tells
more than enough in his opinion to drive home the guilt to the person who is
aceused, that man is not to be believed upon his oath. There are other circum-
stances which render Newton’s statement in the highest degree improbable,
That Palmer should once in a way purchase strychnine in Rugeley is not to be
wondered at. It is sold to kill vermin, to kill dogs. And whatever the evidence
as to the galloping of the mares and their dropping their foals, it shows that
Palmer had occasion for it, and for other purposes. But that, having bought
enough for all ordinary purposes, he should go and buy more the next day,
and should purchase it at the shop of a tradesman with whom he had not dealt
for two years, is in the highest degree incredible. Nobody would believe it.
Nobody can or ought to believe it. But observe this also. = Palmer had been
to London ¢n the Monday, and in London there is no difficulty in procuring
strychnine. It is sold to any one who, by writing down the technical description
of what he wants, shows that he has had a medical education. Why did he not
get it in London ? And if he could not get it in London, why did he not get it at
Stafford, or at any of the other places to which he had been? If he had bought
it for this guilty purpose, wounld he mot, as a wary man, have taken care that
when his house was searched there should be found in it the paper containing
ﬂlf‘: exact quantity of strychnine which he had purchased ? What could have been
easicr to do than that? Newton’s story, therefore, cannot be believed, bat,
i addition I will show that Palmer, who is stated by Herring to have been in
Ifnuduu at a quarter- past three o'clock, could not have been in Rugeley at the
time at which Newton says he was at Mr, Salt’s. Palmer attended the post-
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mortem examination; and is it credible that he, a skilful medical man, who/
studied in a London hospital, and made a note upon one of his books of the
effect of strychnine, would ask that stupid sort of fellow Newton anything about
its action upon a dog, and would, when the answer was given, snap his fingers
and say, * It is all right, then, it cannot be found ?”  No one will believe it for
a moment. The animus of Newton is shown by his omitting the word * poor,™
and representing Palmer as having said, *You will find this fellow suffering
from a disease on the throat; he has had syphilis;” and then, when cross-
examined upon the subjeet by my learned friend, Mr. Grove, replying, “ I don’t
know whether he said poor or rich,” as if that had anything to do with the
question. I will now take you back to what occurred at Shrewsbury. The
case for the Crown is that as early as Wednesday, the 14th of November, the
scheme of poisoning Cook begun to be executed at Shrewsbury.  Itis suggested
that Cook was dosed with something that was put inte his brandy-and-water.
You will remember that I read to you a letter from Cook to Fisher, dated
the 16th of November, to which there is this postseript—*1 am
better.” That must have referred to his illness at Shrewsbury. I
is the postseript to a letter in which he speaks of the object he has
in view, which is of great importance to himself and Palmer. Is his
writing in that tone consistent with his having a belief that Palmer had
drugged him with poison for the purpose of destroying his life at Shrewsbury ?
What did Palmer say about it?—¢ Cook says I have put something in his
glass. I dom't play such tricks.” He treated it as though it had never
been understood to be more than the expression of a man who, if not
actually drunk, was very nearly so. Palmer did not arrive at the Raven
until after the dinner hour. We have no evidence how Cook fared there;
but we shall be able to prove that he went from there to the Unicorn, where
he arrived pretty flush, and where he sat drinking brandy-and-water with
Saunders, the trainer, and a lady. Seven or cight glasses of brandy-and-
water did this good young man drink, and the result was that his unfortunate
syphilitic throat was in a very dreadful state, if' not of actual laceration, at
least of soreness and irritation. [The learned Serjeant here read ‘to the jur

a long extract from an article which had appeared in some newspaper, w i

he did not mention, in which the occurrences at Shrewsbury were described
in a style which seemed intended to be humorous, and in which Cook's
sickness was attributed to his having taken too much brandy upon champagne,
in order to “restore his British solidity.” The learned Serjeant said that
this entirely coneurred with his own view of the case. Ile then con-
tinued.] Cook’s own conduct afterwards proved that his illucss was owin

to his having drunk too much. He got up in the morning, breakfasted wit

Palmer, was good friends with him, and went with him to Rugeley. At
Rugeley they received Pratt's letter of the 13th, in consequence of which
Palmer wrote to Pratt to say that some one would call mpon him and
pay him 200Z, and Cook wrote to Fisher and asked him to call on Pratt
and pay this money. Does that look as though he thought there had been an
attempt to poison him ?  Mvrs. Brook, who gave her evidence in a most eredit=
able manner, proved that there was much sickness among the strangers who
were at Shrewsbury; and the rest of her evidence did not tell much against
Palmer, who might, after Cook’s complaint, very naturally have been louking
at the tumbler to see if anything had been put into it.  Cook got worse, and at
last had the good sense to put his money into Fisher's hands and go to bed. He
was still very sick, and a doctor was sent for, who recommended an emetic.
Cook made himself sick by drinking warm water and putting the handle of a
toothbrush down his throat. Ie took a pill and a black draught, went to sleep,
and next morning was quite well. 'This is really too ludicrous to receive a
moment’s consideration. . A person named Myatt was in the room at the Raven
all the evening. He has been put into the box, but I shall call him, and you
will hear his account. Palmer and Cook having got back to Rugeley, the
history of the slow poisoning continues. They went there together, and probably
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talked on the way of their difficulties and the mode of ﬁrett.ing out of them, and
of the small way that the winnings at Shrewsbury would go to effect that object,
both seeing ruin staring them in the face unless the Prince of Wales insurance-
office could be made to pay the money which was due, and they ecould
meanwhile remain free from all suspicion of insolveney or any sort of
misconduct. When they got to Rugeley they provided for the temporary diffi-
culty by sending 2001 to Pratt. They were then evidently on friendly terms,
Cook’s winnings being at Palmer’s service, and probably both effecting their
ahjects, because, as it would appear from what Palmer said, Cook had some
interest in the bills which were outstanding. Probably his name might not be
upon them, but as they were engaged in these racing transactions, were joint
owners of one horse and had the same trainer, they were very probably equally
interested in these bills—were in fact what I remember te have once heard a
nobleman well known upon the turf call * confederates.” The frequency of
Palmer’s visits to Cook during the illness of the latter at Rugeley affords no
round of suspicion against the prisoner. On the contrary, it tells in his favour.
ok had no friend in the town but Palmer, with whom he may al-
most be said to have been on a visit ; for though he did not sleep in Palmer’s
house Palmer was in continual attendance on him, and, owing to the
close proximity of his own residence, was enabled to bring him many
Httle delicacies not easily attainable at an inn. Had he neglected the
sick man, and only visited him occasionally, the inference of the Crown
would probably have been that he was a black-hearted scoundrel, who
only looked in now and then to give him his poison; but as he was
zealously and laboriously attentive to him the conclusion is that he must
have murdered him! It is said that Palmer was guilty of a falsehood in repre-
senting Cook as suflering from diarrbeea; but this is to put a very violent and
a very uncharitable construction on his words, for you will remember that Bam-
ford swore to Cook having told him that his bowels had been affected twice or
three times on Sunday. DBut, leaving these minor points, I come to one which
in this case of circumstantial evidence is of the very last importance, and should
he decmed decisive of the prisoner's innocence. The supposition of the Crown
is that Palmer intended to dese Cock with antimony—to keep his stomach in
continual irritation by vomiting, in order that he might the more surely dispateh
him with strychnine, and that during Sunday, the day on which he insisted
on his taking the broth, Cook was under the influence of this insidious
treatment. Now, supposing this to be true, and assuming it to be the
fact that Palmer was indeed bent upon destroying Cook by this singular
rocess, is it not manifest that ,there is one man who of all the men
mn the world would have been the very last whom he would have selected
to be a witness of his proceedings? That man is a surgeon in the prime
of life, 2 man intimately acquainted with Cook and very much attached to him—
BMr. Jones, of Lutterworth. Yet this is the very man to whom, when he is
about to set out for London, Palmer writes a letter, informing him that Cook is
ill, and urging him to come over and see him without delay. I entreat of you
to appreciate the full importance of’ that fact, The more you think of it, the
maore profound will become your conviction that it affords evidence irrefragable
of Palmer’s innceence. The imputation is that Palmer meant to kill Cook to
%_}SSESS himself of his winnings. Who was with Cook when the race was won ?
ho was b]y his side on Shrewsbury racecourse for the three minutes that he
was speechless? Who saw him take out his pocketbook and count up his
winnings? Who but Jones ?—Jones, who was his bosom{riend, his companion,
his confidant, and who knew to the last farthing the amount of his gains. Jones
was of all men living the most likely to be the recipient of Cook’s confidence,
and the man who was bound by every consideration of honour, friendship, and
affection to protect him, to vindicate his cause, and to avenge his death.
Yet this was the man for whom Palmer sent, that he might converse
with Cook, receive his confidences, minister to him in his illness, and
cven sleep in the same room with him! How, if Palmer is the
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murderer they represent him, are you to account for his summoning
Jones to the bedside of the sick man? If Cook really suspected—as we are
assured he did—that Palmer was poisoning him, Jones was the man to whom he
would have most willingly have unhosomed himself, and in whose faithful ear
he would have most eagerly disburdened the perilous stuff that weighed upon
his own brain. Palmer and Jones were both medical men, and it 15 not 1m-
probable that in the course of his studies the latter may have noted in his elass-
book the very passages respecting the operation of strychnine which also
attracted the attention of the former. Is it conceivable that if Palmer meant to
slay Cook with poison in the dead of night, he would have previously ensured
the presence in his victim’s bedroom of a medieal witness, who would know from
the symptoms that the man was not dying a natural death ? He bringsa medieal
man into the room and makes him lie withih a few inches of the sick man’s
bed, that he may hear his terrific shricks and witness those agonising con-
vulsions which indicate the fatal potency of poison! Can yon hnﬁm‘e it? He
might have dispatched him by means that would have defied detection, for Cogk
was taking morphia medicinally, and a grain or two more would have silently
thrown him into an eternal sleep. But instead of doing so he sends to Lutter-
worth for Jones. You have been told that this was done to cover appearances.
Done to cover appearances! No—mno—no! You cannot believe it. It is not
in human nature. It cannot be true. You cannot find him guilty—you dare
not find him guilty on the supposition of its truth. . The country will not stand
by you if’ you believe it to he true. You will be impeached before the world
if you say that it is true. I believe in my conscience that it is false, and that
consistently with the rules that govern human nature it eannot possibly be true.
[Sensation and murmurs of applause.] With respect to the interviews and
dialosues that took place between the prisoner and Mr. Stevens, 1 con-
tend that, so far from telling against the former, they are in his favour.
There is nothing but the evidence of a kind and considerate nature in
the fact of his having ordered “a shell and a strong ocak coffin™ for the
deceased ; nor is it possible to forture into a presumption of guilt the few
words of irritation that may have fallen from the prisoner in the course of a
conversition in which Mr, Stevens treated him with scorn, not to say
insolence. With respect to the betting-book, many persons had aceess
to Cook’s room—servants, both men and women, undertaker's men, and barbers;
and though I do not venture to mark out any particular person for suspicion,
one of them may have purloined the book and been afraid to returnit. It
is not fair in a case of this momentous importance to affix the opprebrium on a
man who is not proved to have ever had it in his hand. The Crown had, no
doubt, originally intended to rely upon the prisoner's medical hooks as affording
damning proof of his guilt ; but I will refer to those volumes for evidences that
will speak eloguently in his favour. In youth and early manhood there is no
such protection for a man as the society of an innocent and virtuous woman to
whom he is sincerely attached. If you find a young man devoted to such a
woman, loving ber dearly, and marrying her for the love he bears her, you may
depend upon it that he is a man of a humane and gentle nature, little prone to
deeds of violence. Ta such a woman was Palmer attached in his youth, and I will
bring you proof positive to show that the volumes cited against him were the
books he used when a student, and that the manuscript passages are in the hand-
writing of his wife. His was a marriage of the heart. Ilec loved that young
and virtuous woman with a pure and generous affection ; he loved her as he
now loves her first-born, who awaits with trembling anxiety the verdict that
will restore him to the arms of his father, or drive that {ather to an ignominions
death upon the scaffold. [The prisoner here covered his faee with Lis band and
shed tears.] Ilere in this book I have conclusive evidence of the kind of man
that Palmer was seven years ago. I find in its pages the copy ol a letier
addressed by him while still a student to the woman whom he afterwards made
his wife. It is as follows :—

“ My dearsst Annie,—I snatch a moment from my studies to your dear, dear
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little self, T need scarcely say that the principal inducement I have to work is
the desire of getting my studies finished, so as to be able to press your dear
little form in my arms. With best, best love, believe me, dearest Annie,

" : “Your own WiLriam.”

Now this is not the sort of letter that is generally read in courts of justice.
It was no part of my instructions to read that letter, but the book was put into
prove that this man is a wicked, heartless, savage desperado; and I show you
what he was seven years ago,—that he was a man who loved a young woman
for her own sake—loved her with a pure and virtuous affection — such
an  affection as would, in almost all natures, be a certain antidote
against guilt. Such is the man whom it has been my duty to de-
fend upon this occasion, and upon the evidence that is before you I can-
not believe him to be guilty. Don’t suppose, gentlemen, that he is unsu ported
in this dreadful trial by his family and Eis friends. An aged mother, who may
have disapproved of some part of his conduct, awaits with trembling anxiety
your verdict; a dear sister can scarcely support herself under the suspense which
now presses upon her ; a brave and gallant brother stands b him to defend him,
and spares neither time nor trouble to save him from an aw ul doom. I call upon
you, gentlemen, to raise your minds to a capacity to estimate the high duty which
you have to perform. You have to stem the torrent of prejudice; you have to
vindicate the honour and character of your country; you have, with firmness
and courage, to do your duty, and to find a verdict for the Crown i’ you believe
that g}uilr. is proved; but, if you have a doubt upen that point, depend upon it
that the time will come when the innocence of that man will be made apparent,
and when you will deeply regret any want of due and calm consideration of the
case which it has been my duty to lay before you.

The speech of the learned Serjeant occupied exactly eight hoursin its delivery,
There were some slight indications of an attempt to applaud at its conclusion,
but they were instantly repressed.

The court then adjourned till ten o'clock next day.

EIGHTH DAY.

GH_ the resumption of this case this morning the court was, as usual, densely erowded, and
all its avenues were beset by eager applicants for admission. His Royal Highness the Duke
of Cambridge was among the distinguished persons who were accommodated with seats
upon the bench.

The learned Judges, Lord Campbell, Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice Cresswell,
took their seats at ten o'clock. The prisoner was at once placed on the bar. His de-
meanour was, as on the previous days of his trial, calm and attentive, but betrayed no
additional anxiety.

Immediately after the learned Judges took their seats,

Lord Campoell said, Before the proceedings commence I must express a most earnest hope
that, until this trial is concluded, the public journals will continue to abstain from any com-
ments upon the merits of the case, or upon any part of the evidence. “The propriety of this
course is so obvious as to need no explanation. This warning ought to extend to the

" insertion of letters as much as to that of edisorial articles.

Thomas Nunueley, examined by Mr. Grove.—1 am Fellow of the College of Surgeons, and
Professor of Surgery at the Leeds School of Medicine, I am also a member of several
medical ‘and learned societies, foreign and English, and have been in practice between
twenty and thirty years. I have alarge practice, and have seen cases of both traumatic and
idiopathic tetanus. OF the latter disease I have seen four cases. They did not all com-
mence with lockjaw. One did not commence so, nor did lockjaw become so marked in it as
to prevent swallowing once during the course of the disease. I have heard the evidence as
to the symptoms of Cook, and had previonsly readl the depositions as to that part of the
case,  Judging from those symptoms, I am of opinion that death was caused by some con-

vulsive disease. [ found that opinio he sy i i wosili
Sl faitin bifvee thir L pinion upon the symptoms described in the deposilions and

g

e =




—

139

Lord Campbell said that the witness could only be examined as to his opinion founded
upon the vivi voce evidence before the court. 3

Mr. Grove said that his object was to distinguish between the opinion founded on the
vivi voee evidence and that founded on the depositions.

Examination continned.—From the symptoms deseribed by the witnesses in court T am
of opinion that death was caused by some convulsive disease. Looking at Cook’s general
state of health—

Ar..Baron Alderson.—You have nothing to do with that. You must only give an opinion
upon the symptoms described in evidence.

Examination coutinued by Mr. Serjeant Shee.—I have been in court during the whole
of the trial. I have heard the evidence as to the symptoms of Mr. Cook’s health previous
to his final attack at Rugeley, the description of the actual symptoms daring the paroxysms,
and the appearance of the body on the post-mortem examination.

Lo you remember the account of the syphilitic sores?

The Attorney-General objected to this mode of putting the question, because it was an
assumption that these sores existed. A medical man ought to be asked his opinion on the
supposition only that certain svmptoms existed.

Mr. Justice Cresswell. —Let the witness deseribe what he assumes to have been the state
of Ceok’s health, and you will then see whether he is justified in his assumption.

Examination continued.—I assume that Cook was a man of very delicate constitution—
that for a long period he had felt himself to be ailing, for which indisposition he had been
under medical treatment; that he had suffered from syphilis; that he had disease of the
lungs; and that he had an old standing disease of the throat: that he led an irregular
life; that he was subject to mental excitement and depression; and that after death appear-
ances were found in his body which show this to have been the ease. There was an unusual
appearance in the stomach. The throat was in’an umatural condition. The back of the
tongue showed similar indications. The air vessels of the lungs were dilated. In the lining
of the aorta there was an unnatural deposit, and there was a very unnsual appearance in the
membranes of the spinal marrow. One of the witnesses also said that there was a loss of
substance from the penis. That scar on the penis could only have resulted from an uleer.
A chanere is an uleer, but an uleer is not necessarily a ehancre. The symptoms at the root
of the tongue and the throat I should aseribe to syphilitic inflammation of the throat. Sup-
posing these symptoms to be correct, I should infer that Cook’s heal:h had for a long time
not been good, and that his constitution was delicate. His father and mother died young.
Supposing that to have been his state of health, it would make him liable to nervous
irritation. That might be excited by moral causes. Any excitement or depression might

produce that effect. A person of sach health and constitution would be more susceptible of
injurious influence from wet and cold than wonld one of stronger constitution. Upon such &
constitution as that which I have assumed Cook’s to have been, convalsive disease is more
likely to supervene. I understand that Cook had three attacks on succeeding mights,
occurring about the same hour. As a medical man, 1 should infer from this that the
attacks were of a convulsive character. I infer that in the absence of other caunses to
account for them. According to my personal experience and knowledge from the study of
my profession, convulsive attacks arc as various as possible in their forms and degrees of
violence. It is not possible to give a definite name to every convulsive symptom. There are
some forms of convalsion in which the patient retains his conscionsness. Those are forms of
hysteria, sometimes found in the male sex. It is also stated that there are forms of epilepsy
in which the patient retains consciousness.

By Lord Campbell.—1 cannot mention a case in which consciousness has been retained
during the fit. %o such case has come under my notice.

Examination continued.—I know by reading that that, although rarely, does sometimes
occur. The degree of consciousness in epilepsy varies very much. In some attacks the
consciousness is wholly lost for a long time, Convalsive attacks are sometimes accompanied
by violent spasms and rigidity of the limbs. Convulsions, properly so called, sometimes
assume a tetanic complexion. 1 heard the passage from the works of Dr. Copland read to
the Court yesterday. 1 agree with what he states. Convulsions arise from almost any cause
—from worms in children, affections of the brain in adults, hysteria, and in some persons the
taking of chloroform. Adults are sometimes attacked by such convulsions. Affections of
the spinal cord or eating indigestible food will produce them, I know no instance in which
convulsions have arisen from retching and vomiting. I agree with Dr. Copland that these
convulsions sometimes end immediately in death. ‘The immediate proximate cause of death
is frequently asphyxia.

Ei];.-ql.urd Campbell.—Death from a spasm of the heart is often deseribed as death by
asphyxia.

ixamination continued.—I have seen convulsions recurring. I have seen that in very

various cases. The time at which a patient recovers his ease after a violent attack of con-
vulsions varies very much. It may be a few minutes, or it may be hours. From an interval
between one convulsion and another I should infer that the convulsions arise from some slight
irritation in the brain or the spinal cord. When death takes place in such paroxysms there
is sometimes mo trace of organic disease to be found by a post-mortem examination.
Granules between the dura-mater and the arachnoid are not common at any age. I should
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aict draw any particular inference from their appearance. They might or might not lead to
a conjecturs as to their cause and effect. 1 do not form any opinion upon these points.
They might produce an effect upon the spinal cord, Therearethree preparations in museums
where granules are exhibited in the spinal cord, in which the patients ara said to have died
from tetanus. Those are at St. Thomas's Hospital. To ascertain the natare and effect of
such granules the spinal eord ought to be examined immediately after death. Not the most
remote opinion could be formed upon an examination made two months after death, more
especially if the brain had been previously opened. Independently of the appearance
of grannles, it would mot after that period be possible to form a satisfactory opinion
npon the general condition of the spinal cord. If there were a large tumour, or some
similar change, it might be exhibited; bnt npeither softening nor indaration of the
structure could be perceived. The nervous structure changes within two days of death. To
ascertain minutely its condition it is necessary to use a lens or microscope. That is requited
in an examination made immediately afier death. I have attended cases of traumatie
tetanus. That disease commonly begins with an attack n the jaw. Ome of the cases
of idiopathic tetanus that T have seen was my own child. In three of those cases the disease
began with locklaw. The fourth case commenced in the body, the facility of swallowing

remaining. I bave within the last twelve months made post-mortem examinations of two
ons who had died from strychnia. I did not see the patients before death. In both cases
.fefmrtained by ehymical analysis that death had been caused by strychnia. In both I found
the strychnia. In one case—that of a lady aged twent}-eiﬁht years—] made my exami-
nation” forty-two liours after death, and in the other thirty hours. In the former case the
bodw had not been opened before I commenced my examination. [The witness read a report_
of this examination, in which it was stated that the eyelids were partially open and the
rJobes flacid, and the pupils dilated. The muscles of the trunk were not in the least rigid ;
indeed, they were so soft that the body might be bent in any direction. The muscles at the
hip and shoulder joints were not quite so flaccid, but they allowed these joints to be easily
moved ; while those of the head and neck, fore-arms, &e., were rigid. The fingers were
curved, and the feet somewhat archel.  All the muscles, when cut into, were found soft and
dark in coloar. The membranes of the liver were exceedingly vascular. The membrane of
the spinal cord was much congested. There was a bloody cerum in the pericardium; the
Jungs were distended, and some of the air cells were raptured. The lining membrane of the
trachea and bronchial tubes were covered with alayer of dark bloody mueus of a dark
chocolate colour.  The thoracic vessels and membranes were much congested, and the blood
was everywhere dark and fluid,] After reading this report the witness continued:—
In the second case I made my examination thirty hours after death. I first saw
t¢he ‘body about twelve hours after death. It was a woman somewhere near twenty
E,Eurs of age. [The witness also read the report of the examination in this case.
he appearances of the body were substantially similar to those presented in the
previous case.] In two other cases I have seen a patient suffering from over doses
of strychnia. Neither of those cases was fatal, In one case I had prescribed the
twelfth of a grain, and the patient took one-sixth., That was for a man of middle age.
Stryehnia had been given in solution. In a few minutes the symptoms appeared. They
were a want of power to control the muscles, manifested by twitchings, rigidity, and cramp,
more violent in the legs than in any other part of the body. The spasms were not vervy
wiolent. They continued six hours before they entirely disappeared. During that time they
,were intermittent at varioos intervals. As the itlac{ passed off the length of the intervals
increased. At first their length was but a few seconds. The spasms were not combated by
medical treatment. The other case was a very similar one. The quantity taken was the
same—double what I had prescribed. I have experimented upon upwards of sixty animals
with strvchnia. Those animals were dogs, cats, rats, mice, guinea pigs, frogs, and
The symptoms of the attack in all animals present great resemblances. Some animals are,
however, much more susceptible of its influence than others are. The period elapsing between.
the injection of the poison and the commencement of the symptoms has been from two
minutes to thirty,—more generally five or six. I administered the poison occasionally in
zolution, but more generally in its solid state. It was sometimes placed dry npon the back
of the tongue, and some fiuid poured down the throat; sometimes it was enclosed between
two partions of meat; sometimes mixad up with butter or suet, and sometimes rolled up in
a small picoe of gut. To fmﬁs and toads it was administered by putting them into a solution
of strychnia. I have also applied it dirsct to the spinal cord, and in other cases to the brain.
The first symptom has been a desire to be quite still ; then hurried breathing; then slavering
at the mouth (when the poison had been given through that organ); thea twitching of the
ears, trembling of the muscles, inability to walk, convulsions of all the museles of the body,
the jaws being generally firmly closed; the convalsions attended by a total want -of
power in the muscles, which on the least touch were thrown into violant spasms with a
zalvanic-like shock.  Spasms also came on if the animal voluntarily attempts to move ; that
15 usnally the case, hut occasionally the animal is able to move without inducing a recurrence
"*_f the spasms. Thes: spasms recar at various periods, but do not always increase in
viglence. The animals die after periods varying from three hours to three hours and a half.
In the cases where the animals live longest, the paroxysms occar at the longest intervals.

Ta all cases i“F”tE interval before death the rigidity ceases (I know no exception to
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this) and the muscles become quite soft, powerless, and flaceid. The Lmbs may be put
in any position whatever. There is but little difference from ordinary cases of convulsive
death in the time at which the rigor mortis comes on. I have destroyed animals with
other poisons, and there is very little difference between the rigidity in their cases and that
inthe cases of death from strychnia. In the two women I have mentioned the rigor morfis
was much less than is usual in cases of death from natural disease. I have known fatal cases of
poisoning animals by stryehnia in which there has between the first and the second
paroxysm been aninterval of about half-an-hour, but that is not common. | have examined
the bodies of upwards of forty animals killed by strychnia. [ have invariably found the
heart full on the right side; '.'erl;' generally the left ventricle firmly contracted, and the blood,
usually dark, and often fluid. There is no particular appearance about the spine. I have
experimented with other poison upon upwards of 2,000 animals, and have written upon
this subjeet. It very often happens that in the case of animals dying suddenly from
poisoning the blood is fluid after death. That also happens in cases of sudden death from
other canses. T have attended to the evidence as to the symptoms exhibited by Cook on the
Sunday, Monday, and Tuesday nights. The symptoms on Sunday night I assume to have
been great excitement. Cook described bimself as having been very ill, and in such a stata
that he considered himself mad for a few minutes. He stated that the cause of this was a
noise in the street. These symptoms in the three nights 1 have mentioned, do not resemble
those which I.have seen follow the administration of strychnia. Cock had more power. of
voluntary motion than I have observed in animals under the influence of this poison. He
sat up in bed, and moved his hands about freely, swallowed, talked, and asked to be rubbed
and moved, none of which, if poisoned by strychnia, could he have done. The sudden
accession of the convulsions is another reason for believing that they were not produced b
strychnia. Other reazons for believing that the eonvulsions were not produced by strychnia,
are their sudden accession without the wsual premonitory symptoms, the length of time
which had elapsed between their commencement and the faking of the pills which are sup-
posed to have contained poison, and the screaming and vomiting., I never knew an animal
whichi had been poisoned with strychnia to vomit or seream voluntarily. I apprehend that
where there is 50 much spasm of the heart there must be inability to vomit. In the cases
related in which attempts were made to produce vomiting they did not succeed. There
is such a case in the 10th volume of the Journal de Pharmacie, in which an emetic was given
without success. The symptoms exhibited gfter death by animals poisoned by strychnia differ
materially from those presentedby the body of Cook. In his case the heart is stated to have
been empty and uncontracted.

T.ord Campbell.—I do not remember that. I think it was said that it was contracted.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—According to my note, Dr, Harland said that the heart was con-
tracted, and contained no blood.

Examination continued.—The lungs were not congested, nor was the brain. In the,case
of animals which have recovered the paroxvsms bave subsided gradually. 1 never koew a
severe paroxysm followed by a long interval of repose. I have experimented upon the dis-
covery of siryehnia in the bodies of animals in various stages of decomposition, from a few
hours after death up to the forty—third day, in which latter case the body was qguite putrid.
It has never happened to me to fail to discover the poison. I have experimented in about
fifteen cases.

Supposing a person to have died under the influence of strychnia poison in the first

xysm, and his stomach to have been taken ont and put into a jar on the sixth day after
eath, must strychnia have, by a proper analysis, been found in'the body ?—Yes. If the
strychnia be pure, such as is almost invariably fonnd among medical men and druggists, the
test is nitric acid, which gives a red colonr, which in a great measure disappears on the
addition of protochloride of tin. If the strychnia be pure, it does not undergo any change
on the addition of sulphuric acid, but on the addition of a mixture of bichromate of potash,
with several other substances it produces a beautiful purple, which changes to varying
shades until it gets to be a dirty rerE There are several other tests. In‘this case the stomach
was not, in my opinion, in an unfavourable condition for examination. The ecircumstances
attending its position in the jar and its removal to London wonld give a little more trouble,
but would not otherwise affect the result. If the deceased had died from strychnia poison
it ought to have been found in the liver, spleen, and kidneys. I have seen this poizon foumd
in similar portions of animals which had been killed by it. I have also seen it found in
the blood; that was by Mr. Herapath, of Bristol.

Could the analyses be defeated or confused by the existence in the stomach of any other
substance which would produce the same colours?—XNo. Supposing that pyrozantine and
salicine were in the parts examined, their existence would not defeat the analysis. Pvyro-
zantine is very unlikely to be found in the stomach. Itis one of the rarest and meost difficuls
to be OlllﬂinEL{ The cistinction between pyrozantine and strychnia is quite evident. Pyro-
zantine changes to a deep purple on the addition of sulphuric acid alone, and the bichromate
of potash spoils the colour.  In strychnia no change is produced by sulphurie, acid. It re:
fuires the addition of the bichromate to produce the colour,

Supposing the death to have been caused by a dose of strychnia, not more than sefficient
to destroy the animal, would it be so diffuscd by the process of absorption that you would
not lI:Mil able by these tesls to detect it in any portion of the system ?—20; I believe it
would not.
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Had that question cecupied your attention before you wers called upon to give evidence
upon this trial ?—It had.

What is your reason for stating that strychnine, when it has done its work, continues as
strychnine in the system?—Those who say that some change takes place argue that as food
unilergoes a change when taken into the body, so does the poison ; it becomes decomposed.
But the change in food takes place during digestion ; consequently its traces are not found in
the blood. Substances like steychnine are absorbed without digestion, and may be obtained
unchanged from the blood, They may be administered in various ways.

In your judgment will any amount of putrefaction prevent the discovery of strychnine?—
To ‘say that it is absolutely indestructible would be absurd, but within ordinary limits, no.
1 have found it at the end of forty days.

What is the probable relative rapidity of the action of strychnine in an empty and a full
stomach ? —The emptier the stomach the guicker the action.

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General—I am a leeturer on surgery. DMr. Morley, who
was called for the prosecution, is a lecturer on chemistry. Part (perhaps half) of the experi-
ments on the sixty animals were made by me and Mr. Morley jointly. There was nothing
to distinguish the experiments which 1 made alone from those which I made jointly with
him. I state the apparent results of the whole. My experiments were spread over a period
of thirty years, Many of them have been made since the Leeds case. Some of them were
made in reference to this case. I ean’t say how many.

Now, don’t put yourself in a state of antagonism to me, but tell me how many of your ex-

eriments were made in reference to this particular case?—I cannot answer that guestion.

e great bulk certainly were not. I was first concerned in this case about the time of the
death of the person at Leeds. 1 was applied to. I was in correspondence with the attorney
for the defence. The details of the Leeds case were forwarded to him by me, and I called his
attention to them. The general dose in these experiments was from ball a grain to two

rains. Half a grain is sufficient to destroy life in the larger animals. I bave seen both a

o and cat die from that dose, but not always. Some animals as a species are more suscep-
tible than those of a different species, and among animals of the same species some are more
susceptible than others. The symptoms in the experiments I have mentioned did not appear
after so long a period as an hour. We have had to repeat the dose of poison in some instances
when half a grain has been given. That happened in the case of a cat. Symptoms of spasm
were produced, but the animal did not die. She had not, however, swallowed the doses. 1
think I have known animals of the cat species killed with half a grain.

Have you any doubt about it?—Yes.

Half & grain, then, is the minimum dose which will kill a cat ?—I think it would be the
minimum ose in the case of an old strong cat. If administered in a fluid state I think a
smaller dose would suffice. Hurried breathing is one of the first symptoms, afterwards there
are twitchings and tremblings of the muscles, then convulsions. ;

1s there any diversity, as in the intervals and the order of the symptoms, in animals of the
same species 7—They certainly don’t occur after the same intervals of time, but 1 should say
they generally oceur in the order I have described. There is some difference in the periods
at which the convulsions take place. Some animals will die after less convulsion than others
but an animal generally dies after four or five. In one or two instances an animal has died
after one convulsion. In those instances a dose has been given equal in amount to another
dose which has not produced the same effect. The order in which the muscles are con-
wvulsed varies to some extent. The muscles of the limbs are generally affected first. The
convulsions generally oceur simultaneously.

Do you know any case of strychnine in which the rigidity after death was greater than
the usual rigor mortis °—I think not. Idon’t think there is any peculiar rigidity produced
by strychnine.

Have you never found undue rigidity in a human subject after death from strychnine ?
—Considerably less.

In the anonymous ¢ase to which we have referred were not the hands curved and the feet
arched by museular contraction ?—Not more than is usual in cases of death from ordinary
eauses. The limbs were rigid, but not more than usual. .

In the face of the medical profession, I ask you whether you signed a report stating that
¢ the hands were carved and the feet decidedly arched by muscular contraction,” and
whether vou meant by those words that there was no more than the ordinary rigidity of
death ?—Certainly ; I stated so at the time.

Where? In the report?—No; in conversation. Allow me fo explain that a distinction
was drawn between the muscles of the different parts of the body. I heard Mr, Morley's
evidence with regard to experiments on animals, and his statement that “after death there
was an interval of flaceidity, after which rigidity commenced more than if it had been oceca-
sioned by the usual rigor mortis.”

" ‘,Euufﬂi?n't agree with that statement?—I do not. I generally found the right side of the
eart full.

Does the fact of the heart in Cook’s case having been found empty lead E
clusion that death was not caused by strychnine?—Among othexpth{ngs it};.'l‘feat.u ﬂﬂzﬁi
the evidence of Dr. Watson as to the case of Agnes Senuett, in which the heart was found
distended _and empty; also, that of Mr. Taylor as to the post-mortem examination of Mrs
Smyth, No denbt he stated that the heart in that case also was empty. 7
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And do those facts exercise no infloence on your judgment >—They wounld not unless T
knew how the post-mortem examination had been made, If it was commenced at the head
the blood being fluid, the large drains would be opened, and the blood, from natural causes.
wonld drain away. ?

Do vou know how the post-mortem examination was made in this case?—No. Excnse
me, 1 do. The chest and the abdomen, not the head, were first opened. ;

The heart, then, was not emptied in the first instance? —No,

Then what occasioned the contraction of the heart?—When the heart is emptied it is
usually contracted.

But how do you account for its contraction and emptiness?—I eannot account for it.

Lord Campbell.—Weould the heart contract if there was blood in it ?—No.

Lord Campbell.—When yon find the heurt eontracted yom know, then, that it was con-
tracted at the moment of death?—It is necessary to draw a distinction between the two
cavities, It is very common to find the left ventricle contracted and hard, while the right
is uncontracted. o

Tord Campbell.—That is death by asphyxia ?—Precisely.

By the Attorney-General —In Cook’s case the lungs were described as not congested.
Entosthema is of two kinds; one of them consists of dilation of the cells, the other of a rup-
ture of the cells. When animals die from strychnine entosthema occurs. I do not know
the character of the entosthema in Cook’s case. . It did not occur {o me to have the question
put to the witnesses who deseribed the post-mortem examination.

To what constitutional symptoms about Cook do you ascribe the convulsions from which
he died ? —=Not to any.

Was not the fact of his having syphilis an important ingredient in your judgment upon
his ease P—It was. I judge that he died from convulsions, by the combination of symptoms.

What evidence have you to suppose that he was liable to excitement and depression of
spirits ?—The fact that after winning the race he could not speak for three minutes.

Apything else ?—Mr. Jones stated that he was subject to mental depression. Excitement
will produce a state of brain which will be followed, at some distance, by convulsions. I
think Dr. Bamford made a mistake when he said the brain was perfectly healthy.

Do you mean to set up that opinion against that of Dr. Devonshire and Dr. Harland, who
were present at the post-mortem ?—My opinion is founded in part on the evidence taken at
the inquest, in part on the depositions. With the brain and the system in the condition in
which Cook’s were, I believe it is quite possible for convulsions to come on and destroy a

serson. 1 do not believe that he died from apoplexy. He was under the influence n'l'morpﬂiu,

don’t ascribe his death to morphia, except that it might assist in producing a convulsive
attack. I should think morphia was not very good treatment, considering the state of
excitement he was in.

Do you mean to say, on your oath, that you think he was in a state of excitement at
Rugeley ?—1I wish to give my evidence honestly. Morphia, when given in an injured state
of the brain, often disagrees with the patient.

But what evidence have you as to the injured state of the brain ?—Sickness often indicates
it. I can’t say whether the attack of Sunday night was an attack of convulsions. I think
that the Sunday attack was oneof a similar character, but not so intense, as the attack of
Tuesday, in which he died. I don't think he had convulsions on the Sunday, but he was
in that condition which often precedes comvulsions. I think he was mistaken whern he
stated that he was awoke by a noizse. 1 believe he was delirious. That is one of the
symptoms on which I found my opinion. Any intestinal irritation will produce convulsions
in a tetanic form. I have known instances in children. I have not seen an instance in an
animal. Medical writers state that such cases do occur. 1 know no name for convulsions
of that kind.

Have you ever known a case of convulsions of that kind, terminating in death, in which
the patient remained conscions to the last?—I have not. Where epilepsy terminates in
death consciousnesa is gone. I have known four cases of traumatic, and five or six of
idiopathie tetanus.

You heard Mr. Jones make this statement of the symptoms of Cook after the commence-
ment of the paroxysms :—* After he swallowed the pills, he uttered loud sereams, threw him-
aelf back in the bed, and was dreadfully convulsed. He said, ‘Raise me up! I shall be
suffocated.” The convulsions affected every muscle of the body, and were accompanied by
stiffening of the limbs. I endeavoured to raise Cook with the assistance of Palmer, but
found it quite impossible, owing to the rigidity of the limbs. When Cook found we could not
raise him up he asked me to turn him over.  He was then quite sensible. [ turned him on
to his side. I listened to the action of his heart T found that it gradually weakened, and
asked Palmer to feteh some spirits of ammonia, to be used as a stimulant. hen hereturned
the pulsations of the heart were gradually ceasing, and life was almost extinet. Cook died
very quietly a very short time afterwards. When he threw limself back in bed he clinched
his hands, and they remained clinched after death. When I was rabbing his neck, his head
and neck were unnaturally bent back by the spasmodic action of the muscles. After death
his body was so twisted or bowed that if I had placed it upon the back it would have rested
upon the head and feet!” Now, I ask you to distinguish in any one particular between those
symptoms and the symptoms of tetanic convulsions ?—It is not tetanus at all; not idiopathic
tetanns. - '
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vou that it is not ;diopathic tetanus ;but point ont any distinction thats
iese symptoms and those of real tetanus.—I do not know that there is
I never saw rigidity continue till death and

I quite agree with
you can see between uh V
any distinction, except that in a case of tetanus

afterwards. it i 3 4
Can you tell me of any case of death from convulsions in which the patient was congscious

tcthe last 2—I do not know of any; convulsions occurring after puison has Leen taken are
groperly called tetanic. ) :

We were told by Sir B. Brodie that while the paroxysms of tetanie convalsion last there
jsno difference between those which arise from strychnine and those which arize from tetanns

properly so called, but the difference was in the course the symptoms took. Now,. what.do

ou say is the difference between tetanus arising from strychnine and ordinary tetanus P
lently contracted ; the effect of the spazm 18 less in ordinary tetanus.

!_'l‘lm hands are less vio L - -
The convulsion, too, never entirely passes away. I have stated that tetanuns is a disease of

days, strychnine of hours and minutes; that- convulsive twitchings are in strychnine the
first symptoms, the last in tetanus; that in tetanus the hands, feet, and legs are usually the
last affected, while in strychuine they are the firat. I gave that opinion after the symptoms
in the case of the lady at Leeds, which were described by the witness Witham, and I still
adbere to it. I never said that Cook’s case was one of idiopathic tetanus. I do not think it
was & case of tetanus in any sense of the word. It differed from the course of tetanus from
stryelinine in the particulars I have already mentioned.

Repeat them.—There was the sudden accession of the convulsions.

Sudden—atter what ?— After the rousing by Jones. There was also the power of talking. .

Don't you know that Mrs, Smyth talked and retained her consciousness to the end ; that
her last words were * turn me over ? "—She did say something of that kind. No doubt thosa
were the words she used. I Lelieve that in poison tetanus the symptoms are first observed
in the legs and feet. In the animals upon which T have experimented twitchings in the
ears and difficulty of breathing have been the premonitory symptoms.

When Cook felt a stiffness and a difficulty of breathing, and said that he should be suffo-
cated on the first night, what were those but premonitory symptoms #—Well, he asked to be
rubbed ; but, as far as my experience goes with regard to animals—

The Attorney-General.—They can't ask to have their ears rubbed, of conrse. (A laugh.)

Mr. Serjeant Shee said the witness was about to explain the effect of being rubbed upon

the animals.
Cross-examination continued.—In no single instance could the animals bear to be

touched.

1id not Mrs. Smyth ask to have her legs and arms rubbed #—In the Leeds case the lady
asked to be rubbed before the convulsions came on, but afterwards she could not bear it, and
bezized that she might not be touched.

Can you point out any one point, after the premonitery symptoms, in which the symptoms
-1 this ease differ from those of strychnine tetanus?—There is the power of swallowing,
which is taken away by inability to move the jaw.

But have you not stated that lockjaw is the last symptom that occurs in strychnina
tetanus?—I have. 1 don’t deny that it may be. 1 am speaking of the general rule. In the
Leeds case it came on very early, more than two hours before death, the paroxysms having
eontinued about two hours and a half, In that case we believed that the dose was four times
repeated. Poison might probably be extracted by chemical process from the tissues, but I
never tried it, except in one case of an animal. | am not sure whether poison was in that
case iven throngh the mouth. We killed four animals in reference to the Leeds case, and
in every instance we found strychnine in the contents of the stomach. In one case we
administered it by two processes, and one failed and the other succeeded.

Re-examined.—In making reports upon cases such as that which has been referred to, we
state ordinary appearances; we state the facts withont anything more. )

Mr, William Herapath, examined by Mr. Grove, Q.C.—I am a professor of chymistry
and toxicology at the Bristol Medical chool, I have studied chymistry for more than
iorty years, toxicology for thirty. I have experimented on the poison of strychnine. I
have seen o case of a human subject during life, but I have examined a human body after
death. In one case I examined the contents of the stomach, and 1 found strychnine about
three days after death. There are several tests—sulphuric acid and bichromate of potash,
gulphuric acid, and pure coloured oxide of lead, sulphurie acid and peroxide of lead,
sulphurie acid, and peroxide of maganese, &e. The lower oxides of lead would not succeed.
These are all colour tests, and produce a purple colour, passing to red. Amnother class of
tests gives a different colour with impure, but not with pure, sirychnia. The process used
previous to these tests is for the purpose of producing strychnia. I obtained evidence of
strychnia by the colour tests in the case I have mentioned. I have experimented upon
animals with regard to strychnine in eight or nive cases. | have analysed the bodiea in two
cases in which 1 destroyed the animals myself. Both of them were cats. 1 gave the first
ome grain of strychnia in a solid form. The animal took the poison at night, and I found it
dead in the morning. It was dreadfully contorted and rigid, the limbs extended, the head
turned round—not to the back, but to the side—the eyes protruding and staring, the iris
expanded so as to be almost invisible, I found strychnine in the urine, which had been
ejected, and also in the stomach, by the test 1 have mentioned. I administered the same
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quantity of strychnine in a solid form to another cat. It remained very quiet for fifteen or
sixteen minutes, but seemed a little restless in its eves and in breathing. In thirty-five
minutes it had a terrible spasm, the extremities and the head being drawn together, and
the feet extended. I watched it for three hours, ‘The first spasm lasted a minute or two,
The saliva dripped from its mouth, and it forcibly ejected its urine, It had a second spasm
a fow minutes afterwards. It goon recovered and remained still, with the exception of
a trembling all over. It continued in that state for three hours. During nearly two hours
and a-half is was in a very peculiar state; it appeared to be eleetrified all through ; blowing
upon it or touching the basket in which it was placed produced a kind of electric jomp like a

Ivanie shock. ?]eft it in three hours, thinking it would recover, but in the morning I
ound it dead, in the same indurated and contorted condition as the former animal. 1 exami-
ned the body thirty-gix hours after death, and found strychnine in the urine, in the stum_ac!: and
upper intestine, in the liver, and in the blood of the heart. Ihave discovercd strychnia in all
other cases by the same tests, but I took extraordinary means to get rid of organic matter. In
all cases in which stryehnia bas been given I have been able to find it, and not only strychna,
but also the nux vomica from which it is taken. I have found nux vomica in a fox and in
other animals. The detection of nux vomica is more complicated than that of strychnia.
In one case the animal had been buried two months. I have experimented with strychnia
not in a body, but mixed purposely with organic putrifying matter. I have found it in all
cases, whatever was the state of decomposition of the matter,

Are you of opinion that where strychnia has been taken in a sufficient dose to poison it
can and ought to be discovered ?—Yes; unless the body has been completely decomposed ;
that is, unless decomposition had reduced it toa dry powder. I am of opinion, from the
accounts given by Dr. Taylor and the other witnesses, that if it had existed in the body of
Cook it ought to have been discovered. I am aware of no cause for error in the analysis,
if the organic matter had been properly got rid of. The experiments I have mentioned
were made in Bristol. I have made experiments in London, and found strychnia in the
stomach, liver, and blood of an animal.

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General.—I don't profess to be a physiologist. I have
principally experimented on the stomach until lately, 1 tried my chemical process on the
#th of this month with a view to the present case. The experiment here was on a dog.
experimented on the tissues of a cat at Bristol and of a dog in London. I found strychnia in
the blood, the heart, and the urine of the cat, besides the stomach. One grain was given
to the dog. It was a large dog. I haveseen a cat killed with a guarter of a grain. 1
bave said that Dr. Taylor ought to have found strychnia.

Have vou not said that you had no doubt strychnia had been taken, but that Dr. Taylor
had not gone the right way to find it ?—I may have said so. I had a strong opinion from
reading various newspaper reports,—among others the Jllu-trated Times,—that strychnia
had been given. 1 have expressed that opinion, no doubt, freely. People have talked a great
deal to me about the matter, and I can't recollect every word I have said, but that was my
general opinicn. .

Re-examined by Mr, Grove.—What i3 the smallest quantity of strychnia that your proced#
is capable of detécting 7—I am perfectly sure I could detect the 50,000th part of a grain if
it was unmixed with organic matter. If I put ten grains in a gallon or 70,000 grains- of
water I could discover its presence in the 10th part of a grain of that water. It is more
difiieult to detect when mixed with organic matter. [If a person had taken a grain, a very
small quantity would be found in the heart, but no doubt it could be found. I made fonr
experiments with a large dog to which I had given the eighth part of a grain. 1 have dis-
covered it by change of colour in the 32nd part of the liver of a dog.

Mr. Grove said he believed his Lordship was of opinion that experiments could not be
shown.

Lord Campbell.—We bave intimated that that iz our clear opinion.

Mr. Rogers, examined by Mr. Gray.—I am professor of chemistry at St. George's School
of Medicine, in London. T have made experiments upon one animal (a dog poisoned by
sirychnia. The experiments commenced at the close of last December, and ended about ten
days since. I gave ittwo grains of pure strychnia in meat. Three days after death I removed
the stomach and contents, and sowe of the blood. The blood became putrid in about ten
days, aud I then analysed it with a view jo find strychnine. I separated the strychnine by
colour tests. 1 cannot say how much it was by weight. In a month or five weeks, when the
matter had putrified, I analysed the stomach and its contents. 1 treated it with acidulated
distilled water, and succeeded in discovering strychuia in large guantities about ten days ago.
I never analysed a human subject with a view to find strychnia, but I have many times done
50 to find other poisons. Strychnia must unquestionably have besn discovered in this case if
it had been present and the proper tests had been used.

Crogs-examined by the Attorney-General.—I have only made one experiment, Ifthe con-
tents or the stomach were lost it would make a difference, but not if they were only shaken
up. T'he operation would then be more difiicult. I am a medical man. I did not analyse
the tissaes of the body of the dog. If I had tried the tissues of Cook’s body it might bave
been found if it were there, notwithstanding the time that bad elapsed since he died. 1 don't
say that the time would prevent its discovery if there.

No. ¥f
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Te-examined by Mr. Gray.—If strychnia were in the stomach a portion would probably be
ameared over the muceous membrane, and then I shonld expect to find it on the surface.

Dr. Henry Letheby, examined by Mr. Kenealv.—I am a bachelor of medicine, professor
of chemistry snd toxicology in the London Hospital of Medicine, and Medical Officer of
Tealth to the City of London. I have been engaged for a considerable time in the study of
poisons and their action on the living animal economy. I have also been frequently engaged
on behalf of the Crown in prosecutions in cases of this nature during the last fourteen years.
I have been present during the examination of the medical witnesses, and have attended to
the evidence as to the symptoms which have been described as attending the death of Cook.
I have witnessed many cases of animals poisoned by strychnine, and many cases of poisoning
by nux vomica in the human body, one of which was fatal. The symptoms described in this
case do not accord with the symptoms I have witnessed in the case of those animals. They
differ in this respect: —In the first place I never witnessed the long interval between the
administration of the poison and the commencement of the symptoms which is said to have
elapsed in this case. The longest interval 1 have known has been three-guarters of an hour,
and then the poison was administered under most disadvantageous circumstances. It was
given on a very full stomach and in a form uneasy of solution. I have seen the symptoms
Dbegin in five minutes. The average time in which they begin is a quarter of an hour. In
all eases T have seen the system has been in that irritable state that the very ]i%hteat excite=
ment, such as an effort to move, a touch, a noise, a breath of air, would send the patient off
in convulsions. It is not all probable that a person, after taking strychnia, could pull a bell
violently. Any movement would excite the nervous system, and bring on spasms. Itis not
likely that a person In that state could bear to have his neck rubbed. When a case of
strychnia does not end fatally, the first paroxysm is succeeded by others, gradually shaded
off, the paroxysms becoming less violent every time, and I agree with Dr. Christison that
they would subside in twelve or sixteen hours. 1 have no hesitation in saying that strych-
nine is, of all poisons, either mineral or vegetable, the most easy of detection. 1 have detected
it in the stomach of animals in numerous instances, also in the blood and in the tissues. The
longest period after death in which I have detected it is about month. = The animal was then
in a state of decomposition. 1 have detected very minute portions of strychnia. When it is
pure, the 20,000th part of a grain can be detected. I can detect the tenth part of a grain
most easily in a pint of any liquid, whether pure or putrid. T gave one animal half a grain,
and I have the strychnia here now within a very small trifle. I never failed to detect
strychnia where it had been administered. I have made post - mortem examinations on
various animals killed by it. I have always found the right side of the heart full. The
reason is that the death takes place from the fixing of the muscles of the chest by spasms, so
that the blood is unable to pass through the lungs, and the heart cannot relieve itself from
the blood flowing to.it, but therefore becomes gorged.  The lungs are congested and filled with
blood. I have administered strvehnia in a liquid and a solid form ; Iagree with Dr. Taylor
that it may kill in six or eleven minutes when taken in a solid state in the form of a pill or belus.
I also agree with him that the first symptom is that the animal falls on its side, the jaws are
spasmodically elosed, and the slightest touch produces another paroxysm. Dut I do not agree
with him that the colouring tests are fallacious. T do not agree that it is changed when it is
absorbed into the blood, but T agree with its sbsorption. I think it is not changed when the
body is decomposed. The shaking about of the contents of the stomach with the intestines in
a jar, wou'd not prevent the discovery of strvchnia, if it had been administered. Even if
the contents of the stomach were lost, the mueceons membirane would, in the ordinary course
of things, exhibit traces of strychnia. T have studied the poison of antimony. If a quantity
had been introduced into brandy-and-water, and swallowed at a gulp, the eftect would not be
to burn the throat. Antimony does not possess any such quality as that of immediate
burning. I have turned my attention to-the subject of poison for seventeen or eighteen years.

_ Cross-examined by the Attorney-General.—1 am not a member of the College of Phy-
sicians or of Surgeons. I do not now praectise. I have been in general practice for two or
three years. I gave evidence in the last case of this sort, tried in this court in 1551. I gave
evidence of the presence of arsenic. The woman was convicted. I stated that it had been
administered within four heurs of death. I was the cause of ler being respited, and the
sentence was not carried into effect, in consequence of a letter T wrote to the Home-Office,
Other scientific gentlemen interfered, and challenggd the soundness of my conclusions before
1 wrote that letter. T have not since been employed by the Crown.

By Mr. Justice Cresswell.—1 was present at the trial. 1 perfectly remember it.

Cross-examination continued.—I detected the poison. I zaid in my letter that 1 conld not
speak as to possibilities, but merely as to probabilities, I have experimented on animals for
a great number of years. On five recently. I have never given more than a grain, and it
has always been in asolid form—in pills or bread. In the case where poison was adminis-
tered under disadvantageous eircumstances it was kneaded up into a hardr?nass of bread.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—Did the animal bolt it or bite it?
be;f: “L: ::;355..—1 opened the mouth and put it into the throat. About half an hour elapsed
i ﬂm'b?]"l}’“‘g’t‘i‘q“? ﬂil{P?ﬁmd in one case in which half a grain had been given. " In another
! oo E.. . -;:e, within thirteen minutes. I have noticed twitching of the ears, difficulty

alling, and other premonitory symptoms, There arve little variations in the order in

il
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which the symptoms occur. I have known frequent instances in which an animal has died in
the first paroxysm. I heard the evidence of Mrs, Smytl’s death, and I was surprised at her
having got out of bed when the servant answered the bell. It is not consistent with the
cases | haveseen. That fact Jdoes not shake my opinion. I have no doubt that Mrs. Smyth
died from strvchnine. Cogk's sitting up in bed and asking Jones to ring the bell is inconsis-
tent with what I have observed in strychnine cases.

If & man’s breath is hurried is it not natural for him to sit up?—It is. I have seen cases
of recovery of human subjects after taking str rchnine. There is a great uniformity in its
effects; that is, in their main features, but there is a small variation as to the time in which
they are produced.

What do you attributeCooke's death to ?—Tt is irreconcileable with everything with which
I am acquainted.

1s it reconcileable with any known disease you have ever seen or heard of ?—Nao.

Re-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee—We are learning new facts every day, and I do not
at present conceive it to be impossible that some peculiarity of the spinal eord, unrecog-
nisable at the examination after death, may have produced symptoms like those which have
been described. I, of course, include strychnia in my answer, but it is irreconcileable with
everything I have seen o heard of. It isas irreconcileable with evervthing elsa; it is irrecon=
cileable with every disease that I am acquainted with natural or artificial. Touching an animal
during the premonitory symptoms will bring on a paroxysm. Vomiting is inconsistent with
strychnia. The Romsey case was an exceptional one, from the quantity of the dose. Ths
ringing of the bell would have produced a paroxysm. I am still of opinion that the evidence
I gave on the trial in 1851 is correct. I am not aware that there is any ground for an
imputation upon me in respect of that evidence. Ihave no reason to think Governrent was
dissatisfied with me. 1 have been since employed in Crown prosecutions. After that case
Dr. Pereira came to my laboratory and asked me, as an act of merey, to write a letter to him
to show to the Home-office, admitting the possibility of the poison which I found in the
stomach having been administered longer than four hours before death. I wrote the letter,
drawi;lg a]flfistinnﬁun between what was possible and probable, and the woman was trans-

orted for life. :

: Mzr. R. E. Gay, examined by Mr. Ser.}euut Shee.—1I am a member of the Royal College of
Surgeons. I attended a person named Forster for tetanus in October, 1855. He had sore
throat, muscular pains in the neck, and in the upper portion of the cervical vertebre. He
was feverish, and had symptoms ordinarily attending catarrh. I put him under the usual
treatment for catarrh, and used embrocations externally to the muscles of the neck and
throat, and also gargles. About the fourth day of my attendance the migcular pains ex-
tended to the face, difficnlty of swallowing came on, the pains in the cervical vertebra
increased, also those of the muscles of the face, particularly the lower jaw. [In the evening
of the same day the jaw became completely locked, the pains come on in the muscles of the
bowels, the legs, and the arms. He became very much convulsed throughout the entire
muscular system, had frequent involuntary contractions of the arms, and hands, and legs,
his difficulty of swallowing increased, and not a particle of food, solid or liquid, eould be
introduced into the mouth. Attempting to swallow the smallest portions brought on violent
eonvulsions ; sostrong were they throughout the system that I could compare him to nothing
but a piece of warped board. The head was thrown back, the abdomen thrust forward, and
the legs frequently drawn up and contracted; the attempt to feed him with a spoon, the
opening of a window, or placing the fingers on the pulse brought on violent convulsions.

hile the patient was suiferinﬁ in this manner he continually complained of great hunger,
and repeatedly exclaimed that he was hungry, and could not eat. e was kept alive to the
14th day entirely by injectiens of a milky and farinaceous character. Ie screamed repeat-
edly, and the noises that he made were more like those of a wild man than anything else.
On the 12th day he became insensible, and continued in that state until he died, which was
in the 14th day from the commencement of the attack of lockjaw. The man was an
omnibus driver, and when I first attended him be bad been suffering from sore throat for
several days. There was no hurt or injury of any kind about his person that would aceount
for the symptoms I have mentioned. ~ His body was not opened after death, because it was
considered unnccessary. 1 consider his disease was inflammatory sore throat from cold and
exposure to the weather, and that the disease assumed a tetanic form on account of the
patient being a very nervous, excited, and anxious person. His condition in life was that of
an omnibus driver. He was a hardworking man, and had a large family dependent upon
him, and this, no doubt, acting upon his peculiar temperament, tended to produce the tenanic
sympioms. The witness, in conclusion, said he had not heard all the evidence in this case,
but he thought it right to communicate to the prisoner’s solicitor the particulars of the case
to which he had now referred, as he considered it had an important bearing upon the charge
against the prisoner.

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General —The case I have mentioned was, undoubtedly,
one of idiopathic tetanus. It is the only one of the kipd I ever had to deal with. 1t arose
from exposurato cold acting upon a nervous and irritable temperament. I have a gooll many
patients who are nervons and irritable, but I never met with such another case. The disease
was altogether progressive from the first onset, and, although for a short time there was a
remission of the symptoms, they invariably recurred. The locking of the jaw was one of
the very first symptoms that made their appearance.
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Serieant Shee then addressed the court, and said that the next witness he proposed to call
wﬂulj oceupy some time in examination, and, as it was nearly six o'clock, he suggested that
it would be better to adjourn the examination to the next day.

The Lord Chief-Justice said he had no objection to the course proposed by the learned
Serjeant, and he then inquired of him how much time the case for the defence was likely to
OCCupy.

Suitfuant. Shee said he hoped to conclude the defence to-morrow ; and he should endeavour
to do so if he possibly could. 3 T

The Lord Chief-Justice said there was no desire to hurry him. It was most essential in
£0 important an inquiry that the most ample opportunity shonld be allowed for a full and
satisfactory investigation.

The court then adjourned to this morning at ten o’clock.

NINTH DAY.

THERE was as great a crowd as usual in court this morning, leng before the commencement
of the proceedings,

The Duke of Wellington, the Earl of Albermarle, Lord Donoughmore, Lord Dufferin, Lord
Feversham, Siv J. Pakington, Mr. Harcourt Vernon, General Peel, Mr. Tollemache, Mr. 8.
Warren, and other members of Parliament were present.

The learned Judges, Lord Campbell, Mr. Baron Alderson, and Mr. Justice Cresswell, took
their seats upon the bench at about i0 o’clock, and, the prisoner having been placed at the
bar, the examination of witnesses for the defence was resumed. No alteration has taken
place in the prisoner's demeanour.

Counsel for the Crown—the Attorney-General, Mr. E. James, Q.C., Mr. Welshy, Mr
Bodkin, and Mr. Huddleston ; for the prisoner, Mr. Serjeant Shee, Mr. Grove, Q.C., Mr. Gray
and Mr. Kenealv.

Mr. J. B. Ross, examined by Mr. Grove.—I am house-surgeon to the London Hospital.
I recollect a case of tetanus being brought into the hospital on the 22nd of March last. A
man, aged 37, was brought in about half-past 7 in the evening. He had but one paroxysm
in the receiving-room; his pulse was rapid and feeble, his jaws were closed and fixed, there
was an expression of anxiety about the countenance, the features were sunken, he was unable
to swallow, and the muscles of the abdomen and the back were somewhat tense. After he had
been in the ward about ten minutes he had another paroxysm, and his body became arched ;
it lasted about a minute. He was afterwards quieter for a few minutes, and then had ano-
ther attack and died. The whole lasted about half-an-hour. There was an inguest held on
the body. 1t was examined, and no poison was found. I think tetanus was the cause of
death. There were three wounds on the body, two at the back of the right elbow each about
the size of a shilling, and one on the left elbow about the size of a sixpence. The man had
had those wounds for 12 or 16 vears. They were old chroniec indurated ulcers, circular in
outline, the edges thickened and rounded, and covered with a white coating, without any
granulation. I am unable to say what was the origin of those ulcers, but I have seen other
wounds like them. I have seen old chronic syphilitic wounds like them in other places.
1“!11?50, wounis were the only things which would account for tetanus.

Cross-examived by the Attorney-General.—I ascertained that poultices had been applied
to the wounds a day or two before, but I am not certain as to the exact time. The man’s
wife had objected to their application. They were made of linseed meal. The man's jaws
were fixed so as to render him perfectly incapable of swallowing anything, He said he had
first been taken with symptoms of lockjaw at eleven o'clock—as he told me, at dinner, but,
as he told my colleague, at breakfast.  He was able to speak, but could not open the jaw.

That is a symptom of tetanus. There were symptoms of rigidity about the abdominal and
lumbar muscles.  He did not say bow long he had felt that ri idity. I gathered that some
other medical man, a surgeon, had seen him in the afternoon before Lie came to the hospital,
but I am not certain as to that: he was a labouring man.

Have vou any doubt that the disease had been coming on since the morning ?—No doubt
at all.  The sores were ugly sores of a chronic character—ulcers. There was an integument
wiich i_‘lll';'llll'l!lﬁll. the two otk the right arm, so that '[]]3]; would be hke]}r to run into one
another.  The wounds continued under the skin, and there were no signs of healing. They
had the eppearanee of old meglected sores. They were at the seat of the ulnar nerve—a
very sensitive nerve—that which is commonly called the % funny-bone” 1 believe he had
successive paroxysms all the afternoon before he came to the liospital. I think his attack
arose from tetanus. My opinion is founded upon the facts that e had had wounds, that he
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tiad died of spasms, that he had lockjaw, that the muzcles of the abdomen and back were
rigid, and that he complained of pain in the stomach. 1 did not hear the aciount'of the
symptoms of Cook’s death. An affection of the ulnar nerve was peculiarly liable to produee
tetanus.

Re-examined by Mr. Grove.—Strychnine was suspected in that case. The norves of the
tongue are vary delicate, as are also those of the throat and fances. I have read descriptions
of tetanus in the books. The case deseribed by Mr. Gay was idiopathie, having been eansed
by a cold. An injury to any delicate nerve wonld decidedly be a caunse of tetanus.

Mr, Ryners Mantell, examined by Mr. (Giray.—I am a house-surgeon at the London Hos-
pital. I saw the case mentioned by Mr. Ross, and his statement with respect to tie 'symp-
toms is correct.  In my judgment, the disease of which the paticat died was tetanus,
produced by thesores on the arme.

Dr. Wrightson, examinod by Mr. Kenealy :—1I was a pupil of Liebiz at Giessen. I ama

teacher of chemistry in a school in Dirmingham. T have studied the nature and acquired a
knowledge of poisons, and I have been engazed by the Crown in the detection of poison in
a prosecution. I have experimented upon sirvehnia. Lhave found no extraordinary difficul-
fios in the detection of strychnia. It is certainly to be detected by the usual tests, 1 have
tested and discovered both pure and mixed with impure matter atter decomposition has set
in. I have detected it in a mixture of bile, bilious matter, and patrifying blood. Strychnia
ean be discovered in the tissues. I have diseovered it in the viscera of a cat, in the blood of one
dog, and in the urine of another dot, both of them having been poisoned by strychnia. I am
of opinion that strychnia does not undergo decomposition in the act of potsoning or in enter-
ing into the circulation. If it underwent such a change, if it were decomposed, I should say
it would not be possible to discover it in the tissues; it might possibly be changed into a
aphatance, in which, however, it would still be detectable. It can be discovered in extramely
minute quantities indeed.  When I deteeted it in the blodd of & doz [ had given the animal
two grains, To the second dog I gave one grain, and I detected it in the urine. Half a
grain was inténded to be administerald to the caf, but a considerable portion of it was lost.
Aszpming that a man was poisoned.by stryvehnine, and'if his stomach wers /genk to me
tor analvsation within five or six days after death, [ have no doubt that I should find it, gene-
rallv. if 2 man had been poisoned by strychnine I should eertainly expect to detact it

(gmas'emmi-.mi by the Attornev-General.—Supposing that the whole dose were absorbed
mto the system, where woald you expect to find it ?—In the blood.

Does it pass from the blood into the solida of the body 2—It does; or T should rather say it
i3 Toft in the solids of the body. In its progress towards its final destination, the destruction
of life, it passes from the blood, or is left by the blood in the solid tissaes of the body.

If it be present in the stomach, you find it in the stomach ;if it be present in the Iload], you
find it in the blood; if it be lefv by the blood in the tissues, vou find it in the tissnes?—
Precisely so.

Suppose the whola had Leen ahsorbed ;—Then [ would not undertake to find if.

Suppose the whole hal been aliminated from the blood, and had passed into the urine,
1;huu}d you expect to find any in the blond 2—Certainly not, ;

‘Suppose that the minimum dose which will destroy life hail been taken, and absorbed into
{the cireulation, then deposited in the tissues, and thena partof it eliminated by the action of the
idneys, where should you search for it ?—In tire bloody in the tissues, and in the ajoctions;
and T wonld andertals to/discover it in each of them,

Te-ezamined by Mr. Serjsant Shee.—Suppoac yon knew a man to have been killed by
stryehnia administered to him an hour and a-halé before he died, in your judgment would that
strychnia certainly be detected in‘the stomach in the first instance?—Yes,

uppose it to have been administeved in the shape of pills, and completely absorbed and gob
out of the stomach, would it still be foand 2—I can’t tell. 1f it were fonnd; it weuld b in the
Jiver and kidnoeys, i

Could it be detgpted under fhoss civonmstances in the coats of the stomach ¥—Not knowing,
the dosa administered and the power of absorption, 1 cannol say thas it could cercainly be
detected, but probahly is coutd : )

Whan death has taken place after one pardxysm, and an heur and a-half after ingestion of
the poison, can Jon form'an opinion 25 1o whother the (ose was considerable ur inconsider-
ab'eP—I cannof, ' " ko : [ g F

Vir, Baron Alderson.—THow do you suppest gtrvchning acts when taken inte thn stomaghd
—1 eannot form an opinion. : L .

l'.i"-ﬁ‘.- Baron Alderson.—lt goes, [ suppose, from the stomadh to the bluod, sl from the
Blied soaiervhers, glieatide SYUNRG 400 YR ASKR g, I il L ot

Aampuoeil,—1 canng, LaK thig viitness to leave the box without expressing my high
approbation of the manaer in which #ie has given his evidence,
S r, Serjeant Shee suquested to be allowed to ask the witness whether a strong dose wasi
-11:.;}; o pass t_:hraugh all the stages his Lordship had mentioned.

> .rBarﬂn Alderson.—That depends on where the killing takes piace.

i‘f@iw Tartridge, examined by Mr. Grove—I have been many Years in ext usha

oractice as & surgeon, and I am a Professor of Anatomy in King’s College. I have heatd i

evidence as to Cogk’
15 to Cook I have heard the statemiciity,

3 symptoms and post-mortem examination.

as to the granules that weye found on hig sping, They would be Likei i |
L 5 iy - e A g
and no Enu’at that Inflammation wmidp have hl}gl:l dimm‘:ﬁd it Eﬂ:l::‘rtm:fﬁm—lqm:imz
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membranes had been examined shortly after death. It would not be likely to be discovered if the

spinal cord was not examined untii nine weeks after death. I have not seen cases in which
iis imflammation has produced tetanie form of convulsions, but such cases are on record. It

sometimes does, and sometimes does not produce convulsions and death. 2

Can you form any judgment as to the cause of death in Cook’s case?—I cannot. No
conclusion or inference can bedrawn from the degree or kind of the contractions of the body
after death.

Lord Campbell.—Can you not say from the symptoms you heard whether death was pro-
duced by tetanus, without saying what was the cause of tetanus?

Witness.—Hypothetically I should infer that he died of the form of tetanns which eon-
vulses the muscles. Great varieties of rigidity arise after death from natural causes. The
half-bent hands and fingers are not uncommeon after natural death. The arching of the feet
in this case seemed to me rather greater than usual.

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General. —Granules are sometimes, but not commonly,
found about the spine of a healthy subject,—not on the cord itself; they may exist con-
sistently with health. No satisfactory cases of the inflammation I have described have come
under my notice without producing convulsions. It isa very rare disease. 1 cannot state
from the recorded cases the course of the symptoms of that disease. It wvaries in duration,
sometimes lasting only for days, sometimes much longer. [If the patient lives it is accom-

anied with paralysis. It produces no effect on the brain, which is recognisable after death.

t would not effect the brain prior to death. I do not know whether it is attended with loss
of sensibility before death. The size of the granules which will produce it varies. This
disease is not a matter of months, unless it terminates in palsy. I never heard of a case in
which the patient died after asingle convulsion. Between the intervals of the convulsions I
don’t believe a man could have twenty-four hours' repose. Pain and spasms would accom-=
pany the convulsions, Icannot form a judgment as to whetherthe general health would be
affected in the intervals between them, v

You have heard it stated that from the midnight of Monday till Tuesday Cook had com-
plete repose. Now, I ask you, in the face of the medical profession, whether you think the
sylptoms which have been described proceeded from that disease ?—I should think not.

- Did you ever know the hands completely clinched after death except in case of tetanus P--
o :

Have you ever known it even in idiopathic or traumatic tetanus >—1T have never seen idio-
pathic tetanus. I have seen the hands completely clinched in traumatic tetanus. A great
deal of force is often required to separate them.

Have you ever known the feet so distorted as to assume the form of a club foot 7—No.

You heard Mr. Jones state that if he had turned the body upon the back it would have
rested on the head and the heels, Have you any doubt that that is an indication of death
from tetanus ?—No; it is a form of letanic spasm, I am only acquainted with tetanus result-
ing from strychnine by reading. Some of the symptoms in Cook’s case are consistent, some
are inconsistent, with strychnine tetanus. The first inconsistent symptom is the intervals
that occurred between the taking of the supposed poison and the attacks.

Are not symptoms of bending of the body, difficulty of respiration, convulsions in the
throat, legs, and arms perfectly consistent with what you know of the symptoms of death
from strychnine >—Perfectly consistent. 1 have known cases of traumatic tetanus. The
symptoms in those eases had been occasionally remitted, never wholly terminated. I never
knew traumatic tetanus run its course to death in less than three or four days. Inever knew
a complete case of the operation of sirvehnine upon a human subject.

Bearing in mind the distinction bétween traumatic and idiopathic tetanus, did you ever
knl?_{w of such a death as that of Cook according to the symptoms you have heard described ?
—No.

. Re-examined by Mr. Grove.—Besides the symptom which I have mentioned as being incon~

sistent with the theory of death by strychnine there are others—namel , sickness, beating
the bed clothes, want of sensitiveness to external impressions, and sudd¥n cessation of the
convulsions and apparent complete recovery. There was apparentiy an absence of the usual
muscular Agitation.  Symptoms of convulsive character arising from an injury to the spine
vary considerably in their de%mes of violence, in their periods of intermission, and in the
muscles which are attacked. Intermission of the disease occurs, but is not frequent, in trau-
mutic tetanus. I don’t remember that death has ever taken place in fifteen hours; it may
take place in forty-eight hours during convulsions. Granules about the spine are more
unusual in young people than in ‘old. 1 don’t know of any caze in which the spine can
preserve ils integrity, so as to be properly examined, for a period of nine weeks. 1 should
not feel justified in inferring that there was no disease from mot finding any at the end of
that time. The period of decomposition varies from a few hours to a few days. It is not in
the least probable that it could be delayed for nine weeks. '

By the Attorney-General.—Supposiy the stomach
th.ilnllc h.“[_,knem ol b i“mmimﬁ:ﬁwii taet :“1::1 5 were acted on by other canses, I donot
obn Gay, examined by Mr, Gray.—I am a Fellow of the Roval Collegre of Surmeons, and I
lm'.iu iIEE'I;L a surgeon to the Royal Free Hospital. A case of traﬁmaﬁc tffnnus ina boy came
'sllju: (&4 mﬁji ohservation in that hospital in 1843, The patient was brought in during the time
¢ I:M ill. He was brought on the 28th of July and died on the 2ad of August. He had met
#ith an accident a week before, During the first three days he had paroxysms of unusual
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_severity. His mother complained that he could not open his mouth, and he complained o

stiff neck. During the night he started up and was convulsed. On the following night h
waa again convulsed. At times the abdominal museles, as well as those of the legs and back,
were rigid; the muscles of the face were also in a state of great contraction. On the following
(the third) day he was in the same state. At two o'clock there was much less rigidity of the
muscles, especially those of the abdomen and back. On the the following morning the mus-
cular rigidity had gone, he opened his mouth and, was able to talk ; he was thoroughly re-
lieved. He had no return of spasms till half-past five the following day. e then asked the
nurse to change his linen, and as she lifted him upin the bed to do so vielent convulsions of
the arms and face came on, and he died in a faw minates. About thirty hours elapsed between
the preceding convulsion and the one which terminated hislife. Before the paroxysm came
on the rigidity had been completely relaxed. I had given the patient tartar emetic (contain-
ing antimony) in order to produce vomiting on the second day ; it preduced o effect. 1pgave
:h }a&gder dose on the third day, which also produced no effect. 1 gave no more after the
ird day.

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General—The accident which had happened to him was
that a large stone had fallen upon the middle toe of the left foot, and completely smashed it.
The woynd had become very unhealthy. I amputated the toe. The mouth was almost
closed up when I first saw him. The jaw remained closed until the 1st of August, but I
could manage to get a small guantity of tartar emetic into the mouth. The convulsions
were intermitted during the day, but the muscles of the body, chest, abdomen, back, and
neck were all rigid, and continued so for the two dayson which I administered tartar
emetic. Rigidity of the muscles of the chest and stomach wonld no doubt go far to
prevent vomiting. The symptoms began to abate on the morning of the 1st of August (the
fourth day), and gradually subsided until the rigidity entirely wore off. I then thought he
was going to get well. The wound might have been rubbed against the bed when he was
raised, but I don't think it probable. Some peculiar irritation of the nerves would give rise
to the affection of the spinal cord.  No doubt the death took place in consequence of some-
thing produced by the injury to the toe.

Te-examined by Mr. Gray—There may be various causes for that irritation of the spinal
cord which ends in tetanic convulsions. It would be very difficult merely from seeing
symptoms of tetanus, and in the absence of all knowledge as to how it had been oceasioned,
to ascribe it to any particular cause.

Dr. W. Maedonald, examined by Mr. Kenealy—I am a licentiate of the Tloyal College of
Surgeons of Edinburgh. I have been in practice for fourteen years, and have had consi-
derable experience, practical and theoretical, of idiopathic and traumatic telanus. I have
seen two cases of idiopathic tetanus, and have made that disease the subject of medical
research. Tetanus will proceed from very slight causes. An alteration of the secretions of the
bedy, exposure to cold or damp, or mental and sensual excitement would canseit. The presence
of gritty granules in the spine or brain might produce tetanic convulsions. 1 have seen cases
in which small gritty, tubercules in the brain were the only assignable cause of death, which
had resulted from convulsions. I believe that in addition to the slight causes which I have
named tetanic convulsions result from causes as vet undi.sm‘l.'emﬁlc by human science.
In many post-mortem examinations of the bodies of persons who had died from tetabus no
trace of any disease could be discovered beyomd congestion or vascularity of some of the
vessels surrounding the nerves. Strychnia, however, 13 very easily discoverable by a scien-
tific man. ] remember the case of a woman, Catherine Watson, who is now present, and
who was attacked with idiopathic tetanus on the 90th of October, 1853, [The witness read
a report of the circumstances attending this case, the subject of which was a young woinan
twenty-two years of age, who, after going about her ordinary occupation during the day, was
attacked with tetanus at ten o'clock at night. By the administration of chloroform the
violence of the spasms was aradually diminished and she recovered. After her recovery she
slept for thirty-six hours.] In that case there was lockjaw, which set in about the middle of
the attack. It is generally a late symptom. I had a patient named Coupland who died of
tetanus. It must have been idiopathic, as there was no external cause. TFI‘m patient died in
somewhat less than half-an-hour, before I could reach the house. I have made a number of
experiments upon animals with reference to strychnia poison. I have found the post-
mortem appearances very generally to concur. The vessels of the membranes of the brain
have gencrally been bighly cangested. The sinuses gorged with bleod. In one case
there was hemorrhage from the nostrils. That was a case of very high congestion. In sgome
cases there has been an extravasation of blood at the base of the bram. I have cut through
the substance of the brain, and have found in'it numerous red points. The lungs have been
either collapsed or congested. The heart has invariably been filled with blood on the right
side, and very often on the left side also. ‘L'he liver has been congested, the kidneys and
spleen generally healthy. The vessels of the stomach on the outer gurface have been con-
gested, and on the mucous or inner surface highly vascular. The vessels of the membranes
of the spinal cord have been congested, and sometimes red points have been displayed on
cutting it through. From a post-mortem examination you may generally judge of
the canse of death. I have in a great many cases experimented for the discovery of

strychnia. You may discover in the siomach the smallest dose that will kill. If
yoit kill with a grain you may discover lraces of it. By traces I mean evidences of
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its presence. You ean discover the fifty-thousandth part of a grain. I have actually expe-.

i 3 to discover that quantity. The decomposition of strychnia is a theory which
rl;lc:r“ aﬁﬁig‘; I:mm of eminence Itllan ever hefore propounded. 1T first heard of Llna:t ?‘mnr}‘-m
this court. In my opinion, there is no well-founded reason whatever forit. I have ;:1prm od
the theory by numerous experiments. I }mve l:g.!ien the blood of an animal poisonec J:I"i' two
rains of strychnia, about the least quantity which would destroy life, and have injected it
iE-hrn‘.:;ll the abdominal cavities of smaller anima!a,‘ant@ have :le:stmya{rl them, mti!, all 1_,hg
gymptoms and post-mortem appearances of poisoning hh}‘: strychnia. Stryr:l'mm h&mg
administered in pills would not affect its detection, If the pills were hard they would keep
it together, and you might find its remains more easily. 1 do not agree with Dr. T;!}-!,,-,r that
colour tests are fallacious. I believe that such tesis are a reliable mode of ascertaining the
presence of strychnia. I have invariably fminrl strychmia in the urine wh:luh has been
ejected. Strychnia cannot be confounded with pyrozanthe. _After strychnia has been
administered there is an increased flow of saliva. In my experiments that has been a very
marked symptom. Animals to which strychnia had been given have always been very
susceptible to tonch. The stamp of a foot or a sharp word would throw them into eonvul-
sions. Even before the paroxysms commenced touching them would be Jikely to throw them
i ic convulzsions, L :
mt!{..}utr?;]::ilmphell. As soom as the poison is swallowed ?—No; it would be after a certain
time. The first svmptoms of poisoning must have been developed. _ ‘

Examination continued.—I do not think rubbing them would give them reliel I think
it extremely improbable that a man who had taken a dose of stryvchnia, SLII:ﬁNl"I‘].t- to destroy
life, could, after the symptoms had made their appearance, pull a bell violently. 1 have
attended to the evidence as to Cook’s symptoms, To the symptoms I attach little importance
as a means of diagnosis, because you mayv have the same symptoms ﬂevclup&d__ by many
different causes. A dose of strychnia sufficient to destr ]nf.,f would hardly require an hour
and a-half for its absorption. I think that death was in this case caused by epileptic con-
vulsions, with tetanic complieations. I form that opinion from the post-mortem avpearances
being so different from those that I have described as attendin poisoning with strychnia,
and from the suppozition that a dose of strychnia sufficient to estroy life in one paroxysm
could not, so far as I am aware, have required even an hour for its absorption before the
commencement of the attack. If the attack were of an epileptic EI'EIII'-IIG‘EEI‘, the interval
between the attacks of Monday and Tuesday would be natural, as epileptic seizures very
often recur at about the same hours of successive dava. 3

Assuming that a man was in sc excited a state of mind that he was silent for two or thres
minutes after his horse had won a race, that he exposed himself to cold and damp, exeited
his brain by drink, and was attacked by violent vomiting, and that after his death deposits
of gritty granules were found in the neighbourhood of the spinal cord, would these causes be
likely to produce such a death as that of Cook ?—Any one of these causes would assist in
the production of such a death. : .

As a congeries would they be still more luke'lly to produce it ?—Yes,

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General. —I am a general practitioner, and am parochial
medical officer. I have had personal experience of two cases of idiopathic tetanus. What
I have said about mental and sensual excitement and so on has not eome wizhin my own
observation. In the case of Catherine Watson I saw the patient at about half-past ten at
night. She had been ill nearly an hour, and had five or six spasms. She had gone about
her usual duties up to evening. She felt a slight lassitude for two days previous to the
attack. It was only by close pressing that I ascertained that lockjaw came on .about an
hour or two after I was called in.  The case of Coupland was that ofa roung child between
three and four years old. I was attending the mother, and saw the child in good health
half-an-hour before it came on. It was seized with spasm, what I conjeetured to be of the
diaphragm, and died in about half-an-hour. ' I had scen the child asleep, but 1 did not
examine it. I don’t know whether I saw the face of the child, but it was in bed; [judged
that it was asleep.

Is that the same as seeing it asleep ? —Sometimes a medical man can form a better opinion
than a lawer. Mr. Smith applied to me to be a witness in this case. I communicated to
Bim the case of Catherine Watson, as resembling the case of Cook. I furnished my not=3 to
be copied the night before last. I bave been here since the commencement of the trial, I
liave been at all the consultations. I began the experiments for this case in January. I had
made experiments before. That was eight or ten years ago. I then found out that strych-
nia could be discovered by chemieal and physiological tests. T killed dogs, ecats, rabbits,
and fowls. The doses I administered were from three-quarters up to two grains. To dogs
the smallest quantity administered was a grain. In four cases I killed with one grain, five
with a grain and a-half, one with a grain and a quarter, and two with twe grains. I never
killed a dog with half a grain of strychnia, and therefore never experimented to find that
quantity after death. 1 have always found the brain and heart highly congested. The im-
mediate cause of the fulness of the heart is that the spasm drives the blood from the small
capillaries into the large vessels, * The spasm of the respiratory mnseles prevents the expan-
g.lon of the lungs. The conzestion of ‘the Braiy g greatest when the animal was young and

in full h:!ﬁ]:l.h. It does not epend on the frequemy of ﬂ]!l_ spasmz. I have seen cases of
traumatic tetauns. I have had two in my own practice, COne lasted five or six duys, the
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.other six or seven days, and the patient recovered. T have never seen a case of strychnia in
the human subject. So far as T can judge, Cook’s was a case of epileptic convulsions, with
tetanic complications. Nobody can say from what epilepsy proceeds. I have not arrived at
any opinion on the subject. 1 have seen one death from epilepsy, The patient was not
conscious when he died. I can’t mention a case in which a patient dying from epilepsy has
preserved his conseiousness to the time of death. 3

_ You have been reading up this subject ?—I am pretty well up in most branches of medi-
cine. (A langh.) I know of no case in which a patient dying from epilepay has been
conscious. My opinion is that Cook died of epileptic convulsions with tetanic complica-
tions.

By Lord Campbell.—That is a disease well known' to physicians. It is mentioned in Dr.
Copeland’s Dictionary.

Examination continued.—I believe that all convulsive diseases, including the epileptic
forms and the various tetanic complications, arise from the decomposition of the blosd acting
upon the nerves. Any mental excitement might have caused Cook’s attack, Cook was ex-
cited at Shrewsbury, and whenever there is excitement there is consequent depression, 1
::;link Co'iirll: was afterwards depressed. When a man is Iving in bed and vomiting he must be

epressed.

!}‘his gentleman was much overjoyed at his horse winning, and you think he vomited in
consequence ?—It might pre-dispose him to vomit.

I am not speaking of “mights.” Do you think that the excitement of three minutes on
the course at Shrewsbury on the Tuesday accounts for the vemiting on the Wednesday
night ?—I[ do not. 1 find no symptoms of excitement or depression reported between that
time and the time of his death. The white spots found in the stomach of the deceased
might, by producing an inflammatory condition of the stomach, have brought on the convul-
sions which caused death.

The Attorney-General.—But the gentlemen who made the post-mortem examination say
that the stomach was not inflamed.

Witness.—There were white spots, which cannot exist without inflammation. There must
have been inflammation.

The Attorney-General.—DBut these gentlemen say that there was not.

Witness.—1I 50 not believe them. (A langh,) Sensual excitement might cause epileptic
-convulsions, with tetanic complications. The chancre and syphilitic sores were evidence
that Cook had undergone such excitement. That might have occurred before he was at
Shrewsbury.

Might sexual intercourse produce epilepsy a fortnight after it occurred »~There is an
instance on record in which epilepsy supervened upon the very act of intereourse.

Have you any instance in which epilepsy came on afortnight afterwards? (A langh).—It
is within the range of possibility. A

Do you mean, as a serious man of science, to say that ?—The results might.

What results were there in this case ?—The chancre and the syphilitic sores.

Did you ever hear of a chancre causing epilepsy !—No.

Did von ever dream of such a thing ?—I never heard of it. : ] P

Did you ever hear of any other form of syphilitic disease producing epilepsy ?—No; but
tetanus. | i . )

The Attornev-(General.—But yvou say this was epilepsy ; we are not talking of tetanus ?

Witness.—You forget the tetanic complications. (Roars of laughter). .

The Attorney-General. —If T understand right, thew, it stands thus—the sexual excite-
ment produces epilepsy, and the chancre superadds tetanic complications ?

Witness.—1 say that the results of sexual excitement produce epilepsy.

Mr. Baron Alderson said he had heard some person in court ¢lap his hands. On an occasion
on which a man was being tried for his life such a display was most indecent. )

Examination continued.—I cannot remember any fatal case of poisoning by strychnia in
which so long a period as an hour and a-half intervened between the taking of the poison and
the appearance of the first symptoms. e | ;

What would be the effect of morphia given a day or two previously ? Would it not retard
the action of the poison?—No; I have seen opium bring on convulsions very nearly similar.

What quantity ?—A grain and a half. From my experience I think that if morphia had
been given a day or two before it would have accelerated the action of the strychnia. I have
seen opinm bring on epileptic convilsions. If thiz were a case of puisoning by strychnia, I
should suppose that as both opium and strychnia produce congestion of the brain, the two
would act together, and would have a more speedg effect. 1If congestion of the brain was
eoming on when morphia was given to Cook on the Sunday and Monday night it might have
increased rather than allayed it. !

But the gentlemen who examined the body say there was no congestion after death 7—Dut
Dr. Bamford says there was. . ] e

You stick to Dr. Bamford ?—Yes, I do, becanse he was a man of experience, could judge
much better than younger men, and was not so likely to be mistaken. i

But Dr. Bamford says that Cook died of apoplexy; do you think this was apoplexy o —
No it was not.
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What, then, do you think of Dr. Bamford, who certified that it was ?—That was a matfer
of opinion, but the existence of congestion in the brain he saw.

The Attorney-General.—The other medical men said there was none,

Lord Campbell.—That is rather a matter of reasoning than of evidence.

Re-examined by Mr. Serjeant Shee —I have seen a great many children asleep, and can

tell whether they are so without seeing their faces. In the case of the child who died of
tetanus the mother had told me that it was asleep. Dr. Mason Good iz a well known author
upon convulsions From my reading of his work and others 1 have learnt that there are
convulsions which are not, strictly speaking, epilepsy, although they resemble it in some of
its foatures. 1 also know the works of M. Esquirolle.” From reading those and other works I
know that epileptic convulsions sufficiefitly violent to canse death frequently occur without the
patient entirely losing his consciousness, Epilepsy, properly so called, is sudden in its attack.
The patient falls down at once with a shriek. That disease occurs very often at night, and.
in bed. It sometimes happens that its existence is known to a young man’s family without
his knowing anything about it. Convulsions of an epileptic character are sometimes pre-
ceded by premonitory symptoms. It sometimes happens :Eat during such convulsions actual
epilepsy comes on, and the patient dies of an internal spasm. It often happens that if a
patient has suffered from epilepsy and convulsions of an epileptic kind during the night he
may be as well next day as if nothing had happened, more especially when an adult is
seized for the first time. In such cases it often happens that such fits suceeed each other
within a short period. 1 heard the deposition of Dr. Bamford. If it were true that the mind
of the deceased was distressed and irritable the night before his death, I should say that he
was suffering from depression. From what Cook said about his madness in the middle of
the Sunday night I should infer that he had heen seized by some sudden cramp or spasm.
Supposing that there was no such cramp, I should refer what he said to nervons and mental
excitement. There might be some disturbance of the brain. 1 do not believe that inflam-
mation can be absent while spots on the stomach be present. About eighteen months agoe
T examined the stomach of a person who had died from fever, in which I found white spota.
1 consulted various authors. In an essay on the stomach by Dr. Sprodboyne, a medical
man who practised in Edinburgh, I found mention of similar spots in the stomach of a young
woman who had died suddenly.

Dr. Bainbridge, examined by Mr. Grove.—I am a doctor of medicine, and medical
officer to the St. Martin’s workhouse I have had much experience of convulsive disorders.
Such disorders present great variety of symptoms. They vary as to the frequency of the
oceurrence and as to the muscles affected.  Periodicity, or recurrence at the same hours, days,
or months, is common. I had a case in which a patient had an attack on ¢ne Christmas
night, and on the following Christmas night, at the same hour, he had a similar attack.
The various forms of convulsions so run into each other that it is almost impossible for the
most experienced medical men to state where one terminates and the other begins. In both
males and females hysteria is frequently attended by tetanic convulsions. Epileptic attacks
are frequently accompanied by tetanic complications,

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General,—Hysteric convulsions very rarely end in deathe.
1 bave known one case in which they have done =0. That occurred within the last three
months. It was the case of a male. ~ It cccurred in St. Martin’s workhouse. The man had
for years been subject to this eomplaint. On the occasion on which he died he was ill only &
few minutes, I did not make a post-mortem examination. I was told he was seized with
sudden convulsions, fell down on the ground, and in five minutes was dead. There was
slight clinching of the hands, but I think no locking of the jaw. The man was about
thirty-five years of age. He was the brother of the celebrated wmronaut, Lieutenant Gale.
In many cases of this description conseiousness is destroyed. It is not so in all. I have met
with violent cases in which it has been preserved. 1 never knew a case in which during the
paroxysm the patient spoke. E]iilepsy is sometimes attended with opisthotonis. 1 have
seen cases of traumatic tetanus. In such cases the patient retains his consciousness. I have

known many cases of epilepsy terminating in death. Loss of consciousness—not universally,
but generally—accompanies epilepsy. I never knew a case of death from that disease where
consciousness was not destroyed. I have known ten or twelve such fatal cases.

Rﬂl-{nxamimd by Mr. Grove—Persons almost invariably fall asleep after an epileptic
attack.

The Attorney-General.—And after taging opium?-—Yes, :

Edward Austin Steddy, examined by Mr. Gray.—I am a member of the Royal College of
Surgeons, and am in practice at Chatham. In June, 1854, 1 attended a person named Sarah
Ann Taylor for trismus and pleuro-tothonos. When 1 first saw the patient she was bent to
one side. The convulsions came on in paroxysms. The pleuro-tothonos aad trismus lasted
about a fortnight. The patient then recovered so far as to be able to walk about. About a
twelvemonth afterwards, on the third of March, 1835, she was again seized. That seizure
lasted about a week. She is still alive. The friends of the patient said that the disease was
brought on by depression, arising from a quarrel with her husband. '

Cross-examined by Mr. James.—I do not know haw long before the attack this quarrel
occurred. During it the woman received a blow vpon her side from her husband. During
the whole fortnight the lockjaw or trismus continued. In March, 1855, she was under my
care about a week, during the whole of which the trismius continued.
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Dr. George Robinson, examined by Mr, Kenealy.—I am a licentiate of the Roval College
f Physicians, and physician to the Newcastle-on-Tyne Dispensary and Fever Hospital. I
jave devoted considerable attention to the subject of pathology. I have practised as a
shysician for ten years. 1 have heard the whole of the medical evidence in this case. From
he symptoms deseribed I should say that Cook died of tetanic convulsions, by which I
0, not. the convulsions of tetanus, but convulsions similar to those witnessed in that
The convulsions of epilepsy sometimes assume a tetanic appearance. I know no
pent of pathology more obscure than that of convulsive diseases. 1 have witnessed
mortem examinations after death from convulsive diseases, and have sometimes seen no
bid appearances whatever, and in other cases the symptoms were applicable to a great
yariety of diseases. Convulsive diseases are always connected with the condition of the
LTy The brain has a good deal to do with the production of convulsive diseases, but
spinal cord has more. I believe that gritty granules in the region of the spinal cord
1 be very likely to produce convulsions, and I think they would be likely to be
similar to those deseribed in the present case. I think that, from what [ have heard
seribed of the mode of life of the deceased, it would have predisposed him to epilepsy.
ve witnessed some experiments with strychnia, and have performed a few. 1 have also
ribed it in cases of paralysis.
v the Attorney-General.—I have seen twenty cases where epilepsy has beenattended by
vulsions of a tetanic character. I have never seen the symptoms of epilepsy proceed to
ything like the extent of the symptoms in Cook’s case. I never saw a body in a case of
epsy so stiff as to rest upon the head and the heels. I never knew such symptoms to
g in any case except tetanus. When epilepsy presents any of these extreme forms it is
ays accompanied by unconsciousness. In almost every case of epilepsy the patient is
priscious at the time of the attack. In cases of epilepsy I have found gritty granules on
the brain, and any disturbing cause in the system, L think, would be likely to produce con-
yalsions. | believe that the granules in this case were very likely to have irritated the
gpinal cord, and yet that no indication of that irritation would have remained after death.
Tthink that these granules might have produced the death of Mr. Cook,
" The Attorney-General.—Do you think that they did so?
 Witness.—Putting aside the assumption of death by strychnia, I should say so.
, The Attorney-General.—Are not all the symptoms spoken to by Mr. Jones indicative of
death by strychnia?
~ Witness.—They certainly are.
. By the Attorney-General.—Then, it comes to this—that if there were no other cauae of
death suggested, you would say that the death in this case arose from epilepsy ¢
- Witness.—Yes,
" By Serjeant Shee,.—Epilepsy is a well-known form of disease which includes many others.
* Dr. Richardson said,—I am a physician, practising in London. I have never seen a case
of tetanus, properly so called, but I have seen many cases of death by convulsions. In many
instances they have presented tetanie appearances without being strictly tetanous. I have
the muscles fixed, especially those of the upper part of the body. 1 have observed the
s stiffened out, and the hands elosely and firmly clinched until death. I have also ob-
a sense of suflocation in the patient. In some forms of convulsions I have seen
eontortions both of the legs and the feet, and the patient generally expresses a wish to sit up.
ve known persons die of a disease called angina pectoris. The symptoms of that disease,
nsider, resemble closely those of Mr. Cook. Angina pectoris comes under the denomi-
on of spasmodic diseases. In some cases the disease is detectable upon post-mortem
ination; in others it is not. I attended one case. A girl ten years old was under my
in 1850. I supposed she had suffered from scarlet fever. She recovered so far that my
isits ceased. 1 left her amused and merry in the morning; at half-past ten in the evening
was called in to see her, and I found her dying. She was supported u-pri%ht at her own
est, her face was pale, the muscles of the face rigid, the arms rigid, the fingers clinched
respiratory muscles completely fixed and rigid, and with all this there was combin
nse agony and restlessness, such as I have never witnessed. There was perfect conscions-
pss, The child knew me, described her agony, and eagerly took some brandy and water
om a spoon. 1 left for the purpose of obtaining some chloroform from my own house, which
fas thirty yards distant. hen I returned her head was drawn back, and I could detect no
papiration ; the eyes were then fixed open, and the body just resembled a statue; she was
dead. On the following day I made a post-mortem examination. The brain was slightly
pngested ; the upper part of the spinal cord seemed healthy; the lungs were collapsed ;
eart was in such a state of firm spasm and solidity, and so emptied of blood, that I remarked
hat it might have been rinsed out. I could not discover any appearance of disease that
jould account for the death, except a slight effusion of serumin one pleural cavity. 1 never
puld ascertain any cause for the death. The child went to bed well and merry, and im-
ediately afterwards jumped up, screamed, and exclaimed, “I am going to die.”
¢ the Attorney-General.—] consider that the symptoms I have desbribed were those of
2 pectoris, "it is the opinion of Dr. Jenner that this disease is occasioned by the ossifi-
of some of the small vessels of the heart. I did not find that to be the case in this
ce. There have been many cases where no cause whatever was discovered. It is cailed
rina. pectoris, from its causing such extreme anguish to the chest. I do not think the



156

symptoms I have described were such as would result from taking strychnia. Thers ist
difference,—thut rubbing the hands gives ease te the patient in cases of angina pectaris,
must say there would be great difficalty in detecting the difference incases of angina pectoris, Ay
strychnia. As regards symptoms I know of no difference between the two. T am bound
say that if T had known so much of these subjects as I do now in the case T have referred
I should have gone on to analysis to endeavour to detect strvchnia. In the second case
discovered organic disease of the heart, which was quite sufficient to account for the svm
toms., The disease of angzina pectoris comes on quite suddenly, and does not give any nati
of its approach. I did not send any note of this caze of any medical publication. It iz not
all an uncommon oceurrence to find the hands firmly clinched after death in cases of natu
disease.

By Mr. Serjeant Shee.—There are cases of angina pectoris in which the patient has rec
covered and ap{marcd perfectly well for a period of twenty-four hours, and then the atta
has returned. 1 am of opinion that the fact of the recarrence of the second fit in Couk’s ea
is more the symptom of angina pectoris than of strychnia poison.

Dr. Wrightson was re-ealled, and in answer to a question put hy Serjeant Shee he said
was his opinion that when the atrychnia poison was absorbed in the system it was diffns
throughou* the entire system.

By the Attornev-General. —The longer time that elapsed before the death would render tig
absorption more complete. 1f a minimum dose to destroy life were given, and a long inters
elapsed to the death, the more complete would be the absorption and the less the chance §iF
finding it in the stomach.

By Serjeant Shee.—T sheuld expect still to find it in the spleen and liver and blood.

Catherine Watson said,—I live at Garnkirk, near Glasgow. 1 was attacked with a fit
October of last year. 1 had no wound of any kind on my body when I was attacked. I'clf
not take any poison. _

By the Attorney-General.—I was taken ill at night. Thad felt heavy all day from te"
morning, but had no pain till night, The first pain I felt was in my stomach, and therff
had cramp in my arms, and after that T was quite insensible. I have no recollection of anff:
thing after I was first attacked, except thatl was bled.

Serjeant Shee then said that he was now about to enter into another part of the case -
the defence, and probably the Court would think it a convenient period to adjourn.

The Lord Chief Justice said that the Court had no objection to adjourn if the lea
serjeant thought it would be a eonvenient time to do so.

he Attorney-General requested that before the Court was formally adjourned a witnigs
named Saunders, whose name was upon the back of the bill, and who was not in attendan g
and who he believed had not made his appearance during the trial, should be ealled upon §=
recognisances. He added that he believed this witness was also subpenaed on behalf of (f
prisoner, but he (the Attorney-General) intended to have called him for the Crown.

The Court directed that the witness should be called upon his recognisances, and this 'y
ilone, but he did not appear.

The Court then adjonrned until ten o¢'clock on Satvrday morning.

TENTH . DAY.

Tug court sat again this morning at ten g'clock. As on former days, the conrt-house
crowded to inconvenience, and the avenues remained blocked up with persons anxious,
unable to obtain admission. The Lord Chief Justice, Baron Alderson, and Mr. Jusi
Cresswell, took their seats on the bench at the usual hour, and the prisoper was placed in
dock. He presented the same appearance, and maintained the same demeanour. .

Oliver Pemberton, examined by Serjeant Shee.—I am lecturer on anatomy in the Ques
College, Birmingham, and surgeon to the General Hospital there. I was present at
examination of the late Mr. Cook after exhwnation in January last. I observed the e
dition of the spinal cord, and, in my judgment, it was not in a condition that would ena
me to state in what condition it had been immediately after death. The upper part, wh
the brain had been sc;]:laratﬁd, was green in colour from the effects of decomposition. ©
remaining portion, although fairly preserved, was so soft as not to enable me to draw &
opinion as to the state in which it was immediately after death.

Cross-examined Ly the Attorney-General.—I do not know how many hours the body
been opened before 1 saw it; but I saw it the day after the bony canal had been opc
The opening of that canal would, to a considerable extent, expose the spinal cord to'the at
sphere, but it still remained covered by a strong membrane. It is decidedly my fmpres
that the outer covering—the dura-mater—was not open when I saw it. ﬁ:. ]tl}lilt i
Fcamrg of flu&en"s College, was present, and shared in the examination,

This witness's evidence closed the medical testimeny for the defenee,

*
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| George Myatt was called, but did not answer.
© Henry Mathews, inspector of police at the Euston-square railway station, examined by
\Mr. Grove.—I was stationed at Euston-square on Monday, the 29th November laat. The
‘last train from Euston-square that stopped at Rugeley was the train that left at two o'clock
‘p.m. The express train left at five o'clock in the afternoon. That train got to Stafford
ithat night at 8.45, It was due at 8.42. The distance from Stafiord to Rugeley by railway
'is nine miles; the distance by road I do not know. The quickest way of getting to
'Rugeley from Euston-square, after the ten o'clock train has lett is by the express train to
*Stafford, and by road from Stafford to Rugeley
. George Myatt was again called, but did not answer.

George Pell was called, but did not answer.

Joseph Foster was called, but did not answer.

Baron Alderson,— Call another. =
__ Serjeant Shee.—They are all at the hotel in 1art-street, and they have been sent for.

Baron Alderson.—And they’ll all come together probably.
. ‘The proceedings of the Court stood still for five minutes.
" Lord Chicf Justice.—Brother Shee, is there no other witness? I should be sorry to dis-
‘turb the order for the defence—
At this moment
. Joseph Foster, who had been called, was announced, and examined.—I am a farmer and
grazier at Sivitop, Northamptonshire. I kept the George Hotel at a place called Wells up
to Lady-day last. I knew Cook for many years previous to his death, and had often met
‘him at race-courses. 1L think he was of weak constitution. I formed that judgment from
knowing him at many times to have had a bilious attack and sick headache. That is the
only circumstance upon which 1 have founded my judgment.

Cross-examined by Mr. James.—Cook hunted regularly in Northamptonshire. He kepi
sometimes two and sometimes three honters. He hunted pretty regularly three days a
week when he seemed well. I know George Pell, attorney at Northampton. There was a
cricket club, I can't say whether Cook was a3 member. I last saw Cook about the middle
of October last. Hunting had not commenced then. I knew him last to have had a sick
‘headache a year und a haif ago. I saw him when be had the sick headache in my own
house. He came down to my house that morning, intending to hunt, but did not go
out that day. He stayed at my house for two or three hours. He did not dine at my
: Eu];:-:se the day before. I could mot swear I did not see him hunting within a week after
! t.
~ Re-examined by Mr. Gray.—I never saw him sick upon any other occasion than the onz
I have mentioned, except siX or Seven years ago. That was after dinner.

. George Myatt, examined by Mr. Grove.—l am a saddler, and reside at Rugeley, 1
was at Shrewsbury races on the Tuesday that * Polestar " won. I was at the Raven
otel on Wednesday evening. I saw Mr. Cook and Mr. Palmer at the Raven
"{hat night at about twelve o'clock. I was waiting in the room when they came. ¥
" consider Mr. Cook was the worse of liguor. ‘They proposed to have some brandy-and-
. water. Each of us had a glass of brandy-and-water. Cook made some remark—that he
| fancied it was not good. He drank part of it off, and then made the remark
| that it was somewhat bad, and gave it to some one to taste. Mr Cook
proposed to lhave some more and Palmer said he would not have any more
unless Cook drank his out. There came no more brandy, and we went to bed. |
. alept in the same room with Palmer. The brandy was brought in a decanter. Mine was
poured-out of it. 1 don't know by whom. I did not leave the room at all from the time
Cook and Palmer came in until they went to bed. I did not see anything put into the
brandy-and-water. Nothing could have been put in without my seeing it. Palmer and 1
Jeft the sitting-room, and went to bed together; 1 slept in the same room with Palmer. We
‘left Cook in the sitting-room. Nothing further took place that night. When we went to
‘bed I locked the door, and Paimer did not leave the room. When I got up the next morning
' Palmer asked me to call Cook. Ididso. I went to Cook’s bed-room door, rapped, and he
called me to come ir. 1 wentin, and he told me how ill he had been during the evening.
He said he had been obliged to send for a doetor. He asked me what had been put into the
‘braudy-and-water, and 1 told him I did not know of anything. He asked me to send for the
' doctor—meaning Palmer. I didso. I saw him next when he came into the sitting-room to
brealfast. Palmer was then in the room. Palmer and I breakfasted first; Cook came in
directly after we had had our breakfast. He breakfasted in the same room. Cook, Palmer,
"and myself lefc for Rugeley at night. We dined together first at the Raven. It was abont
six o'clock when we left for Rugeley. We returned by the express train from Shrewsbury.
“Palmer paid for the three tickets, Palmer was sick on the road. Both Cook and he said
they could not accourt for ® what it were.” Palmer vomited. This was not on the railway
but on the road from Stafford to Rugeley. We had stopped at the Junetion Tnn, at Stafford;
‘we got into a fly. They could not account for Palmer's sickness, unless, as Palmer said, the
dinner was ecooled in some brass vessel, or that it was in the water; he said there had been
'a great many people ill at Shrewsbury races. [ myself had heard that there had been a

at many l{nmplu ill, and that it could niot be accounted for. The distance by the road from

tafford to Rugeley is nine miles. 3

Cross-examined by Mr. James.—I have known Palmer all his life. Ile dealt for his
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saddlery with me. I have not been in the habit of going to races with him. I was never
at Donecaster races with him in my life. [ have never slept with him at Doncaster. [ wag|
at Wolverhampton races with him in the August of last year. I went with him. I did not
aleep in the same room with him at Wolverhampton. T did not live in the same hotel with ™
him. 1 stopped with my brother-in-law at Wolverhampton. T was at Wolverhamptony
races, I believe a couple of days. I neither dined nor breakfasted w:tl} Pal_me:r there. _I was |
at Lichfield races last year with him in September. The course is within ten wmiles of &
Rugeley. I did not go with Palmer. I came home to sleep, but not with Pil.lmtl". That
is about all the races I was at last year. H
Have you ever slept in a double-bedded room with Palmer at any races except at)l
Shrewsbury ? y il
The witness hesitated : He at length said, * I bélieve not." Will you swear it?—Yes.
Witness.—I was never at Worcester in my life. Palmer paid the expenses of my living |
at Shrewsbury, and he paid my fare back. 1 will swear that he has never paid my ex-
penses at the races. I was at two or three races the year before, but I am mot sure of |
the number. I had an interview with Palmer in Stafford gaol. I was about a couple of |
hours with him. That, I think, was about a month or five weeks ago, but I am no
sure. I cannot call to my mind, whether it was since the Stafford assizes. I cannot sa]';
whether it was before or after I went, because Mr. Smith said he was going, and I thought i
1 should like to see him. I have betted a half suvereign or a sovercign on Palmer's
horses.
He * put you on " his horses?—The witness hesitated. |
Don't you know the meaning of the phrase ?—Yes, 1 do. T did not bet at Shrewsbury on !
any horses at all,—neither on Palmer’s nor on Cook's, 1 have stood a sovereign or so with®
Palmer on his horses at races, I saw Cook first in Palmer’s company at the Raven on Wed-
nesday night, as near as possible at twelve o’clock. 1 had not been dining with Palmer. T
dined that day at home at Rugeley, and got to Shrewsbury that night at eight or nine |
o'clock, I went then to the Rawven, in which I knew where Palmer’s room was, and 1 weng
to see if Palmer was in. That was between eight or nine o’clock. The first person I saw by
Palmer's room door was Cook, who asked me, “ What brooght you here?” 1 told him I was
come to see how * they was getting on.” Palmer, I found, was jgone out, and then I weng
into the town. I might be about an hour away, when I returned, and went into Palmer's’
sitting-room. Palmer was not there. 1 waited until he came. 1 waited about a couple of’
hours before Palmer cama. It was about twelve o'clock when he came in, but I am not sure.
He came in with Mr. Cook. Cook was worse for liquor, but not very drunk—rather. I could?
easily see that he was worse for liquor. The braudy-and-water was produced directly after
they came in. The brandy was brought in in a decanter; the water might be on the table—"
I can’t say. There were tumblers on the table, but 1 should say they were all brought up
together, the tumblers and the brandy, but I can’t say about the water. I don't remember
Mrs. Brookes coming, nor Palmer being called out of the room. I remember a gentleman
coming in, whom Il now know to be Mr. Fisher. Palmer did not leave the room before
Mr. Fisher came: that I'll swear. Palmer, I positively swear, never left the room from the
time he and Cook joined me till he went to bed. I was sitting close to him the whole time
When Mr. Fisher came in, Cook asked Palmer to have some more brandy-and-water.
Palmer said he would not have any more unless he (Cook) drank his brandv-and-water. |
Cook was the worse for liquor, evidently, to anybody who saw him. Cook then drank hig|
flass off at a draught. Direcl]}r after he drank it, he said, * There iz something in ic.” F
Will you swear he did not say, ** It burns my throat?"—No—Yes, [ will. 1 will swear
he said nothing to that eifect. He made no other observation after saying, “ There is some-= |
thing in it."” lle gave it to some one—1I believe to Fisher—to taste. I can't swear whether
it was Palmer or Cook who did that. I do not know that a Mr. Reed came in; I believe |
there were but four persons in the room at the time. 1 don't know that Mr. Reed came in
after. T cannot say if anybody else came in before we went to bed. As near as possible
there was a little left after Cook drank off his glasa. 1
Did Pulmer toueh the glass after Cook drank it ?—1I believe not; but T rather think he
tasted what was in il. 1 believe he zaid he eonld not taste an;t.hing but brandy and water,
and handed it to Fisher. I don’t know, and can’t say, that Fisher said * It's no usa giving
me the glass, its empty.” I don’t swear that he did, or that he did not say go. It might ba
twenty minutes after that that we left the room. Cook did not leave the room before
Palmer. I did go to bed ; that I'll swear. 1 did not hear at all that night that Cook ha
been ill. 1 took only one glass that night. The brandy-and-water was cold. T dined with
Palmer the following day at the Raven, and Mr. Cook'carved. I was at home the first two
days of the inquest. I did not go to the inquest at all. ]
_He-examined by Mr. Grove, (.C.; I was examined by the Crown in this case, but they
did not subpeena me. During my interview with Palmer in Stafford gaol there was an officer
of the gaol present the whole time. We did not speak a word about this case. '
By the Attorney-General: I never spoke to Mr. Gardner at all about the brandy-and-
wn;er. 1 did not tell Mr. Stevens that 1 did not remember anything about the brandy-and-
Wwater. }

Attorney-General: Were you not examined before the inquest by them, and did you
say vou knew nothing about it? i

!
L
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¥o, I did not. I told them what I say now.

John Sargeant, examined by Serjeant Shee.—I am in no business or profession, but live
on my means. [ am in the habit of attending races. I knew the late Mr. Cook intimately,
and also the prisoner Palmer. A few days before Mr. Cook's death, during the Shrews-
bury races, I received a letter from him. I was subpeenaed on the part of the Crown, but I
have not had notice to produce it. I sought for the letter when I was asked about it, but I
could not find it, as I had sent it to Saunders, the trainer, I made application by letter to
Saunders for it. I received a letter from Saunders in answer to it. The letter is signed W,
Saunders. I have seen Saunders, and have taken every means in my power to cbtain it.

The Attorney-General.—Have you any objection to my seeing the letter?

Witness.—Oh, no, here it i=.

Serjeant Shee.—~Will you allow me to give evidence as to the contents ?
ﬁ".[‘he. Attorney-General.—I think I must object. We must have Saunders, the traifer,

rat.

Examination resumed.—1I only know what Cook lost or won from the letter that he wrote
to me.

Serjeant Shee.—Yon must not tell me that.

Examination resumed,—I had an opportunity of seeing the state of his throat before he
died. I was with him at the Liverpool meeting the week previous to the Shrewsbury meet-
ing. We slept at the same hotel and in adjoining rooms. One morning he called me in to
his room and drew my attention to his throat, which was very much inflamed. There were
ulcers upon it, and the tongue was so swollen, that | said I was surprised at the state of his
mouth. He said he had been in that state for weeks and months, and now, he gaid, * I
don't take notice of it.” That is all that passed on the occasion on the sore throat, He had
shown me his throat before this at almost every meeting we attended. He took some ginger-
bread and cayenne on the platform at Liverpool afier the races, I saw him take it. He
told me afterwards that it very nearly killed him.

HSﬁr{fam Shee.—Did he say more particularly then what effect it produced upon him?—

e did not. :

Witness.—When he was at Liverpool he was very poor. That was the week before the
Shrewsbury races, The means I have of knowing it are that he owed me 25 He gave me
10L on account, and said he had not sufficient to pay bis expenses at Liverpoel, but 1 should
have the balance of the 25L at the Shrewsbury meeting. 1 have the means of knowing that
Cook and Palmer were in the habit of * putting on ” fur ecach other, and they did so at the
Liverpool meeting. I have the means of knowing that Cook lost money. 1 execnted a com-
mision for Mr. Ferrier, who told me that Cook stood a portion of the money. 1 have known
Palmer supply Cook with blackwash shortly before his death, 1 do not know myself
whether that is a mercurial lotion. [ never saw his throat dressed by anybody.

Cross-examined by Mr. James.—The blackwash was not to drink. [ saw it applied at the
Warwick Spring Meeting in 1855, where Polestar won. He attended nearly all the race
meetings-throughout the year. The Liverpool Meeting was the week before Shrewsbury. 1
was surprised to see him eat and drink so well. His appetite was pretty good. The cayenne
pepper nut is made up as a kind of trick.

jeant Shee called for a letter of the 4th March, 1855, from Cook to Palmer.

Jeremiah Smith, examined by Serjeant Shee:—I am an attorney at Rugeley, and was ac-
quainted with Palmer and the late Mr. Cook. I saw Mr. Cook at the Talbot Arms on Friday,
the 16th of November. I saw him about ten in the morning. I was present at his break-
fast. He breakfasted on the bed. Ie took tea, and a wine glass of brandy was brought and
put into his one cup of tea. I dined in his company at Palmer's that day. I am not quite
pesitive I saw him before breakfast and dinner. e had champagne at dinner, and port
wine after dinner. Cook drank three bottles of wine altogether. We had either two of port
and four of ehampagne, or two of champagne and four of -port. The dinner was over about
half-past two o’clock. 1 then left the house with Cook, as Palmer had to go and write his
letters. He went first to my house, and then to the Albion hotel, next door. We had each
a glass of drandy-and-water, cold. Cook left me there.. Before he went away he said
he felt cold, and put his feet on the fender and warmed them. He borrowed a
book from the landiady, and said he would go home and read in bed. In the after-
noon of that day we were talking about racing. Iasked him for 50L IHe gave me 5l then.
As he was taking the note out of his note case, I said, *Why, you can pay me the whole.”
He said, * No; there is only 4Z 10s due to you. L have given Palmer money, and will
pay you on my return from Tattersall's on Monday.” Nothing more oceurred on the occa-
sion. On the Saturday night Cook was unwell, and 1 slept in his room. I retired to bed
about twelve. In the early part of the night Cook was unwell. He got some toast-and-
water, and was washing his mouth. A night chair was in room, and he used it. He used
the toast-and-water to gargle his throat. He was sick, and tried. to vomit. About two
o'cloek I went to sleep, as I was tired, and I slept until Palmer came in in the morning. I
lay still in bed, and I heard a conversation between Palmer and Cook. Palmer said, How
are you this morning?” Cook said, “ 1 am not very well this morning.”" T slept from about
two o'elock, from which time the house became guiet. Palmer called in Bamford, who said
he would send in some medicine, I know Mrs. Palmer, the prisoner’s mother. On the
evening of Monday I went to Mrs. "almer’s house, and saw her. I went to see if the
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prisoner had returned to Rugeley from London. I should think it was about 3 o'clock. T didl
not find him at that hour. He did not arrive until about 10, minutes past 10 o'clock, and
then I saw him coming in the direction of Stafford in a car. He said, * Have you seen
Cook to-dav?” I said, “No I have not.” Then he said, * Well, we had better go up and
see him before I go to my mother's.” We went up to Cook’s room together. 1 Leard what
passed berween Cook and Palmer. Cook said to Palmer, © You're late doctor, 1 didn’t expect
vou to luok in. Hesaid, * I bave taken the medicine yon gave me.” We did not stay more:
than two orthree minutes. He deseribed the effect of the medicine. Hesaid he had taken the
medicine. Enquiries were made as to his state of health., Cook said he had been talking to
Saunders, the trainer, who had been up. That was all that passed. Palmer and I left the
room together. Mrs. Palmer's house is about twenty-four or twenty-five yards from the
Talbot Arms. We stayed there about half-an<hour, and then 'Ieavin%the house together, we
went to Palmer’s own house.  We left the house after that. [ left Palmer in the house. I
asked Cook and Palmer to dine with me the next day. Cook did not dine with me ; he sent
me a message that he was unwell, and could not leave his room. I sent some broth to Cook
from the Albion by a charwoman: I think her name was Rowley; I borrowed 2001, and
negociated a loan with Pratt for 5004 for Cook Lefore his death. 1 borrowed 1004 from Mrs.
Palmer, and 1000, for William Palmer to make up the 200L T only know that Cook and
Palmer were jointly interested in one horse. Cook and Palmer “put on” for each other
respectively, when their horses ran in several races. I saw Thirlby dress Cook’s throat with
caustic before the Shrewsbury races, (Two notes handed to witness, bearing the signatures
J. P. Cook and Jobn Parsons Cook,) 1 saw them signed by Cook. I was never present when
a writ was served on Cook, but he was served with a writ. I cannot say that shortly before
his death he employed me as his attorney to appear to a writ. [ Documents were handed in,
and read by the officer of the court. The first was u long letter from Cook to witness, stating
that a writ was issuep against him: another letter was read, enquiring if a bill could be re-
newed for two months; also a memorandum signed G. P. Cooke, for a mortgage of Polestar
and Syrius to secure 5001 (The handwriting of Cook was proved by the witness.)

Cross-examined by the Attorney-General.—I have known Palmer long and intimately. 1
have been employed as attorney a good deal. I cannot recollect that he applied to me in
December 1854, to atlest a proposal of insurance of Walter Palmer for £13,000 to the
Solicitors' and General office. 1 do not recollect that in Jannary, 1855, I  as asked to attest
a proposal on Walter Palmer's life for £13,000 to the Prince of Wales office. Walter Palmer
had been in no business himself. I knew that he had an allowance from his mother, and I
believe that his brother William gave him money. In 1852 and 1853 I lived at Rugeley,
sometimes with the prisoner's mother. I had only a proper intimacy with her. Iama
single man. I slept two or three times a week at Mrs. Palmer’s for several years. 1 had
lodgings in Rugeley at the time, about a quarter of a mile from Mrs. Palmer's. Sometimes
some of her sons used to come te visit her; her son Joseph was one of them, and he is now
living at Liverpool. The other son who visited her was Walter; he sometimes resided in
Stafford and sometimes in Liverpool. I believe he died at Stafford. I went to the mother's
to see them, and we took a glass of gin-and-water, and played cards and had a smoke. They
used to go to Buxton in the summer. I have been in the house when the mother was there,
and when the sons were not there ; that happened sometimes two or three times a week.
Sometimes L did not go there for weeks. The mother, daughter, and servants were there. I
don’t recollect that I was called on to attest another proposal in the Universal Office for
£1,300. But if I could see any document or circumstance that would remind me of it, I
might do so. Most likely I might have got £3 for attesting such an assignment from Walter
I'almer to William.

Attorney-General.—Just look at that; is that your signature?

_ Witness.—Itis very like my signature, but I have a doubt of it. (After a panse)—I be-
lieve it is not my handwriting. I swear it is notmy handwriting. Ithinkitis a very good imi-
tation of my handwriting. I believe that is Walter Palmer's signature. The attestation is
in the handwriting of Mr. Pratt. I did not receive the document from Mr. Pratt. I might
have received it from William Palmer, I don't recollect. (After some hesitation). No
doubt he did give it to me. (Sensation). I got it before it was signed.

Attorney-General.—Do you now say that is not your signature ?

Witness.—1 do; I applied to the Midland County Office to be anainted their agent; 1
sent them a proposal for 10,000, on the life of Bates. William Palmer and Bates came
together with the prospectus to me, and Palmer asked me if the Midland Office had any
agent. Ile then asked me to write and get appointed, as he wanted to effect an insurance on
B{}m” life. T wrote to the office to get appointed their agent, in order to have an insurance
efiected on Dates's life for 10,0004, Bates was at that time supcriutending: William FPalmer's
stud 3“-_'51 stables, I went to the widow of Walter Palmer to get her to give up her claim on
the poliey of her husband ; she said she should like her solicitor to see the document. I took
it to lier tosign. 1 believe that Walter Palmer ultimately got something for the assignment

of the policy to William Palmer: I bel; h t th i iakiad: for ‘i, O L Qo'
Kuow thatuhie gobw bill for 001 © - o e [ SUb the house

The Attorney-General.—I will refresh vour memory with regard to these proposals: look
at T.i::lut- and lullrme whether it is your handwriting ?
Witness ?—Yes,

L
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Attorney-General.—Now, refreshing your memory with that document, were yon applied
to, in December, 1854, to attest a proposal of Walter Palmer to the Solicitors’ and General
Office for 13,0004 ? ;

Witnesze,—That is m o“i? signature, certainly.

Attorney- General.—1 ask wvou, were vou applied to to attest a proposal 1
in Dmnnlﬂr, 1854, for 15,000L to the Su!i-::imrlﬁ’ and General (J!'ﬁ:.-el; 5 LRt o

Witness.—I don’t recollect (sensation). .

Attorney - General.—What, with your own signature staring you in the face?

“Ti.rﬂeﬁﬁ.‘-—] might !HI":'E': |.'I-E€I!I a “ritnﬂﬂﬂ 10 ir. I Aam Epﬂ,ﬂ,ki"g fru'u:l MEmMary,

Attorney-General—Have you any doubt about it after looking at that document ?

Witness.—1 have no doubt.

Attorney-General.—At last we have got at it from you. Now look to that document, and
see ift another month afterwards—in January, 1855—you were asked to attest another pro-
posal for 13,0004 to the Prince of Wales Office.

Witness (hesitating).—That is my signature. (A pause.) Perhaps if T saw the paper 1
could answer.

Attorney-General—There is the paper.

Witness (after a pause).— I might have signed it in blank. I bave no doubt whether I did
1}:;1:1 sign some of these in blank. The body of the papers is in the handwriting of William

almer.

At Lumny-ﬂ-engml.—ﬂ'pﬂn yonr ocath, don't you believe that William Palmer applied to
w¥ou to attest the proposal on his brother's life for 13,0004 ?

Witness.—He did apply to me.

Attorn-y -General.—\Was it not to attest the proposal for 13,000L on his brother's life ?

Witness.—One of them was for 15,000/ I don’t think 1 was present when Walter
Palmer signed the assipmment. 1 believe Jereminh Smith's bandwriting ia very like mine.

After much fencing with the question, the witness saying, he might or he might not have
attested Walter Palmer’s signature to a deed of assignment, the Attorney-General put a
f:h;quf for &l into the witness’s hand, and asked him if it was William Palmer’s signature to
it?—Itis.

Did you take that piece of paper to the bank and get 5l for it, and that for attesting the
signature of Walter Palmer to the deed of assignment ?—I may have got the 51 at the bank;
but upon my honour I do not know what for. (Laughter.) Cock, with reference to the
2001, bill, gave Palmer 101 for the accommodation, and he took the money to Shrewsbury
races. I cannot zay who saw me on the Monday night when I went up to Cook’s room at
the Talbot Arms, [ did not rotice. I believe that either the chamber-maid, the waitress,
or the cook saw me go into the hotel. I don’'t know who drove the fly to Stafford.

Re-examined by Serjeant Shee.—I have known Mrs. Palmer many years—before her
husband’s death—it is upwards of thirty years since he died. She is upwards of sixty. Her
eldest son Joseph is a timber-merchant at Liverpool; heis forty-five or forty-six years of age.
George, I think, is the next son. He is here. IHe lived at Rugeley, and was frequently at
his mother’s. e is acquainted with me. There is a son, a clergyman, who, until within
two years since, lived with his mother. There is a sister who lives with her mother., They
kept three servants. They do not visit much, nor are they much visited. Their house is a
large house, and there are, I think, five or six bed-rooms altogether. I slept in the room
nearest the church.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Is there any pretence for saying you have ever been charged with any
improper intimacy with Mrs, Paliner? y

Vitness —1 hope not.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Is there any pretence for saying so?

Witness.—There ought not to be.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Is there any truth in the statement or suggestion that you have had
any improper intimacy with Mrs. Palmer ?

Witness.—They might have said so, but they had no reason for saying so.

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—Is there any truth in the statement ?

Witness.—I should say not. (Laoghter.)

William Joseph Sanders, a witness, subpenaed both by the Crown and the prisoner, was
then called upon his recognisance, but did not appear. ) A

The Attorney-General said he should be extremely sorry to commence his reply if there
were any chance of the witness making his appearance.

Lurddlillamphell.—Thera does not appear to be the slightest chance. He has been called
repeatedly.

F.Jﬂifi'ﬂr'+ Hrﬁaant Shee said, he should now ask for the production of a letter written by Cook

to Palmer on the 4th of January, 1855.
The letter, of which the following is a copy, was then put in and read :—

“Lutterworth, Jan. 4, 1835.
“ My dear Sir,—I sent up to London on Tuesday to back St. Hubert for 50L, and my
commission has returned 10s. 1d. I have, therefore, booked 250 to 25 against him, to gain
money. There is a small balance of 18L due to you, which I forgot to give you the other
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day. ‘Tell Wil, to debit me with it on account of your share of training Pyrrhine. I will
also write o him to doso, as there will be a balanee due from him to me.

Yours faithfully,
“W. Palmer, Fsq." #J. Parsoxs Coor.”

Mr. Serjeant Shee contended that he was entitled to veply on the part of the evidence,

The course taken by the Attorney-Generalin getting at the contents of the cheque, the con-

tents of an assignment of the policy on Walter Palmer's life, and the contents of the pro-

posals to the various offices for theinsurance, he submitted entitled him to a reply on those
ints, ;

WThe_ Lord Chief Justice.—We are of opinion that you have no right to reply.

Mr. Baron Alderson.—That is quite clear.

“The Attorney-General said, lie had been taken somewhat by surprise yesterday by
the evidence of Dr. Richardson with respect to the disease known as angina pectoris.
Dr. Richardson adverted to several bools and authoerities. He had now those books in
his possession, and he was desirous of putting some questions arising out of that part
of the evidenee.

The Court decided against the application,

The case for the defence having been concluded,

The Attorney-General rose toreply on the part of the Crown, and spoke as follows—May
it please your lordships and gentlemen of the jury, the ease for the prosecution aud that for
the defence are before you, and it now becomes my duty to address to you such observations
upon the whole of the evidence as suggest themselves to my mind. T feel that I have a most
solemn and importantdaty to perform. 1 wish I could have answered the appeal made to me
the other dayv by my learned foend, Serjeant Shee, and say that I am ‘satished with the case
which he submitted to vou for the defence; but standing lieve as the instrument of public
justice, I feel that T should be wanting in the duty I had to perform if T did not revert to m)
original position, and again solicit at your hands a verdiet of guilty against the accused.
approach the consideration of the ease in what, I hope, 1 may term a apirit 'of fairness and
moderation. Ay business is to convinee you, if 1 can, by facts and legitmate arguments, of
the prisover's guilt; andif I cannot establish it to your satisfaction, no man will rejoice more
than I shall in awverdict of acquittal.  Gentlemen; in the mass of evidence which has been
brought before you two main questions present themselves prominently for your consideration.
Did the deceased man, into whose death we are now inquiring, die u nataral death, or was he
taken off by the foul means of poison? And if the latter proposition be sanetioncd ‘by the
evidence, then comes the impertant question, whether she prisoner at the bar was the anthor

of his death 1 will proceed withthe consideration of the subjeet in the order I have mentioned.
" Did John Parsons Coolk die by poison ? I again assert the atlirmative of that proposition. The
case submitted to you on behalf of the Crown is this—that baving been first practised upon by
antimony, Uook was at last killed by strychnine. The fivdl question to be considered is—what
was the immediate and proximate cavse of his death. The witnesses for the prosecution have
told vou, one and all, that, in their judgment he died of tetanus, which signifies a convulsive spas-
modic action of the moscles of the body. Can there ba any doubt that theif opinion is
correct ¥ OF conrse it does not follow that, beeauge he died of tetanus, it must be the tetanus
of strychnine. That is a matter for after consideration. But. inasmuch as stryehnia pro-
duces death by tetanus, we must see, in the first place, whether it admits of doubt that
he did die of tetanus. I have listened with great attention to every form in which that
discase has been brought under your considerarion—whether by the positive evidence of
witnesses, or by reference to the works of scientific writers—and aszert deliberately that
no case, either in the human subject or in the ‘animal, has been brought under your
notice in which the symptoms of tetanus have been so marked as in this case. From the
moment the paroxysms came on in which the unhappy man died, the symptoms were of
the most warked and striking character, lwery muscle, says the medical man who was

resent at the time, was convulsed—he expressed the most intense dread of suffocation—
entreated them to lift him up Sest he should be suffocated—every fibre of his body,
am the crown of his head to the soles of his feet, was contracted—the flextibility of the
ank and of the limbs was gone—and you eould ouly have raised him up a5 you would
ave lifted a corpse. In order that be might escape from the sense of suffocation they
turned him over, and then, in the midst of that fearful paroxysmn, one mighty spasm scems
to have seized his heart, to have pressed from it the life-blood, and the result was death.
And when he died his body exhibited the moest marked symptoms of this fearful
disease, He was convulsed from heat to foot. You could have rested him on his
head and heels—his hands were clasped with a grasp that it required force to
overcome, and his feet were twisled so as to resemble a natural malformation.
Then, if it wns a case of tetanus—into which fact I will not waste vour time
by inquiring—the guestion arises, was it a case of tetanus produced by strychnine?
I will' contine myself for & moment to the exhibition of the symptoms as described by the
witnesses. Tetanus may proceed from natural causes as well as from the administration of
poisons, and while the symptoms last they are the same. Batin the course of the symp-
toms, and before the disease reaches its consummation in the death of the patient, the dis-
tinction between the two iz marked by charactgristics which enable any one conversant with
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the subject to distinguish between them. We have been told that the distinctions are these
—natural tetanus is a disease not of minutes, not of hours, but of davs. It takes, say
several witnesses, from three to four days: and will extend 1o a periotl of even three weeks
before the patient dies, Upon that peint we have the most abundant and conclusive evi-
dence. Wae have examined Sir Benjamin Brodie. a man, I need searcely say, of the most
exalted eminence in his profession, Mr. Curling, Dir. Todd, Dr. Daniel, a gentleman who has
segn between 25 and 30 cases of natural tetanus in India, and all these distinguished witnesses
give exactly the same description of the course which the case invariably takes.  Idiopathic
or natural lEi—Eﬂuﬂ-l thml'ﬂr-h isi ont nf the {I'IJEETiHI]. Trawmatic tetanus 15 ot of the fuess
tion fora different reason. That deseription of diseasze in brought on by the lesion of some
art of the budy.  But what is there is in this case to show that thers was anything like
esion at all? ~ We have had several representations of the deatih of Cook by witnesses who
appear to have come into Court—1 say it with the deepest sorrow—for the express purpose
of studiously misconceiving and misinterpreting the facts of this case.. We have called
before you an eminent physician who had Couk under his care. It seems that, in the sprin
of the year 1855, Cook, having found certain small spots in one or two parts of his body, an
having something of an ulcerated tongue and a sore throat, conceived that he was labour-
ing under symptoms of a partivular character. He addressed himse! {to Dr. Savage, who
found that the course of medicine he had”been pursuing was an errone. - one, - He enjoined
the discontinnance of mercury.  [Iis injunction was obeyed, anl +he result was
that the patient was suffering neither from disease nor wrong treatu . -t. But lest
there should be any possibility of mistake, Dr. Savage made him come to h.: again and
again to see that all was going on well, and this medical witness assures us tha. g before
the summer aivanced every unsatistactory symptom: had entirely disappeared; (o re was
nothing wrong about Cook except that affeetion of the throat to which theusands of people
are;subject. In other respect the man was better than he had been, and might be said to be
convalescent.  On the very day that he left London to go into the country, a fortnight
before the races, his stepfather, who accompanied him to the station, congratulated him ‘upon
his healthy and vigorous appearance; and the young man, cons:ious of restored health,
struclk  his breast, and eaid, “ I am well, very well.” Then he goes to Shrewsbury, and
shortly afterwards arose those matters to which 1 am about to call your aitention. 1 want
to know in what part of the evidence there is the slightest pretence fur saying that this man
had an afiection which might bring on traumatic tetanus? It is said that he had exhibited
his tongue to witnesses and applied for a mercurial wash, but it is clear that, although he had
at one time adopted that course, he had, under the recommendation of Dr. Savage, got rid of
it, and there is no justification for saying he was sufiering under syphilitic afiection of any
kind. The statement has been negatived by a man of the bighest authority and distinction.
There is not a shadow of foundation for it, and I should be false to my ‘duty if L did not
denounce it as utterly undeserving of your attention. ‘Fhere was nothing about the man to
give even a colour of probability to the suppositon that there was in any part of Lis body any
mark, wound, or lesion--syphilitic or otherwise=~that could result in traumatic tetanus.
One or two eases of tranmatic tetanus have been sdduced in the evidence which has been
brought. forward for the defence. . Ong is the case of a man in the London Hospital, who was

‘bronght into that isstitution one kvening and died the same night.  But what are the facts?

The facts are, that before he had been brought in he had had a paroxysn early in the
morning, and that he was suffering from ulcers of the mostaggravated deseription.

symptoms had run their course rapidly, it is true, but the case was not one of minutes, but o.
hours. Amnother case has been brought forward in which atoe was amputated, but there we
have disease existing some time before death.  But then it is suggested that this may be a
case of idiopathic tetanus proceeding from—what? They say thas Covk was X man of
delicate constitution, subject to excitement; that he had something the matter with his
chest; that in addition to having something the matter with bis chest he had a diseased
<ondition. of throat: and, putting all these things Yogether, they say that if the man had
taken cold he might have got idiopathic tetanus.  We are here launched into a sea of specu-
lations and ibilities. | Dr. Nunneley, who comes here fur the purpose of inducing you to
believe there was something like idiopathic tetanus, goes through the bead-roll of Cook’s
suppused. infirmities, talks about his excitability, his delicacy of chest, his affection of the
throat, and says these things would predispose to idiopathic tetanus ift he took cold. But
what evidence is there that hedid take cold? . Not the slightest in the world. Thereis not
the smallest pretence that be ever complained of a cold or was treated for a cold. 1 cannot
help saying that it is a scandal upon a learned, distinguished, and liberal profession that men
should come forward with speculations and conjectures such as these, and that they should
misiaterpret facts and extraet from them sophistical and unwarrantable conclusions with the
view of deceiving a jury. T have the greatest respect for science. No man can have a
greater. DBut I cannot repress my indignation and abborrence when 1 see it perverted and
prostituted to the prejudice of truth in a court of justice. A medical witness has talked to
you about certain excitements being the ;I)‘asuihlecauam of idiopathic tetanus. You remember
the sorts of excitement of which he-spoke. They are unworthy of your notice. ‘L hey 1%&1'8
topics discredilable to be put forward by a witness as worthy of your consideration. + ut
suppose for a single moment that excitement at the time could produce any suc]geﬂ'&ct, where
is the excitement manifested by Cook as leading to the supposed disease? They say



164

that the man when his horse won at Shrewsbury was for a moment excited. —And

well he might be. His fortunes depended upon the result of the race, and I will

not deny that he was overpowered with emotions of joy. But those emotions subsided,
and we have no further trace of them from that time to the moment of his
death. The man passed the rest of the day with his friends in ordinary con=
versation and enjoyment. No symptom of emotion was exhibited. He is taken
ill. He goes to Rugeley. He is taken ill there again. Dut is there the slightest symptom
of excitement about him, or of depression? Not the least. When heis ill, like most people,
he is low-spirited. As soon as he gets a little better, he is cheerful and happy. He invites
his friends and converses with them. On the night of his death his conversation is full of
merriment and joy ; he is mirthful and bappy ; little thinking, poor wretch, of the awful fate
that is hanging over him. He is cheerful, and talks of the future, but not in the language of
frantic excitement. What pretext, then, is there for this idle story about excitement so
intense and convulsive as possibly to have exeited idopathic tetanus?  There is not a shadow
of a pretext fir any such theory. But even if thers were excitement or depression—if these
things were capable of producing idiopathic tetanus, the tetanus of disease is so unlike the
tetanus of poison it is impossible to mistake the two, What are the cases which they attempt
to set up against us? They brought all the way from Scotland. a girl named Watson, who
depozed that, though she had not taken any poison and had no wound of any kind on her
body, she was attacked with a viclent paroxysm in the month of October last year. But in
¢ross-examination it appeared that she had been ill all day, was taken worse at night, had
a pain in her stomach and cramps in her arms, was for 2 while quite insensible, but soon re-
covered, and went about her business. That is the case they have brought forward asa parallel
for that mortal anguish—the spasme—the convulsions—the death agony of this unhappy
man! This is the sort of evidence with which they attempt to meet the appalling case that
now engages your attention. Gentlemen, 1 venture, upon the evidence which has been
brought before you, to assert boldly that the cases of idiopathic and traumatic tetanus are
marked by clear and obvious characteristics—distinguishing them from the tetanus of
strychnine ; and I say that the tetanus which accompanied Cook’s death is not referable to either
of these furms of tetanus. It was the tetanus not of disease, but of poison. You have upon this
point the evidence of men of the highest competency and most unquestionable integrity, and
upon their testimony I am satisfied you can come to no other conclusion than that this was
not a case of either idiopathic or traumatic tetanus. But, then, various attempts have been
made to set up varions causes as capable of producing this tetanic disease. First, we have
the theory of general convulsions; and Dr. Nunneley, having gone through the bead-roll of
the supposed infirmities of Cook, says, ** Oh, this may have been a case of general convulsions
~—1 have known general convulsions assuming a tetanic character.” Therefore I asked him
this question, ** Have you ever seen one single case in which convulsions marked by tetanic
symptoms were not also accompanied by entire unconsciousness on the part of the patient?”
He replied, ““ No; I have never seen any such case, but I am told that in the books some
such case is reported.” And then he went on to cite Dr. Copland’s beok as an anthority for
the theorv that general convulsions may be accompanied by tetanic symptoms, Now, Dr.
Copland, I apprehend, would stand higher as an authority than the man who quotes him.
Dr. Copland might have been eailed, but was not called, notwithstanding the ehallenge that
I threw out, because it is, unfortunately, easier to gather together from the east and from the
west practitioners of more or less celebrity, than to bring to bear on the subject the light of
science as treasured in the bieasts of eminent practitioners. But I say, as regards general
convulsions the distinction is plain. If they destroy the patient they previously destroy his
consciousness. But here we have no such state of facts, It is beyond all controversy that
from the first moment of Cook’s attack till bis bursting heart ceased to beat conscionsness
remained. Dut then comes another supposed condition, from which it is conjectured that
death in this particular form may have resulted. It appears from the evidence that at the
post-mortem examination certain granules were discovered in the spmal marrow of Cook,
and it is attempted to be shown, upon authority of Mr. Partridge,—a surgeon, I admit, of the
highest erinence and the most unblemished honour—that these granules may have occasioned
tetanic convulsions. Mr. Partridge was called to prove that this may have been a case of what
is called arachnitis, arising from granules. I asked him to explain the symptoms which he
would find in such a ease. I called his attention to what it had evidently not been called
to before, namely, the symptoms in Cook's case, and I asked him in simple terms whether,
looking at the symptoms, he would pledge his reputation, in the face of the medical
world and in the face of this court, that this was & case of arachnitis? He would not
do so, and the case of arachnitis went. Then we had & gentleman from Scotland to inform
us as the next proposition, that Cook's was a case of epileptic convulsions with tetanic
complications.  Well, I asked him this question, * Did you ever know of epilepsy, with
or without tetanic complications, in which consciousness was not des before the
patient died!” His reply was, “ No, I cannot .say that I ever did, but I have read in
some book tha_t anch a casa has occurred.”—* Is there anything to make you think this
was epilepsy # "—* It may have been epilepsy, because L don’t know what else 1t was."—
‘But you must admit that epilepsy is characterised generally by loss of consciousness;
what difference would the tetanic complications have made?” That he was unuble to
explain. I remind yon of this species of evidence that you may perceive that you have
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had before you witnesses resor
ward the barest posibilties i Swpport of thesrias e ysLyC ALIYe tessoning and pit for-
f?-:t this I undertake to assert, that there is not a sin i n:; 1en: hi e et
fnrm'thm experience, or as the reanlt of their own nnwls?i u'l_.rhmh_thg_f,- Ve Spykad
Hal::ildnhie and decisive symptoms of marked tetanus whictf E:iglgndw?i . fte Weep Hip
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auging m:“?raﬂlﬁﬂm epilepsy proper, epilepsy with tetanic complications i:m_{’f “?;fﬂ
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of the assertions  he dared to makaaf 3 ? Eaiﬂnsihfmini%?ﬂznm i ]t s Rresdmption
::_‘: u‘:lr:g!. ;s hwum, the deli!;emte intention to deceive. | | fa}-nrtut lIfiq p:ﬁ:!llrmplmn.,
mediskl p':ﬂ f;s‘;:] thlr':.? s;rﬂh ;:- 01::::3 l:.r-l'ac'.s_hltm:-L- rut; t1||thiaz. (:I-mu-t, and in the face of mfcmf'u'?z
substantiate. The medlical witnesses fgrﬂiéiriﬂrmf? i b Ay g e R
. 1eal ot & diffe i ir views:
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esses in declaring that, in the whole cours i ienc i
I'EEIEE of their learning and obzervation, they !mm?r-:: ?1_*; t&ii::ng?exti:;.ﬁiﬁ::ﬁ’ :t:';l sll:ln;ch:’n: hn-I“
mﬂmku: caps:ct:n be referred. When such men as these agree upon any point it ii i:|:| u:sssil:li
amuuﬁgi'- ate its importance. If it be the fact that there is no known disease x\-h%::hh c
o m:ry:?lc!}] :génizﬁnﬁhfhtti?{mf Th ll:tuulr.:s case, and thlitt they are referable to Imisgﬁ
) ! A at that poison was strychnia? ~The sy
events, from the timethe paroxvsms set in, a isely thi At ignalat )
to be made by the sophistry of the witnesses F::i FII;HH? 8- iy Duibchond cd BOEH}
symptoms and some of the others. T think I st'llfi;hnf"rfgf Eitl.l:‘ F#:;T;tsﬁw:sﬂfd%ht{? anj‘:&.c:edun[;
::qlfl:gmar}-, and that there is no foundation for them. T think T may sa 1":- tmt;ncu;-.ls il
ca r.ild Eu'.: the defence admit this, that, from the time the paroxysm sot ilmfnl:llrm":n::kl:si::I:E'L“TT}:“:.?I!fmil
:i.nne t E t-ll'llﬁ of his death, the symptoms are precisely similar to that of tetanus E,-.:.' gtr .;Eﬁd_’
of d‘iﬁamﬁ:g v.f-% IE:‘.I:I!'F};I :frz—hiiuilténs is ?;-rthy u{' most particular attention—there are p::';inta
I (- them to the conclusion that these symptor Id
Tesulted from strychnine.  In the first place, they h: B which e Bt
the supposed administration of the poi place, they say that the period which elapsed between
. poison and the first appearance of the sy yms i
ﬂtg-:;l wtai:;?gfn h:::ziﬂ?;nse;;eﬂ in theh?nimalﬁ on' ‘which ﬁ!]w have cxpcii;ljogt?::!.ms'l:‘;n:m;igr:i
3 fises in this: that' there is “a known di
:EII_I-'IHI n‘l!t_i human life, in the power with ‘which eertain specific ﬂ?ﬂg al:é:t\::egn
elr organisation. It may well be that poison administered to a rabbit will rnducep'tn
effect in a given time. ' It by no-means follows that it will produce the same cII:_Fcul:, in tj].s
same time on an animal of a different deseription.  Still less does it foll it will
axercise ity baneful infl o s i : Tho wh e P
e 3 nence in the same time on a human suhject.  The whole of the evi-
nce on both sides leads to establish' this fact, that not only in individuals of different
Emles, but m_-!n.rliﬂdua!a of the same species, the same poison and the same inﬂugnca‘w'
produce effects different in degree, different in duration, different in power.  But acain, it is
perfectly notorious that the rapidity with which the poison begins to work dupcm?s main]
upon the mode of its administration. ' If it is administered in a fluid state it acts with gr {
ﬁlﬂlt}'. If it is given in a solid state its effects come on more slowly. If it is given E:Le:u
pr;taq substanee it will act with still greater tardiness. Then what was thg period at
[whm this'poison beégan to' act after its administration, assuming it to have been poison?
t'seems, from Mr. Jones's statement, that Palmer came to administer the pills somewhere
about 11 o'clock, but they were not administered on his first arrival, for the patient, as if
with an intuitive sense of the death that awaited him, strongly resisted the attempts to
make him take them; and no doubt these remonstrances, and the endeavours to uve!?m:«me
y occupied some period of time. The pills were at last given. Assuming—which I onl
do for the sake of argument—that the pills contained strychnine, how soon did the heg‘iﬁ
to operate?  Mr. Jones says he went down to his supper, and came back again a{nut 12
o'clock. ' Upon his return to the room, after a word or two of conversation with Cook, he
proceeded to undress and go to bed, and had not been in bed ten minutes before a warnin
came that another of the paroxysms was about to take place. The maidservant puts ﬁ
still earlier, and it appears that as early as ten minuies before twelve the first alarm was
given, which would make the interval little more than three-quarters of an hour. When
these witnesses tell us that it would _takg an hour and a half, or two hours, we see here an
another of those exaggerated determinations to see the facts only in the way that will be
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most favourable to the prisoner. I find in some of the experiments that have beex

made that the duration of time, before the poison begins to work has been little, if amything,

less than liour. 1In the case of a girl at Glasgow it was stated that it was three-quarters

of an hour before the pills began to work. There may have been some, reason: for

the pills uot taking effect within a certain period after their administration. It would

be easy to mix them up with substances difficult of solution, or which might retard

their action. [ cannot bring myself to believe that if in all other respects you are

perfectly satisfied that the symptoms, the consequences, the effecis, wers analogous,

and similar in all respects to those produced. by strychnine, you will conclude that

in this case strychnine was not administered, and found your conclusion on the

gimple fact that a quarter of an hour more than usual may have elapsed before the pills

operated. But they say the premonitory symptoms were wanting. - They assert that in: the

case of animals the animal at first manifests some uneasiness, shrinks, and draws itsellinto
itself, a5 it were, and aveids moving; that certain involuntary twitehings about the head

come on, and that there were no such premonitory symptoms in Cook's case.. [utterly deny

the propesition. 1 say there were premenitory symptoms of the most marked character.

He is Iving in hiz bed; he suddenly starts up in an agony of alarm.  What made him do
that? Was there nothing premonitory there—nothing that warned him the paroxysm was

eoming on? He jumps up, savs, **Go and feteh Palmer—fetch me helpl’ I am going to be

il as 1"was last ni_gl:t,!" W hat was that but a iilmwiedgc that the sympioms of tive ]}rmrh;u'us
night were returning, and a waming of what he might expect unless some relief were
obtained? e sits up and prays to have his neck rubbed. What was the feeling about his

neck but a premonitory symptom, which was to precede the paroxysms that were tosuper-

vene 7 e begs to have his neck rubbed, and that gives him some comfort.  But here they

say this could not have been tetanus from strychnine, because animals cannot bear to be

touched, for a touch brings on a paroxysm—uot.only atouch, but a breatl of air, a sound; a
word, a movement of any ong near will bring on a retarn of the paroxysm. Now, in three
cases of death from sirychnine we have shown that the patient has endured rabbing of
the limbe, and received =atisfaction from that rubbing., In Mrs Smitl's case; when her legs

were distorted, she prayed and entreated that she might have them straightened: Thelady

at Leeds, in the case which Dr. Nunneley himself attended, implored Ler husband between
the spasms to rub her legs and arms in order to overcome the rigiditys That case was
within his own knowledge, and yet in spite of it, although he detected sirychuine in the
body of the unhappy woman, be dares to say that Ceok’s having tolerated the rubbing
between the paroxysms is a proof that he had not taken siryehnive.  Then there isithe case

of Clutterbuck, He had taken an overdosaof strychnine, and suifered from the reappearance
of tetanus, and his only comfort was to have his legs rabbed.  Thereiore, 1 say that the con-

tinued endeavour to persuade a jury that the fact of Cook’s having had his neck rubbed

proves that this is not tetanus by strychnine, shows nothing but the dishonesty and'insin-

cerity of the witnesses who have so dared to pervert the facts, DBut they go farther, and

contend that Cook was able to swallow. So le was before the paroxysms came on. Bat

pnobody has ever pretended that he could swallow afierwards.  He swallowed: the

pills, and, what is very curious, and illustrates part. of the theory is this—that it
was the act of swallowmg the pills, a sort of movement in raising his bead, which
brought. on the viclent paroxysin in which, he died. So. far from ‘militating against
the supposition that this was a, case of strychnine, the faect strongly confirms it.
Then they call our attention to the appearances after death, and they say: there

are circumstances to be found which go against this being a case;of strychnine.
They say the limbs became rigid either at the time, of death or immediately aftery and: that
ought not to be found in a case of sirvehnine,  Dr. Nuooneley says; ** 1 have always found
the limbs of animals become flaccid before death, and L have not found them become rigid
after death.” Now, I can hardly believe that statement. . The very next witness who got
into the box told us that he had made two experiments upon cats and Killed them both, and

be described them as indurated and contracted when he found them some boursafter death.

And vet the presence of rizidity in the body immediately after death is.pat forth by

Dr. Nunneley as one of his reasons for saying that this is not a death by strychnine, although

Dr. Taylor told us thal, in the case of one of the cats, the rigidity of the body was sogreat

that he could hold it out by the leg in a horizontal position. Notwithstanding thatevidence

Dr. Nunneley has the audacity to say that he does not believe this- is a case of stryehnine,

because t ere was rigidity of the limbs, because the feet, were distorted, the hunds clinched,
aml the muscles rigid. This shows what you are to think of the hemesty of this sort of
evidence, in which facts are selected because they makein favour of particularhypotheses of the

person advancing them, The next point relied onis that the heart was empty, and that inthe
animals operated upon by Dr. Nunneley and Dr, Letheby the heart wasfull, I don't think
that applics to all cases. ~ But it is a remarkable fact connected with the history of the poison
that you never can rely upon the precise form of its symptoms and a rances.. ‘There are
only certain great, leading, ma ked characteristic features. We have here the main, marked,
leading characteristic features; and we h.te what is more—collateral incidents, similarto
the cases in which the administration and the fict of death have been proved. bs. nd all-
possibility of dispuie.  Why, in two cases which have been mentioned—that of Mr. S

and the Glasgow girl—the t was compressed and empty. We koow that.in " ob
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tetanus death may result from more thawone cause. Al the muscles of the body are subject
to the exciting action of the poison. But no one can tell in what order these muscles inay
be atfected, or where the poisonous influence will put forth.  When it arrests the play of the
lungs and the breathing of the atmospheric air, the result will be that the heart iz full; bYut
if some spasm seizes on the heart the heart will be empty.  You have never any perfect
sertainty ag 1o the mode in which the symptoms will exhibit themselves. This is brought
forward as a conclusive fact against death by strychnine, and yet the men who make this
statement under the sanction of seientific authority, have heard both eases spoken to by the
gentlemen who examined the bodies. Then, with regard to congestion of the brain, and other
vessels, the same observation applies.  Instead of being killrd by action on the respiratory
muscles of the beart, death is the result of a long series of paroxysms, and vou expect to find
the brain and other vessels congested by that series of convulsive spasms.  As death takes
place from one or the other of these causes, so will the appearances be, Thero is EVErY reason
to believe that the symptoms in this case were symptoms of tetanus in the strongest and
most aggravated form.  Looking at the peculiar sufferings which attended ihis unhappy
man, setting aside the theory of convulsions, of epilepsy, of arachnitis, and angina pecloris,
and excluding idiopathic and traumatie tetanus —what remains?  The tetarus of #trychnine,
and the tetanus of strychnine alone.  And' T pray your attention to the eases in whiel there
was no question as to strychnine baving been administered in which the SYMpLoms were 3o
similar, 80 analogovs—that 1 think vou cannot hesitate to come to the conelusion that this
death was death by strychnine. Several witnesses of the bighest eminence, both on the part
of tie Crown and for the defence, agree that in the whole range of their experience, obser-
vation, and knowledze, they have ‘known of no natural disease to which these reme kable
symptoins ean be attributed.  That being so, and there being a known poisim which will
produce them, how strong, how cogent, how irresistible is the conclusion that it is that poisen
and that peison alone to which they are to be traced? On the other hand, I am bound in
candour to ailmit that the ease is not without its difficulties. Strychnine was not fuund in
this body, and ‘we bave it, no doubt, upon st rong evidence'that, a great varicty of eX peri-
ments upon the ‘bodies of animals killed Ly stryehnine, stryehning has been detected by tests
which science places’ at the disposal of scientific men, " If strychnine had been found of
eourse there.wonld have been no dificalty in the case, and 'we should have had none of the
ingenious theories which medical mon have been ealled here to propound,  But the qu stign
for your comsideration is whether the absence of its detection lesds conclusively to the con-

elusion that this death was not caused b_'l.' the administrationeof gt,r}'u]].ninu? Huw, it the

first place, under what circumstances was the examination made Ly D, Tavlor and Dr.,
Rees ? They bave told us that the stomach of the man was brought to them for analysation
under the most fuvourable cireumstances, They state that the contents of the stomael had
been lost, and: that, therefore, they had no opportunity of experimenting apon them., It is
true that they who put the portions uf the body inte the jar make statements somewhat
different.  But there appears to have been by accident some spilling of the contents, and
there is the most undemable evidence of considerable bungling in the way in which the
stomach had been cut and placed in the jur,  “It was cur,” =ays Dr. Tavlor, “from end to
end, and it was tied up at both ends,” It had been turned among the intestines, and placed
among a anass of feculent matter, and was altogethier in the most unsatizfactory condition for
analysation. It is very true that Dr, Nunncley, Mr. Herapath, and Dr. Letheby say that
whatever impuriies there may have been, it steyelinine had been in the stomach they would
have found strychuine: there, no matter how decomposed or putrescent the organic matter
might he,  Bearing inmind Mr. Herupath’s' eminence in his profession, 1 should
have had much enfidence in his teftimony were it not for the zetive and  zealous
feeling  of partizansbip which he has manifisted  on repeated  occasions  in the
course of this inquiry. It had come ‘to my knowledge thut he had beenm heard
to assert, that this was a case of death by strychnine, but that Id. Tavlor had not gone
the rigi way 1o tind out the poison, | preszed him wrgently on this point, and 1 am sure
you will be of opinion with me that his explanation of bis having formed his judgment
merely from the newspaper reports was anvibing hut sal i=factory. There can be no donbt
that in bis coniseience Mr. Herepath believes this to be a case of death by poisoni—indeed he
has said as muck 3 and yet we have seen bim mixing himsel up in this ease with all the
enthusiasm of « purtisan, and suggesting to my learned friend questions with a view 1o the
protection of a4 man whom he feels to be guilty of murder. 1 reverence the man wha, from
asense of justice and an innate love of truth, comes forward on behalr of any aceused person
who is in dunger of being swept to destruction by the torrent of prejudice: but [ bave no
language to exoress my abhorrence for that #raffie testimony which from professional pique
or fur Lhe su-tentation of a particular theory, men of science—I grieve to 8 Y_it—occasionally
are led w offer.  But assuming all that they sav on the question of detecting strychoine to
be true, is it eertain that the poison can be fiund in all cases? Dr. Taylor says, * No,” and
that it would be a most mischievous and dangervus proposition to dssert that the poison
must in all cases be deteeted, for sueh a theory might enable manv a guilty man to e-cape
who would take care to administer oniy sueh quantities as being Targe envugh’ to destroy
would nut be large enough to admit of subsequent deteetion by analysis in the stomach.
What have these gentlemen done? They have given lurge doses in the experiments they

]
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have made for the purposes of this case, in which they have been * retained”—I use the word
& petnined,” for it is the proper word—in all these cases, I say, they have given doses large
enongh to be detected, But the gentlemen who made the experiments in Cook's case failed
in detecting strychmnine in two cases out of four in which they had administered it to animals.
The conclusion I draw ia that there i2 no positive mode of detection. Bot this case does not
rest here.  Alag, T wigh it did! I must now draw vour altention toone part of thecase which
has not been met or attempted to be disputed in the slightest degree by my learned friend.
My learned friend said that he would contest the case for the prosecution step by step.  Alas!
wa are now upon ground upon which my friend has not even ventored a word in explanation.
Was the prisoner at the bar possessed of the poison of strychnine? This is a matter with -
which it behoved my learned friend to deal, and to exhacst all the means in his power in
order to meet this part of the case. The prisoner obtained possession of strychnine on
the Monday night. It may have been that Dr. Taylor did not go the right' way to work.
It may have been that Mr. Herapath wonld have found the stryehnine, but the man did experi-
ment failed in two cases out of four to reproduce the poizom with a similar test ; andalthough
I cannot have the advantage which the positive detection of stryehnine would have afforded,
there is no room for the orposite conclusion the converse of the propesition, for which my learned
friend and his witnesses contend, that the fact of strychnine not having been discovered affords
negative conclusive proof that there was no strychnine there. [ have no positive proof; but
on the other hand my learned friend is in the same predicament. He cannot say that he has
negative conclusive proof that this gentleman was not poisonad with strychnine. DBut is
there no other proof 2 Do I ask vou to come to the conclusion that the prisoner adminis-
tered strychnine to his friend simply because the symptoms are reconcileable withimo form
of disease with which the most enlarged experience and knowledge are acquainted 7 No,
gentlemen, it does not rest there. Or, because these symptoms are precisely those which
show themselves in cases of poisoning by stryebnine 2 No, the ecase does not
vest there. I wish it «did. I musc draw vour serious attention™ to a part of the
case which has mot been met or grappled with. My learned friend said he
would contest the ground with tne proseeution foot by foot. Alas! weare now upon ground
which is, as it ‘were entirely abandoned by the defence.  Alas! with this part of the case
my learned friend has not grappled at all. When death reached its dread manifestation was
the prisoner at the bar possessed of that poison? Did he obtain it upon’ the eve of the
death? These are matters of fearful moment.  They are matters upon which it behoved my
Tearned friend to comment with all the vigour of which he is capable and all the means
which this case afforded to him. - Yet this part of the ease he has left entirely untonched.
The prisoner at the bar obtained strychmine on the Monday night. He got it dgain on
Tuesday morning.  The fact of his having gotit en Monday night rests, it is true, upon the
evidence of a person whose statement, as [ told yon on the outset, and as T now repeat,
requires at your bands the most careful and anxious attention before you convict the
prisoner.  This man, Newton, tells us, that on the night, afier Paimer came back from Lon-
don, he obtained from Lhim three grains of the poison, which, had it been administered, wonld
have produced just {he symptoms with which Coolk was that night attacked. Is Newton
speaking the truth, or is he not? It is open to observation—I said so in the beginning, and
my learned friend bas done no more than to repeat the warning which 1 gave to yvou.—It is
open to serious ubservation that Newton never made that statement until the day previous to
the commeneement of "this trial.  He has explained to you the reasons which induced his
silence. His employer had for a long time been upon unpleasant terms with Palmer. The
young man, who appears to have been on more or less intimate terms with him, did not
esitate to give him three grains of strychnine.  Palmer was a medical man, and there was,
therefore, nothing extraordinary, at a time when the shops might be expected to be shut, in
his asking for this strychnine. Newton gave it to him, and probably thought little
more about it. But when afterwards this question of the mode in which Cook’s life had
been taken away became rife in Rugeley, when suspicion of poisoning by stryehnine arose,
when Roberts came forward and said that on the Tuesday morning Palmer had purchased
strychnine of him, when this young man was called to confirm the statement of Palmer
having been at the shop, and heard that therd was a question about strychnine, it seemed to
hira that it might serieusly implicate him with his emplover, and even cast a shadow of doubt
and suspicion upon himself if he came forward voluntarily, and stated that he had supplied
Palmer with poison on the night of Monday. Therefore he locked this secret in his breast.
Yhen, however, the trial came on, and he knew that be would be subjected to examination
here, he felt oppressed by this concealment, and voluntarily came forward and made the
statemant which he has repeated here. It is for you to say whether you are satisfied with
that explanation. It is unquestionably true ghat this long concealment detracts from the
otherwise perfect eredibility of this witness; but, on the other hand, thereis a consideration
which I cannot avoid pressing upon your attention. What possible coneeivahle motive except
a regard for truth can this young wan bave had for coming forward on this occasion? My
learned friend has, with justice and propriety, asked your most attentive consideration to the
:II:IHE'““ of motives involved in this case. Before you convict a man of having taken away
e life of another, it is important to see whetherthere were motives which could operate upon
him. But dees that not equally apply to this witnesa? Even theodious crime of takingli"otf‘a
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by poison isnot so horrible to contemplate as the notion of a judicial murder effected throu
a false witness. Can you suppose that this man Newton can have the remotest shadow of a
motive for coming forward on an oceasion like this, and, under the solemn sanction of an
oath, taking away the life of a fellow-man; for, alas! if you believe this evidence it must
take away life. If you believe that on the night of Monday, without any conceivable or
assignable purpose, except the deed of darkness which was to be done that night wpon the
person of Cool, the prisoner at the bar obtained from Newton a fatal and deadly instrument
whereby life might be destroyed, it is impossible for you to come to any other conclusion
than that the prisoner is guilty, and that conclusion you are bound to express in your verdict.
What says my learned friend? He says that Newton does not speak the truth—firstly, be~
cause hedid not make that statement until the last minute, and, secondly, because he fixes
the time of his interview with the prisoner at 9 o'clock, the fact being that the prisoner was
not at Rugeley until 10. Now, in the first place, I must remark that the young man does
not say 9 o'clock, he savs “ about 9" and every one knows how easy it is to make a mistake
of half an hour, three-quarters of an hour, or even an hour, if your attention is not
called to the eircumstances until a week, a fortnight, or three weeks afterwards. A man
may be reading in his study or surgery, having no clock before him, and nothing
occurring to impress upen his mind the precise hour at which the circomstance occurs;
and to say that if he afterwards, when speaking under the sanetion of an ocath, makes a
slight mistake as to time, he must therefore be taken to be speaking untraly as to all
the eircumstances, appears to me to be a most unsatisfactory and untenable position. It is
" true that my learned friend has sought to meet this part of the case.  He has to-day produced
a witness, of whom all 1 can say is, that I implore you, for the zake of justice, not tho allow te
man who stands at the bar to be prejudiced by that most unworthy and most discreditable
witness. Of this[ am sure, that to not one word which that man said will you attach the
slightest value. Before I come to him, however, I must make this remark. If Newton could
not have been mistaken as to the time, how is it possible that the prisoner should beso? Yet
he was; because, on Tuesday morning, he told Dr. Bamford that he visited Cook between
nine and ten o'clock the night before; and now there comes a witness who tells us that at
ten minutes after ten o'clock he had not alighted from the car which brought him from
Stafford, and therefore it must have been nearly half-past ten o'clock before he went to the
Talbot Arms. The prisoner says that he saw Cook between nine and ten o’clock, and Lavinia
Barne, to whose testimony there is not attached the slightest shadow of discredit, asserts that
he came to the hotel before nine o'clock. It is clear she must have been mistaken. He could
not have been there much before ten o’clock. I am told that it takes about an hour to go
from Stafford to Rugeley, and the prisoner therefore arrived at the latter place shortly before
ten o'elock. Of the statement of the witness who was called this morning, that be saw Palmer
- alight from the car, that they went together to see Cook, and afterwards went to Palmer's
mother’s and staved there a certain time, so as to cover the whole evening, I azk you not
to believe a single word, and Ido so because I do not believeone single word of it to be true.
It is a remarkable fact, which perhaps has not escaped your attention, that my learned friend
never opened one single word of that evidence. He said that he hoped, and believed that he
should be able, to cover the period by evidence from Rugeley. Did he tell us who the wilness
was whom he was about tocall and what he would prove; that Mr. Jeremiah Smith had been
?mirs., and had been séen by some of the people at the inn going upstairs to Cool’s room ?
o! He did not, for if he hud, weshould have had plenty of time to ascertain the truth or
falsehood of this, and to meet Mr. Jeremiah Smith with evidence. It is well when you are
uncertain what a witness will say, or what case you ean .get up, not to disclose too much,
beeause if you do vou will be met with conflicting evidence—evidence bekter than that
of the miserable man who to-day exhibited a spectacle which in the whole course
of my experience 1 have never seen surpassed in & court of justice. He calls him-
self a member of the legal profession. I blush for that profession that it numbers such a man
upon its rolls. - There was not one who heard him to-day whe was not satisfied that that
ynan came here to tell afalse tale. There cannot be one who is not convinced that he has been
mixed up in many of the villanies, which, if not perpetrated, have been attempted to be per-
petrated, and that he came now to save, if he can, the life of his companion and t:nend, the son
of the woman with whom he has that intimacy which he to-day sought in vain to disguise.
Looking at all these circumstances, balancing the evidence on both sides, and seeing that
Newton cannot possibly have any motive for coming here to give false evidence (which
must be fatal to a man whom, if that evidence be not true, he must believe to be innocent)
—and to suppose that he would do so without a motive is to suppose human nature to be a
hundred times more wicked and perverse than in its worst and most repulsive form experi=
ence has ever found it to be,—I cannot butsubmit to you that you ought to believe that evi-
dence. If you believe it, it is conclusive. But the case does not stopthere. We have the clearest
and most unquestionable evidence that on the morrow of that day Palmer bought six grains
, more strychnine at Hawkins’s shop. The circumstances attending that purchase are pac?h?r-
He comes to the shop and gives an order for prussic acid. Having got the prussic acid he
ives an order for strychnine. Before the strychnine is put up; Newton, the man from whom
e had got the strychnine on the previous night, came into the shop. What does the prisoner
do? He immediately takes Newton by the arm, says that he has something particular to
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" #ay to him, and leads him to the door. What wasit he Lad to say ? Wasit anything partienlar 2
“?;s it anything of the slightest importance? Was it anything which might not
have been said in the presence of berts? Certainly mnot. It was to. ask Newton
when young Mr. Salt was going ‘to a farm which he had taken. In that question
there was nothing to prevent its being put in the presence of anybody whatever.
At the same time a' person named Prassin ton comes up, who has something to
say to Newton about some bills which Mr. Salt owed him. Brassington.  and
Newton zetinto conversation a short distance from the door; the prisoner Immediately takes
advantage of their being engaged in conversation, goes back and completes the purchase of
the strvehnine,  Whiie the strrehnine is being made up, however, he stands in the duarway
with his baek to the shop and his face to the street so as to have a perfect command of the
persoms of Newton and Brassington, and to be in such g position that, if their conversation
had ended and’ Newton had been returning to the shop, he might have taken positive steps
to prevent his going in until the strychnine had been safely put up. I ask you whehayr
having this description of the transaction given to von by Roberts, and conlirmed by New-
ton, you ean have any reasonable doubt that the Prisoner was anxious to. prevent Newton
knowing that he was purchasing strychnine . Yourcan very well understand why he shonld
have that desire; because, if it be true that Newton let him have three grains the night
before, his attention wonld naturally have been roused by so strange a circumstanee as the
purchase of 2ix grains on the tollowing day.  Three grains was sufficient to kill tiivee, per-
haps six people. What eould 'a man want with nine within so short a space of time P
Therefore iv would attract Newton's attention ; and it did, for he immedintely asked what
Palmer liad wanted there ?—for' he was, in the first place, surprised that Palmer, who had
two! years before withdrawn his custom from M. Hawkins, and given. it t his former assig-
tant, Thirlby, should have been at the shep at all, It was remarkable that Le should, on
this oceasion, po to Hawking's shop to get the strye!inia. Wiy did he not go te Thirlby 2
L will tell vou. Thirlby won!d have known perfectly well that he would have no legitimate
use for such an artiels, Thirlby had taken his practica. Palmermno longer practised, except
in a small cirele of his relatives and particular friends: and if he had gone. to Thirlby for
stryclmia, Thirlby would naturally have asked what he was going to dowith.it?  Lherefore
he' did not go to Thirlby. I agres with my learned friend that it is one of the
mysterics * of the case w ¥ he should have purchased strychnia on two successive
days; but that-he did so is undeniably true ; and if some little difficulty  arise
from this, is it not infinitely ‘more “dificult to account for the wotive which
could have induced liim to purchace strychnia either on the Monday night  or
the Tuesday? 1i it were for professional use—for the benefit of some patient to whomn small
doses might be advantageons, where is that patient? why is he net produced?. My learned
friend did notin his powexful address even aivert to the question of the second day’s pur=
chase of strvchnia.  He passed it over in mysterious but signilicant silence, Account fop
that six grains of stryehmia, the purchase of which is an undonbited and indisputabie faet!
Throw doubt if von please—I hlame you not—upon the story of the previous night, but it is
unquestionably true that on the Tuesday six grains of Strychnia were purchased by the pri-
soner.  Purchased for whom—purchased for what? If for any patient, who is that patient:
Produce him., If for any other purchase, at least let us have it explained. . Has there been
the slightest shadow of "an attempt to explain it? Alas! I grieve to say none—none, At
the outset of the case something was said about some dogs which bad been troublesome in
the paddocks where the mares and foals were kept, but that proved te have. been in Sep-
tember.  If there had been any recurrence of such a tiing, where are the grooms who had
charge of these horses? why are they not here to state the fact? I this poison was used to
destrov dogs, some one must have assisted Palmer in the attempts which lie made for that
purpase.  Where are they ? Why are they not called ? Not only are they nov called, they
are not even named. My learned friend does not venture to go into the question. . [ ask
gentlemen, what conclusion can we draw from all these things, save one?  Destir in ull the
convulsive throes and agonies which that fatal poison produces in the frame of man ~death
with all the appearances which follow upon such an end, and mark bow it has come to pass?
these things leading in the minds of those who can discuss and consider them with calm and
dispassionate attention, who do not mix themselves up with the case as, advocates op parti-
sans—leading to one and but one conclusion ; and then the fact of strychnia having been
purehased by the prisoner on the day of this horrible death—even if it were 1ok, assworn to,
obtuined 'bv him also on the previvns night,—and this part of the case. left whotly uneg-
vered, wholly unmet, without a shadow of explanation] Alas! is it possible that Vou can
come to &ny othier conclusion than the one dreadful one of gunilt? | protest Iean suggrest
none.  Bat, said my learned fr. nd, why should Paimer have purchased sirychuia in Rugel
when he might hava got itin London? T feel the foree of the obzervation ; andifbe could have
shown that he had done any thing with the strychnia which he undoubtedly did purchase—if he
could have shown any legitimate purpose to which it was intended to be applied; then I
should say that that would he g matter worthy of your gravest and most atteniive considerg=
tion. But let us see how the facts stand, He was in town on the Monday, and hud the
opportunity, as mg- learned friend snggests, of purehiaging strychmia thee. On the other
hand, he had much to do on that day. * Me had the train to cateh ab o certain hour, and, in
the meantime, he had his pecuniary embarrassments to solve if he could, Time may haye
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flown too fast Lo permit him to purchase this strychnia. Even if it had not;, I.do not believe
that stryehnia is sold in chymists’ shops without the requisite of some name or voucher;
and it would have been worse to Rave bought stryvchnia. in Loundon than at home. 1 do-not
say that this is not a difficulty in the case—a matter well worthy of your consideration; but,
en the other hand, I say that thereis proof of the purchase of strychnia under circumstances
which cannot fail to lead to the conelusion that he shrunk from the observation of Newton
at the time that he was buying it; and there is a total absence of all proof—nay, of all
suggestion, of any legitimate purpose to which that fatal poison was intended to be, or was,
in point of fiet, afterwards applied. Dut it is said that there are other circumstances in the
ease which make strongly in favour of the prisoner and negative the presumption of a
guilty intention. One of thesa facts is that he called in two medical men, 1 admit that this
is'a matter to which all due consideration ought to be given.. He called in Mr. Bamford on
Saturday, and on Sunday he wrote to Mr. Jones, desiring Lis presence with his sick friend.
It is quite ttue that, as medical men, they wonid be likely to know the symptems produced
by steychuoia; and to suspect that death had been caused by it. Dut here I am struck by one
of the single: inconsistencies in which the witnesses fur the defence invelved my learned friend.
If all these werenot exclasively the symptoms of strychnia, if they, were referrable to that
multiform variety of diseases of which these witnesses have spoken, why should the prisoner
have the credit of having selectad medical men who would be likely to know that these
were symptoms of poisoning by strychnia? Dat I pass that by ; it was maticr of minor im=
tanee. It istrue that he did have these to medical men. He called in old Mr. Bamiuvrd.
speak of that gentleman in terms of perfect respect, but 1 think I do him no injustice if
I'say that the vigour of his intellect and his power of observation have been impaired —as
all human' powers are liable to be impaired by the advance of life. I do notthink that he
was a person likely to make very shrewd observations upon any symptoms that might be
exhibited to him vither immediately afier death or upon a post-mortem examination. The
best proof of ‘this is to be found in that which le has done and written. To Mr, Jones the
same observation:does not apply. He was a young wan in the {ull possession of his intellect
and professional knowledge, yet the prizoner app-ars to have selected his man well ; for
what has come to pass shows how wisely he judiged whal was likely to be the, case., This
death oceurred in’ the presence of Mr. Jones with all these [earful symptows which you
have heard deseribed, vet Mr. Jones suspected nothing, and if Mr. Stevens had not come
down—if he had not exhibited that sagacity and lirmness which he did manifest—il Palmer
had sucseeded in getting the corpse hastily introduced into the strong onk coffin which he
had had made for kim, the body would have been consigned to the grave, anid nobody would
have been the wiser: the presence of Mr. Jones and the attendance of Mr. Bamford would
not have led to detectinn—would not have frostrate | the designs which [ shall presently.
contend before you that this death was to accomplish. On the other hand, the matter is,
perhaps, eapable of this explanation. It may huve been that & man whose skill was equal
to his boldness may have thouzht that the best course to adopt o avoid suspicion, and. to
prevent its possibility, was to tuke care that medical men should be called in and should be
present at the death’; mor is there anything to show that he (Palmer) had the slightest in-
formation that Mr. Jones intended to sleep in Cook's room. Had he not cone 50 his friend
would have been found dead in the morning; he would have gone throush his murtal
struggles of intense and fearful agony—would have died alone and untended—and would
next morning have been found dead in bed.  Theold man would have said it was apoplexy;
the young man that it was epilepsy.  1f any one had whispered suspicion, the same argi=
ment would hive been used which has been used now with so much power aad force by my
learned friend—** Can you suspeet a man who calle ! in medical men to be wignesses of the
death?”  But, gentlemen, if pills were on the Monday night administered to Cook by
Palmer—and that I believe will bie your conelusion, notwithstanding thestatement maade Ly
a witness to-day, that he heard Cook say to Palmer that he had taken the pills alread
becanse he was' so late; for the witness Mills told you that when next morning G
reminded her of the agony which she had seen him o through the night befors, he said that
he ascribed it to the pills which Palmer had given him ai half-past ten o'clock—if yoa
believe that stutement that the pills were given to him at half-past ten o'cloek, if you, tind
that a few short minutes befors Palmer had purchased poison, and if you find Ihat on that
first night there were paroxysins, which, though not so violent, were analogous in
character to those of Tuesday night, can you doubr that on that evening Palper ad-
ministered this poison? For what purpose I'kuow not; [can only speculate. It may be
that he intended by some' minute dose to bring about convulsions which should. not
have the complete character of tetanus, whica should resemble natural convulsions,
and which should justify 'his afterwards saying that those of the next evemng
were merely a succession of similar fits, and that the mun had died of convulsions. It may
be that he on:the Monday night attempted to carry out his fatal purpose to ils fuilest
extent, but that the poison did not take effect. We hear that an iaferior form ot this
sson called bruchia is occasionally sold, and it may bave been—Dbut this is only speculation.
cannot tell. L only know that Palmer purchas-d puison on the Tuesday, and that oHsLhal
night Cook died with all the symptoms of thut poison r.hal;_l,h? poison is ot Now in-any
way sceounted for; that the symptoms, althouch greater in intensily, were the Saumei

chiracter on the Tuesday as on the Monday night; and 1 cannot avoid the conclusion, to
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which my reasonin rirresistibly compels me, that the peison was on the
first m'mt. but ﬁﬂm that on the mpnd it took fatal effect, MHWW
there. Thers is another of thir case which, although it does not immediate
the cause of death, is still of considerable fmportance, We have had witnesses
men and analytical chymists—and they have told us a great deal about strychning, but noy
one word about antimeny. On the Wednesday night, at Shrewshury, this man d
glass of brandy-and-water, fancies there is something in it that burns his throat, «
at the time, and is immediately seized with vnm!ﬂnlg. On the same night Mres. Brook sess
the prisoner shaking something in a glass, evident y disolved in some Mluid, A man
been called to-day—the boom companion, chosen assciate and racing conlederate of
prisoner—to come and tell you that all that was nnthi’ng-—tﬁe woman never came, Pal
never carried out the brandy-and-water; there is not a word of fact in ity Palmer
Cook only came in at 12 o'elock, and this Mr., Myatt had been waiting for them two hourm,
‘Lhis story is, aceording to him, an entire invention from Leginning to end, and he s
that if anythung had been put into the brandy and-water he must Lave seen it, and &
nething was. 1 think you will be more ready to believe Mrs, Brook than peaple who
been the amociates of the prisoner and the partners in his transactions, It is o rema
fact that Cook drinks this brand -and-water, and Is immediately afierwards takeo ill,

were taken ill at 8hre ry, and it may be that this ilness of Cook’s was only
Pgm of the same eomplaint. I do not want to preaa it furtherthan I ought ; but it is ru-ur%
that a man should be seen holding a tumbler to the Ij pht,and immediately afterwards one who
drinking at the same table with him, and who, if Myatt fs telling the truth, was then )
what in liquor, and therefore cught not to haye been pressed by Palmer to take any mwors, R
told by him as an indocement to drink, that he { Palmer) will not take Any more until hltt
has drunk his glassful, and afterwards that man is taken Il These ars uir-!;umbum:l
which ace not incapable of exciting suspicion ; but T will from them to what scecur
at Rugeley. From the Saturday until the onday morning this poor man. suffered f
vomiting, It is clear that could not have been the Shrewabury discase. e had got rid o
that, and was well upon the Thursday and Friday. Tt was not until the Baterday morning,,
the day after he had been dining with Palmer, that he was taken ill. Then we have Palmes,
administering remedies, and sending over toadt-and-water and broth, and whenever thess
taken Cook is seized with ineessant vomiting. The broth is said to-day, by Mr. Jﬁrma
Smith, to bave been sent by him from the Albion ; but it is taken not to the 'l{llml Arum,
to the prisoner’s kitchen.  'What is done with it there? Instead of leaving it, as one would
have expected, to the woman who was to take j¢ to the Talbiot Arms, Paliper himself Laken i
from the fire, putsit into & eup, and iives it to her to take over; it is taken Gver, and as BoOD.
a8 Cook has drank it, be vomits and §s jll for the whole day, On_ Bunday the same Lhing
occurs again.  Broth is brought from the same quarter, and is attended by the rasneg rewulls,
Of that broth 2 woman took a eouple of #poonfals; and with what resalts?  She is sick for:
some hours, vomits twenty times, and is nnabls to leave ber bed for five or six hours. - 1t ke
urged W}" learned friend that shedid not state this before the eorongr. Perfect]y true, shedid
not. ertheless, it is the faet, becauss it s sworn to by the uther servant, who perfectly
remembers her being ill. 1 quite anderstand why she did not at first mention. it, and to me.
it shows the hovesty and simplicity of the woman's character. It did not at ficst oceur Lo
Ber to connect the sieckness from which she s ered with the taking of the broth; but afler.

when the question of antimony came up, and Cook’s pickness was connectad
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perfectly well, after her evidence had been ,
immedistely afterwards became Il The fact is
-3'& tl:: sﬁad d]H am’i: mmthﬂ“i:d At i?’: r.n(il:d, but i
and 1 thiok you will deem it to an.lmgom
Monday Palmer is absent and Cook is better, :
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satural disease a
Shiich was then i:dato taécwunl': for the calling in of the medical
: contemplation ; but it may also hav ical men, and for the
sight as to the motive which i 1y also have had a diff i catastrophe
Lvents, in part that he might mpelled the prisoner to commit thi ifferent object.  If ‘we arc
Monday at Tattersall's Emkl'#jﬁmm himsell of the money whi Ilm greal crime, it was, at all
Loner could not have Elasiia mlﬂmlt{l to o himself to rj\;mxf: :tbi?lli was to recelve on the
S, ol i e k hsintinly el
m ill at Rugeley, at all event ‘Where else; and the maki abury'ke got hits
omtis; /It might B ents over Monday, might be ing him ill and keep-
both, that the antimon een with one or other of these design PREbjal “1‘3“”|}'~¢unlﬁrgd
Thon ¥ wag administered: b : & o it might have b :
was afterwards found in tl ; but that sickness w een with
sa that antimony wa g body are facts incapable was produced and anti-
" hat there is no one wﬁ'; Em‘: ﬁ::-:in f;'?: Lulnl-: to 1prudu,¢ﬂ '-'Umil.in;;“ &llﬂpl]l:-l!'. If you are
have been taken, except thevics given it to him within the period RLGRITE S, !'.l'llm I say
doctor at Rugeley ever gavE h;:lrrllcrui:t t.ilrm l:q.r. Neither the doetor a:v:'t:;::*t ";:{}'1:]1 it must
r gave hi 3 ng fraction of anti : ; swiliury nor tl
Nith ““};ﬂ“mhermvﬂ::mt\]tlz:uzﬁ' which produced I.Im.-]ulil;ti:::‘lst 1E[T:1[}II‘:£}.10“ are satisfied that ti:.:
m_ t‘} fﬂ"“w. i Yl}li_ cn“u“.tlat ﬂf: 'Ptl.".-'mi:', lhl} \,l'.'_:'._:'r ful" lh{] mﬂ;ﬁﬂl‘an .t-hav-a lHJEl'I_ I:',I‘-'E‘Il
given for ghe purpose e arrive at_any conclusion but tl tlmF“ﬂﬂ“t_act which
S abioa cxercises upon th b _::-L:it&d. _ See the important indl 1t the antimony was
object, it can have been e case. Antimony can bave been ':‘;Im which this circum-
fore is that, in order to i:;:wm{ by no one but the prisoner at thuhbvm.l Tnh no legitimate
dntimony of which the ﬁtlh?{r"i m.ut the purpose he had in his mi““int 1e conelusion there-
dut nfme Sonér in th it : ave been proved. It is important, » he administered that
all its circumstances y g ail T stares of the transaction, and I fi next, t-EI- consider the con-
with a remarkable Snitide wﬂi find but too cogent reason to beli SRIBEYALE 16N ONCHIEL X5 15 3
Hex lga Whiat. vér :lll that took place on Tuesday, the daL ::FEI his guilt. Let us begin
B Barmford cofired .‘ri'n Eztmimlm to have been a most .-au'.rn::rm E'ttm}dmr'!l' The deceased
very solicitous that DiB not a word does the prisoner say to ]:-, the night before, and
when the doctor Exp!&éﬁﬂ;ft:’&,;;li Slul:::'id not see Cook, for twice in l‘r::l mﬂ:}mut ;'r':; he is even
disturb him.” : re to go to him, he says, “ No; he i rse of the morin
L aicicd ks mids et B Ay bhiil dozing, don't
wounld expect ?\?r. J““;S:Ehan‘.:ﬁ‘::; behl:l'orre. In the mehnwhiie}rl'd: 1:1{:::;!3 et L
of seeing Cook, th: en invited to come by the wirives. Lo
[T e S on s U er ou menion wouid o'
ous’ symptoms; “bilious,” : rning. Instead of that, he talk 4 oW
M. Jonex, and yet s, at Shrewsbury, “bilious,” 4 s of nothing but
yetall the medical men ag £ ous,” to Dr. Bamford, ¢ bilious "
1io unuatural pulse! The moment Jn agree that there were no bilious sym s ious ' to
received from the pri P ones sees him, be says, referrin tJ S gk
The " prisoner, Phin 5 nob: f Bil . g to the letter he h
the E:?i?gmm:;i:I:i'i:afgtmum"l‘lh“l:.: seen him l;beful:.!.lﬂm %ﬂﬁﬁé af:,i:r i Iﬂ"“ ﬂiﬂrrhm;_lﬂ
Zht re. The three medical - Te sle word is said abo
S vamNihalile clrcgiists L 1edical men consult at the patient’ i helint
“lark. TN have m stance which then occurs 5. that, the patiant:t s bedside, and the
his suffering on '3 more pills or medicine to-night,” thus inti bl L
- » previous night to the piil g g Inbimating: Shat (N6 Skt '
v iils and seribed
Ellﬂ :-Putvl;ge Tﬁiﬂtﬁth\yﬂ}zl'?eiﬁs tl.?a;.he unl}:.lrc of th:lfg‘g‘i::iilt:j::m Eﬁ::;.gaﬂ‘o L
i : 8 the t thing te be - i into the lobb
avers M 0 ;
ills ll‘ﬂ?at;:l::t?ﬂ‘pﬁi ?'ll:gliﬁeﬂl?ﬂe' tml Palmer prup%g:::maﬂhﬁam?;&'ﬁl;tﬁ 1HmLhia strcmg
of the ni efore, but savs to J —_u Don’ - d make np some
as a strong objection to the TR FH ones o't tell him their
Palm to them.” Then it is arranged : contents, for he
1.1' ry -Il?]: tl:a‘;:'l’:{?imngr i;’f&hﬁﬂﬁh it is early inﬁhﬂﬂuﬁfﬁ&iﬁﬂf lﬂlm“:‘!e R, Xt
thmwilh. m of me uny erstand what necessity there il ies Bamford home.
e prisoner might b ere was for Bamford to mak
wl:.ic.l'j:u- with B ) ave made them up himself i ; ool
; ford anid hi . in two minutes; inst
Hathet talaetlen am gets him to make them up and write a directi 1 et 8
abundant opportuni L gk and an interval of an hour or two o Jresuion fu (HESE
ity of going to his & R ecurs, during which he h
to L B 3 urgrery and su o has
unﬂtgzkéimwﬂm administering the pilﬁh}; calls t:iﬁ:;ﬁgnit::‘r?lm S
it not, think jon as being remarkable for a man at such an ndvmme.dunﬂ I ST
o v you, part of the scheme, in case a guestion should f‘:ﬁ“ as Bamford. Was
Weinhen utmans death, that he should say—Why you i rh erwards arise as to the
tion tnl:rt.ha“h present at the bedside when I administered them ¢ ]I)'n:'l:I flnn el
h‘“ P:ra"ra“ asdwrlt:"!g on thE dl.rect.il}l'l ? 'ﬁillu] knﬂwﬁ lhab Hu.':h El{:‘ Mt EHH _‘p"ﬁll.'lll" ﬂltﬁn‘—
uﬂﬁﬂrﬂuul:le Isl;sa;:fw: i:’umtl;mng excited? No oneof these {:imu::z:!tﬂsct:s“iua ":“ :*“ s
: : ure to submit to you as conclusi : es 1n iteelf, gon-
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“No, I will dait.” Now, Palmer may have mest innocently made the offer 4o bury his
friend, but this remarkable circumstance follows:—BMr. Stevens expresses his regret at
patting the people of the inn to’ inconvenience, but says that he wishes the body to remain
there two.or three days, so that it may be taken to London and laid in the mother's
“Ohn! there is no harm in that,” says Palmer; * the body can stay as long as von like, but it
onght to be put in a ecoffin immediateg." Mr. Stevens then gets into a conversation with
his son-in-law, during which Palmer sli away. He returns in about half-an-hoar, and
Mr. Stevens, upon asking him for the name of'an undertaker, finds that Palmer has taken on
himself, without any anthority, to order a shell and = strong oak coffin, in order that the
body might be immediately enclosed. Why should he weddle in @ matter that 'did not
concern him, but that he had made up his mind that the body should be consigned to its last
resting-place and removed as goon as possible from the sight of man? You have heard what
further conversation took place on that occasion, and I now come to the Saturday when
Palmer and Mr. Stevens met upon the railway and hud some conversation at various stations
between Londen and Stafford.  Mr. Stevens having seen the corpse with its elinched bands,
that and other circumstances had engendered. suspicions in his mind which he was deter-
mined to satisfy. and he made known to Palmer his resclution to bave the body opened and
examined. It is but fair to Palmer to observe that be did not flinch from the trving ordeal
of Mr. Stevens's scratinising glance when the post-mortem examination was anentioned.
Bat what does hedo afterwards® He is anxious to know who is to perform the operation,
but Mr. Stevens will not inform bim. It is to take place on the Monday, and on the Satur-
day occars that remarkable conver:ation with Newton which was not stated by him before
the coroner, but which had been in the possession of the Crown for some time. He did not
State it before the coroner because he was only called to corroborate the evidence of ' Roberts
with regard to the purchase of strychnine, and mo questions were put to him
upon that point, but he afterwards communicated it to the Crown. What is his state-
ment? He is sent for, by Palmer, he goez to Palmer's house, he is treated with brandy-
and-water, and suddenly Palmer says, “What strychnine wounld you give if von wanted to
kill 8 dog?” * From half a grain to a grain,” is the reply. * Would yon expect to find any
appesrance in the stomach atter death*” “No." Upon which there is a kind of half jzcula-
tion from Palmer, accompanied with a motion of the hand, * That’s all right I l=Jj)c: you
believe that conversation? It may have proceeded from two eauses, It may be that the
prisaner was in a state of great anxiety with regard to the post~mortem exmmination, and
wished to know whether the wiews of another medical man as to the appearance of & body
after death from strychnoine coincided with his own. It may be that he mediteted ‘some
Jugg'e-y which invoived the total destruction of the body ; it may be that he contemplzted
an atiempt to polson a dog in order to sccount for the purchase of stryclmine which he
knew could be proved against him. Whether any such attempt was made [ know not.
Psurmised that some evidence to that effec: would hawe been brought forward, bat it has
mot—not the slightest account has been given as to how the strychnine that was pur-
chased was dispesed of. Has it been found among the prisoner’s effects® 1f not, what
has bhecome of it? This =nd many other matters remain enveloped in mystery, but
in no aspect can [ look at it in which it «does mot reflect light on the darkness in
which the whole transaction is involved. But I will now leave that contersition and the
other matters of a similar kindn your hands. It is for vom to say whether you entertain
auy doubt that the death of Cook was caused by strychmine, or that stryehning was
administered by the prisoner from the quantity he bought either on the Mdnday or the
Tuesday. But my learned friend says that the man had no motive to take away Cook’s life,
If, gentlemen, 1 have satisfied yon beyond the reach of reasonable doubt that the death was
caused by strychniue, if the evidence for the defence has failed tomeutralise that ‘evidence,
#nd to show that it was not so caused, if I have also shown that strychnine could have been
administered by 0o one bnt Pilmer, the question of motive becomes a mattes of secondary con-
sideration. It 5 ofien difficult to dive into the brefst of man, to discover the motives working
there, and by them account for actions.  Iffacts are proved againsta man beyond the possibility
of reasonable doubt, it is not becanse we may not have ient scrutinising ‘power to ascertain
his motives that we are to doabt those fzcts. Nevertheless, the question of whether there-was
a motive for the commission of the crime is no doubt sn important element in the case,
But we must recollect that that which to the good would appear no motive at all—that which
would not exercise the remotest influence in inducing them to commit a crime, will often
exercise a strong influence upon the bad. Palmer, as I have before said, was in circum-
stances of the direst embarrassment, with ruin actually staring him in the face, which no-
thing could avert save pectniary means at once procured. The proofs I'have offersd fully
come up o my opening statement wpon that point. In Wovember, 1854, it appears that
Palmer was in this position.—He owed upon bills, all of them forged, the sum of 19,0007
OF this, 12,5001, was in the hands of Prait; 6,500L was in the ds of Wright, and two of
the bills (2,000L each) held by Prait were overdus It is quite clear that the prisoner
looked to the 13,000/ which he hoped to obtain on Walter Palmer's policy as the means of
ieving himself. He was disappointed ; the Insurance-office, for ressons that 1 will not now
discuss, declining pagment, and then gave him to understand in distinct terms that the
bills must be met. Bills for 4.0007, were becoming due at the of the month, and it was
necessary immediately to obtain the sam of 55001 Pratt gave that he conld grant
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uo longer delay, inasmuch as the office had resolved to dispute the policy, and it-was no

longer a valid security, and he could not represent it as such to his clients who, he said had

discounted the bills. ~Palmer pays two sums of 2501, and one of 30k—in the whole S00L.

But 2001 goes for the renewal of the bills, leaving only G00L applicable to the principal. He
is told at once that he must do a great deal more, or writs will be issued against bis mother
and himself. He krows that this must bring matters to a termination, he entreats that the
writs may not be served, and obtains the concession that they shall pot be served until May.

he undertaking to make further payments in the interval. 'Su the 13th of November Pmt.t’:
presses for further payments. On that day Polestar won. Cook was in an ecstacy of de-
light, feeling that his difficnlties were overcome for the time, and that he should now haye
cash to carry him through the winter until the spring races. Little did he think what was
about to take place! I the accusation against the prisomer be true, the winning of
that mare, and his becoming entitled to a large sum of money, was the most fatal
accident that eould possibly have befallen him. Alas, how great is the shortsightedness of
mortal man ! Where we deem we have the greatest cause for joy we often find the destruction
of our prosperity and happiness, while calamities which for the moment seem fatal may pro-
duce in the end the most beneficial resnlts. From that faral day, if the prisoner be ;;uilr.y,
was the poor young man doomed. It became perfectly clear to Palmer at that moment that
an important crisis was approaching. What was he to do? He had no source to which to
turn for money. He could not go to his mother ; that source had elearly been long since ex-
hausted, or he need not have furged her name. How could he satisfy Pratt’s demands?
Pratt is a kind, indulgent man as long as he is certain of payment, as long as his security is
satisfactery ; but let that ence becoms doubtful, you may as well agh for pity from the rabid
tiger, as well seek for mercy from a stone as from him. He gives fair warning that the bills
mast be met or instalments paid to keep them down. Where is the money to come from?
My lenmed friend says, Cook was Palmer's best friend, and as long as he kept Cook alive,
there was a friend in need to whom he conld resort for assistance.  But in what way could
Cook assist him?  Would Cook give acceptances to Pratt? Would Pratt accept Ceok’s accep-
ances unless the instalments of principal and interest were paid to the day ? Clearly he would
not : he refused to take Cook’s personal security for the 5007 without the further security of an
assignment of the horses. Cook had already assigned the whole of his property as security for
the H00L, and all that he possessed in the world was his winnings on the races, part of which
he received at Shrewsbury, and part he was to receive at Tattersall's.  Yet you are asked to
belizve that be would still be useful to Palmer as a resource. On the other hand just see what
interest Palmer had in his death, My learned friend savs they were mixed up in transactions,
they were confederates on the torf; but *putting on * horses for one another would not make
Cools responsible fur Palmer’s liabilities. Can anv one sappose that Cook ever intended to find
means to enable Palmer to meet Pratt’s insatiable demands -to leave himself destitate in
order to secure his friend? Yet that is the proposition which my learned friend has to
establish before he can contend that it was Palmer’s interest that Cook should live rather
than that he should die. My learned friend says that proof of their being mixed up in several
transactions is to be found in Cook’s letter to his agent, Fisher (written on the Friday after
diming with Palmer) : '

“ It is of great importance, both to Mr. Palmer and myself, that a sum of 500L should
be paid to a Mr. Pratt, of 5, Queen-street, May-fair, to-morrow, without fail. 300L has
been sent up to-night, and if you will be kind enough to pay the other 200/ to-morrow,
on the'receipt of this, vou will greatly oblige me, and I will give to it you on Aonday at
Tattersall’d.”

1 submit that this transaction is fatal to my learned friend’s argnments. [‘sexplanation is
to me as clear as the sun at noonday. k had brought with him G00L or 7001 feom
Shrewsbury. He had not bad time to spend it since it was seen in his possession. There
was only one trensaction with Pratt in which he and Palmer codld have had a common
interest; and that was the 500L loan raised by the assignment of Polestar. The 2008
was advanced by Fisher, but who knows that the 300L ever was sent up that night? It
was not sent up.  Then where is it to be found? Where has Cook's money gone? 1 can
understand his handing over 3007 to Palmer to pay Pratt, and requesting Fisher to make
up the other 2004, but on aceonnt of what transaction? Why, on account of the loan raised
by the assipnment of the mare which had just won at Shrewsbury, and which he naturally
wished to redeem, knowing that the bill was beeoming due and that he had money to
receive on Monday at Tattersall’s. That is the only transaction with Pratt in which they
had a common interest. Except with regard to this 500, Pratt had nothing to do with
Cook. How then does this letter apply ? It shows that Cook sent to Fisher, asking him
to advance 2001 for the purpose of relreeming the mare, that he gave another 3004 i:u;‘ 'Ehl':
same purpose, and that the 800L were not applied to that purpose. What was done with it?
Was it earried to the joint account? No such thing. It went towards the payments from
Palmer to Pratt, and it is a false pretence to say that Cook was in any way responsible for
any bills beside the one of 5004, although it might be intended to represent that he was so
responsible when be was no more. The matter does not stop there. 1 now come l+u the
transaction of the Monday, when 1,0200. of Cook’s money was applicd to the prisoner's use.
He goes to London, and ascertains by some means the amount Cook has to receive.
Probably Ceok had desired bim to hand the account to Fisher, who was to go to Tatter-
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sall’s and receive the money. We know that he did not do it; but, says my
learned friend, Cook, in concert with Palmer, meditated a frand; they intended to
apply the 2004 which ought to have been repaid to Fisher to their own use. That is nothing
but a surmise, and there is no reason to believe that Cook would have consented to be a
party to any such transaction. Observe, that if ihe |I1ri,sum:r's representation to Cheshire
was true, he had a genuine check of Cook’s for the whole sum he was to receive from Messrs,
Weatherby on account of the SBhrewsbury stakes, Ts it a reasonable proposition that he
would hand over to the prisoner the whole 1,0200 he was to receive? I owever, he goes to
Londom, and instead of proceeding to Fisher, Cook’s regular agent, who would have repaid
himzelf his advance of 200L out of the money to be received at Tattersall’s, and who would
not have parted with the balance except on Couk’s authority, he takes the account to a
stranger, who had never before acted as Cook’s agent, and who therefore has no hesitation in
paying the money according to the directions of the man who had authorised him to receive
it. He gives Mr. Herring the list of the Lets Cook has to receive at Tattersall’s, and how
does he direct him to dispose of them? He says to Herring, “ Pay yourself 200L, pay Pratt
4501, and pay Padwick 350L.7 1t is clear that this 4501 was a debt from Palmer to Pratt,
and it is untrue that Cook had anything to do with it. With regard to Padwick’s debt,
there is evidence that Palmer treated it as hiz own. Both Pratt and Padwick were getting
impatient for their money, and Padwick would, no doubt, have resented the non-payment of
a debt of honour, which no doubt this was, by enforcing the early payment of Palmer’s
1,0004 bill. That event did actually come to pass, for in consequence of Mr. Herring not
weceiving all the money he had expected to receive at Tattersall’s Padwick was not paid, and
put the law in motion to recover the amount of his bill. A large portion, if not the whole
3oL, was a debt of Palmer's, the 4501 was a payment on account of Palmer's liabilities, and
the 200L was a payment in respect of one of Palmer's acceptances, Thus he had a clear
interest in the appropriation of the money; it was his only means of staving off the evil
hour. The degree of motive must not be measured by this alone. He knew that not only
might process be at any moment issued against him on account of the bills, but that the
moment the law was put in motion, the crimes of which he bad been guilty—fraud and
forgerv—would come to light, and he would be exposed to the consequences of a violation of
the law—transportation or penal servitude. It is said that he had a checque from Cook which
enfitled him to receive the amount of the winnings. DBut no suggestion is made as to Cook's
reason for giving it to him, and it is not produced. It is elear that it is in the prisoner's
hands, It is proved that it was returned to him. Why is it not produced that we may see
whether it is genuine or not? Let us look at the circumstances under which he presents it
for payment. He asks Cheshire to fill up  the body of the checque, and when Cheshire
expresses his surprise, he says, “ Cook, poor fellow, is ill, and I am apprehensive that if I fill
it up Messrs. Weatherby will know my handwriting.” Why should they not know it if the
transaction was an honest one? Some fraud was going on here, too, which he was alraid
might be detected. Why on earth should he send for Cheshire, who was busily engaged at
the post-office, at seven in the evening, at the very time when he hed to meet Bamford and
Jones in consultation upon the patient’s case, and when, if he had not wished to write the
checque, and Cook had wished to give it, he might have asked Cook’s intimate friend Jones
to fill it up? Does not this transaction bear fraud upon the face of it? Before the prisuner
was finally arrested on civil process, which, usluckily for him, took place before the verdict of
the coroner’s jury seeured his person to answer a eriminal charge, he had undisputed possession’
of his own papers, and it is clear, since this“cheeque hasnot since been found, that he must
have dealt with it in some way or other. The inference from its non-production is that the
transaction will not bear inspection. That is not all. It is clear that he meditated another
frand of a different kind. Almost as soon as the breath is out of the poor man’s body he
intimates that he has a claim of 3,000L or 4,000 for bills for which he was liable, but which
had, in fact, been negotiated for Cook’s benefit. He had before taken Cheshire a document
with the signature of John Parsons Cook, purporting to be an acknowledgment that certain
large bills had been negotiated for him, and that Paimer had derived no benefit from them.
There were no such bills in existence. If there were, who knows better than the isoner
at the bar that there would be no difficulty in an:isging you of the fact and removing this
great stumbling-block from his case? Iut he asks Chesbire to attest this document, and on
the same day, the day following the poor man's death, he writes to Pratt, * Mind I must
have Polestar.” Having got every shilling of the man’s money, his purpose was to secure
his remaining property—olestar, the value of which he may have considerably exaggerated,
or with which he may have intended to speculate in future races. His intention, if the
document had been attested, was doubtless to firce Cook’s executors to purchase some of
the bills out of the estate. If Cheshire had had the weakness to comply with this request
he would have had the man in his power, and have brought him trembling and reluctant into
the witness-box to swear that he had seen the dead mun sign the paper. If that document
is genuine, not a forgery, produce ir, and let us test it! Here again | must remind you that
the prisoner’s papers were in his own possession until the time of bis arrest. Who can doubt
that, the document taken to Cheshire has been. de-troyed because, if it had been found, it
would have uﬁaﬁed some meditated fraud to the completion of which Couk’s death was
necessary 7 1 have now gone through thqt part of the case which relates to the motive. It
is for you to say whether, if you are satisfied thet strychnine was the cause of the man's
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death, "and that the prisoner had the | ;[:}:ortun’it;-r of administering pills to him containing
strychnine, you do not in this state things find sufficient motive to account for the
set. Another part of the prisoner's conduet, throws, I think, great light upon the
question you have to determine, What has become of Cook's betting-book ¥ What
has been the language and conduct of the prisoner with regard to that betting-book ?
On the very night when Couk dies, ere the breath has well parted from the poor
man’s body, the prisoner was rammaging his pockets and searching among his papers. = He
might have done that innocently, but what comes next? He tells Jones that it is his daty,
as the nearest friend of the deceased, to take possession of his watch and other effects ; Jones
does s0. My learned friend endeavours to explain this awkward part of his case by saying
that other persons, the undertaker’s men, the women, and the servants bad access to the
bedroom. q;ut even before the women came to lay out the corpse. Jones seeks for the book.
The prisoner iz asked about ir, and he says it is of no nse. The father-in-law comes down,
and shortly after requests Jones to seek for it. They go upstairs—Jones and Palmer—-but,
of courge, they do not find it, and they return to inform Stevens. * You can’t find it," says
Stevens, * how is that #?  “Oh,” says Palmer, * the betting book is of no use." “ No use,”
rephies Stevens, “ 1 am the best judge of that. Why isitof nouse?” * Decause,” be is told,
«dead men's bets are void, and Cook received some of his money on the course.” Dead
men’s bets are void! True; but they are not void when they have been received. Who
received the dead man’s bets? The prisoner at the bar.  'Who appropriated the proceeds of
the bets? The prisoner at the bar. Who was answerable for the bets? The prisoner at the
bar. Who was interested in concealing the amount of the bets? The prisoner at the bar.
The executor of the deceased wanted to know what he was entitled to receive. The prisoner
tells him the record is of no use. If it had been found Stevens would have seen that he was
entitled to receive 1,020L Does this throw no light upon the case? There is more yet in
the conduct of the prisoner op which I must say a few words. Mr. Stevens determined on
having a post-mortem examination. Observe the conduct of the prisoner in respect to that
most important proceeding. He is on the watch for Mr. Stevens and for the lccal medical
men wherever they go, and when Dr. Harland says to im, as was natural emough,
speaking to a brother medical man, “What is this case; I hear there is a_suspicion of
poison?” “ No,” says Palmer, * the man had two epileptic fits on Monday and Tuesday, and
vou'll find old disease of the head and heart,” There was no disease, howeWer, either of
the head or heart. That very man had gone to Dr  Bamford on the day before, and had
asked him to eertify to the cause of Cook’s death. * No,"” said Dr, Bamford, *“he is your
patient ; you certfy.” Palmer says, however, that lie had rather that Dr. Bamford shonld
certify, and he does so accordingly. The very next day Palmer tells Dr. Harland that Cook
died of epilepsy. The post-mortem examination then takes place, and the contents of the
stomach, or a portion of them, are put into a jar. It is fastened with a parchment coveri'ng
doubled over it and sealed, and Dr. Harland discovers that the prisoner bas removed the tar
from the spot where it was placed. The prisoner has, in fact, taken it to the other end of yhe
room, near the door, and says, * 1 thought that it would have been mare convenient for © on
as you were going out.” ’Bhat is possible; but is it not strange and remarkable that the jar
containing the contents of the dead man's body should be found in the hands of the person
against whiom rests the suspicion of having deprived the deceased of life? Still the pro-
ceeding might have been an innocent one.  We are left in conjecture upon this gint, but 1
am afraid that there is no conjecture which is consistent with the iunocence of the prisoner.
1t might have been done in order to put something into the jar, which it was snpposed
' would neutralise and destroy the evidence of poison. 1 can't say what was the motive; but
he is restless and upeasy as to what is to be done with the jar, and he remonstrates with
Dr. Bamford, as if he had any interest in the matter; as if Dr. Bamford had any concern in
Cook’s death. The jar is taken away ; and we know well, because it must made a painfnl
impression upon your minds, that Palmer went to the postboy Myatt, who was to drive
the fly, and asked him to upset those who were to take the jar to Birmingham or to Lon-
don for examination. My learned friend endeavoured to explain that matter, and
told you that the bribe of £10 to upset the man who bhad charge of the jar arose simply
out ‘of resentment against that * officious, meddlirg, stepfather, who had dared to
interfere;” that hie had been guilly, in return for the consideration, and courtesy, and
kindness with which he had been tréated by the prisoner, of prying, meddling, and insolent
curiosity. Surely the man who saw his stepson, to whom he was tenderly attached, lying
dead, under eircumstances which naturally excited grave suspicion, was justified in insisting
upom inquiry ; and one would have thought that the matter was of sufficient weight to pro-
teet him against the suggestion of insolent curiosity. It was known that Mr. Stevens in-
sisted upon inquiry. Was that a rezson or a motive which, operating upon the mind o
Palmer, should have induced him to entertain anger or resentment, and bave made him offer
104 to the postboy to upset Mr. Stevens on the road? No; but if he had wvpset Mr.
Stevens be would have upeet the jar; the contents would have been lost or rendered untic
for analysis; and that was all that the prioner wanted. Then again we find the prisoner
gending presents to that important officer the coroner during the time that the mquest was
sitting—presents, unquestionably, of game and of things of that description; and, if the evi-
dence has not misled ug, of money also. For what purpose was all that done? Then, again,
there is his obtaining a knowledge of the communication which is sent by the eminent

No. 12, .




178

chymist, who is emploved to analyse the contents of the stomach, to Mr. Gardner, the
attorney at Rugeley, who was instructed on behalf of Mr. Stevens—is that the conduct of
innocence or guilt? Why shoulil he be desirous of knowing whether strychnine, above all

things, had been found in the stomach?  Look at his letter to the coroner, in which he states

that he has seen it in black and white that Dr. Tavlor has been unable to discover stryehnine,
and adds, “1hope the verdict to-morrow will be that death resulted from natural causes, and
that there the matter will end.” But the verdict was not so, snd it did not end there. Now,
gentlemen, it is for you to say whether, upon a review of the whole of this evidence, yon can
come to any other conclusion than that the death of the deceased was occasioned by poison
administered by the prisoner at the bar. Look to all this restless anxiety. It might pos-
sibly be compatible with innocence if it stood by itself alone; but you must remember that
it is one of a seriesof things which, thengh small perhaps in their individual capacity, do,
when groupsd together, lead to the inevitable and irresistible conelusion that the prisoner
was the cause of this man's death, This is the case which wou have to decide,  You havein
the prisonera man labouring undera pres<ure alinost averwhelming, with pecuniary lialilities
which he is utterly unable to meet, involving penalties of the law which must bring down
disaster and ruin upon him. The only mode by which he can prevent those cons quences
is b 'obl‘ﬂining Money and under such circomstances we know that a ll::um‘paruli"-‘el}'
small amount, if it will meet the exigencies of the moment and will avert the impend-
ing ecatastrophe of ruin, will operate with immense power. You then find that he
had access to the bedside of the man whose death yon have now to inquire into. You
find that be has means of administering poison to him, gnd that within fortyv-eight hours
of the death he has twice scquired possession’ of ‘the puison' which we suppose hin to have
administered to the deceased. Then vou have the death itself in its terrible and revolting
circumstances, all of which are characteristic only of death by that peison—strych-
nine—and no cther. You have then the fact' that to the utmost of his ability the
prisoner realises the purpose for which it is snrgested to you that death was accomplished.
Whether these facts, coupled with the undonbted and undisputed fact that a suh-idiary
poison—antimony —was nsed, of which traces were found, althengh nope were found of the

incipal poison, justify you in returning a verdict of * goilty "' against the prisoner, it is
or you to determine ; and von must také all these gcircumstances into  your consideration,
You have, indeed, had introdueed into this case one other element, which [ vwn, 1 think,
had better Im;e besn omitted. You bave had from my learned friend the wnosual, [ think
I may say the unprecedented, assurance of his ennviction of the innocence of his elient, I

can only say upon that point that [ think it would have been better if my learned friend

had abstained from giving such an assurance. What would he think-of me if, imitating his
example, I shounld at this moment declare to you, on my honour, as he did, what is the
intimate conviction which has followed from my own conseientions consideration of this
case? DMy learned friend also, in his address, of which all admired the power and abiliry,
adopting a course which is sometimes resorted to by advocates, but which, in my mind,
involves mere or less a species of insult to the good #ense or good fecling of the jury—
endeavoured to intimidate you, by an appeal to vour eonsciences, from discharging firmly
and honestly the great and solemn duory which yon are called upon toperfurm. My learned
friend told vou that, if voor verdict in ‘this ease shoulid be * guilty,” the innocenee of the
prisoner would one day be made manifest, and that you would never cense 1o regret. the
verdict 3yhieh you had given. If my learned friend were sincere in that—and I know that he
was, for there is 1.0 man in whom the spirit of ‘ruth and bonour is more keenly alive—if he
saip what he believed, T can only answer that it shows how, whena man enters ugion the consi-
deration of a case with a strong bigs on his mind, he'ls Bableto err. I'think then that my learned

friend had better haye abstained from making any assurance which involved his conviction

of the prisimer’s innocence. T think, further—in justice and consideration to you—thay he
should have abstained from repre:enting to von that the wvoies of the country would not
sanction the verdict which you might give. T say nothing of the inconsistency which; is in-

volved in such a statement, coming from one who but a shart héur before had eomplained in.

eloguent terms of the universal torrent of passion and of prejodice by which be said that his
clieat would be borne down ; but in answer to m3 learned friend I say this to you:—FPay no
regard to the voice of the country, whether it be for condemnation or for acquittal; pay no
regard to anything but to the internal voice of your own consciences, and 1o that sense of
duty which you owe to God and man upon this occasion, seeking no reward except the com-
forting assurance that when vou look back to the proceedings of this day vou: will feel that
¥ou have discharged to the utmost of your ability and to the best of your power the duty

which it was yours to perfuorm.  If on a review of this whole case, comparing the evidence on

one side and on the other, and weighing it in the even seales of justice, you ean come to the
conclusion of innocence, or can even entertain that fair and reasonable ameunt of doubt of
~ which the acensed is entitled to the benefit, in God’s name acquit him; but if, on the other

hand, all the facts and all the evidence lead vour minds, with satisfaction to yourselves, to
the concinsion of his guilt, then—but then only—1 ask for a verdict of “guiliy”™ at your

hands. TFor the protection of the good, for the repression of the wicked, I ask for that ver-

diet by which alone—as it seems to me— the safety of society can be seeured, and the demands,
the imperious demands of public justice, can be satisfied.
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The learned Attorney-General concluded his address shortly before half-past six o'clock.

The Lord Chief Justice then informed the jury that, inasmuach as he felt it due to the cause
of justics to read over mearly the whola of the evidence in this important case, he could not
think of attempting to discharge that duty at so advanced a period of the day. He
ti:eared, therefore, that he must for another Sunday sequester the jury from their family and

The Court was then adjourned till ten o'clock this day:.

The reparters’ box in this court is in a most inconvenient spot. Instead of being Letween
the bench and the jury, or between the bar and the jury, it is at the rear of the barristers
table, so that the council in addressing the jury must speak with their backs to the reporters.
This renders it so difficalt to hear that a conseieniious reporter feels much embarassed in
discharging his duty. During the summing up, we fear that this difficalty will be experienced
even to a greater extent, anless the Lord Cbief Justice wiil so newhat raise his voice above
the conversational tone which is usnally adopted on such occasions.

ELEVENTH DAY.

Tue proceedings in this protracted case were resumed this morning at the Old Bailey. The
public -interest which it bas excited from the first appears in no degree to have abated, and
the court was again densely crowded.  The prisoner was placed at the bar precisely at ten
o’elock, anil wao were unable to trace any change in hisappearance or demeanour, although he
naturally listened with marked attention, in which one might occasionally detect a_shade of
anxiety, to the summing up of the Lord Chief Justice. Still it must be admitted that he
looked as little concerned as any one in court. <

Several persons of distinction were present during portions of the day, and am ng them we
noticed Mr. Gladstone, M.P., General Fox, Mr. Miloes Gaskell, M.P., Mr. (0. Forster, MP.
Ar. Oliveirs, M., Lord Gi Lennox, M.P., the tecorder. the Common Serjeant, Alderman
Sir R. W. Carden, the Sherifis, and other gentlemcn officially connected with the adminis-
tration of justice in the eity.

Silence having been proclaimerd,

The Lonl Chief Justice {Campbell) proceeded to sum up the case to the jury : but spoke in
20 low a tone that some part of his address was not audible in the reporters’ inconvenient
box. He said,~—Gentlemen of the Jury, we have at length arrived at that stage in this
solemn and important case when 1t becomes the duty of the Judge to ex plain to you the
nature of the charge brought against the prisoner, and the questions and considerations
upon which your verdict ought ‘to be given. Gentlemen, I mu-t begin by conjuring you
to banish from  your minds all that you may have heard befure the prisoner was placed in
that dock. ‘Thera is nodoubt that a strong prejudice clsewhere did prevail against the
prisoner at the bar. In the couety of Stafford, where the offence for which he has to
answer was alleged to have been committesl, that prejudice was so strong that the Court of
Queen’s Bench made an order to remove the trial from that county. The prisoner, by his
counsel, expressed a wish that the trial might take place at the Central Criminal Court ; and
to enable that wish to be accomplished an aet has been passed by the Legislature, authorising
the Court-of Quesn’s Bench to direct the trial to be held in this court, so0as tosecure to the
prisoner that le shall have a fair and impartial trial, Gentiemen, I must not enly warn you
againgt being influenced by what you have before heard, but L must algo warn vou not to
be influenced by anything but by the evidence which bas been laid before you with respect
to the particular charge for which the prsoner is mow arraigned. It is necersary that I
should so warn you in this case, becavse the evidence certainly implicates the prisoner in
transactions of another description which are very disereditable. 1t appears that be has
forged a greai many bills of exchange, and that he had entered upon transuctivns which
were not of a creditable nature. - Those transactions, however, must be excluded from your
consideration altogether. By the practice in foreign countries it is allowed to raise a
probability of  the prisener having committed the crime with which he 18 charged by
proving that he bas committed other offences—by showing that he is an immoral mat,
and that he is not unlikely, therefore, to have committed the cffence w_nh which he 18

. That is not the case in this equntry. You must presurme that a man,is innocent until
his guilt be established, and his guilt can only be established by evidence directly criminating

im on the ebarge for whieh he is tried. Gentlemen, it gives me great satisfuction ihat this
ease bas been so-fully. laid before you. Everything:bas been done that could have beent

ished for the purpose of assisting the jury in arriving ata right conclusion. ‘The
prosecution has been taken up by the Gogernment, 50 that justice may be duly administered,
the Attorney-General, who is the first@uw officer of the Crown, having conductied it in his
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capacity of a minister of justices. The prisoner also appears to have had ample means for
conducting bis defence; witnesse have very properly been brought from all parts of the
kingdom to give you the benefit of their information; and he has had the advantage of.
having his case conducted by ene of the most distinguished advocates of the English bar,
Gentlemen, I must strongly recommend to you to attend to everything that fell from that
advocate, so eloguently, so ably, and so impressively. You are to judge, however, of the-
guilt or innocence of the prisoner from the evidence, and not from the speeches of connsel,
however able or elogquent t?mse speeches may be. When a counsel tells yon that he helieves
his client to be innocent, remember that that is analogous to the mere form by which a pri-
soner pleads * Not Guilty,” Tt goes for nothing more; and the mest inconvenient conse-
quences must follow from regarding it in any other light. I will now say a few words in
order to call to your minds what are the allegations in this case on one side and on the other..
On the part of the prosecution it is alleged that the deceased, John Parsons Coole, was first
tampered with by antimony, that he was then killed by the poison of strychnia, and that his
symptoms were the symptoms of poisoning by strychnia. Then it is alleged that the pri-
soner at the bar had a motive for making away with the deceased, that he had an opportunity
of administering poison, that suspicion could fall upon no one else, and that a few day
before the time when the poison is supposed to have been administerad he had purchased
strychnia at two different places. It is also alleged by the prosecution that his conduct
during that transaction and after it was that of a guilty and not of an innocent
man. The prisoner at the bar, on the other hand, puts forward these allegations
—that he had no interest in procuring the death of John Parsons Cook, but, on the
contrary, that it was his interest to keep him alive; that the death was not oceagioned
by Etrfnimiﬂ, but by natural disease, and that the symptoms were those of natural disease,
and were by no means consistent with the supposition of death by strychnia. Those are the
allegations which are urged upon one side and the other, and it is for gau to say upon the-
evidence which of those allegations you believe to be founded on truth, - Gentlemen, you have
a most anxious duty to perform. The life of the prisoner is at stake; if he be guilty, it is
necessary that he should expiate his crime; if he be iunocent, it is requisite that his innccence
should be vindicated. If his guilt be proved to you on satisfactory evidence, it is your duty
to society and to yourselves to convict him; but unless his guilt be fully sustained by the
evidence it is your duty to acquit him. You must bear in mind that in a case of this sort
you cannot expect that witnesses should be called to state that they saw the deadly poison
mixed up by the prisoner and by him openly administered, Circumstantial evidence of the
fact is alrthatcan be expected; and if there be a series of circumstances leading to the con~
clusion of guilt a verdict of guilty may be satisfactorily pronounced. With respect to the
motive, it is of great importance in cases of this description that you should eongider whether
there was any motive for committing the crime with which a prisoner is charged, for if there
be no motive there is an-improbability of the offence having been committed. If on the
other hand, there be any motive which can be assigned for the commission of the deed the
adequacy of that motive becomes next a matter of the utmost importance. The great
uestion which you will have to consider is whether the symptoms of Cook’s death are con-
sistent with poisoning by strychnia. = If they are not, and you believe that the death arose
from patural causes, the prisoner is at once entitled te your verdict of not guilty. If on the:
other hand, you think that the symptoms are consistent with poisoning by strychnia, you
have another and important question to decide—namely, whether the evidence which has
been adduced is sufficient. 1o convince you that death was effected by strychnine, and, if 80,
whether such strychnine was administered by the prisoner. In cases of this sort the evidence
has often been divided into the medical and the moral, or circumstantial, evidence. They
, cannot be separated, however, in the minds of a jury, becaunse it is by a combination of those
two species of evidence that their verdict ought  to given. In'this case you must look at
the medical evidence, to see whether the deceased died from strychnia ‘or from natural
causes; and you must look to what is called the moral evidence, to consider whether that
shows that the prisoner not only had the opportunity, but that he actually availed himself’
of that opportunity, and administered the poison to the deceased. Now, gentlemen, with
these preliminary observations, 1 will proceed to read over the evidence which has been given
in the course of this long trial, praying you mest earnestly to weigh that evidence carefully,
and to be guided entirely by it in the werdict at which you may arrive. I begin with that
part of the case which was first raised by the Attorney-General with respect to the motive
which the prisoner is supposed to have had for taking away the life of John Parsons Cook.
Now, I think that that arises out of certain pecuniary transactions which must be fresh in
the minds of all of you. It appears that the prisoner had borrowed large sums of money
npon bills of exchange, which he drew, and which purported to be accepted by his mother—a
lady, it seems,’of considerable wealth, residing at Ru lex. Those acceptances were forged, and -
the lady was not aware of them until a recent period, when they became due, and proceedings
were taken upon them. One of those acceptances, for 2,0000, was in the hands of 5 zentleman
named Padwick; 1,0007. had been paid, and 1,000/. remained due to Mr. Padwick upon
that bill. A solicitor, named Pratt, of Queen-street, Mayfair, had advanced large sums of
money to the prisoner npon similar bills—to the amount, I think, of 12,500/ Several
of those bills had been renewed without the know) ge of the mother; but there were two
which remained unrenewed—one, for 20004, becam@Mue on the 25th of October, 1855, and
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another, for 2,000/, became due on the 27th of October, 1855, Besid
one bill for 500, and another for 1,000%, which were rﬂ'ﬁ'ﬂrﬂﬂt, but :iﬁ:ﬁw{% fﬁt&rgféﬁ
Pratt held over, charging a very high rate of interest upon them. In addition tn.. these lar
sums, which had been advanced by Pratt to the prisoner, it appears that upon similar I:rE
Palmer had contracted a very large debt with an attorney at Birmingham named Wri ht: to
whom he owed 10,4007, 1t had been stated by Palmer that he should be able to liquidate th
bills by the proceeds of a policy of assurance which had been effected on the life of ?:":
brother, Walter Palmer. Gentlemen, the law of this country wisely forbids an insuran:a
being effected by one person npon the life of another who has no interest in that life; but,
unfortunately, it does not prevent a man from insuring his own, life to any amount Imv;mver
large, and whatever his position may be, and assigning the policy of that irr;uranne to
another person. It has been provedin evidence that there%md been an insurance for 13,0001
effected on the lifé of Walter Palmer, who was a bankrupt, without any means uxcept.’aucl:['
& were furnished to him by his mother; and that the policy had been assigned by Walter
Ii';lme,r to the prisoner at the bar. It was expectod that the 13,0004, insured f:l.puu the
]1&_ol’ his brother wonld be the means of enabling the prisoner to meet 'thl:e acceplances to
wh;_a;sh | !:mve ;gﬁ:rreﬂ, but ‘the directors of the Prince of Wales Insurance-office
denied their liability upon that policy, and refused to pay it. Hence arose the most
pressing embarrassments ; claimants were urging the payment of their accounts,
and it was evident that, nnless they were immediately paid, the law would be put in force
against the prisoner and his mother, and that the system of forgeries which had been so long
carried on would be made apparent. Now I begin with the evidence of Mr, John Espin, a
solicitor practising in Davies-street, Derkeley-square, [The learned Judge then read t'he
evidence of Mr. John Espin with respect to the 2,000L bill held by Mr. Padwick, the dis-
honouring of the check for 1,000, and the final issuing of a ca, sa. against the p&r:aﬂn of the
prisoner on the 12th of December.] This, contioned the noble Lord, is certainly strong evi-
dence to show the desperate state of the prisoner’s circumstances at that time; but we now
come to the evidence of Mr. Thomas Pratt, who had advanced money to the Lrimnur upon
bills of exchange, which bore the forged acceptance of the prisoner’s mother, to the amount
of 1,200% [ The learned Judge then proceeded to read the whole of the evidence of Mr.
Pratt, together with the voluminous ecorrespondence  between that pentleman and
the prisoner, detailing the entire histery of the transactions which had taken place between
them from the date of their first acquaintance in November, 18585, down to the perivd of the
apprehension of the prisoner upon the present charge. Thev will be found reported in The
Times of the 21st inst. ] With regard to the letter subjoined, and marked “strictly private
and eonfidential,”

My dear Sir,—Should any of Cook’s friends eall upon you to know what money Coole
ever had from you, pray don’t answer that question or any other about money matters until I
have seen you. “ And oblige yours faithfully,

“ WiLiay PALMER.

the learned Judge observed that the jury would recollect that when that letter was written
Mr. Stevens, the stepfather of Cool, was making inquiries of a nature which were certainly
very disagreeable to Palmer. [ Having first disposed of that portion of the corres ondence
respecting money due from Palmer to Pratt, and with rerard to which Cook was suppozed to
have no interest, the learned Judze next proceeded to read that branch of the correspondence
relating to the assignment of the two race horses, Polestar and Sirius, and to some other oc-
carremoes towhich Cook was supposed to have been a party]. ' With respect tothe cheque for
3751 sent by Pratt to Palmer for Cook, from which the words * or bearer” had been sirnck
out, his Lordship observed:—Now, it is rather sugested on the p=rt of the pro-ecution

upon this evidence, that Cook had been defrauded of this money by FPalmer, and certainly the
endarsement was not in Coolk’s hahdwriting ; but, as was verv properly argued on the part of
Palmer, it is very possible that Cook may have aurthorized Palmer or some one else to write
Lis name. - Cheshire, & clerkin the bank, is then called, and says that the cheque was carried
to Palmer's account. - Now, all this may have happened with the consent of Cook, in pur-
suafice of some agreement between him and Palmer. [His Lordship then read the cross-
exarrination of Pritt, the bill of 5004 drawn by Palmer on Cook, snd payable an the 2od of
December, and also the evidence of Armshaw, who proved that oun the 13th November
Palmer was in a state of embarrassment, and that on the 20th he regeived from him two 504
notes]. It is for you, gentlemen, to draw vour own inference from this evidence. ' Having
hefore the races been pressed for money, on the night of the Tuesday on which Cuok died,
lie has two 500 notes in his possession.” [ His Lordship next read the evidence of Spillbury,
who on the 22d of November received a 50L note from Palmer, and of Strawbrid:e, who
prove! that on the 19th of November his balance at the bank was only 9 6] This evidence
certainly shows that the finances of the prisoner were at the lowest ebh, and he had no means
of meeting his bills, * [ His Lordship next read Wright's evidence asto the large debis due to

his brother from Palmer, and the bill of sale given by Palmer, as seenrity, upen the whole of
his property ; Strawbridge's evidence as to the forgery of blrs. Palmer's name to scceptances

and the further evidence of Mr. Weatherby, particularly calling the attent ion of the jury to

the fact of the cheque purporting to be signed by Cook having been veturued to Paliner by

#r, Weatherby, when he fefosed payment of it]. A great deal, said his Lordship, turmn
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the question of whether that cheque was really signed by Cook or not, as, if not, it
ows that Palmer was dealing with Couk’s money and appropristing it to his own use.

ME{ Serjeant Shee observed that Mr. Weatherby expressed an opinion that the cheque
was Cook's,

Lord Campbell.—DMr. Weatherby said that the body of the check was not in Cook’s hand-
writing, and he had paid no attention to the signature. You, gentlemen, must consider all
the evidence with regard to this part of the case. The cheque is not produced, although it
was sent back by Mr. Weatherby to Palmer and notice to produce it has been given: 1If it
had been produced we could have seen whether Cook's signature was genuine. It is not
produced ! [His Lordship then read ihe evidence of Butler, to whom Palmer owed money in
respect of bets, and of Bergen, sn inspeetor of police, who had searched Palmer’s house for
papers after the inquest.]  Lumight bave been expected that the cheque which was returned
by Mr. Weatherby to Palmer, who prifessed to set store upon it and to have given value for
ity and 'who required Mr. Weatherby not to pay away any money until it had been satisfied,
would huve been found, but it isvoet fortheoming. It is for you to draw whatever inference
may suggest itself to you from, this circumstance. We then come to the arrest of Palmer.
Bow, us it strikes my mind, the circumstance that Palmer remained in the neighbourhood
a ter sugpicion had AFisEn against himis of imporiance, and nught to be taken into considera-
tion by voun, slthongh he may, perbaps, bave done so0 thinking that from the care he had taken
pothing could ever be di-covered agamst him. 11 seems, however, that he was imprisoned on
civil jrocess Lefure the verdict of the coroper’s jury rendered him amenable to a eriminal
charge. Besides the cheque purporling to be signed by Cook, the prisoner also had in his
posséssion u document purporting that certain bills had been decepted by him for Cook, but
neither that document nor, any such bills have been found.  All the papers wnich were not
retained ‘'were: relurned to the, prisoner’s brother, and notice has been given to rroduce
thew, but neither the bills nor the decument are produced. Wilh regard to this wit-
pes 8 &1stement that, Field was.at Rugeley, 1 krow not how 1t i3 connected with the present
investigation. 1f Field was employed 1o incuire into the health of Walter Palmer at the time
the insurance was effected on his lite, and inlo the circamstances of his death, 1 know not
what he can have to-do with the question you are to determine. Thiz, then, is the conclusion
of the evidence upon owe branch of the case, and now begins the evidence rela‘ing to the
healih of Gook and the events immediately, preceding his death. [His Lordship then read
the evilence of Ishmael Fisher, observing in the course of it that one of the most mysterious
cireunistances in the case was that afier Cook had stated his suspicion as to Paliner baving
put something in his Lrandy be remained constantly in Pulmer’s company ; he appeared to
have entire confidence in Palmer, and during the few remaining days of his life he sent for
Palimer w henever be was in distress; in fact, he seemed to be under the influenece of Palmer
to u great exient. His Loidship al-o directed the attention of the jury to the circumstance
of the 7004 which Couk had entrusted to the care of Fishier having been returned to him on
the morning of the day on which he went with Palmer to Rugeley. His Lordship then read
Fisher's stotement that he had been in the babit of settling Cook’s account.] And now, he
eontmued; comes the very important lerter of the 16th of November. Certainly if Cook in-
dueed ‘Fisher 1o make an advance of 2004 on the security of his bets, and then employed
another per=an to eollect thr-se beis, there was a fraud on his part. In'the letter of the 16th
of NuwemberCnok says—+ It is of great importance, both to Mr. Palmer and myself, that a
gam of 500/, should be paid 10 Mr. Prau, of b, Queen-street, May-fair, to-merrow, without
fail. BOUL hus been sent up to-night, and if you will be kind em:-uglh to pay the other 200L
to-morrow, on the receipt of this,, you will greatly gblige me, and I will give'it to you on
Monday at Tattersali’s. ' "

Mr. Serjeant ~lhee—There is a postseript, m lord. :

Lot Campbell.—Yes. I am niuch bener.,” Now,the sjgnature to thisletter is undoubt-
edly wenuiney, and it shows, first, that Couk at that time intended to be in London on the
Monday, and, secondly, that be desred an advance of 200L to pay Pratt. How he came
o alter hisintentivn as to going to Londin, and how Herring came to be employed for him
insteard of Fisher, you must infer fur your-elves. But if he aunthorised the employment of
Herring in order to prevent Fisher from rein:bursing himself, he was 4 party toa frund. You
inast infer whether be did so or not, [His lordship then read the remairder of Fisher's
evidence, snil also the evidenceof Mr. Jones, the law atationer, of Gibson, and of Mrs.

Brook.] - This, he said, ends the history of Couok’s illness. at Shrewsbury. Then with regard

1o what took place at the Talbot Arms, a1, Rugeley, where Cook lodged, you bave a most
smprtsnt witness—Elzsbeth Mills.  {{His lordship then read the evidence of Mills,

vingg that the events of Muonday snd Tuesday, the 19th and 20th of November,
anil the svimptoms  which immediaely preveded the death of Cook, formed a most
material ‘part of the case]] It has been sngmested, continued the learned judge, by the
comiwel (fur: the defimce, 1hat Elizabtth Mills may have been bribed by Mr. Stevens,
the - father-in-law of Cook, to give evidence prejudicial to the prisoner, but, in justice
Both to Me. Stephens and to Elizaberh Mills; 1 am bound to declare that not one fact has
been‘alduced to wartsnt us in believing that there is the slightest foundation for sny such
statvments v hag also been alleged that Mr Stevens called upon Elizabeth Mil's,and read to
Ier an extroot fiom a newspaper, with the view, it is presumied, of influcncing her evidence
or 4 dimgitinga particnlar direction; but 1his, too, is & gratuitous assertiou, and, sv far from
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being supported by the evidence, ‘it is distinctly denied. As regards the manner in which
Paliner was dressed when he ran over from his own house to the Talbot Arms on the night
of Couk’s death, there is, no doubt, a difference between the testimony of BElizabeth Mills
and that of her fellow-servant, Lavinia Barnes, the former asserting that he wore & plaid
dressinu-gown, and the latter a blaek coat; but it is for you to decide whether the poind is
of sufficient significance to justify a suspicion dishonourable to the veracity of either wit-
ness, It is a-serted also that there are certain discrepancies between the evidence given by
Elizabeth Mi:ls before the coroner and that which she gave in your presence. That yon may
the more accurately estimate the importance of those differences it is competent for the pri-
soner’s counsel to require that the depositions shall be read.  What say you, brother Shea?

Mr. Serjeant Shee.—With your Lordzhip's permi=sion, we desire to have them read.

Lord Campbell —Then let them be read by all means.

The Clerk of Arraigns then read the depositions of Elizabeth Mills, as taken befors the
ENTIar.

Lond Camphell. —You have now heard the depositions read, and yon will decide for your-
selves whether her statements before the coroner are mot substantially the same as those
which she wade before you in the course of her examination. You will have to determine
whether there is any material discrepaney between them  Her own explanation of her
omission to state before the coroner that she was sick after partaking of the broth prepared
for Cosok is that she was not asked the guestion; but that she was sick the evidence ol
ano her witness goes disting'ly to prove, and it is for vou to say whether, corrobo-
rared as it thus 13, the testimony of Elizabeth Mills iz worthy of being believed,
and, if so, what inference shoull be drawn from it. The next witnesses are Mr.
James Gardner, attorney, Rugelew, and Lavinia Darnes, fellow servant of  Llizabeth
Miil= at the Talbot Arms Inp.  The learned Judge, haviny read his notes of the evidence of
the witnesses in question, observed the testimony of Lavinia Barnes corroborates that of
Mills @as to the latier, having been seized with iliness immediately after she had taken two
spuonsful of the broth. - There is some lirtle difference of evidence as to the exnet time when
Paliner was seen at Rugeley on the Munday night after his return from London, but you
have before you the statements of all the witnesses, and you will decide whether the point is
one of essential importance. [Tnhe learned Judge then read over without comment  bis
notes of the evidence given by the witnesses Aune Rowley and Sarah Bond, and then pro-
comled to recapitulate the facts deposed to by Mr. Jones, surgeon of Lutterworth.]: Your
attention, he observed, has been very properly directed to the letter written by the prisoner
on 5 uday eve: ing to Mr, Jones, summoning the latter to the sick bed of his friend Cook.
The learned counsel for the defence interprets that dociment in a sense highly favourable to
the prisoner, and contends that the fact of his having insured the presence of sucha witness
‘2 conclusive evidence of Lhe prisoner’s innocence.  You' will say whether you think that it
is fairly susceptible of such a construction. It is important, however, tn consider at what
perinl of Couk’s illness Jones was sent for. and in what a condition he was when Jones
arriveil,  Paliner’s assertion in his letter to Tones was that Cook had been sulfering from
diarrhices, Lt of this statement we have not the slighrest corrobation in the evidence.
Wh i Jones, looking at Couk’s tongue, observed that it was not the tongue of a. bilious
attack, Paluers reply was, *You should have seen it before.”  What reason conld
Paluter. have had for using these words, when there is not the slightest evidence of
@k's, having suffered fiom such an illness? It is a matter fur youar consideration.

Tiie depusition of Junes taken before the coromer having been read at the instanee of

r. Sar eant Shee, the Jearned Judse remarked,—] Tt is for you to say whether, in-your
opimion, this depo-ition at all varies from the evidence given by Mr. Jones when-examined
he.e; fc.u.t‘._-sa that T see no variation and no reason to suppose that Mr. Jones's evidence 1s
not the svilence. of sincerity and of tratli,  After observiny that the evidenee of Dr, Bavage
{whigly e read) went to show that down to the hour o! the Shrewsbury rac=s and the attack
on the Wednesday night, Cook was in perbaps better health than he had enjoyed for a long
timwy the learned judge called the atfention of the jury to the evidence of Charles Newton
what deposerd to having, furnished three grains of stryehnia to Palmer on the Monday night
and to having seen lum at the shop of Mr. Hawkins on the Tuesday. Hhving read: the
evidence of this witness and his deposition before the coroner, his lordship said :—* Thisis the
evirencs of Newton, a most important witness, Tt certainly might be urged that he did not
menion the furnighing of the = rychnia to Palmer on the sonday night before the eqroner;
heabid not wention it until the Tuesday morning. when he was coming up to Londan, That
grriminly require~ consideration at your hunds; but then you will observe th_nt.- in his depo-
sition. which lins been read to you, although there is an omission of that, which is always to
be burne in mind, there is ne contradiction of anything which hehas said here, "i': ell; then,
-on are to consider what is the probability of his inventing this wicked lie—a most important
e, i lieit be.  He hal no ill-will rowards the prisoner at the barj be had never quarcelled
with hiw, and had nothing to pain by injurimg him, mueh less by betraying hum. 19 the
seaffall, I cannol see any motive that he could have for inventing a lieto take away the life
of the prisomer.  No inducement was helil oot to him by the Crown s hes:ys to himself that
N iz ement was held out to him, and that he at List dizclosed {his cireumstance (rom a gense
of dury. If yuu helieve hun Lis evidenice is very strong against the prisoner at tha bar; Lut
we will now tora to the next witness, Charles Juseph Houerts, whose evidence is closel -



184

connected with that of Newton. [Having read the evidence of Roberts, Mr, Hawkins'
assistant, who stated that on the Tuesday he sold to the prisoner, at his master's shop, three
grains of strychnia, his Lordship continued,—] This witness was not cross-examined as to
the veracity of his testimony, nor is he contradicted in any way. It is not denied that on
this Tuesday morning the prisoner at the bar got 8ix grains of strychnia from Roberts. I
you couple that with the statement of Newton—believing that statement—you have
evidence of strychnia having been procured by the prisoner on the Monda night before the
symptoms of strychnia were exhibited by Cock, and, by the evidence of oberts, undenied
and unquestioned, that on the Tuesday six grains of strychnia were supplied to him. Sup-
posing vou should come to the conclusion that the symptoms of Cook werp consistent with .
death by strychnia—if you think that his symptoms are accounted for by ‘merely
natural disease, of course the strychnia obtained by the prisoner on the Monday
evening and the Tuesday wmorning would lave no effect; but if vou think that
the symptoms  which Cook exhibited on the Monday and Tuesday nights  are
consistent with strychnia, then a case is made out on the part of the Crown.
After the niost anxious consideration, I ean suggest no possible solution of the purchase
of this strychnia. The learned counsel for the prisoner told us in his speech that thers was
nothing for which he would not account. He guite properly denied that Newton was to'be
believed. Dishelieving Newton, you have no evidence of strychnia being obtained on the
Monday evening; but, disheliving Newton and believing Roberts, ¥ou have evidencs
of six grains of sirvchnia being obtained by the prisoner on the Tuesday morning, and
of that you have no explanation. ‘The learned counse] did not favour us with the theory
which he hail formed in his own mind with res;ect to that strychnia.  There is no evidence,
—there is no suggestion how it was applied, what became of it.  That must not influence
your verdicl, unless you come to the conclusion that the symptoms of Cook were consistent
with death by strychnia.  If wou come to that conclusion, I should shrink from my daty, T
should be unwerthy to sit here, if T did not eall Yonr attention to the inference that,
if he purchased that strychnia, he purchased it for the purpose of administering it to Coolk.
[The evidence next read by the learned Judge was that of Mr. Stevens, the stepfather
of Cook. Upon.this the noble Lord observed,—] The leamned counsel for the prizoner, in
the discharge of his duty, made a very violent altack upon the eharacter and condue: of Mr.
Stevens. It will be for'yvou to say ‘whether you think it deserved that censure.  Tn the con-
duct of that gentleman I cannot see anything in the slightest degree deserving of blame or
reprobation.  Mr. Stevens was attached to this voung man, who was hie stepzon, and who
Lad ne one else to take care of himy and, whatéever the result of the trial may be, I think
there were appearances which might well justify suspicion, I know nothing which Mr.
Stevens did which he was not perfectly justitied in doing. Having been to Rugeley and seen
the body of the deceased, he goes to his respectable solicitors in London, who recommend him
to a respectable solicitor, Mr. Gardiner, at Rugeley.  Under his advice Mr. Stevens acts; a
conversation ensues between himself and the prisoner Palmer, but I see nothing in the pro-
ceedings which he took at all dessrvinge of animadversion.  Whether Palmer had any right
to complain. of what was said about the betting” book, and  hether Mr. Stevens' counld
be blamed for suspecting that Palmer had tzken it, it is for you to say. - [ Having read the
evidence of the woman Keeley, who laid out the body of Cook, and of Dr. Harland,
who spoke 1o the circumstances aitending the two post-more-m examinations to the pushin
of Mr. Devonshire, whe aperated, and the removal of thejar on the first oecasion, the learn
Judge continued,—" - From that push ne unfavourable inference can be f.]rawr-} as it might
easily be the result of accident. - In the removal of the jar there wonld be nothing more than
in the pushing, v ere it not coupled with the evidence afterwards. given, which may lead to
the inference that there was a plan to destrov the jar and prevent the analysis of its contents.
The learned Chief Justice then read the evidence of Mr. Devonshire, the surgeon of
ugeley ; Dr. Monckto, the physician; and Mr. John Boyeott, the clerk to Messrs. Landor,
Gardner, and Landor, the Rugelev attorneys: and of James Myatt, the posthiy of the Talbot
Arms, who swore that Palmer offered hini 104 ro upset the fiy containing Mr, Stevens and
the jar with the conients of the deveased’s stomach, Remarking upon the evidence of this
last witness, the Chief Justice said,— ] In cases of circurnstantial evidence ¥ou must look to
the conduet of the person charged, and you minst consider whether that conduet s congistent
with inngcence or is compatible with guilt. I see no reason to doubt the evidence of that
postboy.  An atiempt was made upon cross-examination to show that the offer of 107 was
not made in reference to the _iar, hut as an inducement to upset Mr. Stevens) It was
suggested, vou will remember, that Stevens ha wantonly provoked Palmer, and that Palmer
might be excuged, therefore, if he wished him to be upset. I see no ground for supposing
that Stevens gave Palner any such provocstion, ard if voun believe the posthay, that biihe
was offered to him to induee him to upset the jar. That is not indeed a decisive preof of
suiit, but it is for ¥ou to say whether the prisoner did not enter upon that eontrivance in
arder to pevent an opportunity. of examining the conrents of the jar, which might eontain
evidence against hiw.  We have next the evidence of *gmuel Cheshire, formerly postmaster
at Rugeley. [ The learned J udge read the evidence, remarking upon the eircumstanee of
Palmer calling vpon him to witness a do ument sqid to have been signed by Cook a4 if he
had been present and had seen Cook sign it; upon the remarkable fact of Paln;.-f-ra#nrlnamur-
ing to oblain information from Cheshire ns to the conitents of the letter from Dy, Tavlor to
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Mr. Gardner; and upon the impropriety of the following letter ad :
the eeroner, Mr. Ward, duﬂngth;P mg{muf the inqu“jé:.__ dressed by the prisaner fo
“ My dear Sir,—I am sorry to te]l]l you that T am still confined to my bed. ' I don’t think
it was mentioned at the inquest yesterday that Cook was taken ill on'Sunday and Monday
night, in the same way as he was on the Tuesday, when he died. The chambermaid at the
Urown Hotel (Master's) can prove this. T also believe that a man by the name of Fisher is
coming down to prove he received some money at Shrewsbury. Now, here he eould onl
pay Smith 104 out of 41L he owed him. Had you not better call Smith to prove thig{
And, again, whatever Professor Taylor may say to-morrow, he wrote from London last Tues-
day night to Gardiner to say, *We (and Dr. Reeshave this day firished our analysis, and
find no traces of either strychnia, prussic acid, or opium.” What can beat this from a man
like Taylor, if he says what he has already said, and Dr. Harland’s evidence?  Mind von, I
know, and sawit in black and white what Taylor said to Gardiner ; but this is strictly private
and confidential, but it is true. As regards his betting-book I know nothing of it,” and it is
of no good to anyone. I hope the verdict to-morrow will be that he died of natural causes
and thus end it. “ Ever yours, . “W. P 4
Palmer savs in that letter that he had seen it in black and white. Cheshire states
that he had not shown him th!_: letter. However that might be, there can be no
question that this was a highly improper letter for the prisoner-to write; and, speak-
ing as the chief cornoner of England, and being desirous for the due administration of justice
and of the law, I have no hesitation in saying that it was mot creditable to Mr.
Ward, to receive such a letter without a public condemnation of its having been written,
You will say, gentlemen, whether the conduct of the prisoner in that respect—sug-
resting to the coroner the verdict which he should obtain from the rij“rf_i“ o
sistent with innecence. The noble and learned lord then read the evidence of Ellia
Crisp, the police inspector at Rugeley, who produced a medical book, which had been
found in the prisoner’s house, and in which the following passage occurred in the
prisoner’s hand-writing :—* Strychnia kills by caunsing tetanic fixing of the respiratory
muscles;” and, remarking that this was a book which was in the possession of the prisoner
seven years ago, when he was a student, he said that there was nothing in it which ought
to weigh for a moment against the prizoner at the bar. Having read without comment the
evidence of Elizabeth Hawkes, the bﬂnrdin§-lluuse keeper, with respect to the sending of
same to Ward, of Slack, her porter, and of Herring, who spoke to the directions given him
by Palmer as to the disposal of Cook’s bets, his Lurdship called the particular attention of
tiie jury to the statement in the evidence of Bates, that the prisoner had told kim not to let
any one see him deliver the letter to Ward. The next witness, he continued, is Dr. Curling,
and now, gentlemen, vou will be called upon to come to some conelusion with regard to the
evidence of the scientific men respecting the symptoms of the deceased before death and the
appearance of his body after death. You will have to say how far those symptoms and those
appearances are to be accounted for by Jlaar.ural disease, and how far they are the symptoms
and appearances produced by strychnine. 1t will be a question of great importance whether,
in vour judgment, they correspond with natural, that is, with traumatic or idiopathic tetanus,
or with any other disease whatever. [His Lordship read the evidence of Dr. Cuorling, and
the exmnination in chief of Dr. Tedd, without comment, and directed the Clerk of Arraigns
to reanl the depositions of Dir. Bamford. The depesitions were accordingly read, and his Lord -
ship then remasked,—] When this deposition was first given in evidence, Dr. Bamford was
too ill to come into court, but he partially recovered, and on a subsequent day he was
examined and gave the visd voce evidence, which I will now read. [Thelearned Lord here
read the evidence, observing with regardto the pills made up by Dr. Bamford that the prisoner
had an opportunity of changing them if he pleased ; that circumstance deserved their serious
consideration. ‘here is not, he continued, the elightest reagson to impute any bad faith to
1r. Bamford, but it is allowed on all bands that the old man was mistaken in saying that
the death was cansed by apoplexy. All the witnesses on both sides say that, whatever the
dizease mav have been, it was not apoplexv ; but he filled up a certificate that it was apo-
plexy, in compliance with a recent Act of Parliament which renders a certificate of the cause
of death necessary. [The cross-examination of Dr. Todd was then read, ‘am] his Lordship
pointed out that the case of strychnine seen by that witness, bore a certain resemblance to
Cook's attack on the Monday mghtg The next witness is a gentleman of high reputation
and unblemizhed honour; Sir B. Brodie, one of the most distinguished medical men of the
present time, [ His Lordship read Sir B. Brodie'’s ewdelnce.]r That distinguished man tells
vou, as his solemn opinion, that he never knew a case in which the symptoms he had heard
desoribed arose from any disease. He 1s well acquainted with the varions diseases which
afflict the human frame, and he knows of no disease answering to the description of the
symptoms which preceded Cock's death. If you agree with him in opinion, the inference is
that Cook died from some cause other than disease. [The Ieameq Judge then read the evi-
dence of Dr. Daniel, who agreed with Sir B. Brodie, and of Dr. Solly, who also thonght that
natural disease wonid_nnt. account for death. ] foa Y o
Mr. Sergeant Shee wished to have the cross examination of this witness read.
Lord Campbell.—Certainly. Idare say it is very applicable.
Alr. Serjeaut Shee read a part of the cross-examination i— B e
,::.uh ihe risus sardonieus yvery common in all forms of viclent convulsions? INo, it is



pot common. Does it not frequently oceur in all violent convulsions which assame, without
being tetanus, a tetanic form and appearance ?—Yes, it does. Are they not a very numerous
¢lass ?—No, they are not namerous. Ls it not very difficult to distinguish between them and
jdiopathic tetanus ?—In the onset, but not in the progress. I think yousay you have only seen
one case of idiopathic tetanus ?—I have only seen one.  When you answered that question of
mine you speke from your reading and not from your experience’—1 did not know
your question applied to idiopathic tetanus alone. Does  epilepsy sometimes
oceur in the midst of wiolent convulsions ? — Epilepsy itself is a dizease of
a convalsive character. I am awase of that ; but you heard the arcount that
was given by Mr. Jones of the few last moments before Mr. Cook died? Yes, I did. That
he uttered a piercing shriek, fell back and died ; did he not?—Yes.  Tell me whether that
last shriek and the paroxysm that oecurred immediately afierwards—would not that bear a
strong resemblance to epilepsy? - In some re-pects it bears a resemblance to it.  Are all

ileptic convulsions—1 do not mean epileptic convulsions designated by scientific men as of
the epileptic character—are they all attended with an utter want of consciousness ?—XNo,
pot all. Does not death by convul-ivns frequently sccur without leaving any trace in the body
behind it?— Death from tetanus, accompanied with convalsions, leaves seldom any trace
behind ; but death from: epilepsy leaves a trace behind ic generally.”

Lord Campbell.—The jury have heard you read it. It is for them to say whether it is
important in their view ornot. Evidence is next given of various cases of tetanus ari<ing
from =trvchnines it is for youa, gentlemen, to consider how far the syimpioms in those cases
resemble the symptoms in this case, or how far the symptoms in this case resem e those of
ordinary tetanus, idiopathic or traumatic. [ The learned Judge read hia nutes of the evidence
given by Dr. Robert Corbett, Dr. Watson, Dr. Patterson, and BMary Kelly, wilnesses
examined o prove the symptoms in the Glasgow case, and then proceeded te call the atten-
tion of the jury to the testimony of Caroline Hickson, Mr. Taylor, surgeon, aml (2harles
Bloxham, a1l of whom were examined with refarence to the case of Mrs Swvih, of Romsey.
He then passed on to the Leeds case—that of Mrs. Dove, whose mame had transpired so
frequently in the course of the trial that it would be vain to affect any reservy on the ~ubject
now. After reading the evidence of Jane Witham amd George Murley, toe learnad Judgre
observed,—] 1t is beyond all controversy that stryehnia was not discoverad In the dead body
of Cook, but it is important to bear in mind that the witness Morley daclares 1hat, in . cases
where the quantity of strychnine administered had been the minimum dose that will destroy life
it is to be expected that the chemist should occasionally fail in detecting traces of the

nison after death. ‘That case of Mrs, Dove is & very important one, beciuse it i3 a cuse
in which it is beyond all question that death was caused by strychnine, however aduinisiered.
1t is for you to determine how fur 1he symptom= of this unhappy lady corresponded with or
differed from those of Cook. Yeu will remember that she bad repeated aviucks of con-
vulsions.  She recovered from several, but at last a larger dose than nsual was given, and
" death ensued. With regard to the possibility of the peizon being decomposed in the Llood,
that appears to be a vexed question among toxicologists, and Mr. Morley differs on the
peint from other and, 1 doubt not; most sincere witnesses, - The great question fur your con=
sidersiion at this part of the inquiry is whether there may not be eases of death by stiychnia
in which, nevertheless, the stryvchnia has mot—Ilet the cause be what it way— been dis-
covered in the dead body. [ The learned Judge then read the evidence of Edward Joore in
the Clutterbuck case, where an over-dose of strychnia had been administered ; and proceeded
as fullows=—7] I have now to call your attemiion to the evidence of Dr. Taylor: but before
duing so 1 think it right to intimate that 1 fear it will be impossible to conclude this case to-
night. It is most desirable, however, to finish the evidence for the prosceution this ev enint.
When that is concluded [ shall be under the necessity of adj urnipg the court, and a=king: ouo
attend bere again to-morrow, when, God willing. this investigation will certainly close. [ The
learned Judge then proceeded to read his notes of Dr. Taylor's evidence, and on arriving at that
portion of it in which the witness described theresults of his ows experiments upon annnals ob-
served,— ] There is here a most imporiant question for your consideration. Grear reliance is
placed by the prisoner’s counsel, and very naturally so, upon the fact that no trace of strychnine
was deteeted 1n the stomach of Covk by Dr. Taylor and Dr. Rees, who alone analysed it and
experimented upon it.  But, on the other ham, you must bear in mind that we have their
own evidence 1o show thatithere may be and bave been cases of death by stryelinine i« hich
the united skill of these two individuals has failed to detect the presence of the siryehnine
after death. Both Dr. Taylor and Dr. Rees bave stated vpon their oaths thatin two cases
where they knew death to have been occasioned by strychnine—the poison having, in fact,
been administered with their own hands—ihey failed to discover the slightest truce of the
ison in the dead bodies of the animals on which they had experimentad. Ir i- possible
that other chymists might have succeeded in detecting strychuine in those animals and
strychining also in the jar containing the stomach and intestines of Cook ; but, ‘however this
may be, it is beyond all question that Dr. Tuylor and Dr. Rees failed to discover the faintest
indications of strychnine in the bedies of two animals which they had"themscives pidzoned
with that deadly drug. Whatever may be the nature of the different theories propounded
for 1he explanation of this faet, the fact itself is deposed to om oath; aund. f we leu!re the
wilnesses, dues not admit of doubt.  With regard to the letter from Dr Taylor to Mr. Garfi-
ner, stating that neither strychnia, pru-sic acid, nor opium had been found in the body, his
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Lordship =aid this letter was written befare Cook's toms had n co i
Dr. Tavlor and Dr. Rees; but they had been iufunﬂﬁ.hat pmsailc::m:.tid. mﬂﬁ.ﬂég
opium had been bought by Palmer on the Tuesday. They sgarched for all these poisens,
but they found none. e only poison they found in the body was antymony, and
therefore they did not, in the absence of symptome, attribute death to strychnia, e they
could not at that time; but they say that it possibly may bave been produced by anti-
mony, herause the quantity discovered in the body was no test of the quantity which
might have been taken into the system. As tothe lerter which was written by Professor
Taylor to the Laneef, the learned Judue remarked, I must say I think it would have heen
better if Dr. Taylor, trusting to the credit which he had before acquired, bad taken no uotice
of what had been said ; bat it is for you to say whether, he having, as he savs, been misre-
nted, and having written this letter to set nmself right, that materially detracts from
$he credit which wounld otherwise b= g'wen to his evidence. ’EIIaving concluded the reading
of Dr. Taylor's evidence, his Lordship said,—This is Dr. Taylor's evidence. I wiil not
comment upon it, becamse 1 am sure that you must see its importance with regard to the
antimony and the strychnia. For the discovery of sirvchnia Dr. Taylor experimentsd upon
the bodies of two animals which he had himaelf killed with that Emiﬂun. bt in thewm oo
strychnia could he found. he learned Judge next read the evidence of Dr. Rees, in com-
mepting upon which he said, ]—1 do not kuow what interest it could be supposed that Dr.
Taylor had to give evidence against the prisoner. He was regularly emplned in his
profession, and knew nothing abeut Mr. Palmer antil he was called upon by M . Stevens
and the jar was given to him. He eould have no enmity against the prisoner and no interest
whatever to misrepresent the facts. | Mr. Serjeant Shee reminded the learned Judge that the
sxperiments npon the two rabbits were not made until afer the inquest]. That makes no
difference.  If the witnesses are the witnes«es of 1ruth thev are equally cases where there has
been the death of an animal by stryehmia, anluo strychnia can: be found in theanimal 3 if
that experiment had been made this morning the fact would have been the same. Dr. Taylor
has been questioned about some indiscreet lerter which he wrote, and some indiscreet conver-
sation which he had with the editor of the Jliustrated Times. Against Dr. Rees there is not
sven that imputation, and Dr. Rees concurs with Dr. Laylor that in these experiments the
rabbits were killed by strychnia; that they did whtever was in their power, according to
their skill and knowledge, to dizcover the siryehnia, as they did after the confents of the jar,
and noe stryehnia conld be discoversd.  As to the antimeny, he corroborates the testivony of
Dr. Tavlor. Aatimony is a compenent of tirtar enetic, tartar emetic produces voiting,
and vou will jud e from the vomitns at Shrewsbury an! Ruogeley whether antimony may
have been alministered to Cook at those plages.  Antimony may not have produced death,
but the question of its administration is a part of the case which you must seripusly cone
gider. His Lordship then read the evidence of Professor Brande, of Dr. Christison, a man
above su-picion who said that if the gquantuy of =ir» chnia administered was small, he should
not expect to find it after death, amd of Dr. Julin-Jackson, who spoke. to the symjtems of
idiopathic and traumatic tetanus as he had obeerved them in India, which concluded the
evidence on the part of the Crown. Having thus gone through all the evidence fur the prose-
cution, his Lordship intimated that he shoutd «ivler the remainder of his charge voril the
following d y; and the court was therefore (at eizht o'clock) adjonrned till ten o'clock to-
morrow (Tuesday) morning.

TWELFTH DAY.

Tz Learned Judges took their seats on the Bench precigely at tén o'clock. There were pre-

sent, the Marquis of Anglesey, the Enrl of T Lich, Br. Milnes Gaskell. M.P. Lord
Denwan, Mr. G, Vernon, M.P.,, Mr C. Forere , M.P., Mz C. P. Villiers, M P, and"other
genilemen. Palmer bas not cha:Fcl in appearsi oo since he has been on his trial, and this
morning was perfectly cool and elf-poss sl ;

Lord Complhell contmued his charge to the ‘urv. He said at the adjournment of the
Court vesterday evening he bad gone over all the « vidence of the prosecution, and it cer-
tainly did present a gerions case against the ris nerat the bar. Tt appeared that inthe
middle of Nevember last he was most geripusly i iarrassed, and that he had to make pay-
ments for which he was entirely unprepared. Tiere were astions against himself and" his
mother, and he had no credit ll!f{ih any quarter. ok by the races at Shrewsbury hecame
master of - 1,000k, and the inference had leen drawn that Palnier formed a dewign of

wating it to bis own pﬂpﬂlﬂ'ﬂ, in order to wﬂ'heve ]JI.H'I:E'” fr!l:lmhil;mlm;
rassnients. A it was that the prisener drew o cheque Il 1hT me
Cook, which g;:i; a hrga];:w for the purpo-c of appropriating 19 himself  Cuok’s

#
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property. What wonld have been the effect of the survival of Cook under those
circumstances it would be for the jury to consider. No doubt, if Cook had lived
that cheque would have been brought forward, and would have led to an exposure of all
Palmer's delinguencies.  With respect to the joint liability of Cook and Palmer, it was said
that it was disadvantageous to Palmer that Cook should” die: but there seemed to be S0Mme
doubt whether it was not the intention of Palmer to possess himself of the whole of Cook’s
property, and in that case he had a direct interest in his death. Then as to the medical
evidence which had been adduced for the prosecution. The jury had heard the evidence of
able and honourable men, who said that the deceased did not die a natural death, and that
the symptoms were consistent with death b strychnine, and not consistent wtih death
by ordinary tetanus. There was no point of faw which required that the strychnine should
be found in the body of the deceased, and it would therefore be for the jury on this point to
consider whether the evidence of the prosecution was sufficient, or whether they could rely
upon the answer which had been putin by the defence. There was direct evidenes that the
prisoner procured the poison of strychnine on Monday and Tuesday. What he did with it
was not for him in that place to affirm. It was impossible for t.hecjurjr not to pay attention
to the conduct of the prisoner both before and after the death of ook, and they would not
fail to consider, as part of those cirenmstances, his very remarkable proceedings n reference
to the betting-book, which had never been discovered. Then as to the evidence which
hiad been put in for the defence, the jury had had before them gentlemen of great
ability and high honour, who had given ‘in detail the results of their experience,
With that evidence he would now proceed to deal, (The learned Judge read in extenso
the voluminous evidence of Mr, Nunneley, the surgeon, of Leeds.) The Jury had heard the
manner in which Mr. Nunneley had given his evidence, and they must form their own
opinion of it. Certainly he seemed to display an interest in the case not altogether consistent
with the character of a witness. He differed very much from several witnesses who were
examined -for the prosecution, and particilarly in reference to riﬁidity being produced by
strychuine after death. These and similar questions were for the ury. ‘The next witness
who was examined was Mr, Herapath, of Bristol, a very eminent analytical chemist, who
had paid great attention to the subject of poisons. That gentleman said that where there
had been death by strychnine it ought to be discovered. But it a peared, on cross-examina-
tion, that he had expressed an opinion, on another occasion, that Eonk died from strychnine,
but that Dr. Taylor had not taken the proper means to find it. After advertine to the
evidence of Mr. Rogers, his lordship read that of Dr. Letheby, of the London Hospital, the
medical officer of the City of London, of whom he =aid that he seemed to prove that cases of
this sort were very variable, and that he admitted that the Bomsey case was an exception.
Now, while these exceptional cases existed, it conld hardly be said that the principles laid
down by Dr. Letheby were sufficient to rebut the evidence in chief, His lordship next
referred to Mr. Gay's case of the omnibus conduetor. This, he =aid, was a case of idiopathic
setanus. - The jury would say, on comparing it with the symptoms in Cook’s case, whether
his was also a case of idiopathic tetanus.  The great weight of evidence seemed to show that
Cook's was not a case of idiopathic any more than it was a case of traumatic tetanus. _Mr.
Gane's case differed altogether from that of Cook, and as far as he could see there was no
analogy between them. Passing mext to the evidence of Mr. Ross and to his case of & man
wha died from uleers, his lordship remarked that he did not see why this case was brought
befare the court unless to prove that Cook's was of the same sort. “T'his was a case, whe
of idiopathic or of traumatie tetanus, in which it was sought to prove that death was caused
by bruises on the body. But there were no braises of any sort about Cook, and therefore
the analogy failed. In reference to the important eviderce of Dr. Wrightson, who said he
had detected strychnine in putrifying blood and decomposed matter, and that strychnine
did not under -such circumstances decompose, he must say that this witness was a
scientific and honourable man, and had spoken throughout with proper cantion,
According to Dr. Wrightson, the dizcovervy of the poison should have been proved,
but at the same time his evidence did not overthrow the case for the prosecution ; and
it would be for the jury to say whether in the event of poison  actually being
in the bodv, the tests employed to detect it wers sufficient. Referring to the evidence of
Mr. Partridge, his lordship said that the witness had stated that the symptoms in Cook’s
case did not correspond with what he should have expected to have found from strychnine,
but he spake from hisown experience, and he adwitted that the symptoms were very variable ;
and ke did not seem, therefore, to speak with any degree of certainty upon the sulject.  Mr.
Gay's case of a boy who suffered from tetanus from an injury to T‘;ia toe was, his lordship
thought, not at all analogous to that of Cook ; nor was that of the young woimnan who had
an asttack of tetanus without any apparent canse, and recovered, as deposed to by Dr.
MeDonald. 'This last witness had given his opinion that Cook died from epileptic convul-
sions, accompanied with tetanic complications, and this he thought might have been pro-
duced by mental or sensual excitement. The jury would see to what ength this witness
went, and it would be for the jury to say what weight they attached to his evidence, Having
adverted to several cases adduced by the defence, and which his lordship considered bore no
analogy to Cook’s, he read the evidence of Dr. Robinson, of N ewcastle-on-Tyne, who ascribed
the death to epilepsy. He then passed on to Dr. Richar son, who narrated the particulars of a
remarkable case of angina pectoris, tothe symptoms of which disease he said Qook’s bore &
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rémarkable resemblance. The witness, his lordship said, seemed a most respecta

he said that the symptoms in this case were consistent with those aﬁaingpisrﬂumm:t;:hn;n::f
and that if he had known as much of strychnine at that time as he did now, he should hmrr;
gearohed for it in that case. It would be for the jury to consider whether Cook's
symptoms were consistent with strychnine, and if so that ought to lead them as
to the opinion they should form on the case. His lordship baving adverted to the
evidence of Catherine Watson, the girl who was attacked with tetanus in Scotland, and to
other witnesses who were recalled, gaid this was all the medical evidence that had been ad-
duced by the counsel for the defence of the prisoner, and this therefore might be a convenient
period for the Court to adjourmn.

The Court, therefore, at ten minntes before one, adjonrned. |

As Lord Campbell disposed of case after case brouzht forwurd by the defence, and showed
how they failed to tend in any respect to the prisoner’s advantage, Palmer buried his facesin
his hands, and when he resumed his original position his countenance bore strong indications
of the violent emotions with which he was contending. He seemed to be labouring under the
impression—an opinion which was shared by every one in the Court—thet the observations
of the Judge were producing a marked effect upon the jury, and lessening every moment the
chance of the prisoner’s acquittal. Strange as it may appear in the face of this statement,
it is perfectly true that, as Palmer was stepping out of the dock on the adjournment of the
Court, he dropped a note to Mr. Smith, his solicitor, stating that he felt perfectly certain of
an aequittal.

At a quarter past one the Judge returned into Court.

Lord Campbell proceeded with his address. Ile said, that having disposed of the medical
evidence, he would now proceed to the facts of the case. It bad been stated that when
Palmer was in London he could not have got to Rugeley until past ten o'clock on Monday
night, whereas it had been sworn that on the evening of that day, about nine o'clock, he
obtained the poison at Rugeley. It was possible that some mistake might have been made
as to the hour, he might have gone by the express train, or there might have been some
intermediate way of reaching Rugeley by means of Lichfield or Birmingham. Then as to
Cook’s state of health. Several witnesses had been called ; amongst them a person pamed
Forster, at whose house Cook was in the habit of stayin when hunting in Northamptonshire.
The evidence he had given in reference to Caok’s general health was very slender., His lord-
ship detailed with great minuteness all the particulars connected with the meeting of
Palmer, Cook, and others, at Shrewsbury, and of their subsequent journey to Stafford, and
thence to Rugeley.  His lordship then read the evidence of Mr. Wyatt, and said it was at
variance with 1he evidence for the prosecution, and the jury had to judge between the two
statemente. ‘The next witness was Mr. Sargent, and observed that it was for the jury to say
whether they believed his testimony with regard to the bad state of Cook’s health: before the
attack. That was in direct opposition to the evidence for the prosecution, and they must say
whether they could place reliance upon it. Then came a very material witness, and his evi-
dence was very important, with regard to one feature in the case—he meant Jeremiah
Smith., His lordship then read the evidence of this witness, and observed that it was for the

to say whether they could believe his testimony. They saw how he prevaricated in de-
nying his handwriting, and could they believe him? They bad to say whether they could
believe a witness who bad only lived upon the allowances of his friends, and who
himself made an agent to an insurance office, and then endeavoured fo get his 1n=
surance accepted Ly the office which he represented. It was for the jury to say
whetber they believed him; and if they did not, it was for them to say what
effect their discredit might have upon their verdict. The only other evidence
was 2 letter written from Cook to Palmer. His lordship read the letter, and con-
timued :—This was the evidence on the part of the prisoner at the bar, and it was for them to
give what weight they thought to it Several of the witnesses called on the part of the
defence said that the symptoms were those of strychnineg, although in the absence of any
other cause being assigned they should attribute it to other causes. The conduct of the
risoner in- requesting to have the body fastened up remained unanswered, as did also the
Eribe he offered to the postboy. No explanation was offered as to the strychnine purchased
by the prizoner. The case was now before the jury. They must not act upon SOSpICIOR nor
even upon strong suspicion, and they must only pronounce a verdict of guilty if their Minds
were fully made up. If however, they could come to the conclusion thnt he was guilty, they
would return such a verdict unfettered and undeterred by any intimidation.

Sergeant Shee objected to the question which his lordship had put to the jury. /He sub-
mitted that the question, whether the symptoms of Cook’s death were consistent with death
by strychnine, was a wrong question, unless coupled with the word, and inconsistent with
death from naturalcauses, and that the guestion should then be whether the medical evi-
dence established beyond iall reazonable doubt that the death of Cook was attributable te
strychnin . .

Baron Alderson—That is the question which has been put.

Lord Camphbell (to the jury) was understood to say he did not sphmit to them the guestion
whether the ,uymptfoms of E;o?l'tza death were those of strychnine, without going into the other
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point of the ease. If they believed that thoss symptoms were consistent with death by
strychnine, they would, God willing, return a verdict of guilty.
The jury retired to consider at twenty minutes past two. .

Upon the re-assembling of the Court, his lordship said I have now gone threngh the whel®
of the medical evidence for the defence, and shali proceed to that portion of it that relates to
the other part of the defence, and went through the evidence of the police inspector as to the
time the train left London for Rugeley, sl also that ef the publican, who spoke of Cook
belonging to a ericket club, and his bunting, which proved deceased to have been in good
health at that time. The learned judge then went through the evidence of the witness
Sargent, and asked them if they thovght thar Cook was jo bad health. He now came to a
most important witness, that was Mr. Jerenpah Smith—he was most material in determining
one part of the gase, and it would be for you to say what faith can be placed in what he has
said  His lordship then went through the whole of the evidence, which spoke of the pills,
upon the Monday night, and about the state of the deceased’s throat when dre&:eg l'clljl'
Thiriby. Gentlemen, you have heard the account which this witness has given of his hand=
writing to the documents upon which the sutject of Walter Palmer's life. He admitted to
yon that he received 5L, and it is for you to say whether he did not received that for Baving
attested the policy upon Walter Palner’s Lifie ;i you believe this, you Will gay what reliance

on can place upon his verdict. You can find that he knew that for gix years Walter Pulmer

ad been a penniless man. Take the transaciion with Bates, He knew the condition of the man,
and yet he tried to effect an insurance for 100 004 w pon his life.  Could they doubt ‘that he
got bimseli made an agent for the purp se of forwerdimg that view. It will be for you to
sy whether ¥ou can believe 2 man whom v find angaged in auch trapsactions. His
evid nee was most important, as it proved, it believed, that the pills maide by Dr. Bamford
on the Monday night could not have been inteifered with by Palmer, as they were taken by
Cook before Palmer could get at them. His Jordship then read the letter upon racin
matters which had been put in at the cllss of the defence to show that the prisoner a
deceased were connected in busineas matters,  He had now gone tlu'mlgh the whole of the
evidence, and it was for them to say how fir it affected that upon the part of the Crown.
The important question was, were the svmptoms of the deceased’s death consistent with
death Ly strvehnia, and if so, was it changd by the medical evidence given for the defence.
Prizoner’s witnesses agreed that Cook’s svmptoms were those of strychnia, sithough they
conld not aceount for its absence after death,  Then with regard to the facts, thers was a
difference about the brandy-and-water suppmsed (0 ‘have been dosed, and the evidence of
Jeremiah Smith respeeting the return.o  prisoner to Rugeley upon the Monday night, and
it was for them to say whether that alt.red the opmion which the - previous evidence
wonld have upon their minds as to the prisoner's conduct. There was the fact
of his eagerness to get the body disposed of. No answer had been given to that, nor yet
with regard to the absence of the betiing-bink and the prisoner tampering with the coroner,
and bribing the posthoy.  Then, above-all, there was no explanation as to what bad become
of the strychnine purchased by the prisoner. ‘T'he case was before them, and unless they
thought that clear convietion was brought to their minds as to the prisoner’s guilt, it was
their duty to acguit him. They were nut 1o proceed upon suspicion, or even strong suspi-
cion, but there muast be strong conviction in their minds, and if there was any reasonable
doubyr, give the prisoner the benefit of the doabit ; but if they came to a clear conclusion as
to his guilt, they were not to allow any suugesiions made by the defence to deter them from
doing their dury, They were to remembicr the vath which they had taken, aml upon that act.
The learned judge, who was moved to tears, added, in conclusion, “ And may God direct you
toaright verdiet.”

_Berjeant Shee submitted to the Court that the question whether the symptoms were con-
sisteut with strychnia ought not to have been subimitted.

Lord Campbell—I have told the jury, unless they think the symptoms deseribed agree with
the supposit Kin that the deceased died trom sirychnine, and, consistent with the facts, they
onght tv acquit the prisoner.

Mr. Baron Alderson said that had been stated in the speech.
After some further remarks from Mr. Serjeant Shee,

Lord Campbell told the jury that not only musé they be satisfied that the symptoms
described agreed with the supposition that deceased died from strychunia, but that it was
administered by the prisoner.

1 .1

It was then twenty minutes past two, and the jury retired, and having been absent unti
twenty- tive minutes to four, returned into court.

The prisoner, who had retired bel 1 g
He seemed perfectly calm. reti elow, was then bronght up, and ﬂgﬂil.’:. placed at the bar.

The jury having answered to their names,
Mr. Straight put the usnal question—Are you agreed in vour verdict; do you find the

prisouer guilty or not guilty?
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The foreman said, in a firm tone of voice, we find the prisoner guilty.

The erier of the Court ( Harker) then made the usual proclamation commanding silence te
be kept whilst the sentence of death was being passed.

“Their lordships having put on their black caps,

Lord Camphell, in a voice that at times was scarcely andible, said—William Palmer, vou
have, after a long and impartial trial, by a jury of your own countrymen, been finnd guilty
of the erime of wilful murder, and with that verdict my learned brothers, who have witched
the trial with the utmost anxiety throughout, and myself, entirely agree. A case like this
ic attended with such circumstances that it is doubtful whether this is your first erime or
not —that is known enly to God and vourself. There can be no doubt that you were, from
long experience intimate and tamiliar with the means of death. For this offunce you must
prepare to die. You must not look for or exnect any mercy in this world, but by prayer
seele 1o obtiin it from another tribunzl. Yon have, at your own request, and by an act of
Parliament passed on purpose, been tried at this Court; and this Ceurt has the power to
order you to be executed either at the place of execution pertaining.to this gaol, or
remove you to the county’ where your crime was committed. We think for the
sake of public example that it ought to take place in the county of Staflord, and
1 hope that the termble example will deter others from such atrocious crimes, and
show that whatever art, caulion, or experience Is exercised to prevent the discovery
of such crimes, and that however secret or destruciive such poisons may be, it I8
ordained by Providence, for the safety of its creatures, that there should be means of
deteeiing those using them. 1 again implore of vou to prepare for the awful change which
you are aboul to undergo. I ¢o mot wish to harrow your feelings by entering into the details
of this horrid case, bt shall content myself with passini upon you the ®entence of death, and
that is that vou be taken from where you are now standing to the gaol of Newgate, and from
htence conveyed in custody to the aaol of Stuffurd, ind from thence to the place of execution
and there to be hanged by the neck until you are dead, and inay the Lord have mercy upon
your soul, and that after death your body be buried within the precincts of the gaol from
whence you were taken.

The prisoner heard the sentence perfectly gnmoved. At one time he drew himself up, as if
about to make some remark, but did not attempt to speak. He stood guite calm during the
passing of 1he sentence, and when his lordship had concluded, turned ronnd and walked from
the dock in the same way he has done during the trial.

The Court was densely crowded, and hundreds who had tickets could mot gain
admission, whilst ontside there was above 2 thousand people waiting to hear the result
of this most remarkable trial.

Befora the Court broke up, Lord Camphell, in the warmest terms, thanked the jury, and
also the under-sheriffs, for their exertions in preserving the order which had been maintained
throughout. ;

Prin ed by Taylor and Greening, Graystoke Place, Fetter Lane.


















